Colin Tritt

# Internationalization of Industrial R&D in Emerging Economies

Concept and Empirical Evidence from the German Manufacturing Industry

Die Veröffentlichung beruht auf einer Dissertation der Wissenschaftlichen Hochschule für Unternehmensführung (WHU) – Otto-Beisheim-Hochschule

## **Table of Contents**

Та	ble of	f Conte	ents	i
Lis	st of F	igures	;	v
Lis	st of T	ables.		vii
Lis	st of A	Abbrev	iations	ix
1	Mot	ivation		1
2	Defi	nitions	s, Literature Review, and Research Gap	9
	2.1	Defini	ition of Terms	9
		2.1.1	International R&D	9
		2.1.2	Configuration of R&D Activities	13
		2.1.3	Emerging Economies	14
		2.1.4	Subsidiary	17
	2.2	Revie	w of Existing Literature	18
		2.2.1	Selection Criteria and Procedure for the Literature Review	18
		2.2.2	Overview of Existing Literature	20
	2.3	Resea	arch Gap	41
3	The	oretica	I Foundations	47
	3.1	Conti	ngency Perspective	48
	3.2	Trade	and FDI Theories	49
		3.2.1	Trade Theory	50

		3.2.2	FDI Theory	. 53
		3.2.3	International Business Theory	. 55
4	Res	earch l	Framework and Hypotheses	. 67
	4.1	Resea	arch Framework	. 67
		4.1.1	Dimension A: Location-Based Features	. 69
		4.1.2	Dimension B: Industry-Based Features	. 70
		4.1.3	Dimension C: R&D Configuration	. 72
	4.2	Hypot	heses	. 82
		4.2.1	Location-Based Features	. 82
		4.2.2	Industry-Based Features	. 96
5	Met	nodolo	gy and Research Design	115
	5.1	Data	Collection and Sample	115
		5.1.1	Methodological Approach	115
		5.1.2	Research Object	117
		5.1.3	Key Informant	121
		5.1.4	Questionnaire Design and Pretest	122
		5.1.5	Data Collection Procedure	123
		5.1.6	Sample Characteristics	125
		5.1.7	Data Attributes and Biases	127
	5.2	Data /	Analysis	130
		5.2.1	Statistical Methods for Data Analysis	130
		5.2.2	Model Assessment	135
		5.2.3	Subgroup Analysis	142

6	Con	ceptua	lization and Operationalization of Constructs	. 145
	6.1	Dime	nsion A: Location-Based Features	. 146
		6.1.1	Market Opportunities	. 146
		6.1.2	Economies of Location	. 150
		6.1.3	Cultural Distance	. 156
	6.2	Dime	nsion B: Industry-Based Features	. 157
		6.2.1	Technological Complexity	. 158
		6.2.2	Technological Turbulence	. 159
		6.2.3	Local Responsiveness	. 161
		6.2.4	Cost Pressure	. 162
	6.3	Dime	nsion C: R&D Configuration	. 164
7	Emp	oirical	Results and Discussion	. 167
	7.1	Explo	ratory Results	. 167
		7.1.1	Research Question 1a: Which R&D Configuration Strategies Do	
			Foreign Subsidiaries in Emerging Countries Pursue?	. 167
		7.1.2	Research Question 1b: How Do These Strategies Vary Across	
			Different Contexts and Over Time?	. 171
	7.2	Confi	matory Results	. 187
		7.2.1	Research Question 2a: How Do Location Factors Relate to the	
			Choice of International R&D Configuration in Emerging	
			Countries?	. 188
		7.2.2	Research Question 2b: How Do Industry Factors Relate to the	
			Choice of International R&D Configuration in Emerging	
			Countries?	. 195
		7.2.3	Résumé of Structural Model Results	. 205

8	3 Summary and Implications		209
	8.1	Central Results and Academic Contribution	211
	8.2	Limitations and Implications for Future Research	218
	8.3	Practical Implications	221
Bil	oliogi	aphy	227

## List of Figures

Figure 1:	The Composition and Time Horizon of R&D Activities 11
Figure 2:	Alternative Country Classifications and GDP per Capita Range 17
Figure 3:	Research Framework
Figure 4:	Major Subsidiary Strategies and R&D Configurations73
Figure 5:	Sample Distribution By Context Factors
Figure 6:	Reflective and Formative Measurement Models 132
Figure 7:	Average R&D Configuration Strategy Mix of Foreign Subsidiaries 168
Figure 8:	Average R&D Configuration Strategy Mix by Industry 171
Figure 9:	Average R&D Configuration Strategy Mix by Host Country 176
Figure 10:	MNE-Related Differences in Average R&D Configuration 178
Figure 11:	Subsidiary-Related Differences in Average R&D Configuration 180
Figure 12:	Expected Changes in R&D Configuration by Industry 183
Figure 13:	Expected Changes in R&D Configuration by Host Country 185
Figure 14:	Overview of the Structural Model

## **List of Tables**

Table 1:	The Evolution of International R&D
Table 2:	Overview of International R&D Typologies and Taxonomies
Table 3:	Summary of Hypotheses for Research Question 2a 96
Table 4:	Summary of Hypotheses for Research Question 2b 114
Table 5:	Decision Rules for Differentiating Between Formative and Reflective Constructs
Table 6:	Fit Criteria for Formative Measurement Models
Table 7:	Fit Criteria for Structural Models
Table 8:	Fit Criteria of the Second-Order Construct "Market Opportunities" 147
Table 9:	Fit Criteria of the Construct "Competition-Based Market Opportunities"
Table 10:	Fit Criteria of the Construct "Demand-Based Market Opportunities" 150
Table 11:	Fit Criteria of the Second-Order Construct "Economies of Location". 151
Table 12:	Fit Criteria of the Construct, "Factor Costs" 153
Table 13:	Fit Criteria of the Construct "Factor Quality" 154
Table 14:	Fit Criteria of the Construct "Technological Complexity" 159
Table 15:	Fit Criteria of the Construct "Technological Turbulence" 160
Table 16:	Fit Criteria of the Construct "Cost Pressure" 163
Table 17:	Correlation Matrix of the Independent Variables 163
Table 18:	Calculation of R&D Configuration Strategies 166
Table 19:	Empirical Results for Market Opportunities and R&D Configuration Strategies

Table 20:	Empirical Results for Economies of Location and R&D Configuration Strategies	190
Table 21:	Empirical Results for Cultural Distance and R&D Configuration Strategies	193
Table 22:	Comparison of Model Results and Hypotheses for Research Question 2a	195
Table 23:	Empirical Results for Technological Complexity and R&D Configuration Strategies	196
Table 24:	Empirical Results for Technological Turbulence and R&D Configuration Strategies	198
Table 25:	Empirical Results for Local Responsiveness and R&D Configuration Strategies	200
Table 26:	Empirical Results for Cost Pressure and R&D Configuration Strategies	202
Table 27:	Comparison of Model Results and Hypotheses for Research Question 2b	204

## List of Abbreviations

Association of Southeast Asian Nations
Brazil, Russia, India, and China
Chief executive officer
Continued
Corporate Technology Unit
Emerging market
European Union
Economist Intelligence Unit
Euro
Foreign direct investment
Full-time equivalent
Group of Seven (industrialized nations)
Gross domestic product
Gross national income
Global Innovation (as R&D configuration strategy)
Delegation of German Industry and Commerce in Shanghai
German-Thai Chamber of Commerce
Global Technology Unit
Home-base augmenting (as motive for FDI in R&D)
Home-base exploiting (as motive for FDI in R&D)
Human development index

HHD	High human development country
HIC	High income country
HR	Human resources
IB	International business
IGCC	Indo-German Chamber of Industry and Commerce
IMF	International Monetary Fund
IMP	Implementation (as R&D configuration strategy)
IPLC	International product life cycle
IPR	Intellectual property rights
ITU	Indigenous Technology Unit
LHD	Low human development country
LI	Local Innovation (as R&D configuration strategy)
LIC	Low income country
LIL	Locally Integrated Laboratory
LISREL	Linear structural relationships
LMI	Lower middle income country
m	Million
MHD	Middle human development country
MNC	Multinational corporation
MNE	Multinational enterprise
n.s.	Not significant
n.a.	Not applicable

OPAC	Online Public Access Catalogue
PLS	Partial least squares
PPP	Purchasing power parity
R&D	Research & development
RBV	Resource-based view
SEM	Structural equation modeling
SGC	Singaporean-German Chamber of Industry and Commerce
SIC	Standard Industrial Classification
SL	Support Laboratory
SME	Small and medium-sized enterprises
SPSS	Statistical Package for the Social Sciences
TNC	Transnational corporation
TTU	Transfer Technology Unit
UMI	Upper middle income country
UN	United Nations
UNCTAD	United Nations Conference on Trade and Development
U.S.	United States
US\$	United States Dollar
VDP	Variance-decomposition proportion
VIF	Variance inflation factor
WTO	World Trade Organization
†, *, **, ***	Significance levels of 10%, 5%, 1%, and 0.1%, respectively

## 1 Motivation

Growing international competition, an accelerating pace of technological advancements, and increasingly demanding, fragmented, and volatile customer preferences present firms in today's business environment with a major challenge: They have to manage the dilemma of decreasing product life cycles and high pressure to develop commercially viable products and services faster on the one hand and increasing development costs and risks for new technologies on the other (Howells 2008; Lanjouw and Schankerman 2004; OECD 1991). Accordingly, their ability to identify new technology and market trends worldwide and to globally exploit product, process, and strategy innovations faster, more efficiently, and with greater flexibility than competitors have become essential success factors for multinational enterprises (MNEs) (e.g., Blomkvist, Kappen, and Zander 2010; Franko 1989; Lewin, Massini, and Peeters 2009; Perlitz 1993).

These challenges not only are valid in industrialized countries but also are valid, and particularly so, in emerging economies. These countries have experienced tremendous development in the past few decades. Although at some point in the past it was still possible for Western MNEs to compete in these markets with outdated technology, increased customer sophistication and rising competitive pressure require companies to build on the latest technologies in these countries as well. The case of Volkswagen in China is a prominent anecdotal example that illustrates this change in the competitive environment: Volkswagen was the first foreign carmaker to enter the Chinese market. In 1985 Volkswagen started the production of the Santana sedan in its plant in Anting, near Shanghai. For almost ten years, Volkswagen's Santana ruled the roads of China. In Europe, the Santana was developed and built in the 1970s, but the model never found a large number of customers and production was finally stopped. In China, however, the Santana had no serious competitor to challenge Volkswagen's position as market leader until the mid 1990s. The firm's comfortable position as quasi-monopolist ended when an increasing number of foreign competitors entered the Chinese market in the late 1990s. These companies launched an increasing number of models that offered up-to-date technology and considered the

specific local tastes and thus could rapidly gain market share at Volkswagen's expense. As new car models came on the market, consumers became increasingly conscious of choices; their expectations and their price-consciousness rose. Volkswagen had to react and so invested heavily in local development capabilities. In cooperation with corporate research & development (R&D) in Germany, the Chinese subsidiary developed a new car model based on the specific needs and preferences of the Chinese market. From the beginning, more than 70 percent of all parts for the model were sourced from local suppliers.

Regarding the internationalization of business R&D, Manolopoulos, Papanastassiou, and Pearce (2007) assert that "[o]ne of the most pervasive and strategically significant developments in MNEs' global expansion in the past 30 years has been the quantitative growth of their dispersed R&D facilities" (p.662). In contrast to the management of other activities, such as marketing or manufacturing, MNEs traditionally have kept all major innovation activities centrally in their home country (see Ambos and Ambos 2009a; Creamer 1976; De Meyer and Mizushima 1989; Terpstra 1977). R&D usually represents one of the last objectives of an internationalization strategy (Patel and Pavitt 1991; Pearce 1989), which makes R&D "the least globalized of MNEs' value-adding activities" (Kumar 2001, p. 160). Compared to the internationalization of other functions, offshore R&D activities represent a much more recent phenomenon (Dunning and Lundan 2009; Feinberg and Gupta 2004). In recent decades the internationalization of R&D has rapidly gained momentum, with sharp increases in foreign direct investment (FDI) in R&D and growing numbers of R&D sites abroad (Dalton and Serapio 1999; Hakanson and Nobel 1993b; Reger, Beise, and Belitz 1999; Stifterverband 2010; Zedtwitz and Gassmann 2002). Foreign R&D expenditures of U.S. companies, for instance, increased by 25% between 1997 and 1999 (Gassmann and Gaso 2004). Most European countries experienced sharp increases in international R&D in the 1980s (Hakanson and Nobel 1993a). In German MNEs, international dispersion of R&D lagged behind this development and appears to be an even more recent phenomenon of the 1990s (Ambos 2005). In the previous ten years, German companies have established more foreign R&D units than they did

#### Motivation

cumulatively in the preceding 50 years (UNCTAD 2005). Moreover, MNEs increasingly assign tasks to R&D facilities outside their home country that go well beyond simple adaptations for the respective local market. Foreign R&D units take on more and more international responsibilities and are increasingly integrated into the MNE's global innovation network. Instead of the traditional forward knowledge transfer, from headquarters to the foreign subsidiaries, there is an increase of lateral and reverse knowledge transfer, from the foreign subsidiaries to other affiliates or to headquarters in the home country (Ambos, Ambos, and Schlegelmilch 2006; Frost 1998; Hakanson and Nobel 2000, 2001; Kotabe et al. 2007). Accordingly, both the extent to which MNEs perform R&D outside their home countries and the types of foreign R&D have changed considerably (Song and Shin 2008, p.292).

While MNEs have located manufacturing plants in emerging countries for some time. R&D activities traditionally are highly concentrated in some technologically advanced countries and typically stay in relative proximity to the corporate headquarters (e.g., Ambos 2005; Gassmann and Zedtwitz 1999; Reger, Beise, and Belitz 1999). The main reason for this concentration is that R&D activities require a superior knowledge base with highly skilled labor, as well as a stable and predictable institutional environment favoring innovation. These requirements are traditionally met in industrialized countries with strong, national innovation systems. With the continuing globalization of value creation activities (Ghemawat 2003; Goerzen and Beamish 2003), more and more MNEs recognize a growing global supply of science and technology resources and capabilities, including attractive conditions for R&D activities in some emerging economies – from both the cost and the resource perspectives. Consequently, emerging market subsidiaries are considered an increasingly important asset for the innovative activities of MNEs (see Boehe 2008, p.29). About 15 years ago, Motorola was one of the first companies to establish a foreign-owned R&D laboratory in China. By now, with a network of 19 research centers and laboratories and 1,600 R&D engineers, the country has become the largest R&D location for Motorola outside the United States. Today, the total number of foreign R&D units in China reached about 700, and the trend toward international dispersion of R&D activities in emerging economies is expected to further increase. In a recent survey, 61% of European firms declared that they intend to increase their foreign R&D, with China representing the top destination for R&D expansion, followed by the United States and then India, which ranks third worldwide as the most attractive R&D location (see EIU 2004; UNCTAD 2005).

In addition to its influence on the competitive position of individual firms, internationalization of business R&D – using the larger lens of the economic context of international technology transfer – can also be considered a key dimension of globalization, having a significant effect on the technological development of host countries and the competitiveness of nations in the global economy (Brockhoff 1999; Cheng and Bolon 1993; OECD 2008a; Pearce 1989). Accordingly, many countries have developed policy initiatives to stimulate innovation and to attract FDI in R&D (Hegde and Hicks 2008).

In a nutshell, two recent trends regarding the internationalization of innovation activities can be stated: first, an increasing share of foreign R&D in general, and second, the emergence and fast-paced growth of foreign R&D activities in emerging countries.

International management research has long neglected international R&D (Cantwell 1992; Cheng and Bolon 1993; Gassmann and Zedtwitz 1998; Granstrand, Hakanson, and Sjölander 1992), but now the field has moved up on the research agenda (Chiesa 2000; Manolopoulos, Papanastassiou, and Pearce 2005; Peng and Wang 2000). Until the late 1990s, research on R&D internationalization primarily focused on the economic and political levels or investigated location decisions on the project level. More recently, there is growing recognition of foreign subsidiary innovation (Cantwell and Mudambi 2005; Phene and Almeida 2008). Besides providing technical support to local sales and manufacturing functions in the host country,and adaptating existing products or processes technologies to local market requirements, foreign R&D units are increasingly integrated into their firm's global value creation network. A global mandate for a certain product or technology is one example. In this manner, foreign

#### Motivation

R&D units develop their own distinctive technological knowledge and capabilities and leverage host-country advantages, such as factor costs and access to a superior knowledge base, and simultaneously can benefit from the interdependencies across the group (Papanastassiou and Pearce 1998; Pearce 1999).

This thesis aims to contribute to the literature on the internationalization of MNEs' R&D activities. A comprehensive literature review reveals that there is a need for additional research particularly linking the discussion of R&D internationalization to the field and theories of international business (IB) research. Addressing the identified lack of research on R&D in emerging economies, this study intends to expand the understanding of international R&D configuration in MNEs and to provide insights into the nature and motives of MNEs' R&D activities in emerging economies. The chosen focus, on the subsidiary level of activity, accommodates the upcoming and increasingly influential stream of literature in IB research taking a subsidiary view of the MNE (e.g., Andersson, Forsgren, and Holm 2002; Asmussen, Pedersen, and Dhanaraj 2009; Cantwell and Mudambi 2005; Frost, Birkinshaw, and Ensign 2002). Furthermore, researchers suggest that the innovative role of subsidiaries in MNEs has become significant in recent years (e.g., Kotabe et al. 2007; Phene and Almeida 2008).

Regarding R&D activities in emerging economies, there are few empirical insights and many open questions (see Ambos and Ambos 2009a). The first research question therefore addresses the configuration of subsidiaries' R&D activities and the corresponding subsidiary roles. Thus far, it is not clear how prevalent the location of R&D activities in emerging economies is or how these units are integrated into the global MNE network. Moreover, extant literature reveals that the configuration may differ across different contexts, including by industry and by host country and may also change over time (see, e.g., Van Ark et al. 2008). Therefore, the first research question which is addressed by the present work asks the following:

## 1a. Which R&D configuration strategies do foreign subsidiaries in emerging countries pursue?

1b. How do these strategies vary across different contexts and over time?

The second research question represents the central, confirmatory part of the thesis. It addresses different motives and their influence on the configuration of MNE subsidiary R&D in emerging economies. Analyzing location and industry factors, the thesis aims to explain and predict variations in subsidiary-level R&D activities (i.e., variations of knowledge transfer from and to a focal foreign affiliate). The second research question therefore asks:

- 2a. How do location factors relate to the choice of international R&D configuration in emerging countries?
- 2b. How do industry factors relate to the choice of international R&D configuration in emerging countries?

To address this research question, this study develops a conceptual framework building on prior studies on R&D internationalization and foundational IB theories. The framework is analyzed using structural equation modeling (SEM).

This thesis consists of eight chapters structured in three sections: conceptualization, methodology, and empirical results. Subsequent to this introduction, Chapter 2 introduces basic terms used throughout the study and describes the selection criteria applied for the literature review. Thereafter, a literature review provides an overview and discussion of relevant studies in the fields related to the subject of this thesis. On this basis, the research gap is derived, and the positioning of this study within the existing body of literature is illustrated. Chapter 3 describes the theoretical foundation of the research and outlines the reference theories that contribute to explain subsidiary R&D strategies and their determinants. Chapter 4 introduces the research framework of this study and develops hypotheses for the relationships based on theoretical considerations and existing conceptual and empirical findings.

The methodological part starts with Chapter 5, explaining the applied methodological

#### Motivation

approach and describing the date collection procedure for the large-scale empirical survey, as well as the characteristics of the data sample. The collected sample is analyzed with respect to respondents' characteristics, representativeness, and biases. Subsequently, the chapter introduces the applied methodology of data analysis, describing the applied statistical methods, validation procedures, and fit criteria. Chapter 6 specifies the conceptualization and operationalization of the theoretical constructs and assesses the respective measurement models.

Chapter 7 answers the posed research questions. The first part of this chapter addresses the first research question in an exploratory manner and examines subsidiaries' R&D strategies in the emerging countries under consideration. The second part addresses the second research question and includes a discussion of the empirical testing of the previously derived hypotheses and the findings of the structural model. Finally, Chapter 8 summarizes the key findings of the study, outlines the academic contribution, points out avenues for further research, and derives implications for managerial practice.

## 2 Definitions, Literature Review, and Research Gap

This chapter comprises three sections. It starts with a definition of key terms that are of major relevance and applied throughout the thesis. This section aims to ensure a common understanding and to specify the scope and objective of the research project. The second section addresses the existing body of literature related to the research topic. A review and discussion of contributions in the relevant fields provide the basis for the research at hand. The third section summarizes the findings of the literature review, describing the identified research gap and the respective contributions of this research project.

## 2.1 Definition of Terms

In the following, four terms and synonymously applied expressions are introduced: international R&D, configuration, emerging economies, and subsidiary. These are fundamental and frequently used terms throughout this thesis. Therefore, the definition both creates a common understanding of fundamental and frequently used terms in this thesis and contributes to a further specification of the scope.

## 2.1.1 International R&D

There are many approaches in literature defining R&D, reaching back to Bush's (1945) work on R&D taxonomies (see Van Ark et al. 2008). Broadly, R&D is the combination of factors of production with the objective of generating new "knowledge" (Brockhoff 1999). Similarly, the Frascati Manual, the international guide for collecting and using R&D statistics, defines R&D as creative work "undertaken on a systematic basis in order to increase the stock of knowledge [...] and the use of this stock of knowledge to devise new applications" (OECD 2002, p.30).

One common categorization distinguishes between basic research, applied research, and development (sometimes subdivided into product and process development).

According to OECD (2002, p.30), basic research is "experimental or theoretical work undertaken primarily to acquire new knowledge of the underlying foundations of phenomena and observable facts, without any particular application or use in view". Applied research is "also original investigation undertaken in order to acquire new knowledge. It is, however, directed primarily towards a specific practical aim or objective". In industry, applied research includes the creation of knowledge that has specific commercial objectives with regard to product, processes, or services (UNCTAD 2006). Development (or "experimental development") describes "systematic work, drawing on existing knowledge gained from research and/or practical experience, which is directed to producing new materials, products, or devices; to installing new processes, systems, and services; or to improving substantially those already produced or installed". While basic research is mainly undertaken by the public sector and plays only a marginal role in business R&D (UNCTAD 2005), the other two forms are central to the competitiveness of firms (Brockhoff 1999; Han, Kim, and Srivastava 1998). Cohen and Levinthal (1989) argue that firms have little incentive to carry out any basic research, except for their need to build absorptive capacity that allows them to use publicly available research results in their own R&D units. In practice, however, it has to be admitted that drawing a distinct line between the different types of R&D activities is difficult (UNCTAD 2005); in fact, according to Van Ark et al. (2008), "the precise line between research and development is not easily drawn". Particularly in technology-intensive industries, there is a smooth transition between "research" and "development" because much of the R&D activities include close cooperation and interaction both between researchers in the private and public sectors and with customers and suppliers (Amsden and Tschang 2003). Actually, Van Arc et al. (2008, p.17) found that managers tend to consider both "applied research" and "development" as defined by OECD (2002) as "development" rather than "research" because both activities are linked to practical objectives and commercial applications. Meanwhile, only "basic research" is regarded as "research" because of the absence of immediate application in commercially viable products (see Figure 1, adapted from Van Arc et al. 2008). Commes and Lienert (1983) emphasize that different risks are associated with different parts of the R&D process. In this perspective, wheter a step is

research or development depends on the the degree and type (e.g., technological, market, and financial) of risk assigned to the activity.



Figure 1: The Composition and Time Horizon of R&D Activities

To categorize international R&D activities, Zedtwitz and Gassmann (2002) suggest distinguishing between research, which involves applied sciences, and development, which involves engineering. Other categorizations are more granular and reflect different purposes and patterns of collaboration of technical work. Medcof (1997) distinguishes between "research", "development", "marketing support", and "manufacturing support". Research describes the discovery of new scientific knowledge that has the potential to serve as platform for the subsequent development of products or processes. This work is performed without collaboration between the technology unit and the firm's marketing or manufacturing function. Development encompasses the creation of new products ("product development") and processes ("process development") that have commercial value and is characterized by collaboration with marketing and manufacturing units respectively. Marketing support describes the adoption of already established product technology to specific customer needs or the provision of technical customer support. These activities are performed with collaboration between technology and marketing, but without involvement of the manufacturing function. Manufacturing support, finally, adapts already established process technology to particular conditions. This type of work requires collaboration between the technology

and manufacturing functions without significant contribution of marketing.

Taking a subsidiary perspective, Hegde and Hicks (2008) divide innovative capability of subsidiaries into three categories, with decreasing sophistication: use-inspired basic research, multi-technology product innovation, and incremental innovation. Other studies consider different technological functions that were assigned to the foreign affiliate: namely, adaptive or incremental R&D; innovative R&D for local, regional, or global markets; and technology monitoring, which has a listening post function to detect and observe technological developments in the host country (Almeida 1996; Florida 1997; Frost 2001). Adaptive R&D again may comprise a variety of tasks ranging from basic production support to the adaptation and upgrading of imported technologies. (For a more detailed description of these three roles, see UNCTAD 2007, pp.138 et seq.) With regard to the relative importance of different roles, Singh (2007) finds that, despite the growing number of MNE subsidiaries performing advanced research, the majority of subsidiaries have a mandate either for incremental adaptation of the parent firm's products for local markets, "just as it was reported years ago in surveys such as Mansfield et al. 1979" (p.767), or as a listening post for technology monitoring.

This study considers R&D on the basis of subsidiaries' formal R&D function. Informal or occasional R&D avtivities in other functions is not included. Although the differentiation between research and development – or further subdivision – is valuable for some research purposes, it seems appropriate to apply the formal business function as international configuration aspects (location and cross-boarder integration) are analyzed. Also worth considering is that basic research activities represent only a marginal part of overall, and particularly foreign, business R&D (Frost, Birkinshaw, and Ensign 2002; Kuemmerle 1999a) – a fortiori in emerging economies (UNCTAD 2005). Moreover, this scope considers the evidence of Van Ark et al. (2008), who assert that "the boundary between applied research and development is not precise and it is not clear whether different firms draw the line between these two activities in the same way, when responding to [...] statistical surveys" (p.18).

### 2.1.2 Configuration of R&D Activities

International business strategy comprises two major elements: the configuration of a firm's value creation activities and the coordination of these activities (Sullivan and Bauerschmidt 1991). Configuration describes the geographical location of a firm's value creation activities, as well as the cross-boarder resource interdependencies, while coordination refers to the extent that like activities are performed in the same way (Porter 1986a, 1986b), with mechanisms ensuring an efficient flow of information and knowledge across boarders (Bartlett and Ghoshal 1989). The configuration of value activities has gained increasing research attention (e.g., Adler and Hashai 2007; Craig and Susan 2000; Fine et al. 2002; Roth 1992; Taggart 1998a) and represents an established approach in international strategy research (Birkinshaw and Morrison 1995). For a recent overview of literature on international configuration and coordination see, e.g., Holtbrügge (2005).

The basic consideration of configuration is an international division of labor and specialization on certain activities. Foreign subsidiaries are no longer regarded as isolated units in their respective host market but as part of the MNE's global network (Porter 1986a). The concept of a subsidiary strategy goes back to the seminal work in global strategy by Bartlett (1979) and Prahalad and Doz (1981), which emphasized the conflicting need for local responsiveness and global integration. Bartlett and Ghoshal (1989) worked on the premise that each subsidiary has a specific role to play in the MNE's global network, modeling subsidiary strategy as a function of the local environment and the subsidiary's unique capabilities (Birkinshaw and Morrison 1995).

The international configuration of firms' R&D activities represents the main focus of this study. Configuration includes, on the one hand, the geographical location of R&D activities and, on the other hand, the cross-border flows of added-value between subsidiaries (horizontal) and between headquarters and subsidiaries (vertical). In this study, these international interdependencies between the respective subsidiary and other units of the MNE network are also referred to as cross-border integration or, in shortform, "integration". In global strategy literature, the terms "subsidiary strategy" and "subsidiary role" are often applied interchangeably (Birkinshaw and Morrison 199. The same holds for literature on international R&D, which frequently uses them synonymously. Other terms, like subsidiary "mandate" and "mission", or "type of R&D" can also be found in this context. Birkinshaw and Morris (1995) argue that despite the interchangeable use in literature, there is more than a semantic distinction between the terminologies: "Role suggests a deterministic process whereby the subsidiary fulfils its 'imposed' function" while strategy "suggests a higher degree of freedom on the part of subsidiary management to define its own destiny" (p.733). Manolopoulos, Papanastassiou, and Pearce (2005) argue in the same direction when stating that "[t]oday, rather than accepting predetermined roles, subsidiaries are asked to actively engage in developing their operations and [to] explore procedures that would increase the efficacy of the whole MNE network" (p. 250). In the literature review, publications applying the different terminologies were considered. In this study, the term "strategy" is preferred to emphasize the autonomous initiative of the individual subsidiary with regard to its innovation activities (seeGupta and Govindarajan 1994, p.443). "Strategy" thereby refers to the "configuration" of value creation activities. Accordingly, "R&D strategy" and "international configuration of R&D", or the shortform "R&D configuration", are considered synonymous. The same holds for the different denotations that can be found in literature to describe R&D activities outside an MNE's home country, such as "foreign", "international", and "overseas" R&D.

#### 2.1.3 Emerging Economies

Despite the increasing research attention, there is no generally accepted set of criteria and no commonly applied definition of emerging economies (Peng 2000). The variety of labels that have been applied to describe these countries includes lessdeveloped countries, low-wage countries, newly industrialized countries, and low-cost countries. Whereas some terms express the availability of cheap resources (Arnold and Quelch 1998), particularly international marketing literature applies the term emerging market (EM), indicating a focus on the countries' increasing sales potential. Accordingly, the "plethora of country classification schemes" has been inconsistently used in research and practice (Burgess and Steenkamp 2006, p.336).

Emerging economies usually show some common characteristics. These include: 1) a low level of absolute economic development, 2) rapid economic growth rates, with a switch from the agricultural to the industrial sector and decreasing poverty, and 3) a rising free market system with increasing free trade and growing market capitalization of publicly traded companies (see Arnold and Quelch 1998; Burgess and Steenkamp 2006). Because of a relatively stable and responsible macroeconomic policy, these countries were able to create a physical and institutional environment including legislation, regulation, as well as infrastructure (see Lenartowicz and Johnson 2007; Peng 2003; Peng, Wang, and Jiang 2008) that encourages business activities (Khanna and Palepu 1997).

The World Bank applies a classification of countries with four categories, based on the absolute level of economic development (see World Bank 2008). It is measured in terms of gross national income (GNI) per capita by country, adjusted for currency fluctuations. Countries with a GNI of US\$ 935 or less are regarded as low income, of US\$ 936 to US\$ 3,705 as lower middle income, of US\$ 3,706 to US\$11,455 as upper middle income, and of US\$ 11,456 and more as high income. Low-income and middle-income economies are sometimes referred to as developing economies.

The United Nations (UN) classifies countries based on their score on the human development index (HDI). The HDI represents a normalized qualitative indicator of countries' achievements and comprises the following three dimensions: gross domestic product (GDP) per capita at purchasing power parity (PPP), life expectancy at birth, and adult literacy rate. Countries with low or medium human development are usually considered emerging countries; countries with high HDI values are considered as developed countries. The International Monetary Fund (IMF) in its World Economic Outlook distinguishes between advanced economies on the one hand and emerging and developing economies on the other. The classification is not based on strict criteria; instead, the classification "has evolved over time with the objective of facilitating analysis by providing a reasonably meaningful organization of data" (IMF 2008, p.252). The group of advanced economies is divided into subgroups, namely major advanced economies, which is often referred to as the Group of Seven (G7); the members of the euro area; and newly industrialized Asian economies, including Singapore and Korea. The group of emerging and developing economies of the IMF comprises all countries that are not considered advanced economies. Subgroups are formed along regional breakdowns, as well as on the basis of analytical criteria, including countries' composition of export earnings, exchange rate arrangements, and financial criteria based on external financing sources and experience with debt servicing.

The World Trade Organization (WTO) distinguishes between developed and developing countries. However, a definition of the classifications does not exist; they are instead based on the countries' self-selection. About two-thirds of the WTO member countries classify themselves as developing countries; half of these are designated as least-developed countries.

For the study at hand, emerging economies are distinct from developing countries on the one hand and developed (alternatively: industrialized) countries on the other hand. Emerging economies are more advanced than developing countries but have not yet reached the standards of the developed countries with regard to the characteristics already described. The research focuses on the major emerging countries that play an increasing role in the world economy. These are Brazil, Russia, India, and China (the so-called "BRIC countries"), as well as the emerging economies of the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN). The terms "emerging economies", "emerging countries", and "emerging markets" are thereby used synonymously.

Figure 2 (based on Burgess and Steenkamp 2006) visualizes the popular country

classifications proposed by the WTO and UN with their respective GDP per capita range as well as the GDP per capita range of the emerging economies investigated in the present study.



Figure 2: Alternative Country Classifications and GDP per Capita Range

## 2.1.4 Subsidiary

Subsidiary describes an organizational entity that is controlled by another entity, referred to as the parent company. Control is usually achieved by ownership shares of the parent company in the subsidiary. A wholly owned subsidiary is a subsidiary where the ownership is not shared but the subsidiary belongs fully to the parent company. The parent company with all its subsidiaries forms a group. When the members of this group are located in two or more different countries (see Caves 1996), they constitute an MNE. The entities within an MNE are assumed to be linked in a way that they may coordinate their operations in various ways (OECD 2008b). Alternative notations to MNE that can be found in the literature are multinational corporation (MNC) and transnational corporation (TNC) (see Pitelis and Sugden 2000).

In this study, the terms subsidiary and affiliate are used synonymously. Because the reserach focuses on subsidiaries' R&D activities in the respective host countries, the terms "R&D unit", "R&D site", and "R&D laboratory" (or lab), all established in the literature, are used as synonyms as well.

## 2.2 Review of Existing Literature

This section provides an overview of the existing literature related to the research topic of this study. A literature review represents a systematic analysis of existing contributions comprising the identification, evaluation, and interpretation of documents related to the research topic (Fink 2005; Hart 1998). It has to demonstrate that "all the main concepts, theories, theorists and methodological approaches relevant to the topic have been identified, understood, and critically evaluated" (Hart 1998, p.172). In the following section, the procedure and the selection criteria applied for the literature review are introduced before the results are then discussed in the following section.

## 2.2.1 Selection Criteria and Procedure for the Literature Review

Research on international R&D comprises a multitude of different topics (see Cheng and Bolon 1993). This diversity requires the definition of clear selection criteria prior to the review. Publications addressing aspects of international R&D strategies, such as R&D configuration, typologies of international R&D activities, R&D site selection, and subsidiary roles, were considered. Also included were publications on R&Drelated cross-boarder technology and knowledge flows. Not considered were publications dealing with international innovation processes and human resources (HR) management in multinational R&D (e.g., the management of internationally dispersed R&D teams). The same applies for publications focusing solely on the ownership dimension of international R&D (e.g., R&D collaboration).

To identify relevant contributions, the leading journals were reviewed systematically. The identification was based on the selection of Werner (2002) and the journal ranking by the German Academic Association for Business Research (see Henning-Thurau, Walsh, and Schrader 2003). Moreover, a keyword search was conducted in two leading electronic bibliographic databases for scholars: EBSCO/EPNET and AIB/Inform Global. For this search, a long list of keywords was developed comprising multiple variations and combinations of terms related to international R&D strategies. Furthermore, a complementary manual search (of the Internet and the Online Public Access Catalogue (OPAC) at WHU – Otto Beisheim School of Management) was conducted to identify any additional relevant publications.

The literature review primarily focused on peer-reviewed studies (see Cooper 1998) with empirical results in English-speaking journals. Purely conceptual publications, as well as books, book chapters, and publications by public organizations, were included when the work gained considerable research attention in the field. These sources were mainly identified by cross-references.

The following journals turned out to be the most important ones for the topic under investigation: Journal of International Business Studies, Strategic Management Journal, Research Policy, Management International Review, R&D Management, and International Business Review.

#### 2.2.2 Overview of Existing Literature

Some of the most important decisions by MNEs involve the location of specific activities of the value chain. In contrast to other functions (e.g., manufacturing), relatively little research has been done on factors influencing a company's choices regarding the location of R&D activities (Feinberg and Gupta 2004). Yet in the past two decades, research on internationalization of R&D has gained momentum, and the increasing body of literature in this field has advanced our understanding of this phenomenon. For comprehensive overviews on internationalization of R&D and innovation activities, readers may turn to Brockhoff (1998) and, more recently, Narula and Zanfei (2005). This section provides an overview of the most notable contributions in a strongly fragmented research field (see Ambos and Schlegelmilch 2004) and thus helps to understand the positioning and research contribution of this thesis. This section describes and discusses existing literature from three perspectives: The first subsection outlines the development of the research field with regard to the research focus, topics, trends, and applied methodology. The second subsection provides an overview of investigated motives and drivers of international R&D activities discussed in literature. Finally, the third subsection reviews existing taxonomies and classifications of foreign R&D units.

#### **Research Focus and Methodology**

Until the 1980s, the internationalization of R&D was of very little research interest, either to economic and business theorists, or to statistical agencies or government institutions in developed countries (Niosi 1999, p.107). Research in the field of international R&D mainly began with the pioneering studies by Ronstadt (1978), Hewitt (Hewitt 1980), and Behrman and Fischer (Behrman and Fischer 1980a, 1980b). Nevertheless, in the 1980s and beginning of the 1990s, the topic still did not receive much attention. Since the mid-1990s, however, the academic field of R&D management has gained in importance considerably (see Brockhoff 1999). In more recent years, international aspects of R&D management have increasingly received attention from researchers; studies in this field have gained momentum, reflected in the increasing

numbers of publications addressing it.

In their article, "The Management of Multinational R&D: A Neglected Topic in International Business Research", published in the Journal of International Business Studies (JIBS), Cheng and Bolon (1993) group research literature on the management of multinational R&D in five categories: 1) Site selection for foreign R&D subsidiaries, 2) local autonomy granted to subsidiaries, 3) international coordination of multinational R&D, 4) organizational structure for foreign R&D activities, and 5) human resource management in multinational R&D; they conclude that "despite the growing involvement of multinational firms in foreign-based R&D during the past 15 years, little research has been done on why and how firms internationalize their R&D and what effects it might have on firm competitiveness" (Cheng and Bolon 1993, p.1). Recently, Hegde and Hicks (2008) divided research on international R&D into three periods based on the perspective of the time: The first theories of globalization, until about 1980, assume that R&D followed manufacturing to adapt products and processes to local markets. As a next evolutionary step, scholars then added the listening post functions to account for the increase of overseas R&D. In both the adaptation/modification and the listening post models, foreign R&D sites were considered auxiliary outposts supporting the R&D in the home country. Since the 1990s, subsidiaries have also been regarded as a source of innovation: New knowledge is created and transferred to the company's central R&D.

To investigate the internationalization of R&D, researchers have applied a multitude of research methods. Case study and small sample studies (e.g., Beckmann and Fischer 1994; Cantwell 1989; Chiesa 1996a; Florida 1997; Gassmann and Han 2004; Hakanson and Nobel 1993a, 1993b; Kenney and Florida 1994; Mansfield, Teece, and Romeo 1979; Serapio Jr and Dalton 1999; Wortmann 1990; Zedtwitz 2005; Zedtwitz and Gassmann 2002) mainly focus on processes and different motives of FDI in R&D. These studies generally examine R&D internationalization from one home country in one host country.

Other studies use aggregated data (e.g., Beise and Belitz 1998; Belderbos 2003; Fors and Zejan 1996; Hirschey and Caves 1981; Kumar 2001) or apply patent analysis (e.g., Belderbos 2001; Cantwell and Janne 1999; Criscuolo, Narula, and Verspagen 2002; Le Bas and Sierra 2002; Niosi 1997; Patel and Pavitt 1991; Patel and Vega 1999; Reger, Beise, and Belitz 1999) or a combination of both methods (e.g., Dunning and Narula 1995; Hegde and Hicks 2008; Iwasa and Odagiri 2004). Although studies that build on aggregated or government data are able to quantify FDI, they do not incorporate firm level factors. In terms of data, patent output is used as an indicator of innovation and R&D success (Almeida 1996; Le Bas and Sierra 2002). For instance, Cantwell (1995)investigated the extent of invention outside companies' home country and showed that the largest U.S. and European companies have generated an increasing share of their patentable innovations outside their home country. Patent analysis might also allow firm level studies. A review of the citation patterns of patents (Almeida 1996) revealed not only intra-regional effects of but also could identify specific firm-to-firm linkages. On this micro-level, however, this method also shows severe disadvantages with regard to inter-company comparability and availability of patent data (see, e.g., Ambos 2005; for a critical evaluation see also Chapter 5.1.1).

Survey-based studies focus mainly on different structural aspects of foreign R&D. Similar to case study research, most large-scale analyses focus on the extent and funding modalities of foreign R&D in specific countries (e.g., Hakanson and Nobel 1993b; Hirschey and Caves 1981; Howells 1990a; Mansfield, Teece, and Romeo 1979; Pearce 1989). The investigations predominantly cover R&D activities in triad countries, notably the United States, Great Britain, Sweden, and Japan. More recently, there has been a tendency in survey-based studies to aggregate data on multiple countries, assuming that there are no differences between the countries (Edler, Meyer-Krahmer, and Reger 2002; Gassmann and Zedtwitz 1999; Kuemmerle 1997, 1998, 1999a, 1999b; Papanastassiou and Pearce 2005; Patel and Vega 1999; Zedtwitz, Gassmann, and Boutellier 2004). Although internationalization processes may be similar across host countries, there is evidence that considerable differences
exist between companies from different home countries, even within Europe. Ambos (2005), for example, investigated the internationalization process and the underlying motivations and missions of German companies, In his study, he comes to the conclusion that "[c]uriously, in many instances German firms appear to mirror Japanese rather than, for example, Swedish or British MNEs. Compared to Sweden and Britain, both Japan and Germany may be considered late movers when it comes to the timing of internationalization" (p.406).

#### Motives and Drivers of International R&D

Determinants for internationalizing R&D have been investigated in a growing body of academic literature. Accordingly, extant research suggests a variety of motives (see Brockhoff 1998 for a comprehensive review). The bulk of extant studies has thereby studied the determinants of foreign R&D location in an inter-industry or inter-firm context (Kumar 2001). Some authors identify more than 20 different motives. Hakanson and Nobel (1993a; 1993b), for example, analyzed the R&D internationalization motives of Sweden's 20 largest MNEs and found 21 motives that by cluster analysis were assigned to 5 different categories. The authors conclude that different types of foreign R&D activities are driven by different motives. On the basis of case study research, Zedtwitz, Gassmann, and Boutellier (2004) investigate more recently occurring drivers and challenges of global R&D. They identify six dilemmas that make it difficult for companies to exploit the full potential of an internationalized structure of this business function. The authors conclude that there is no single best solution to reap the benefits that the internationalization of R&D offers and to overcome the barriers. Rather, there has to be a fit between these drivers and the specific type of R&D unit.

Traditionally, market size is found to be one of the most important motivations for FDI in R&D (e.g., Archibugi and Iammarino 2002; Kumar 1996; Love 2003; Love and Lage-Hidalgo 2000). Proximity to foreign markets allows MNEs to exploit company-specific capabilities more widely. A considerable part of the existing literature suggests that a high level of local R&D is carried out primarily to adapt products to local

market requirements (Hakanson and Nobel 1993b; Howells 1990a). Because local demand grows increasingly sophisticated, local R&D capabilities are used to adapt existing products to local needs. Moreover, R&D units may support local sales activities and manufacturing operations and improve responsiveness in terms of both speed and relevance (Gammeltoft 2006). Lewin, Massini, and Peeters (2009) argue that "[a]s firms establish manufacturing facilities abroad and assign increasingly complex products to them, locating R&D sites in close proximity to factories becomes a requisite feature" (p.904).

Florida (1997) investigates the motives of foreign-owned R&D laboratories in the United States and concluded that the main drivers are technology-oriented rather than market-oriented. The three most important motives identified were "developing new product ideas", "obtaining information on U.S. scientific and technical developments", and "gaining access to scientific and technical talent". The market-oriented motives, "customize products for local U.S. market" and "work with local manufacturing facility", were ranked fourth and sixth, respectively. Gerybadze and Reger (1999) also emphasize the motive of acquiring impulses for innovation by having a presence in a highly innovative environment (i.e., the motive of learning in lead markets).

Hegde and Hicks (2008) analyze the relation of international R&D activities of subsidiaries from U.S. MNE and host-country characteristics. For their industry-level analysis, the authors used multiple secondary data sources and showed that foreign country market size, the host country's scientific capabilities, and the technological strength of the industry determine both the probability and extent of R&D and patenting activities. Although market size is found to primarily drive the location of foreign R&D, the science and engineering capabilities of the host country were found to positively influence the intensity of foreign subsidiaries' R&D activities. This result indicates a change from market- to resource aspects for foreign innovation activities.

Several studies analyzed whether firms internationalize R&D to benefit from home country strengths or to compensate for weaknesses in the home country. The litera-

ture shows ambiguous results. While some studies argue that companies internationalize their R&D to complement the strengths of the home country (Florida 1997; Papanastassiou and Pearce 1998; Serapio Jr and Dalton 1999), other studies show that companies invest in foreign R&D to compensate for weaknesses in the domestic stock of knowledge in the home country (Le Bas and Sierra 2002; Patel and Vega 1999). These mixed results regarding the motivation might be ascriped to different home countries (Lam 2003; Le Bas and Sierra 2002). Numerous contributions distinguish between drivers favoring centralization – in other words, "centripetal forces" – and drivers favoring decentralization - so-called "centrifugal forces" - in international R&D configuration (Granstrand, Hakanson, and Sjölander 1992; Hirschey and Caves 1981; Pearce 1989). Strong centrifugal forces are usually local responsiveness and adaptation speed of existing products or processes to local market requirements or access to critical resources, as well as political or regulatory factors. Economies of scale, on the other hand, represent a driver favoring centralization. Early literature even suggests decentralization only when the central R&D function in the home country exhausts its resources like personnel or equipment (Pearce 1989). Other factors driving centralization are difficulties in communication, governance and control issues, and security concerns (e.g., violation of intellectual property rights (IPR) abroad). Kumar (2001) finds in his analysis of government data from the United States and Japan that availability and cost of of labor, innovative activity in the host country, policy factors, IPR protection, and openness of the trade regime influence a company's decision regarding the location of R&D activities.

Economies of geographical agglomeration or clusters are also considered drivers of R&D location. MNEs often seek to establish R&D activities close to local clusters of excellence, which consist of "groups of dynamic, interrelated firms and specialised scientific institutions that attract like-minded, technologically advanced competitors and potential business partners" (Davis and Meyer 2004, p.361). Cutting-edge knowhow for particular trendsetting technologies is often concentrated in such geographically limited centers – so-called "pockets of innovation" (see Gerpott 1991, pp.54 et seq.). Companies want to be in these locations to keep up with the latest technologi-

cal developments. Research on national innovation systems (Lundvall 1988; Nelson 1993) has shown how specific nations and regions may emerge as especially advantageous for innovation. Geographical agglomeration and clusters have traditionally been considered as motive for R&D centralization. However, with increasingly specialized knowledge bases all over the world, these motives are increasingly considered as factors driving internationalization of R&D rather than centralization of innovation activities. Cantwell (1995) thus concludes that local economies of integration and agglomeration have become more important than central economies of scale in R&D.

Cantwell and Mudambi (2000) investigated the role of host government incentives for foreign R&D investments and found a positive effect of local infrastructure on the scope of foreign subsidiaries' R&D mandate. They were able to show that particular tax credits have an important incremental effect on the location of R&D and encourage subsidiaries to expand their technological role in the corporate R&D network. These findings are consistent with the results of an econometric study by Hall and Reenen (2000), who showed that in OECD countries firms increase their R&D in response to tax credits. However, Cantwell and Mudambi (2005) argue that government investment incentives are insufficient to attract high quality R&D investment by MNEs and found empirical evidence that such incentives may even exert a negative influence on the subsidiary's R&D intensity.

Gassmann and Zedtwitz (1998) build on the work of Beckmann and Fischer (1994) (1994), De Meyer and Mizushima (1989), Hakanson and Zander (1988), Krubasik and Schrader (1990), Boehmer et al. (1992), and Coombs and Richards (1993); they classify R&D internationalization drivers into the following five categories: inputoriented, output-oriented, external, efficiency-oriented, and political/social-cultural. In addition, they research determinants that act against internationalization and those that favor centralization of R&D (see Gassmann and Zedtwitz 1998, pp.151 et seq.). Gassman and Han (2004) take up the described classification of R&D internationalization drivers and investigate motivations and barriers of foreign R&D activities in China. Based on case study research, they identify three country-specific categories of drivers: input-oriented motivations, performance-oriented motivations, and business-ecological motivations. Furthermore, they distinguish between three types of barriers for managing R&D in China: barriers at the intra-organizational level (e.g., cultural distance, language difficulties, different mindset), barriers at the interorganizational level (e.g., bureaucracy, uncertain legal environment), and uncertainty in fairness of R&D cooperations (e.g., intellectual property rights).

In sum, a great variety of motives for the internationalization of R&D has been identified. In particular, more recent literature therefore classifies these factors into a dichotomous set of motives (Kuemmerle 1999a) with a distinction between demandside factors on the one hand and supply-side factors on the other hand. Alternative terminologies for these categories are "home-base augmenting" vs. "home-base exploiting" sites, "market-seeking' vs. "resource-seeking" motives, or "technologyexploiting' vs. "technology-seeking" motives for international R&D.

Demand-side factors cover customizing motives (Florida 1997; Gaussens, Lecostey, and Shahbazi 2004) resulting from pressure from the local subsidiary, political pressure, or market requirements (Niosi and Godin 1999). A considerable part of the published literature by the 1980s and mid-1990s argued that FDI occurs when firms aim to exploit firm-specific capabilities or assets in foreign countries (Dunning and Lundan 2009). Theories based on Vernon's (1966) international product life cycle (IPLC) hypothesis suggest that R&D follows manufacturing to adapt products and processes to local markets (Hegde and Hicks 2008). Gammeltoft (2006) describes these theories as the "traditional view" of international R&D. Several studies have described the importance of FDI in R&D for exploiting firm-specific advantages in foreign environments by adapting existing products and technologies to differing local customer needs or providing technical support to offshore manufacturing plants (e.g., Bartlett and Ghoshal 1990; Hakanson and Zander 1988; Hirschey and Caves 1981; Mansfield, Teece, and Romeo 1979; Pearce 1989). Researchers argue that with growing local demand and increased customer sophistication, R&D sites in close proximity to

manufacturing facilities abroad are necessary to support the knowledge transfer from the company's home location to actual local manufacturing. According to Kuemmerle (1999a) and Lewin, Massini, and Peeters (2009), the importance of locating the R&D function with the manufacturing operations and local demand has not only been described in international business literature but also in industrial geography (Fors 1997; Howells 1990a, 1990b) and technology management (Clark and Fujimoto 1991; Hayes and Wheelwright 1988; Hippel 1988; Nonaka and Takeuchi 1995). In addition, other authors emphasize the importance of geographic proximity and cooperation between local R&D and other functions of a foreign subsidiary, particularly marketing (Florida 1997), to gain access to local markets and customers (Zedtwitz and Gassmann 2002).

As a next step, scholars then added the "listening post" functions to account for the increase of overseas R&D during the 1990s (see Hegde and Hicks 2008). Dunning (1994, pp.75 et seq.) described the related activities of foreign R&D units as research to acquire or gain an insight into foreign innovation activities (i.e., learning and building firm research capability). Patel and Vega (1999) emphasize the necessity of "listening posts" in centers of excellence so that companies can scan and monitor technological developments and innovations. Dunning and Lundan (2009, p.15) refer to Cantwell and Piscitello (2000) and argue that this phase marked a shift in the technological paradigm in that, "as the potential of existing technologies to exploit scale and scope economies began to be exhausted, [...] asset-seeking investment had not yet taken off". In both the adaptation/modification and the listening post models, however, foreign R&D sites were regarded as auxiliary outposts supporting the R&D in the home country.

Finally, subsidiaries were also regarded as sources of innovation: new knowledge is created abroad and might be transferred to the company's central R&D (see Dunning and Lundan 2009; Hegde and Hicks 2008). Thus, internationalization of R&D is not only "pushed" by the firm-specific advantages of the MNE but might also be "pulled" toward foreign centers of innovation to acquire and develop new capabilities (Le Bass

and Sierra 2002, p.590). The underlying location-specific supply-side factors hence represent resource-seeking motives for the augmentation of the company's knowledge base. Countries differ in their technological advantage (Kogut 1990) and in the character and size of the respective national innovation systems (Krugman 1991; Nelson 1993; Pearce 2004; Porter 1990; Scherer 1992) and thus also in their attractiveness for R&D activities (Kuemmerle 1999a). The availability of superior or cheaper resources and the proximity to foreign universities and other knowledge-creating institutions is a main motivational aspect on the supply side (Florida 1997). When locating their R&D unit close to a cluster of scientific excellence, companies can tap into new knowledge sources (Kuemmerle 1999a), gain access to leading scientific and technological know-how, or recruit high-quality researchers (Odagiri and Yasuda 1996). Through interactions with the local knowledge pools, foreign R&D units can contribute to the company-wide innovation network by taking advantage of the local technological environment (Iwasa and Odagiri 2004). Feinberg and Gupta (2004) found that external knowledge spillover opportunities from competitors, as well as internal firmspecific capabilities for knowledge use are important drivers of R&D location decisions of MNEs.

Table 1 (based on Hegde and Hicks 2008) summarizes the evolution of foreign subsidiary R&D activities over the past half century, illustrating the different subsidiary functions and respective macro-level and host country drivers.

All these studies show that there are numerous reasons for companies to internationalize their R&D activities. Foreign R&D units today often have broader missions than the traditional ones that supported local sales activities through the adaptation of products or processes to local demands. Correspondingly, changes in global markets and in competition, technology, and policy environments have also widened the variety of possible motives for international R&D. Song and Shin (2008) note that "[r]ecently, both the extent to which MNCs perform R&D outside their home countries and the types of foreign R&D have changed considerably" (p.292). In literature, however, there is no strong consensus on the classification of different motives. For some motives, there are contradicting results with regard to the direction of effect (centralization vs. decentralization).

Timeline	Subsidiary R&D Function	Facilitating Factors	Foreign Country Drivers
<1980	Market customization	Learning to operate abroad	Consumer demand
1980-1990	Listening post activities	Decreased communication costs	Industrial and technological strength
>1990	Sources of innovation - Incremental innovation - Multi-product innovation - Frontier innovation	Increased variety in means of communication Proximity to manufacturing and to industrial customers	Science & technology human capital

Table 1: The Evolution of International R&D

### **Taxonomies of Foreign R&D Units**

In 1993 Cheng and Bolon noted that "past research has paid little attention to the different types of foreign R&D performed by multinationals and how these might affect the internationalization decisions and their subsequent implementations" (Cheng and Bolon 1993, p.13). Although a multitude of schemes to classify different types of international R&D units have been proposed in literature since the late 1990s, there is as yet no strong consensus on a standardized classification. Ambos (2005) even states that the diversity "indeed leads to some confusion on how to classify investments" (p.402). For an extensive review of existing classifications, see Medcof (1997) and Niosi (1999). An overview can also be found in the World Development Report on internationalization of R&D (UNCTAD 2005, pp.138 et seq.). In the following, the typologies that are considered most influential are introduced.

In his pioneering study in the field of international R&D, Ronstadt (1978) suggests the first evolutionary pattern in R&D internationalization based on the IPLC model (see Niosi 1999, p.109). He identifies four types of R&D units based on their primary pur-

pose at the time they were created abroad by the organization: 1) The Transfer Technology Unit (TTU) is established to support a foreign subsidiary in its transfer of manufacturing technology from the home country while also providing related technical services for foreign customers; 2) the Indigenous Technology Unit (ITU) is established to develop newly improved products, especially for foreign markets but without necessarily drawing on parent technology; 3) the Global Technology Unit (GTU) is established to develop new products and processes for simultaneous or new simultaneous application in major world markets of the MNE; and 4) the Corporate Technology Unit (CTU) is established to work using a longer term perspective or in an exploratory nature for the parent company. TTUs and ITUs both serve local customers, but while TTUs only provide technical services for products that were developed in the home country, ITUs also develop differentiated products to serve the special needs of the local market. CTUs are integrated into the global corporate value creation network. They can be located along with other functions (e.g., manufacturing) of an affiliate with a global product mandate; can serve as a stand-alone R&D laboratory, working on projects as part of the decentralized corporate R&D network; or can generate new knowledge exclusively for the parent company and thus contribute to the firm's competitiveness.

Bartlett and Goshal (1990) distinguish between four different organizational models for international innovation projects: 1) "Center-for-center", in which new products or processes are developed in the home country for the global market; 2) "local-for-local" units, which develop products or processes locally in the host country for use in the local market only; 3) "locally leveraged" foreign R&D units, which develop products or processes in the host country for global use; and 4) "globally linked" R&D units, which are integrated into the global corporate R&D network and develop technologies through collaboration with other geographically dispersed R&D units for use in the world market.

In their frequently cited studies, Hakanson and Nobel (1993a; 1993b) analyzed foreign R&D investments made by Swedish companies and classified laboratories on the basis of the motives to maintain foreign R&D units and the historical processes that originally led companies to perform R&D outside their home country (see Chapter 2.1). They defined five categories: market oriented, politically motivated, production support, research, and "multi-motive", for those units n which no single dominant motive could be identified. This last group accounted for more than one-third of the observed technology units.

Chiesa (1996a) bases his classification to a substantial degree on Ronstadt's arguments and distinguishes between two types of foreign R&D units: support laboratories, for current products and processes, and exploitation laboratories. According to this classification, support laboratories are established with the aim of extending the company's knowledge base in the short term. Exploitation laboratories explore new technologies with a long-term perspective. For each laboratory type, Chiesa defined subcategories based on the degree of dispersion of external technological knowledge.

Kuemmerle (1997; 1999a; 1999b) differentiates between two types of R&D units, depending on the laboratory mission: home-base exploiting (HBE) or home-base augmenting (HBA). He builds his taxonomy on a dichotomous set of motives: the distinction between demand-side factors and supply-side factors as the main mission of the foreign R&D unit (see previous section on motives and drivers). HBE R&D investments are primarily connected to the local marketing and manufacturing function, supporting the local operations with product and process adaptations to local market needs. With investments in HBA R&D units, in contrast, companies seek to access unique resources and inputs and to capture "augmenting" externalities resulting from local institutions and firms. Because of the simplicity in its dichotomous categorization, the taxonomy of Kuemmerle is frequently cited and serves as basis for numerous subsequent studies (e.g., Ambos 2005; Belderbos 2001; Belderbos, Lykogianni, and Veugelers 2003, 2004; Cantwell and Mudambi 2005; Criscuolo, Narula, and Verspagen 2002; Lewin, Massini, and Peeters 2009; Patel and Vega 1999), although such studies at times make use of different labels, such as "capability exploiting" vs.

"capability augmenting" subsidiary, "technology exploitation" vs. "technology sourcing", or "asset exploiting" vs. "asset augmenting" R&D. For instance, in their article published in the Strategic Management Journal, Cantwell and Mudambi (2005) build on the dichotomy of subsidiary types introduced by Kuemmerle and investigate the process of subsidiary evolution. Their work examines how the distinction between competence augmenting and competence exploiting in organizational learning affects the level of R&D in each type of subsidiary. The authors find that whether a subsidiary achieves a competence-creating output mandate or a purely competence-exploiting mandate depends on MNE group-level and subsidiary-level characteristics, as well as location factors. Ambos (2005) investigates international R&D investments of German multinational companies. On the basis of a survey conducted at the headquarters of 49 German companies, he examined the level and pace of internationalization of R&D activities; the motivations and mandates of overseas R&D sites; and the ties between R&D laboratories, the corporate headquarters, and the local environment. In applying Kuemmerle's dichotomous categorization of R&D units – labeled "capabilityexploiting" and "capability-augmenting" - he observes, in line with prior studies, a shift away from market-seeking investments and toward resource-seeking investments.

The limitation to only two types of foreign R&D presents a holistic classification of foreign R&D units. Despite its frequent adaptation, it is doubtful that this concept can serve as a standard for the categorization of international R&D. Le Bass and Sierra (2002) find that the distinction between the two types of foreign R&D might "not be as clear-cut as presented" (p.591). Moreover, the dichotomous set of motives only implicitly accounts for different functions and laboratory specializations, whereas other types of international R&D units are not covered at all (Brockhoff 1998, p.57). Moreover, the concept is rather static and does not account for gradual differences and respective developments over time.

Zedtwitz and Gassmann (2002) distinguished between research, which involves applied sciences, and development, which involves engineering. While scientists aspire to find new phenomena and create new knowledge, engineers develop new technology and products, using primarily existing knowledge in a novel way. In a broader sense, this categorization corresponds to the distinction between home-base augmenting and home-base exploiting laboratories. Both activities can be either performed domestically or internationally dispersed. Based on these two dimensions, they deduce four archetypes of R&D internationalization: national treasure R&D (domestic research and domestic development), technology-driven R&D (dispersed research and domestic development), technology-driven R&D (dispersed research and domestic development), market-driven R&D (domestic research and dispersed development), and global R&D (dispersed research, dispersed development). In their survey-based study, the authors find that the location drivers for research are different from those of development. While international research is mainly driven by science and technology drivers, internationalization of engineering is mainly market driven. These findings confirm the results of Kuemmerle (1999a) and his dichotomous set of motives of FDI in R&D.

Papanastassiou and Pearce (2005) analyzed the funding sources of 48 R&D units of foreign MNEs in the United Kingdom. They relate five separate funding sources (associated local producing subsidiary, parent company, other affiliates from the corporate group, UK government funds, and EU funds) to four different categories of R&D units. The Support Laboratory 1 (SL1) supports locally based production operations of the MNE by assisting in the adaptation of the products to be produced or processes to be used. Its role is to help an associated production subsidiary to assimilate, and to optimize the effectiveness with which it uses imported group-level technologies. The Support Laboratory 2 (SL2) supports production operations of the MNE outside the local country by advising on the adaptation of the products to be produced or the processes to be used. It differs from the SL1 unit in terms of a higher intra-group interdependency and more individualized capabilities. However, the role of both types of laboratories is limited to supporting the application of existing knowledge. The Locally Integrated Laboratory (LIL) works with other functions of the local subsidiary (e.g., marketing, engineering) to develop new products for the markets served by the local subsidiary. "The LIL is a key element in a nexus of creative functions that helps to secure a product mandate (PM) for its subsidiaries. (...) How the PM/LIL operates

in terms of intra-group interdependencies is open to possible variations, however" (Papanastassiou and Pearce 2005, p.91). The Internationally Interdependent Laboratory operates independently of any production subsidiary to carry out basic or applied research. It is part of the overall corporate R&D network and cooperates with similar labs in other countries to enhance the MNE's existing stock of knowledge and thus to build the basis for future major innovations of the company. These units "avoid [...] any immediate systematic integration with other functions (notably those related to the competitiveness of current products and technologies)" (p.94).

This taxonomy represents a further development of the typologies of laboratory roles formulated by Hood and Young (1982), Haug, Hood, and Young (1983), and Pearce (1989; 1997) and derives the categorizations with respect to the subsidiary's net knowledge flows. It is built along the two dimensions of "individualism" and "interdependence". Individualism describes the quality and originality of local scientific inputs, which allows the local R&D unit to generate distinctive in-house competences. This individualism within the group's technological scope can be exercised either autonomously through the local subsidiary, or in a highly dependent way (e.g., as a specialized element of the global corporate R&D network with central coordination). The authors state that "[i]n practice, labs can operate with carrying degrees of interdependence in terms of their association with technological activity elsewhere in their MNE group. Thus, a lab's degree of individualized competence, and the extent and nature of intra-group interdependency, will define its precise strategic role and determine its position with regard to knowledge transfer" (Papanastassiou and Pearce 2005, p.90). The authors suggest two so-called "forces of individualism" that drive companies to internationalize their R&D activities: Companies either intend to improve the competitiveness of their local subsidiary or want to benefit from country-specific technological strength. From a macro-perspective, they argue, these forces have "clear potentials" to strengthen both local industry and local sciences (e.g., by, indeed, providing extra funding, as well as new challenges and access to additional technologies and perspectives), but do [..] so by enhancing interdependency with other globalised needs and priorities" (p.90). On a micro-perspective, this leads to the conclusion that a company can benefit from advantages of location by integrating the local R&D unit into the global corporate R&D network (i.e., in cases of high cross-boarder resource interdependencies).

After an extensive review of existing taxonomies, Medcof (1997) identifies seven dimensions to classify R&D units:

- Type of technical work being done (research, development, support)
- Collaborating business functions (marketing, manufacturing, both, none)
- Geographical area of collaborating units (local, regional, or international, referring to the location of all collaborating units)
- Organizational locus of output use (marketing, manufacturing)
- Geographical locus of output use (local, regional, international)
- Geographical locus of coordination (local, regional, international)
- Mode of establishment (green field foundation, incidental acquisition, intentional acquisition, conversion)

Possible combinations of these criteria would result in more than 5,000 laboratory types (Brockhoff 1998, p.61). Medcof bases his taxonomy of "overseas technology units" on the first three of the described dimensions and thus deduces eight types of R&D units: research unit, development unit, marketing support unit, and manufacturing support unit, and each of these four holds either a local or an international mandate. Brockhoff (1998) adapts this taxonomy and argues that that the main benefit of this classification scheme is that it encompasses several previous taxonomies.

Gassmann and Zedtwitz (1999) investigate organizational aspects of international R&D. They conclude that, despite the number of typologies of international R&D, a description of the dynamics of international R&D organization is still missing; in addition, they argue that "the development and change of concrete organizational configu-

rations (...) deserves more attention" (p.235). The authors classify MNEs according to the dispersion of R&D activities and the degree of cooperation between the individual R&D units. They distinguish between ethnocentric organized R&D, geocentric centralized R&D, polycentric decentralized R&D, R&D hub model, and R&D network. In the ethnocentric centralized R&D organization, all activities are concentrated in the home country; the geocentric centralized organization overcomes the ethnocentric homebase orientation while retaining the efficiency advantages of centralization. The polycentric decentralized hub describes companies with a strong orientation on the local market while the R&D hub with a home-based center tightly coordinates the smaller foreign laboratories. In the integrated R&D network, the different labs in different locations, without a centralized leading unit, corresponds to the "international interdependent laboratory" of Hakanson and Nobel (1993a; 1993b). Gassmann and Zedtwitz identify several trends of organizational change among these forms of international R&D organization and reach the conclusion that there is an optimal balance between coordination and control that is reflected by hybrid structures and intermediary configurations.

Authors	Dimensions	Strategies
Archibugi/ Iammarino (1999)	International exploitation of technology; Global generation of innovations; Global technological collaborations	International exploitation of nationally produced innovations Global generation of innovations Global techno-scientific collaborations
Bartlett/Ghoshal (1990)	Location of R&D activities; Intended market of R&D results	Local-for-local Local-for-global Global-for-global
Boehmer (1995)	Focus and intention of the R&D unit	Allround R&D unit with local focus Local problem solver Cooperating basic researcher Applied researcher Allround R&D unit with global focus
Gassmann/ Zedtwitz (1999)	Centralization; Behavioral orientation	Ethnocentric centralized R&D Geocentric centralized R&D Polycentric decentralized R&D R&D hub model R&D network
Gerybadze/ Reger (1999)	Market characteristics; Type of innovation	Large R&D base in home country Small R&D base in home country Lead market in home country Lead market abroad
Hakanson/Nobel (1993a, 1993b)	Focus and intention of the R&D unit	Market oriented units Production support units Research units Politically motivated units Multi-motive units
Hewitt (1980)	Use of R&D results; Location implications	Product Adaptive R&D Process Adaptive R&D Local Original R&D Global Original R&D
lwasa/Odagiri (2004)	Main objective of subsidiary	Research-oriented (Type R) Local-support-oriented (Type S)
Kuemmerle (1997, 1999a, 1999b)	Type of activities (motivation) (knowledge-exploiting vs. knowledge augmenting)	Home-base exploiting site Home-base augmenting site

Table 2: Overview of International R&D Typologies and Taxonomies

Authors	Dimensions	Strategies
Le Bas/Sierra (2002)	Technological profile of home country; Technological profile of host country	Type 1 strategy: technology-seeking FDI in R&D Type 2 strategy: home-base-exploiting FDI in R&D Type 3 strategy: home-base-augmenting FDI in R&D Type 4 strategy: market-seeking FDI in R&D
Medcof (1997)	<ol> <li>Type of technical work being done (research, development, support);</li> <li>Collaborating business functions (marketing, manufacturing, both, none);</li> <li>Geographical area of collaborating units (local, regional, international);</li> <li>Organizational locus of output utilization (marketing, manufacturing);</li> <li>Geographical locus of output utilization (local, regional, international);</li> <li>Geographical locus of coordination (local, regional, international);</li> <li>Geographical locus of coordination (local, regional, international);</li> <li>Mode of establishment (green field, incidental / intentional acquisition)</li> </ol>	Local research unit Local development unit Local marketing support unit Local manufacturing support unit International research unit International development unit International marketing support unit International manufacturing support unit
Niosi/Godin (1999)	Diversification; Vertical integration	Internationally diversified Vertically-integrated firm Global networks
Patel/Vega (1999)	Location of technological advantage	Type 1: strong at host, weak at home Type 2: strong at home, weak at host Type 3: strong both at home and host Type 4: weak both at home and host
Nobel/Birkinshaw (1998)	Type of activity; Geographic scope	Local adapter International adapter Global creator

 Table 2:
 Overview of International R&D Typologies and Taxonomies

Authors	Dimensions	Strategies
Pearce (1989); Pearce/Singh (1991)	Location; Collaboration; Internal ties	Support laboratory Locally integrated International interdependent laboratory
Pearce/ Papanastassiou (1999); Papanastassiou/ Pearce (2005)	Individualism; Interdependence	Traditional support laboratory (SL1) Locally integrated laboratory (LIL) Support laboratory role (SL2) Internationally integrated laboratory (IIL)
Ronstadt (1978)	Location of R&D activities; Intended market of R&D results (primary purpose at the time of establishment)	Technology transfer units (TTU) Indigenous technology units (ITU) Corporate technology units (CTU) Global technology units (GTU)
Zander (1999)	International duplication; International diversification	Home-centered Internationally duplicated Dispersed Internationally diversified
Zedtwitz/ Gassmann (2002)	Dispersion of research and development activities	National treasure R&D Technology-driven R&D Market-driven R&D Global R&D

Table 2: Overview of International R&D Typologies and Taxonomies

This discussion shows that there is a variety of dimensions and taxonomies in the classification of international R&D. Table 2 (based on Brockhoff 1998; Medcof 1997; Niosi 1999) provides an overview of strategies and dimensions used in literature. Some of the more recent publications refer to the dichotomous differentiation between knowledge exploitation ("traditional view") and knowledge creation ("new view"). However, there is no widely accepted standard in the scientific community yet – neither with regard to the terminology nor with regard to the underlying dimensions. Even in case of identical dimensions, different labels are applied. Ambos (2005) concludes that the diversity of schemes "indeed leads to some confusion on how to classify investments" (p.402). While each of these typologies has its specific merits, none of

them differentiate between strategies that are directly measurable and actionoriented. Most of the existing typologies categorize subsidiaries in different types of R&D roles. Although such categorizations offer insights into potential tasks and missions, they are of a static nature: They do not allow the measure of gradual differences and hardly can address "the interesting question [...of] what we know about the change of missions and tasks" (Brockhoff 1998, p.62). The lack of measurability prevents the comparison of strategies with macro-economic indicators, which could help to assess geographic differences or emerging shifts in configuration strategies. Moreover, because of the lack of action-orientation, existing typologies do not allow for prescriptive strategy recommendations for international R&D based on situational variables.

### 2.3 Research Gap

Internationalization of R&D has long been a neglected topic in management research. Despite its growing importance and the burgeoning literature (Penner-Hahn and Shaver 2005), the field of internationalization of R&D is still at a relatively early stage of theory development (Feinberg and Gupta 2004; Frost 2001) and could benefit from insights of empirical research (Manolopoulos, Papanastassiou, and Pearce 2005). The preceding literature review reveals several areas that call for further research. The identified limitations and gaps that this thesis aims to address are summarized in the following paragraphs.

Regarding *content*, most prior research builds on typologies that group R&D activities into distinct categories. The conceived strategies are often limited to a dichotomous set of R&D roles or are not of a disjunctive nature, which inhibits the measurement of both gradual variations between foreign R&D units and incremental developments over time. Moreover, existing frameworks usually are not defined along practical action dimensions. They usually do not differentiate between the dimensions used to measure the strategy variables (endogenous action) and drivers or motives that are

expected to influence the choice of strategy (exogenous pressure). Consequently, there is a lack of research on the conditions that induce MNEs to configure their R&D in a certain way (see Song and Shin 2008). Furthermore, much of the prior research that investigates motives of R&D internationalization models R&D location as a matter of the firm's choice between home and foreign country location factors. Differences between alternative foreign locations often are not considered. Previous studies have also been relatively silent on industry-related differences (see Hegde and Hicks (2008) for similar findings). Contextual factors, such as technological complexity and cost pressure in an industry, are salient determinants of the configuration of value creation because they create sustained external pressures and constraints to which foreign subsidiaries must adapt and react (Luo and Park 2001). Moreover, a substantial part of the discussion in literature focuses on R&D at the MNE group level or the entire global R&D network. There is a dearth of literature addressing influencing factors on international R&D on the basis of individual foreign subsidiaries (see Cantwell and Mudambi (2005) Davis and Meyer (2004) for similar findings). Kumar (2001) asserts that only "limited attention [...] has been paid in the literature to an analysis of locational factors of overseas R&D" and concludes that "[a] more comprehensive and detailed analysis of factors that make a country [...] attractive as a potential location for R&D investments by MNEs remains to be made" (p.164). Despite the growing importance of literature on subsidiary roles and location-specific factors, Enright (2009) recently has pointed out that "the activity basis of multinational subsidiaries is an under-researched topic" (p.819). Formal tests of the relationship between host countryrelated factors and the configuration of subsidiary R&D remain scant. Extant studies are partial in nature, including only some selected variables relevant in the choice among alternative R&D configurations. No study could be identified that provides a comprehensive, quantitative analysis of the relationship between drivers and R&D configuration on the level of the individual subsidiary. Perlitz (2004, p.447) notes that with regard to the internationalization of R&D there is as yet no comprehensive, integrative, and widely accepted concept.

From a context perspective, most of the existing studies analyzing R&D decentraliza-

tion in MNEs in an international context focus on the developed industrial economies in the triad regions as host countries, namely the United States, Europe, and Japan (Edler, Meyer-Krahmer, and Reger 2002; Tsang, Yip, and Toh 2008; Zedtwitz and Gassmann 2002). This trend particularly holds for studies that apply the method of patent data and patent citation analysis because of the availability and accessibility of the respective data. Despite their increasing importance as R&D locations for MNEs, hardly any empirical work has been done on the particular characteristics of foreign R&D activities in less technologically and industrially developed middle-level or emerging economies. A few exceptions, such as Gassmann and Han (2004) and Zedtwitz (2004), who investigate foreign R&D activities in China, are based on qualitative case research. Ambos and Ambos (2009a) assert that "[t]he question to what extent firms invest in R&D in non-triad economies remains fairly uncharted territory" (p.24) and conclude that "it has hopefully become evident that this is an exciting and promising field of research which calls for further studies" (p.38). This appraisal is consistent with Sachwald (2008), who finds that "[t]he observation of foreign R&D in emerging countries should be a fertile research ground for the years to come" (p.376). Similarly, Narula and Dunning (2000), Manolopoulos, Papanastassiou, and Pearce (2007), Yang and Jiang (2007), and Boehe (2008) emphasize the lack of understanding in this context and the need for further research. Moreover, most prior research is constrained by examining foreign R&D in a very specific setting, such as one industry, one target country, or one single home-host country pair only. This selection likely provides an incomplete perspective and limits the identification of important theoretical motivations (see Chung and Yeaple 2008). Furthermore, existing literature on internationalization of R&D often lacks explicit attention to managerial action. With regard to managerial aspects, Gammeltoft (2006) finds that, apart from a few publications, "(...) such contributions are indeed rare" (p.190). There are also studies that consciously avoid the perspective of practical relevance. Papanastassiou and Pearce (2005), for instance, explicitly state that "[t]he aim of this paper is not to provide a guide to contemporary management practice" (p.90).

Regarding theory, the discussion of internationalization of R&D seems to be rather

independent of other IB-related fields and theory strands. Parts of the research field have "largely missed the opportunity for theoretical advancement" (Frost 2001, p.101). Early studies in the field of internationalization of R&D have generally followed an international product life cycle model as developed by Vernon (1966). However, this theoretical framework does not account for the emerging importance of supply factors that appear to drive some R&D investments abroad (Cantwell 1995). More recently, a new perspective looks toward a capability- and learning-based view. However, existing literature fails to include comprehensive internationalization theory when investigating factors that are related to the configuration of foreign R&D activities. Moreover, Burgess and Steenkamp (2006) find that "[emerging market] institutional contexts present significant socioeconomic, demographic, cultural, and regulative departures from the assumptions of theories developed in the Western world and challenge our conventional understanding of constructs and their relations" (p.338). Thus, there is a need for an integrated study that: 1) comprehensively analyzes the drivers of R&D configuration on the basis of different IB theory strands and 2) considers these established theories in the context of emerging economies.

With regard to *methodology*, there is a shortage of survey-based empirical work dealing with large sample environments. In particular, both earlier studies and more recent work on foreign R&D in a nontriad-country context rely on qualitative research methods. Only recently, Ambos and Ambos (2009a) noticed that "researchers will have to conduct larger scale analyses to gain more insights into this field" (p.38). So far, little effort has been made to overcome the fragmented and descriptive nature of most studies. Extant quantitative studies in the field of international R&D generally rely on aggregated government or patent data. Although these studies are able to generate large sample sizes, they usually stay on an aggregated country- or industrylevel analysis and do not provide insights at the firm or even the subsidiary level.

To conclude, existing literature provides only a limited understanding of how firms configure their R&D activities in emerging economies and why they choose one strategy over another. Thus, this thesis aims to address the following

research gaps:

- Content issues: Foreign R&D typologies mainly categorizing character but missing the differentiation between strategy dimensions and motives; limited understanding of the reasons why firms use these strategies; limited consideration of influencing factors on the subsidiary level and mainly a narrow focus (home vs. host country R&D)
- Context issues: Primary focus is on triad countries, emerging economies as host countries only marginally covered; constrained by investigating specific settings (e.g., one industry, one home-host country pair)
- Theoretical issues: Scant literature comprehensively investigates strategies and motives of MNEs' R&D configuration, building on internationalization theory strands
- Methodological issues: Limited number of large-scale investigations taking a detailed, differentiated perspective on the drivers of foreign R&D activities

To address the identified deficiencies and to provide a contribution to extant research, the present study aims to provide an understanding of different reasons for firms' R&D configurations in emerging economies. It focuses on the following elements:

Content: To provide a more complete sense of foreign subsidiary R&D, the study separates and assesses the characteristics of the configuration strategy and the relative importance of motives determining the choice of the configuration. It builds upon motives that were discussed separately in different contexts and related fields and evaluates these multiple motives simultaneously in an integrated model. The developed typology of subsidiary R&D strategies allows for the measure of gradual differences between and changes in configurations. Moreover, the underlying action-oriented dimensions of the strategies, which are structured along endogenous outcomes rather than along exogenous pressures, provide a useful framework for busi-

ness practice. To overcome the constraints of aggregated analysis on the industry, regional, or MNE level, this study considers the individual foreign subsidiary as the unit of analysis, which allows for the investigation of subsidiarylevel influencing factors, as well as intersubsidiary variations in R&D configuration (see Chapter 5, the section titled Research Object, for details).

- Context: To overcome the constraints of extant literature, this study systematically analyzes strategies and motives of R&D activities in alternate foreign locations. It focuses on R&D activities in emerging economies and uses a broad empirical sample covering multiple countries and industries.
- Theory: To provide a comprehensive, top-down perspective of the phenomena under investigation, this study follows a pluralistic theory approach. It builds upon strands of trade, FDI, and IB theory and integrates prior literature on internationalization of R&D, corresponding to recent calls to integrate different theoretical perspectives when considering international strategy in emerging economies. This thesis aims to extend the existing literature in that it systematically models the influencing factors for the choice among R&D configuration strategies.
- Methodology: The study uses unique subsidiary data, with subsidiary heads as key informants, that encompass the most important emerging countries. Structural equation modeling is applied for data analysis in the large-scale environment.

# 3 Theoretical Foundations

This chapter describes the theoretical points of reference for this study. As discussed in the literature review, in the field of international R&D there is a high degree of diversity with regard to the nature and degree of theoretical foundation. This diversity, on the one hand, relates to the different conceptual points of view from which international R&D activities are investigated, such as technology and innovation management, IB, economics, strategic management, and HR management. On the other hand, it also reflects that IB theory itself is not a homogenous body and consists of various strands that often are not reconciled or integrated (see Weisfelder 2001). Combining several theoretical points of reference from IB is therefore considered reasonable to derive a research framework that provides a comprehensive perspective of foreign subsidiaries' R&D configuration. Thus, the study at hand follows a pluralistic theory approach to account for the multifarious aspects and motives of international R&D strategies. This is also consistent with Dunning (1997, p.61), who argues that to understand the extent and pattern of foreign value-adding activities, researchers need to draw upon several separate but interrelated strands of theory. Moreover, this approach adds to recent calls to integrate different theoretical perspectives when considering international strategy in emerging economies (Meyer and Peng 2005; Wright et al. 2005).

This study follows the concept of contingency theory, which serves as an overall frame for the research approach and is briefly described in the following chapter. The subsequent chapters outline the theoretical points of reference for the different elements of the research framework comprising selected strands of IB, trade, and FDI theory. These theories have been intensively discussed in literature; the discussion therefore mainly focuses on key aspects and expected contributions relevant for this research context.

## 3.1 Contingency Perspective

Contingency theory, also called "situational approach", is of central importance in strategy and organizational research (Hambrick and Lei 1985). It goes back to the work of Barnard (1938) and Dill (1958) and has been developed by multiple scholars – notably, Burns and Stalker (1961), Woodward (1965), Emery and Trist (1965), Lawrence and Lorsch (1967a; 1967b), Thompson (1967), and Blau and Schoenherr (1971).

The central proposition of the contingency theory is that organizational strategies are not equally effective under all conditions. There is no universalistic organizational choice that results in optimal outcomes (Ginsberg and Venkatraman 1985). Instead, the optimal strategy is contingent (i.e., dependent upon the context). Organizational choices must therefore be matched to the contingency or situational variables. The "fit" between the organizational design and the competitive setting of the business determines the organizational performance (Pfeffer and Salancik 1978). External factors, such as environmental dynamism, and internal factors, such as organizational size, strategy, or degree of internationalization, represent contingencies that have received much research attention (e.g., Burns and Stalker 1961; Chandler 1962; Child 1975; Stopford and Wells 1972).

Even with its widespread application, contingency theory belongs to the most controversially discussed theoretical approaches (Wolf 2003) and has been subject to severe criticism. Some scholars doubt whether contingency theory fulfils the prerequisites of a theory. According to Bacharach (1989), contingency theory represents a "tautology" rather than a theory because its tenets are true by definition and therefore cannot be falsified. Schoonhoven (1981) therefore understands the contingency approach as an "orienting strategy or metatheory, suggesting ways in which a phenomenon ought to be conceptualized" (p.169). A further criticism relates to the deterministic nature of the relationship between environment, structure, and performance. The notion that organizational structure and performance is only determined by environmental variables neglects the influence of discrete managerial decisions, as well as strategic positioning of the organization (Schreyögg 1978, 1996; Zeithaml, Varandarajan, and Zeithaml 1988).

Despite these limitations and critiques, the fundamental approach of the contingency perspective represents a suitable overall frame of reference for the framework of this study. International R&D configuration strategies are supposed to be influenced by external location- and industry-based environmental factors. Regarding the contingency perspective on knowledge transfer, Hutzschenreuter and Listner (2007) assert that literature has often explored context and configuration in an isolated way and "largely ignored the fits between both" (p.136). Although the contingency perspective represents the overall frame of reference, the deduction of variables and hypotheses for this study require additional theories allowing the development of predictive statements. This approach follows the recommendation of Kieser (1999) and is in line with prior research (e.g., Kaufmann 2001).

# 3.2 Trade and FDI Theories

In international management research, trade, FDI, and IB theory serve as foundations to explain MNEs' international activities. Neither trade nor FDI theory is an homogenous body. Rather, they make up different strands that identify and explain cross border trade and investments, respectively, from different perspectives. Each strand of trade and FDI theory can only partially explain cross-border trading (see Leonidou and Katsikeas 1996, p.518) and investment (see Agarwal 1980, p.763) behavior. Some of these strands make relevant contributions to our understanding of the configuration of MNEs' international R&D activities: They both serve as basis for the later described IB theory strands, which are characterized by their power to explain both trade and FDI, and add complementary perspectives for the research framework and its operationalization. The approaches that are most relevant for this study are introduced in this section. Because these traditional theories enjoy great popularity and

have been intensively discussed in the literature, our remarks are deliberately limited to key aspects.

This chapter is divided into two parts. The first section focuses on theories related to trade, the second to theories related to FDI. For a comprehensive overview, see e.g., Morgan and Katsikeas (1997), Welge and Holtbrügge (2006), or Kutschker and Schmid (2008).

### 3.2.1 Trade Theory

Cost advantages on the factor market as motive for cross-border trade goes back to Adam Smith (1776) and his famous work, *An Inquiry into the Nature and Causes of the Wealth of Nations*. Ricardo (1817) expanded the principle of *absolute cost advantage* by adding the principle of *relative cost advantage*. Both principles assume a macroeconomic perspective and argue that differences in the production functions of countries lead to specialization of production and resulting trade flows. Absolute advantage theory asserts that a country specializes in the production of a good that it is able to produce at higher productivity and efficiency (i.e., with fewer resources) compared to another country. This advantage might result from differences in labor productivity, skills, experiences, or economies of scale. The principle of relative advantage assumes that specialization and trade also occur even if one country has no absolute but only a comparative cost advantage. This aspect refers to a country's ability to produce a particular good at a lower opportunity cost.

In response to Smith and Ricardo, Heckscher (1919) and Ohlin (1933) developed the Heckscher-Ohlin theorem, also known as the *factor proportion theorem*. Rather than gearing solely to differences in labor productivity, they considered relative differences in factor endowments between countries as determinants of international trade. They distinguish between labor and capital as production factors and assume that countries specialize in the production of goods according to their endowment in these factors. The greater the supply of a production factor, the lower its costs. The abundance of

one factor favors specialization in goods that differ with respect to this factor. Consequently, countries export goods that use their abundant and cheap factor of production and import goods that require their scarce factor. Thus, developed countries that are rich in capital are assumed to export capital-intensive goods, while emerging countries that are rich in labor are expected to export labor-intensive goods. However, the empirical investigation of Leontief (1956) found contradicting results. He explained his finding, which is known as the "Leontief paradox", by asserting differences in the quality of the countries' factor endowments; the Heckler-Ohlin theorem, meanwhile, is based on an assumption of homogenous production functions and factor quality (Balassa 1963). These differences in the qualification of labor are also referred to as "human capital" (van de Ven 1989, p.14). According to this theorem, countries with a high level of qualification specialize on and export knowledge-intensive goods and in return import goods that require a lower degree of qualification and skills.

Criticism of the described trade theories is based on their simplistic assumptions of neo-classic theories. It concerns, amongst others, the assumptions of fixed factor endowments, full employment, complete factor immobility, and perfect mobility of goods, as well as perfect information about products. Although trade theories mainly relate to products, they contribute to this study by highlighting that location-specific differences in factor endowments, which may translate into cost differences for MNEs (Ghoshal 1987, p.432), affect trade and investment decisions. Comparative cost advantages are the basis for MNEs' competitive advantages. Thus, it can be deduced from these trade theories that location-specific features in factor endowments are an important factor for the international configuration of value creation activities. According to this view, FDI in R&D will likely appear in countries that possess a large pool of highly skilled engineers that are capable of engaging in R&D (see Ambos and Ambos 2009a).

The *technology gap theory*, which goes back to Posner (1961) and Hufbauer (1966), proposes that trade occurs because of differences in the technological development of countries. According to this strand, a new technology is developed in one country

and first sold domestically. In a second step, demand for this product also occurs in a foreign country and is, after the so-called "demand gap", exported there to serve foreign customers. After a certain time – the so-called "imitation gap" – exports decline because local companies in the foreign country are then able to offer the same innovative products in their home market. Reverse trade flow might even occur if companies in the foreign country can achieve additional competitive advantage, such as superior technology or lower cost. The latter particularly applies for activities in emerging countries. Technology gap theory has been empirically verified in numerous studies (e.g., Battisti and Pietrobelli 2000; Lee and Suh 1998; Lowe and Fernandes 1994; Müller-Merbach 1994) and represents the foundation of the (IPLC) model by Vernon.

The strands described thus far primarily attribute cross-border trade to the characteristics of a country's supply conditions; the demand structure hypothesis by Linder (1961) ascribes trade to characteristics on the demand side. According to this view, trade occurs between countries with similar demand structures, such as income per capita or quality expectations. Each country specializes in specific products or types of product. First, the domestic market potential and later the bundling of demand across borders allows companies to realize economies of scale and thus generate a competitive advantage over foreign competitors. This strand stresses the importance of economies of scale originating from centralizing activities for different countries. Moreover, in contrast to the previously discussed strands that primarily explain complementary intra-industry trade, the demand structure hypothesis allows for the explanation of two-way, intra-industry, substitutive trade. Substitutive trade is likely to gain further importance because demand structures actually tend to converge globally (Levitt 1983). Finally, the fixed-cost argument of Linder's demand structure hypothesis can also be extended to intra-company trade because the same line of argument holds for subsidiaries in different countries. High fixed costs and the derived necessity to achieve economies of scale are important characteristics of R&D activities that influence decisions on international centralization and decentralization, respectively. The demand structure hypothesis also recognizes that similar customer preferences might represent a prerequisite for cross-border volume-bundling.

#### 3.2.2 FDI Theory

FDI theory explains why firms invest and conduct business in foreign countries. One of the most cited explanations for FDI is the monopolistic advantage theory (Kutschker and Schmid 2008), also referred to as the theory of market imperfections (Malhotra, Ulgado, and Agarwal 2003). It relates to a strand of industrial organization theories (Buckley 1981) and goes back to Hymer (1976) and Kindleberger (1969). According to these theories, MNEs directly invest abroad to control their foreign activities; such investment allows them to take advantage of market imperfections that overcompensate for the existing difficulties when they expand abroad into new markets. These difficulties, also called "barriers to international operations" (Hymer 1976), or the liability of foreignness (Zaheer 1995; Zaheer and Mosakowski 1997), describe "obstacles, which all favor the local competitors under normal circumstances" (Rayome and Baker 1995, p.4), such as differences in culture, language, and the institutional environment, as well as transportation, coordination, and communication costs (see Cuervo-Cazurra, Maloney, and Manrakhan 2007, p.710). Meanwhile, monopolistic advantages for foreign companies might arise from imperfections on the goods market (e.g., product differentiation), on the factor markets (e.g., patented or superior technology), on scale advantages (e.g., economies of scale), or artificial market imperfections (e.g., tariffs). Monopolistic advantage theory contributes in this respect to motives and barriers of R&D localization. In particular, this strand of FDI theory can be considered a precursor to the resource-based view (RBV) of strategic management (Barney 1986, 1991, 2001; Wernerfelt 1984) and the capability perspective of IB (Gupta and Govindarajan 1991, 1994), which postulate that foreign affiliates not only can exploit firm-specific advantages and capabilities but also can augment existing capabilities and contribute new ones by internalizing and transferring location-specific knowledge.

The concept of investment barriers is complemented by the *trade barrier approach* (Cordon 1967; Johnson 1967). This strand argues that companies locate value creation activities abroad to overcome trade barriers. These barriers can consist of both

tariff (e.g., customs duties) and non-tariff (e.g., technical requirements and standards) government interventions. Whereas investment barriers hamper FDI, trade barriers are expected to foster FDI. Particularly non-tariff barriers might lead to the localization of R&D activities in the respective foreign country to facilitate the adaptation of products to the requirements of the local market.

The importance of industry-specific factors and competitive aspects of market opportunities is emphasized by the *oligopolistic parallel behavior theory*. This strand is based on Knickerbocker (1973) and also is sometimes referred to as strategic behavior theory (Malhotra, Ulgado, and Agarwal 2003). It assumes that industry structures in both the home and the host countries determine the localization of value creation activities. FDI is triggered by a disruption of the oligopolistic equilibrium. This followthe-leader concept assumes a disruption in a home market by a competitor that makes investments abroad (i.e., outside its home market). This foreign investment allows the competitor to gain competitive advantages (e.g., by improved customer accessibility and responsiveness or realization of economies of scale). In turn, these perceived advantages cause other participants in that competitor's home market to follow and also carry out FDI in the respective host country. The cross-investment concept, on the other hand, assumes a distortion of the equilibrium by a foreign competitor that enters the firm's home market. In return, that home market's incumbent invests in the entrant's home market.

The nature of competition between firms from advanced economies and firms from low-cost countries differs fundamentally from the competition between companies originating from developed countries. While MNEs from developed countries share access to similar technologies and resources, firms from emerging economies might lack the latest technologies and certain resources, yet enjoy labor cost advantages (Kaufmann and Körte 2010). Hence, for the purposes of this research, the follow-theleader concept seems especially well suited because it can be expected that if a competitor from a Western MNE's home market invests in a foreign country and localizes R&D activities in the host country to induce and facilitate the penetration of the foreign market, other firms are likely to follow with FDI in R&D.

#### 3.2.3 International Business Theory

Whereas trade and FDI theory intend to explain either exports or localization of value creation activities abroad, IB theory, sometimes also referred to as internationalization theory, takes a more integrative approach and intends to explain both forms of internationalization in one concept; it seeks to explain why, when, where, and how to internationalize (Morgan and Katsikeas 1997). Like trade and FDI theory, IB theory is no homogenous body of literature. Instead, different approaches try to explain internationalization from different perspectives. Most strands have in common that, in contrast to trade and FDI theory, they argue from a business level rather than from an economic perspective. In the following paragraphs, the approaches that are most relevant in the context of this study are considered.

Particularly earlier studies investigating internationalization of R&D generally follow the IPLC model of Vernon (1966; 1977; 1979). This model provides an explanation of why MNEs might not shift their R&D abroad (see Lall 1979, p.319). Sophisticated R&D activities and major product innovation are concentrated at the headquarters in the home country, allowing efficient communication and coordination among researchers, management, and sophisticated customers (see Hegde and Hicks 2008, p.391); R&D activities abroad are limited to customize products and processes to the local host country requirements. The IPLC model, also called the product cycle hypothesis, has been frequently cited and enhanced by different scholars (e.g., Fröbel, Heinrichs, and Kreye 1980; Grunwald and Flamm 1985; Malhotra, Ulgado, and Agarwal 2003; Wells Jr 1968). It builds on the product life cycle theory from marketing (see Levitt 1965) and transfers the concept to an international context. This theory strand assumes that products go through different phases over time. Firms undertake exports, FDI, and imports depending on the stage of the technological development. In contrast to the technology gap theory (Posner 1961), the IPLC model considers company level rather than country level differences. According to the IPLC model, a new

product in the innovation phase is first developed, produced, and sold in the domestic market. In this stage, flexibility in production, highly skilled labor, and intensive communication with and input from key customers are essential success factors. The innovative technology allows a high degree of product differentiation and thus a high market price. Emerging foreign demand is satisfied via exports. With growing maturity, domestic demand and foreign demand increase, and production facilities are built in industrialized countries to satisfy the greater demand. FDI becomes plausible when technological stability allows the decoupling of manufacturing and domestic R&D. Moreover, higher sales volumes allow decreasing unit costs. At the same time, competitors are able to close the imitation gap and start imitating the product. Vernon (1966) proposes locating foreign manufacturing sites in countries with similar demand structures to those of the home market. In the final stage, the product is fully standardized, and know-how with regard to product and manufacturing process technology is widespread and largely codified. Because price represents the competitive factor and there are fewer requirements with regard to employee gualification and technological know-how, costs determine the location of the manufacturing site. Consequently, emerging economies offer attractive locations for manufacturing activities. Domestic production is fully relocated, and components or finished products are exported from the host country to the home country of the MNE.

With regard to the location of R&D activities, IPLC theory assumes that the MNE's innovation is created in its home country and then adapted to the requirements of foreign markets. The home market thus plays two roles: It represents both the "source of stimulus for the innovation" and the "preferred location of the actual development of the innovation" (Vernon 1979, p.256). Consequently, the IPLC argues for a centralization of R&D activities in the MNE's home country. It maintains that MNEs undertake overseas R&D activities solely to adapt their products and processes to local markets. Foreign R&D units are supposed to provide technical support to the foreign subsidiary, such as adapting established product and process technologies to the particular condition and/or helping others to use those applications (Medcof 1997, p.303). According to Manolopoulos, Papanastassiou, and Pearce (2007), there are two factors that cause the "initial implicit rejection" (p.662) of foreign R&D: On the one hand, the theoretically derived limited mission of foreign R&D units (i.e., to adapt the centrally derived technological capacities to local market and input conditions) and, on the other hand, the "overwhelming" emphasis on centripetal forces (e.g., economies of scale, communication and coordination costs, and intellectual property protection).

Despite the IPLC theory's frequent application, several points of criticism have been discussed in literature. For a discussion of general points of criticism, see Buckley and Casson (1976) and Giddy (1978). With respect to internationalization of R&D, Penner-Hahn (1998) argues that the IPLC "was perhaps appropriate for stable industry environments, but it is less suited to current environments in which firms face many challenges that require competitive response" (p.149). These more current challenges include increasing foreign and domestic competition. He concludes that MNEs undertake foreign R&D activities as a response to increased competition within their industry, both in their home markets and throughout the world, rather than as a support function for existing sales operations in a host market. Moreover, IPLC is criticized because it insufficiently explains the increasing conduct of R&D activities, which are located independent of product demand and manufacturing sites (Hegde and Hicks 2008,p. 391).

Despite this criticism, IPLC contributes to the explanation of the extent and type of international R&D activities. It identifies technological characteristics, product life cycle stages, and market opportunities as critical determinants of foreign R&D activity locations. Moreover, it provides a reference with respect to the location of manufacturing activities (i.e., whether products are likely to be moved to an emerging country or whether manufacturing remains in the home country).

The *internalization theory*, which was established by Buckley and Casson (1976) and further developed by scholars such as Rugman (1980; 1981a; 1986), Hennart (1982; 1989; 1993), and Teece (1981; 1986) can be considered as one of the most important streams in IB research (see Hennart 1996). For more comprehensive reviews on the

theory, see Dunning (2003) and Safarian (2003). Internalization theory builds on transaction cost theory (Teece 1976; Williamson 1975, 1985) as an overarching perspective and focuses on ownership of firm-specific advantages that firms can transfer to other countries for economic benefit. According to this view, firms apply FDI whenever the transfer of the firm-specific advantages is subject to high transaction costs (Brouthers and Hennart 2007; Buckley and Casson 1998). Thus, firms establish foreign subsidiaries if they posses certain firm-specific advantages that are valuable abroad and if the best way to transfer them is by an internal mode of coordination.

According to this view, foreign subsidiaries exist to extend abroad the parent firm's firm-specific advantages. The theory stresses intangible assets, such as firm knowledge on technical or marketing activities (Dunning 1988; Hennart 1982), and emphasizes the protection of the value of a firm's knowledge when penetrating foreign markets (Penner-Hahn 1998) Consequently, subsidiaries' R&D activities are arranged according to the R&D of the parent company (Rugman 1981b, p.216). Rugman (1981a) summarizes:

"[T]he theory of internalization predicts that R&D expenditures by subsidiaries do not result in genuine innovation but only adaptation of techniques at best. Instead, the subsidiaries exist primarily as extensions of the parent firm, and their business is to safeguard the market of the MNE in the host nation. [...] The role of the subsidiary is supportive to the R&D function of the parent, and it cannot be an innovator. [...] Consequently, there is relatively little R&D done in the subsidiary" (pp.135-137).

In terms of conclusions, this perspective is therefore rather consistent with the IPLC model. Scholars criticize that, as the competitiveness of firms becomes increasingly dependent on their ability to access foreign knowledge and capabilities (Dunning 1997; Kuemmerle 1997), "such a centralized conception of R&D is no longer sufficient" (Le Bass and Sierra 2002, p.590). On a more general level, Rugman and Verbeke (2001) argue in the same direction when asserting that "the internalization per-
#### Theoretical Foundations

spective was useful in explaining the transformation of domestic firms into MNEs within the institutional context of the 1960s and 1970s, when most organizational structures of the MNEs were hierarchical and centralized" (p.238). However, in terms of current patterns of parent-subsidiary relationships and network relationships, internalization theory suffers from some weaknesses. Issues related to the adaptation and codification of intangible firm-specific advantages are hardly considered. Moreover, the approach lacks a dynamic component in terns of organizational learning and local subsidiary-level initiatives. Finally, internalization theory focuses on cost optimization and protection of capabilities rather than considering the creation of new capabilities (see Zhao, Luo, and Suh 2004, p.541). To overcome this point of criticism, Rugmann and Verbeke (2001, p.248) suggest distinguishing between different types of competencies: non-location-bound, firm- specific advantages that can be exploited globally and are easy to diffuse; location-bound advantages that lead to the benefits of national responsiveness and are difficult to diffuse internally; and subsidiary-specific advantages that combine the benefits of global exploitation of know-how with difficulty in its internal diffusion. This view implies that the non-location-bound knowledge created or absorbed by a foreign subsidiary can be codified and transferred to other subsidiaries through the knowledge-sharing routines and infrastructure that constitute the internal networks of the MNE (Asmussen, Pedersen, and Dhanaraj 2009). Thus, MNEs potentially can use FDI in R&D to access sources of competitive advantage while subsidiary exports arise from resources that are both firm-specific and location bound (Estrin et al. 2008, p.576). The argument that firms create value by combining internationally dispersed knowledge fits this perspective, particularly if one presumes that markets often fail to transfer this knowledge (see Ambos, Ambos, and Schlegelmilch 2006).

Following a different logic, Kogut (1988) and Kogut and Zander (1993) come to a similar conclusion regarding the MNE as a knowledge integrating institution. Building on *evolutionary theory* of the firm, they provide a complementary view to internalization theory (Penner-Hahn 1998). This "newer perspective on innovation and the MNE sees the MNEs as evolutionary learning organizations, which create (and draw upon)

a regular and cumulative flow of knowledge and capabilities from locationally differentiated sources" (Cantwell 2009, p.38). Thus, MNEs create networks of subsidiaries that are interconnected by knowledge flows (Adler and Hashai 2007). Internationalization of R&D activities is explained in terms of transfer and recombination of knowledge. Firms accumulate knowledge over time by combining existing domestic knowledge with what they learn in foreign markets (Almeida 1996; Almeida and Phene 2004; Frost 2001). Ambos, Ambos, and Schlegelmilch (2006) and Phene and Almeida (2008) assert that this perspective fits well with the literature on transnational, heterarchical, or multi-focal firms (Bartlett and Ghoshal 1988; Birkinshaw, Hood, and Jonsson 1998; Ghoshal and Bartlett 1994; Ghoshal and Nohria 1993; Hedlund 1994). The common notion is that all subsidiaries of a MNE belong to the same social community and therefore should be able to assimilate knowledge both from the headquarters and other subsidiaries. Whereas the internalization perspective regards the MNE as a result of market failures and emphasizes protecting the value of existing knowledge, evolutionary theory emphasizes the MNE's ability to acquire, combine, and integrate new knowledge on a world scale to gain technological advantages as sources of the MNE's competitive advantages (Shan and Song 1997). Applying this view suggests that both existing capabilities and the need for new capabilities are important drivers of R&D internationalization. Specifically, country-specific technological advantages (Kogut 1990) and superior national innovation systems (Edguist 1997; Lundvall 1992; Nelson 1993) might attract foreign R&D activities to tap into local "pockets of knowledge" (Asakawa 2001a; Chiesa 1996a)

This study draws on both the protection perspective and the learning perspective. Taken collectively, both perspectives consider MNEs as a network of differentiated roles and responsibilities in which the access to internal and external knowledge networks enables the organization to continuously create and renew its technical and competitive advantage (Nohria and Ghoshal 1997). Internalization theory stresses the exploitation and protection of firm-specific technological knowledge. Moreover, it adds the importance of considering challenges in coordination, such as differences in culture and language. Meanwhile, evolutionary theory adds a view on location-specific

characteristics of the host country, such as country-specific technological advantages and subsidiaries' contribution to the international company network.

A related stream of literature focuses on the role of the individual subsidiary to model knowledge flows. Gupta and Govindarajan (1991; 1994; 2000) and Tallman and Fladmoe-Lindguist (2002) enhanced the concept of worldwide learning and capability accumulation by emphasizing the role of "outside-in" knowledge flows at the subsidiary level. The basic perspective of the capability-driven framework of internationalization is in line with a growing body of research that builds on the idea of the MNE as a network of specialized, interdependent units (Bartlett and Ghoshal 1989; Hedlund 1986; Nohria and Ghoshal 1997; Westney 1990). The capability-driven framework of internationalization builds on the dynamic capability perspective of strategic management, which represents an extension of the resource-based view (Barney 1986, 1991, 2001; Wernerfelt 1984). In contrast to the resource-based view, which assumes that firms' competitive advantages come from rare, inimitable, and nonsubstitutable resources, the dynamic capability perspective argues that competitive advantage can be gained by effectively reconfiguring or using homogenous resources under different environmental conditions (Eisenhardt and Martin 2000) and create new products and processes to respond to changing market conditions (Helfat 1997). Teece, Pisano, and Shuen (1997) define dynamic capabilities as a firm's ability to integrate, build, and reconfigure internal and external competencies to address rapidly changing environments. In particular, this definition might hold in the study of emerging economies (see Hoskisson et al. 2000, p.257). The capability-driven framework of internationalization thereby transfers the fundamental idea of inter-partner learning to an international level and assumes inter-country learning between foreign subsidiaries.

This perspective asserts that firms invest abroad to gain access to new capabilities. These capabilities are internalized and exchanged with other entities within the MNE and thus contribute to the worldwide learning of the organization. To benefit from different host country characteristics as sources of competitive ownership advantage (Papanastassiou and Pearce 1994a), a firm needs both to offshore value creation

activities and to integrate these activities into a network structure. Thus, competitive advantage comes from a firm's "unique potential for radical innovation by melding and leveraging distinctive knowledge drawn from diverse geographical contexts around the world" (Doz, Santos, and Williamson 2003, p.154). This view includes both the building and the leveraging of capabilities. Gupta and Govindarajan define subsidiaries' strategic roles according to the extent to which the subsidiary is a user of knowledge from the rest of the corporation (knowledge inflows) and the extent to which the subsidiary is a provider of such knowledge to the rest of the group (knowledge outflows). In such a networked MNE, the role of individual subsidiaries is much more complex than in the "traditional" global or multinational firm because each subsidiary can simultaneously be a recipient and a contributor of knowledge, products, and services (Gupta and Govindarajan 1991). They argue that because of an international dispersion of specific knowledge and declining technological gaps among countries (Gupta and Govindarajan 1994, p.445), foreign subsidiaries have begun turning into major knowledge creators for the entire MNE. By building dispersed and specialized competencies in their foreign subsidiaries, MNEs are able to arbitrage national differences in comparative and competitive advantages, and to generate superior returns compared to domestic and non-specialized international competitors (see Asmussen, Pedersen, and Dhanaraj 2009). This argumentation follows rather recent literature that assumes the accumulation of specialized know-how in regionally limited centers of excellence.

Criticism against the capability-driven framework has questioned capability-seeking as the primary driver of internationalization and performance, seeing other neglected but relevant motives, such as market-, resource-, or efficiency-seeking internationalization (see Tallman and Fladmoe-Lindquist 2002). Nevertheless, the explicit consideration of learning and gaining access to new capabilities as motive for internationalization represents a valuable aspect when studying foreign R&D activities. Moreover, this strand enriches existing advantage categories with aspects of mutual learning on the sales and factor market.

#### Theoretical Foundations

The eclectic paradigm (Dunning 1977, 1979, 1980, 1988, 1993, 1995, 1998, 2000) can be considered as "the dominating, mainstream international business approach" (Rugman and Verbeke 2001, p.239). It merges different isolated theory strands and differentiates between three types of configuration parameters: contractual resource transfers, FDI, and exports. The configuration depends on the parameter of the ownership advantages, location advantages, and internalization advantages. These factors are often referred to by the acronym OLI, according to their three initial letters. Ownership advantages build on the monopolistic advantages theory and offer the company a competitive edge in the foreign market. For example, these advantages might arise from superior technology or size advantages. Their availability represents a necessary precondition for international activities of a company. Location advantages comprise the benefits from locating value creation activities in a host country. They might include superior factor quality and cost, concentration of knowledge, or cultural affinities. Internalization advantages occur if a company's internal coordination costs are lower than the market transaction costs. According to this view, a firm should choose FDI if all three advantages can be captured. However, if a host country does not provide sufficient location advantages, the firm is expected to opt for exports rather than FDL

Despite its relevance in IB research, the eclectic paradigm has been subject to severe criticism. With regard to the subject under investigation in this study, some critiques are of particular importance: The advantage categories show interdependencies and overlaps (Andersen 1997; Itaki 1991; Malhotra, Ulgado, and Agarwal 2003), leading scholars to call the strand a "conglomeration of disconnected variables" (Perlitz 2000, p.129). Moreover, the internationalization strategies are incomplete (see Malhotra, Ulgado, and Agarwal 2003) and are based on a rather narrow perspective of FDI (see Axinn and Matthyssens 2001). Furthermore, the eclectic paradigm regards its three types of configuration as mutually exclusive and thus does not allow for mixed strategies. Neither does it explain the occurrence of different configuration strategies of a company in the same host country (Stehn 1992).

Despite these named limitations, the eclectic paradigm provides an integrative perspective of international configuration, and it and stresses the diversity of motives and sources of competitive advantage. Location advantages are regarded as a decisive factor to distinguish between different international configuration strategies within firm boundaries. Moreover, the present study aims to overcome major points of criticism that have been raised. Accordingly, the research framework of this study allows for mixed strategies and thus the free combination of different configurations. Moreover, to avoid redundancies, ownership and internalization advantages are not explicitly modelled. Whereas Dunning addresses the question of whether a company possesses enough competitive advantages for internationalization, this study focuses mainly on how to configure foreign R&D activities, and why.

There are further strands of internationalization theory that are applied in related research and that provide insights into the explanation of international R&D configuration. However, because of their rather partial contributions, the discussion of these strands is limited to certain key aspects.

The *learning theory of internationalization* (Johanson and Vahlne 1977, 1990, 2003) stresses path-dependency of internationalization. This strand is also referred to as the "Uppsala internationalization model", or the "establishment chain model", or sometimes even as "internationalization theory" (see Craig and Douglas 1996; Malhotra, Ulgado, and Agarwal 2003) . Similar to the IPLC theory, it provides evidence for the relevance of incremental differences in international configuration strategies. Based on the work of Cyert and March (1963) and Aharoni (1966), internationalization is considered to be an organizational learning process leading to a stepwise increase in foreign market commitment. Firms choose their international configuration according to their previously gained experience in the respective market. To minimize the risk associated with foreign activities, firms initially prefer exports. Only with increasing experience might they establish their own sales organization and later even locate other value creation activities, such as manufacturing and R&D. This strand argues that firms internationalize according to the psychic distance chain: They first expand into countries with similar characteristics and culture before investing in and moving into countries with a higher psychic distance (see Evans and Mavondo 2002; O'Grady and Lane 1996). Criticism has been raised because of the partial character of this strand, noting that it considers knowledge as the only explanatory variable (see Andersen 1993). Moreover, learning theory of internationalization suffers from its rather deterministic character, leaving limited room for strategic managerial decisions with regard to internationalization decisions (Hedlund and Kverneland 1985; Reid 1983; Turnbull 1987). For purposes of this study, the contribution of the learning theory of internationalization is particularly its assumption of incremental differences and development stages in firms' international configuration strategies. Moreover, it stresses the importance of differences in home and host country characteristics in international expansion and in the location of value creation activities.

The diamond model by Porter (1990) argues that home country factors contribute to the international success of industries. Factor conditions, demand conditions, and characteristics of related and supporting industries, as well as firm strategy, structure, and rivalry determine the international competitiveness of a country. The model states that firms can derive location-specific competitive advantage from the presence of local industry clusters. According to Porter, MNEs that are based in industrial clusters in their home countries are highly competitive in the global marketplace, resulting in an increased export propensity from those clusters. However, in contrast to the cost advantage theory and the factor proportion theorem, the diamond model argues that an initial low factor endowment might also turn out to be beneficial in the long run because it forces companies to economize on scarce resources and thus drives innovation. Although this view has been criticized for its limited prescriptive value (Dunning 1993; Rugman and D'Cruz 1993), the diamond model offers valuable insights when studying internationalization of R&D. One contribution of the approach is the integration of firm, industry, and country level factors. The combination and interplay of these factors influence the configuration of value creation activities. The diamond model originally assumed that home country conditions drive the international configuration of value creation activities. Davis and Meyer (2004) therefore criticize the model for

not explicitly considering different location advantages as experienced by the subsidiary per se. This caveat from David and Meyer can be countered by analytically transferring the factors to a host country perspective. Correspondingly, some researchers have drawn upon aspects of the diamond model and investigated the influence of the subsidiary's environment on subsidiary roles and mandates (e.g., Almeida and Phene 2004; Cantwell and Mudambi 2005; Frost, Birkinshaw, and Ensign 2002; Mariotti and Piscitello 1995). This study takes a similar perspective, considering different host country diamond components as driving forces in the configuration of subsidiary R&D.

# 4 Research Framework and Hypotheses

Building on the identified research gap, the outlined research questions, and the discussed theoretical foundations, the task in this chapter is to define a set of explanatory variables that are expected to influence the subsidiary's R&D configuration strategy on an a priori basis, leading to the research framework that constitutes the basis for the empirical analysis of the study. The research framework contains the constructs and their relationships to each other (Kubicek 1975). After an explanation of the three dimensions of the framework (A, B, and C), the predictions on the relationships between the individual constructs are developed. Following the recommendations of Shah and Goldstein (2006), the hypotheses build on both theoretical considerations and prior empirical results, allowing a comprehensive specification of expected findings and avoiding causal misinterpretations. The chapter concludes with a summary of the hypotheses.

# 4.1 Research Framework

The research framework of this study builds on a contingency-based approach analyzing the interplay of contingency and response variables in the context of international R&D. The framework considers two dimensions of environmental variables: location-based features and industry-based features. Subsidiary R&D configuration strategies constitute the response variables.

Figure 3 provides an overview of the research framework and the research questions that were derived in the introductory chapter. The research questions are linked to the analysis of subsidiaries' R&D configuration strategies (research question 1) and to the relationships between the environmental factors and subsidiary R&D (research question 2):

1a. Which R&D configuration strategies do foreign subsidiaries in emerging countries pursue?

- 1b. How do these strategies vary across different contexts and over time?
- 2a. How do location factors relate to the choice of international R&D configuration in emerging countries?
- 2b. How do industry factors relate to the choice of international R&D configuration in emerging countries?



Figure 3: Research Framework

As described earlier, extant literature discusses a variety of single factors influencing international R&D. On a broader perspective, the location and integration of subsidiary R&D activities may be motivated by two sets of reasons: location-specific and in-

dustry sector-related factors. In the following section, variables are identified to capture the effect of these two factors.

#### 4.1.1 Dimension A: Location-Based Features

Local environmental factors are a commonly investigated contingency of the internationalization of R&D (e.g., Cantwell and Iammarino 2000; Cantwell and Mudambi 2005; De Meyer and Mizushima 1989; Frost 2001; Hakanson and Nobel 1993a, 1993b; Hakanson and Zander 1988; Kuemmerle 1999a; Kumar 2000b, 2001; Le Bas and Sierra 2002; Odagiri and Yasuda 1996; Pearce and Singh 1992). Accordingly, literature cites "a range of putatively valuable location advantages" (Davis and Meyer 2004, p.360). However, most analyses of international R&D are on MNE incentives to internationalize R&D and thus are limited to MNE perspectives (i.e., on headquarters assessments of location-specific features). A comprehensive analysis of the interaction and relationship between local environmental factors and subsidiary R&D configuration remains to be made (see Kumar 2001). Based on extant theoretical and empirical work in the field, this study summarizes these host-country attributes using three motives that have been identified as being of special importance to a firm's configuration of its international R&D: market opportunities, economies of location, and cultural distance. The first two represent internationalization motives regarding the host countries' sales and factor markets, respectively, that MNEs can turn into a competitive advantage; the third one covers environmental differences between the home and host countries.

Market opportunities represent the benefits gained on foreign sales markets. Such benefits include demand-based sources of competitive advantage (e.g., market size and growth or the possibility of selling older technology in a less sophisticated market), as well as competition-based sources (e.g., low competition intensity and low threat of substitutes or attacks from foreign competitors in the home market).

Economies of location represent benefits gained on foreign factor markets - consider-

ing both factor costs and factor quality. Economies of location are comparative advantages of nations and have to be distinguished from competitive firm-specific advantages (Kogut 1985a). MNEs can turn the comparative advantages of a host country to their own competitive advantages by configuring their value-adding activities in such a way that each activity is located in the country that has the least cost for the factor that the activity uses most intensively, leading to the geographical fragmentation of the value chain (Bellak 2005; Dunning 1998; Ghoshal 1987; Porter 1986b).

Cultural distance describes differences in local contexts, which are expected to be an especially important constraint on the international configuration of value-adding activities (Cantwell 2009). Extant literature argues that cultural differences between home and host countries influence the costs and profitability of R&D projects (Hymer 1976; Zaheer 1995), as well as the use and success of international R&D projects by foreign affiliates (Ambos and Schlegelmilch 2004; Nakata and Sivakumar 1996; Zedtwitz and Gassmann 2002). Cultural distance has been found to influence internationalization of R&D (e.g., Granstrand 1999; Hakanson 1992). However, the relative strength of the influence compared to other factors has only rarely been assessed empirically (see Granstrand 1999).

Hence, dimension A of the framework covers MNEs' benefits from structural advantages of host countries, on the basis of both the sales market (output) and the factor market (input), as well as in terms of the cost associated with their exploitation.

### 4.1.2 Dimension B: Industry-Based Features

In addition to location-specific features, this study investigates the effect of industryrelated characteristics on R&D configuration. The external environment, represented by the industry in which the firm competes, exerts pressures to which it must adapt to survive and prosper (Collis 1991; Teece, Pisano, and Shuen 1997). Based on this rationale, industry factors are expected to influence the international configuration of value creation activities (Gao et al. 2010). As most prior studies in the field of R&D

internationalization seem to focus solely on the country level determinants of R&D configuration, they neglect the possibility that competitive advantages might also be driven by industry level factors (see, e.g., Birkinshaw, Morrison, and Hulland 1995; Porter 1990). Cantwell and Mudambi (2005) point out that "R&D is a very industryspecific activity. The differences in strategies [...] are highly industry specific" (p.1117). Also Ambos and Ambos (2009a) assert that industry-specific features "provide an important basis for R&D investments" (p.28). Similarly, Le Bas and Sierra (2002) require the consideration of industry characteristics when observing that "[t]he basis question which is raised by this analysis is: are there technological foundations to the foreign location of knowledge activities?" (p.589). Also Ketokivi and Ali-Yrkkö's (2009) results regarding the localization of R&D and manufacturing activities in Finnish MNEs prompt the consideration of industry factors. Nevertheless, the influence of industry-related factors on R&D internationalization has only rarely been subject to empirical investigations (see Hegde and Hicks 2008, p.391). Some studies addressing differences between industries (e.g., Ambos 2005; Edler 2004; Kumar 2001; Le Bas and Sierra 2002; Narula 2002; Patel and Pavitt 2000; Zedtwitz and Gassmann 2002) are merely descriptive rather than of confirmatory nature. Such an exploratory analysis is also part of this study, and the results are discussed in the context of research question 1b, addressing the variation of R&D configuration across different contexts and over time. In addition, this study analyzes how industry-specific factors influence subsidiary level R&D configuration. No extant literature was identified that focuses specifically on this question to guide the present study in making predictions. However, after an extensive review of the pertinent studies in the relevant fields, a set of industry-related factors was identified that are expected to favor or disfavor the location and cross-border integration of R&D activities in emerging countries. The following industry-specific features have been considered in the research framework: technological complexity, technological turbulence, the need for customization (local responsiveness), and cost pressure.

#### 4.1.3 Dimension C: R&D Configuration

Dimension C of the research framework contains the independent variables. In the sense of contingency theory, R&D configuration thus represents the response variable of the firm to the environmental variables (see Zeithaml, Varandarajan, and Zeithaml 1988). The approach taken in this work (see Chapter 5.1.2 on the research object for a more detailed discussion) follows the recent stream of research that explores the strategies, roles, and mandates of individual subsidiaries in the MNE (see, e.g., Asmussen, Pedersen, and Dhanaraj 2009; Phene and Almeida 2008; for a systematic review see Manolopoulos 2008). As described in the definition of terms, literature often uses the terms "subsidiary strategy" and "subsidiary role" interchangeably (Birkinshaw and Morrison 1995). Because strategy suggests a higher degree of freedom at the subsidiary level, rather than a deterministic process, this study prefers the term "R&D strategy" when referring to the configuration of R&D activities.

The literature review revealed that extant studies have developed a variety of dimensions and taxonomies in the classification of international R&D, and a widely accepted standard has not been developed. Moreover, literature on internationalization of R&D appears as a rather independent field. Although different characteristics have been applied to discriminate between different types of international R&D (e.g., nature of activity, geographic scope, linkages to other units, and mode of formation), there is at least some consistency in the proposed roles and strategies (see Nobel and Birkinshaw 1998). This study thus aims for a comprehensive but parsimonious mapping of subsidiaryies' R&D configurations using measurable and action-oriented strategy dimensions. Building on the discussed strands of FDI, trade, and IB theory, subsidiary R&D strategies are defined along two independent dimensions, as proposed by the influential contribution of Jarillo and Martinez (1990). The first dimension is the degree of localization that indicates whether and to what extent foreign affiliates perform certain value-creating activities, such as R&D. The degree of localization can be regarded as a proxy for subsidiaries' embeddedness in the local environment (see Manolopoulos 2008). Because localization is closely related to FDI, this dimension is

largely based on FDI theory, explaining when to localize value activities abroad. The second dimension is the degree of integration, covering whether and to what extent those activities are linked to other parts of the global MNE network. This dimension corresponds to the degree of resource interdependencies between the subsidiary and other locations. Because the integration of value creation across borders is closely related to exports and imports, this dimension largely refers to trade theory. International business theory is related to both the localization and the integration dimensions. Overall, the two dimensions of the framework represent the main decision variables pertaining to the architecture of firms' value creation systems (see Kaufmann and Jentzsch 2006, p.55).



Figure 4: Major Subsidiary Strategies and R&D Configurations

On the basis of the combination of the localization and integration dimensions, we can distinguish among three archetype subsidiary strategies: import business, local business, and export business. Jarillo and Martinez (1990) denote the corresponding roles: receptive, autonomous, and active. The attempt to integrate the current literature on international R&D with the discussed international business theory results in three basic R&D configurations. To avoid confusion with existing typologies that are based on a different measurement and to ensure consistency with the applied opera-

tionalization, the configuration strategies are labeled Implementation, Local Innovation, and Global Innovation, respectively (see Figure 4).

The first strategy, *Implementation*, is defined as an international R&D configuration characterized by a low degree of localization but a high degree of integration. Technological expertise and know-how, as well as R&D output, such as product development and process design, are mainly "imported" from other parts of the MNE network (see Gupta and Govindarajan 1991). This type of R&D unit primarily supports the sales and production activities in the host countries by adapting products developed in other R&D laboratories to the need and taste of the respective local market. These R&D units also might facilitate the transfer and application of product and process technologies that are already established within the company (Medcof 1997) – for example, by providing some technical support and service to the dealers or users (Odagiri and Yasuda 1996).

This strategy corresponds to what Ronstadt (1978) has labeled "technology transfer unit" and Pearce (1989) has called "support laboratory". The activity of these units is based on technology supplied by the multinational parent, and they are established to support the transfer of manufacturing technology to a foreign subsidiary while also providing related technical services for foreign customers (p.8). Medcof (1997) further differentiated this technical support function by distinguishing between "marketing support units" and "manufacturing support units". Hewitt (1980) labeled the corresponding type as "product adaptive R&D", which relates to adapting parent technology to the host country market. Chiesa (1996a) called it "adaptation R&D and technical support lab", and Nobel and Birkinshaw (1998) suggested "local adopter" to describe R&D units that "are always local in scope, and with a rather limited development mandate" (p.481). Implementation also reflects the "support laboratory" (SL) and the "traditional support laboratory" (SL1) proposed by Hood and Young (1982); Pearce (1989; 1999; 2005); Pearce and Singh (1992); Pearce and Papanastassiou (1999); Papanastassiou and Pearce (1999; 2005); Manolopoulos, Papanastassiou, and Pearce (2005; 2007). This unit's task is to "help the associated production subsidiary to operate to the fullest potential of the imported technology" (Papanastassiou and Pearce 2005, p.91) and thus to facilitate inward technology transfer (Manolopoulos, Papanastassiou, and Pearce 2007). As such, these units are mainly involved in the technological adaptation of existing goods rather than the development of new products or processes (Papanastassiou and Pearce 1994b). Kuemmerle's (1997; 1999a; 1999b) "home-base exploiting" (HBE) sites also loosely match this type. These sites "support the transfer of knowledge and prototypes from the firm's home location to actual manufacturing" (Lewin, Massini, and Peeters 2009, p.904) and thus are driven by capability-exploiting motives.

Considering the degree and direction of integration, this strategy also corresponds to Gupta and Govindarajan's (1991; 1994) "implementer", although their typology refers to the subsidiary as a whole and not solely its R&D activities. This type engages in very little knowledge development; instead, the unit receives its knowledge from headquarters or other subsidiaries.

The theoretical foundation of Implementation configuration is mainly described in trade theory; it is this strand that explains the cross-border integration of value creation. The cost advantage theory, the factor proportion theorem, and the technological gap theory thereby emphasize asymmetry, in terms of both supply condition and technological capabilities, as the motive for exports in cases where conditions for performing R&D activities are more favorable outside the subsidiary's host country. Demand structure hypothesis argues that similar customer preferences allow the MNE to benefit from economies of scale resulting from volume bundling across countries.

The Implementation strategy is also entirely consistent within the IPLC model by Vernon, which favors centralization of R&D activities when a firm's innovational lead is created in its home country and then rolled out and adapted to foreign markets. The eclectic paradigm proposes Implementation in cases where ownership and internalization advantages exist and location advantages are absent. From the perspective of learning theory, Implementation allows firms to gain experience in new foreign mar-

kets with a limited resource commitment.

The second strategy, Local Innovation, is characterized by a high degree of localization but a low degree of cross-border integration of R&D activities. The degree of Local Innovation represents the value creation provided by the local R&D unit for its own subsidiary. This unit is dedicated to developing products for the local market and works in association with other functions of the subsidiary, such as marketing, engineering, procurement, and production, but acts rather independently in terms of inputs from other members of the group. This strategy corresponds to Pearce and Papanastassiou's LIL, providing support for a local production facility in the development of new products that, compared to the Implementation, "will then much more decisively encompass the local subsidiary's perspective on both the needs of the market they will supply and the conditions under which the good will be manufactured" (Pearce and Papanastassiou 1999, p.24). This unit has a substantially broader scope and plays a more fundamentally creative role, aspiring to endow its subsidiary "with some kind of product autonomy" (Pearce 1991, p.14). Bartlett and Ghoshal (1990) argue that such "local-for-local innovations are essential for responsiveness to the unique attributes of each of the different national environments. [...] But, on the negative side, such innovations may also reflect the efforts of national subsidiaries to differentiate themselves to retain their identity and autonomy" (p.220 et seq.). Other corresponding terminologies are ITU by Ronstadt (1978), which has responsibility for developing "new and improved products expressly for foreign markets [that] were not the direct result of new technology supplied by the parent organizations" (p.9), and also to a certain degree Hakanson and Nobel's (1993a; 1993b) "production support R&D", in which the units work independently with only weak ties to the rest of the MNE network.

As noted by Pearce (1991), units following the Local Innovation strategy were traditionally attached to locally focused manufacturing sites, whose responsibility was exclusively to the domestic market. However, with increasing globalization of manufacturing, production sites increasingly hold regional or global mandates, so R&D responsibilities are likewise international in scope (Hakanson and Nobel 1993b). Nobel and Birkinshaw (1998, p.482) thus assume this type of laboratory to be in a transitional state, moving toward increased product autonomy, with the implication being that these units could potentially offer technological enhancements to other entities within the MNE. They reflect the corresponding broader role of subsidiary R&D in what they call "international adopter". With the above-mentioned restraints, the strategy of Local Innovation reflects Gupta and Govindarajan's (1991; 1994) "local innovator", which is characterized by very little knowledge inflow or outflow. Instead, this unit creates knowledge that is idiosyncratic to its specific host country environment and is of limited value elsewhere.

The theoretical foundation can be derived from strands of FDI and IB theory. Monopolistic advantage theory, for example, argues that companies can exploit firm-specific advantages abroad by localizing value-creation activities. The trade barrier approach supports Local Innovation to circumvent substantial trade barriers. Oligopolisitic parallel behavior theory argues on the basis of competitive strategy and expects MNEs to localize value creation in low-cost countries to compensate for a disruption of the oligopolistic equilibrium on the home market because of investments of firms originating from emerging countries (see Kaufmann and Körte 2010). The diamond approach highlights the importance of country characteristics for the location of value creation activities, and the eclectic paradigm suggests Local Innovation in cases where ownership, internalization, and location advantages are given. Because the same suggestion holds for all strategies with a high degree of localization (i.e., also for Global Innovation), the eclectic paradigm does not allow for differentiation between the Local Innovation and the Global Innovation strategy. Favorable demand and factor conditions may foster Local Innovation. Learning theory of internationalization argues on the basis of the establishment and psychic distance chain and suggests Local Innovation only in cases of prior experience in the market and for host countries with low psychic distance. Similarly, internalization theory proposes avoiding Local Innovation in cases where control and governance costs (e.g., communication costs to overcome linguistic and cultural barriers) are comparatively high.

Finally, Global Innovation is characterized by a high degree of localization and a high degree of cross-border integration. The basic idea of this resource- and efficiencyseeking strategy corresponds to globally distributed, interdependent, value-creation activities and thus to a global network of interrelated subsidiaries. Activities are located in the location that offers the best set of relevant factor conditions, while international linkages allow for the bundling of activities across countries and thus for the company to realize economies of scale. From a theoretical perspective, this strategy represents a departure from the "traditional" assumptions of the IPLC and a movement toward more recent streams of IB literature recognizing that MNEs do not merely apply or adopt centrally generated knowledge in foreign operations. Rather, subsidiaries have contributing or leading roles in product innovation and consequently enhance the innovative capabilities of the whole MNE network (Almeida and Phene 2004; Bartlett and Ghoshal 1989; Cantwell and Janne 1999; Chung and Alcácer 2002; Florida 1997; Hedlund 1986; Wesson 1993; Zanfei 2000). These units typically are leaders in their area of expertise, often located specifically to tap into a particular geographically limited center of technological excellence (Bartlett and Ghoshal 1986; Cantwell 1991; Frost, Birkinshaw, and Ensign 2002; Porter 1990). This role is reflected in Kuemmerle's (1997; 1999a; 1999b) HBA R&D site, as well as in the strategic asset-seeking R&D of Dunning and Narula (1995). With such R&D activities, MNEs want not only to gain access to foreign immobile technological resources and assets, but also to benefit from spillovers resulting from externalities created by local institutions and firms (Almeida and Phene 2004; Feinberg and Gupta 2004; Kuemmerle 1999a). Such foreign R&D units build on their absorptive capacity (Cohen and Levinthal 1990, 1994) to augment the firm's existing stock of knowledge and to acquire or monitor complementary competitive advantages (Le Bas and Sierra 2002; Phene and Almeida 2008).

Yet we should recognize that, already, earlier typologies accounted for similar roles. Ronstadt (1977) suggested GTU and CTU; the former is mainly oriented toward the development of new products and processes for simultaneous application in major world markets of the MNE, and the latter is more oriented toward the generation of new technology and long-term research. Similarly, Hakanson and Nobel (1993a) proposed two fairly corresponding types: the "research unit" and the "generic R&D unit". While the former is very similar to the CTU of Ronstadt and oriented more towards development, the latter represents something of a hybrid form between development and research (see Nobel and Birkinshaw 1998, p.482). Considering its integration into the MNE network, the Global Innovation strategy also encompasses what Hakanson and Nobel call "monitor research". These units are established to monitor the technological development in the host country and might also recruit highly specialized technical expertise that is not available in the home country.

The corresponding strategy to Global Innovation by Hood and Young (1982) and Pearce (1989) is the "international interdependent laboratory", and by Pearce and Papanastassiou (1999) is the "internationally integrated laboratory" (IIL). In these strategies, the lab is interdependent, working with similar labs in other countries "to pursue the regeneration of the group's core technologies" (Papanastassiou and Pearce 2005, p.94); however, there is not necessary a connection with other functions in the host country that are related to the competitiveness of current products and technologies. In addition to this rather basic research-oriented unit, this configuration also encompasses what Pearce and Papanastassiou (1999) call the SL2 unit. This role is an extension of the traditional support laboratory in that the unit is involved in development activities, although with the output's being for international use. This local R&D unit provides advice on the adaptation of existing technologies and/or the development of new technologies to other manufacturing subsidiaries in the global MNE network. The underlying rationale can be either cost-efficiency or a subsidiary's product mandate, with a move toward both concentration of technological know-how and internationally integrated supply networks, as individual subsidiaries take on specialized responsibility for particular product groups. Such an R&D facility thus possesses "distinctive knowledge and competencies that can be shared in beneficial ways with other parts of the parent MNE group" (Manolopoulos, Papanastassiou, and Pearce 2007, p.665). Nobel and Birkinshaw (1998) call their counterpart to Global Innovation an "international creator" and point out two distinguishing characteristics: First, the activities of the site comprise research and development, rather than improvement and adaptation responsibilities. Second, this site is primarily linked to corporate and divisional R&D, not local manufacturing.

Being characterized by strong interdependencies with other locations of the MNE, the Global Innovation strategy relates to the "global innovator" and "integrated player", in the terminology of Gupta and Govindarajan. While the global innovator mainly provides input for other units of the company network, the integrated player additionally builds on input from the rest of the MNE and thus shows bi-directional interdependencies. The underlying dimensions of the configuration applied in this study consider cross-border integration as one dimension and do not differentiate between inbound and outbound knowledge flows and technology transfer.

The theoretical foundation of the Global Innovation strategy covers both localization and integration of value-adding activities and thus comprises strands from FDI, trade, and IB theory. Monopolistic advantage theory considers internationalization to be the result of a firm's monopolistic advantages, such as patented or superior technological know-how or economies of scale. Although scale effects might arise from bundling of activities across countries, firms at the same time have to overcome barriers to international operations, such as cultural differences. In cases where the associated costs outweigh the benefits, Global Innovation might not be a reasonable strategy. Internalization theory comes to a similar conclusion and suggests that this strategy is applicable in cases where sufficiently low coordination costs arise (e.g., from effective and efficient communication across cultures). Cost advantages theory and factor proportion theorem attribute localization of R&D and subsequent integration to favorable factor endowments resulting from a low cost or high qualification level. The demand structure hypothesis argues that similar customer preferences across countries allow R&D units to specialize, taking international responsibility for certain products or technologies. The diamond approach emphasizes the importance of country factor conditions, such as workforce qualification, externalities from clusters, supporting industries, and the competitive environment. The capability-driven framework of internationalization would suggest that the Global Innovation strategy is the result of an international dispersion of specific knowledge. The strategy allows the firm to gain new capabilities and to internalize and integrate them into the company's global network structure. In doing so, the MNE might benefit from leveraging locally embedded technological know-how as a source of competitive ownership advantage. This perspective is consistent with the evolutionary theory, which establishes Global Innovation in terms of accessing, transferring, and combining locationally dispersed knowledge (see Chapter 3.3).

Nobel and Birkinshaw (1998) notice that "several factors make the generation of a meaningful [R&D] typology difficult" (p.486) and refer to two major issues: First, it is known that roles change over time, and so the boundaries between the different typologies are ambiguous and not mutually exclusive, as assumed (Pearce 1989). And second, a single unit can easily pursue more than one strategy at a time.

Whereas most prior typologies classify R&D units in one specific category (see Chapter 2.3) and mainly apply some kind of heuristics to identify the type of strategy (see Nobel and Birkinshaw 1998), the suggested research framework for purposes of this work allows for what we call "mixed strategies" (i.e., the coexistence of different strategies within the same subsidiary). Accordingly, the R&D configuration of the subsidiary represents a combination of each of the three strategies, with varying degrees of each, so that gradual differences between R&D units, as well as developments and changes over time, can be measured.

Summarizing this section, we differentiate R&D configurations on the basis of two independent dimensions derived from IB theory. The resulting three strategies exhibit clear characteristics and theoretical foundations. The introduced configuration allows for the mapping of extant R&D typologies; yet, it has to be noted that in some cases there are certainly somewhat fuzzy boundaries because of the variety of dimensions on which the different typologies are based. This lack of clear distinction particularly holds for hybrid roles, such as Hakanson and Nobel's (1993a; 1993b) multi-motive

unit, as well as for typologies that distinguish between the types of technical work being done (e.g., Medcof 1997; Zedtwitz and Gassmann 2002). Given the state of knowledge and considering the research goal of the study, the R&D configuration presented represents a meaningful foundation for further analysis.

## 4.2 Hypotheses

In this section, the hypotheses regarding the relationships between the subsidiary R&D configuration and both location- and industry-based features are developed. They are derived from extant literature on multinational R&D, subsidiary roles, and international configuration. The study analyzes the degree to which specific location- and industry-related factors determine the configuration of subsidiary R&D activities.

### 4.2.1 Location-Based Features

Addressing research question 2a, the expected relationships between location factors (dimension A of the research framework) and R&D configuration in emerging countries (dimension C of the research framework) are developed. Hence, the expected connections with market opportunities, economies of location, and cultural distance are discussed, successively, in the following sections.

### Market Opportunities

As described, international R&D traditionally has been understood as supporting foreign markets and thus aims to exploit market opportunities abroad (Casson and Singh 1993). As demand from customers becomes increasingly sophisticated, local R&D activities are useful in helping the firm to adapt existing products or processes to local needs (e.g., Bartlett and Ghoshal 1990; Hakanson 1990). Basically, there are two different options for exploiting market opportunities: through centralized R&D and cross-border exchange or through localization of R&D targeted to developing specific products for sale in the respective country. Consequently, different theories suggest how firms can benefit from market opportunities abroad.

Major trade theory strands assume local demand-side market opportunities as the primary motive for exports from the home country to the respective host country. According to the technology gap theory, for instance, cross-border exchange results from differences in the state of technological development between countries. The necessary highly skilled engineers and technological know-how might not be available locally in the host country, preventing the localization of R&D activities to serve local demand. This aspect of the market support function is most apparent in the IPLC model (see Ambos 2005, p.402; Hegde and Hicks 2008, p.391), which suggests that MNEs keep all sophisticated R&D activities in the home country, close to headquarters. Foreign subsidiaries, if they are engaged in R&D at all, only adapt existing products or processes to specific local requirements. Hence, they show only a small degree of local R&D activities, implying a positive relationship between market opportunities and Implementation strategy. Emphasizing the protection of a firm's knowledge when penetrating foreign markets, internalization theory also argues that subsidiary R&D is limited to a supportive function, with only little local value creation (Penner-Hahn 1998; Rugman 1981a).

A considerable part of FDI literature argues that localization occurs when firms aim to exploit firm-specific advantages in foreign environments. Traditionally, most FDI in manufacturing and marketing is consistent with this category (see Lewin, Massini, and Peeters 2009, p.904). For R&D activities, this relationship is often described as a home-base exploiting motive (Kuemmerle 1999a, 1999b), or asset-exploiting FDI (Dunning and Narula 1995). Thus, theoretical considerations also suggest a positive relationship between market opportunities and localization of innovation activities. The monopolistic advantage theory, for example, considers competition-related aspects of market opportunities that allow firms to exploit ownership advantages against weaker foreign competitors. The oligopolistic parallel behavior theory suggests Local Innovation for following the leader into a new country, for cross-investments, or for

gaining first-mover advantages in foreign market penetration. The capability perspective argues that localization occurs when firms seek to exploit existing capabilities. With increasingly sophisticated demand, local R&D activities are useful in helping a firm to better adapt existing products to local needs.

Empirical support for the market support function of R&D is found in diverse types of R&D strategies and roles, discussed in extant literature such as inter alia Ronstadt's (1978) technology transfer unit, Pearce's (1989) support laboratory, and Papanastassiou and Pearce's (1999) traditional support laboratory (see also Chapter 4.1.3). Previous empirical findings support a positive relationship between market opportunities and both Implementation and Local Innovation. Scholars like Teece (1977), Lall (1979), Patel and Pavitt (1991), and Caves (1996) found empirical evidence that MNEs tend to keep major R&D activities in their home country. In particular, early stage innovation is achieved by remaining close to headquarters. Foreign R&D activities tend to focus on minor adaptations for the respective market or less significant developments at a later stage of the lifecycle, or they might expand as foreign subsidiaries become more deeply integrated into local markets (Dalton and Serapio 1995; Hegde and Hicks 2008). Investigating international technological activities of MNEs in the 1980s, Patel and Pavitt (1992) concluded that, compared to manufacturing, R&D represents "an important case of non-globalization" (p.1). The main reasons for the high degree of centralization of R&D activities traditionally cited in literature are economies of scale, control of core technologies, and the risk of proprietary knowledge leaks, as well as coordination and communication issues (see, e.g., Ambos and Ambos 2009a; Granstrand, Hakanson, and Sjölander 1992; Kumar 2001; Pearce 1989; Zedtwitz and Gassmann 2002). Mansfield, Teece, and Romeo (1979) and Hirschey and Caves (1981) found a negative relationship between foreign R&D localization and exports from the parent company to the foreign subsidiaries. They concluded from the results that serving foreign markets by importing products from the home country (as opposed to serving them through local manufacturing) makes concentrating R&D activities in the home country, close to headquarters, more advantageous for the MNE. However, some of the necessary location-specific adaptations

might be "best undertaken closer to the markets for which they are meant" (Kumar 2001, p.164). Market opportunities justify the high up-front investments and operating expenses of host country R&D sites that adapt products to local demand (Kuemmerle 1999a). Studies found that sales market-related aspects have a positive influence on the internationalization of R&D (Enright 2009; Hakanson 1992; Hirschey and Caves 1981; Kumar 1996, 2001; Lall 1979; Mansfield, Teece, and Romeo 1979; Zejan 1990). In addition, Kumar (2001) showed that the localization of U.S. and Japanese R&D activities is positively related to the importance of market opportunities. He observed that a considerable amount of foreign R&D activities are intended to adapt or customize product and/or process technologies to specific local needs. In such cases, some R&D activities might be located in close proximity to local demand and manufacturing operations (Kuemmerle 1999a). Different scholars have described the importance of such a location decision (Clark and Fujimoto 1991; Fors 1997; Hayes and Wheelwright 1988; Howells 1990a, 1990b; Nonaka and Takeuchi 1995). Similarly, Pearce and Singh (1992) and Casson and Singh (1993) observed a positive relationship between the degree of localization of manufacturing and the degree of localization of R&D activities. (For a more detailed discussion, see Patel and Pavitt 1992). Manolopoulos, Papanastassiou, and Pearce (2007) found that R&D as local support function represents the most influential motivation for R&D activities in peripheral economies, "confirming [...] the persistence of traditional support for technology transfer and adaptation in MNEs' [foreign] subsidiaries" (p.677).

In contrast to Implementation and Local Innovation, the Global Innovation strategy does not target the host market. Rather, it focuses on the transfer and use of the outcomes resulting from local R&D activities to and in other parts of the company network. Although as a result no direct relationship is apparent between market opportunities and Global Innovation, there are substitutive effects that suggest a negative relationship. Papanastassiou and Pearce (1994a) found that host country market opportunities diminish an export orientation in foreign subsidiaries. Regarding FDI in R&D, the study of Kuemmerle (1999a) revealed a negative relationship between market opportunities and R&D activities that is unrelated to the respective host country. Accordingly, as the importance of the local sales market increases, subsidiaries value creation activities that are more likely targeted to serve the needs of the local market, at the expense of work being performed for other markets.

The discussion thus leaves us with the following hypothesis:

Hypothesis 1: Market opportunities positively affect Implementation and Local Innovation at the cost of Global Innovation.

### **Economies of Location**

The consensus seems to be that international R&D investments mainly have two different primary purposes: either to support foreign sales activities and apply the firm's existing knowledge or to access new resources and generate new knowledge (e.g., Almeida 1996; Cantwell and Mudambi 2005; Dunning and Lundan 2009; Kuemmerle 1997; Le Bas and Sierra 2002; Narula and Zanfei 2005; Niosi 1999). Countries vary in their innovation systems, including on such factors as the local pool of scientists, local science communities, education system, and sources of R&D funding (Edquist 1997; Lundvall 1992; Nelson 1993). Firms may localize R&D activities abroad with the aim of contributing to company-wide innovation by taking advantage of local supply-side factors and enhancing firms' existing technological capabilities (Iwasa and Odagiri 2004). In other words, the location can represent a source of competitive advantage (Cantwell and Janne 1999; Nachum and Zaheer 2005; Nohria and Ghoshal 1997; Porter 2000).

Chung and Yeaple (2008) identify two commonly cited explanations for firms' interest in following a capability- or technology-seeking strategy abroad: On the one hand, the firm's home country may lag behind in developing a new technology in a certain field; thus, the localization and cross-border integration of R&D activities abroad provides access to the stock of knowledge in the host country, suggesting that MNEs will follow an international knowledge-sourcing strategy in order to "catch up" (Cantwell 1989; Kuemmerle 1999a). On the other hand, a firm might localize and integrate value creation activities abroad to access and combine different types of knowledge and thus to obtain technical diversity (Cantwell and Janne 1999; Cantwell and Vertova 2004; Chung and Alcácer 2002). In doing so, firms are seeking "a greater potential to benefit from a synergistic locational portfolio of complementary sources of knowledge" (Cantwell 2009, p.35).

Although the number of qualified R&D personnel in emerging economies might look small in relative terms, compared to the labor markets in the triad countries, the picture turns out to look different in absolute numbers. In China, for example, the proportion of the population with a university degree is small; yet in absolute terms, the number of graduates from tertiary education is comparable to those in the United States and Europe (see OECD 2008a). Moreover, India has been regarded as the country with the highest availability of engineers (Morgan Stanley 2004). Nevertheless, surveys also indicate that only a small proportion of potential talent in emerging economies has the skills necessary to work at a MNE (Farrell and Grant 2005; Wince-Smith 2007).

The strategies of Local Innovation and Global Innovation are both characterized by localization of R&D activities and thus allow the subsidiary to benefit from economies of location, be it higher factor quality or lower factor costs (Kogut 1985a). While the former strategy targets the local market, the latter strategy's R&D unit is characterized by cross-border integration. This orientation allows the firm to exploit comparative factor advantages of the host country in other locations (Foss and Pedersen 2002; Kogut and Zander 1993; Tsai 2001). In doing so, the MNE might benefit from cross-border knowledge and technology transfer, whether lateral (i.e., between subsidiaries) (e.g., Ghoshal, Korine, and Szulanski 1994; Nohria and Ghoshal 1997; Noorderhaven and Harzing 2009) or hierarchical (i.e., between subsidiaries and headquarters) (e.g., Ambos, Ambos, and Schlegelmilch 2006; Hakanson and Nobel 2000, 2001). In contrast to the Global Innovation strategy, the Local Innovation strategy cannot provide such an "arbitrage function" (Ghemawat 2003, 2007). The potential benefit from advantageous factor conditions is limited to the host market and thus does not provide

competitive advantage over local host country competitors. This assertion is consistent with previous observations asserting that subsidiary-level innovation in contemporary MNEs is essentially a process of creative interdependencies between subsidiaries that request and share their own expertise with other parts of their MNE group (see Manolopoulos, Papanastassiou, and Pearce 2007, p.666). Thus, economies of location are expected to favor a Global Innovation strategy over a Local Innovation strategy. In the case of the Implementation strategy, major R&D activities are performed outside the host country, and only minor activities of relatively little importance relative to the value creation by other parts of the MNE network may be located in the host country. Because Implementation does not allow the firm to exploit local factor advantages, negative substitution effects are expected between economies of location and this strategy.

Several foundational theories deal with the question of how to exploit economies of location. According to the Ricardian cost advantage theory and the factor proportion theorem, countries specialize in those activities in which they possess a comparative advantage. Consequently, the availability of abundant qualified R&D personnel or other resources required for technical and innovation activities at a relatively lower cost or higher quality than in the home country might drive MNEs to locate part of their R&D activities to such locations (Ambos and Ambos 2009a; Kumar 2001). The diamond approach stresses the importance of, among other issues, local factor conditions, supporting industries, and government incentives as sources of competitive advantage. The eclectic paradigm also proposes localization of R&D activities in cases where host country factor advantages are found, such as labor costs, quality and productivity. Where location advantages are absent, this view proposes (given the existence of ownership and internalization advantages) Implementation as the favorable strategy. The capability-based theories emphasize the importance of economies of location for knowledge acquisition, learning, and competence development (Almeida 1996; Boutellier, Gassmann, and Zedtwitz 2008; Davis and Meyer 2004; Frost 2001; Patel and Vega 1999; Shan and Song 1997). According to this view, MNEs build up new knowledge by learning in foreign environments and exchange it within the global company network as a basis for competitive advantage (Gupta and Govindarajan 1991, 1994, 2000). Localization of value creation is required to access geographically bounded technological knowledge and capabilities (Almeida and Kogut 1999; Almeida and Phene 2004; Jaffe, Traitenberg, and Henderson 1993; Porter 1990, 1998) and to tap into local clusters, "pockets of knowledge", or "centers of excellence" (Asakawa 2001b; Asmussen, Pedersen, and Dhanaraj 2009; Birkinshaw and Hood 2000; Chiesa 1996a). External linkages of the subsidiary and its embeddedness within its own local network (Andersson and Forsgren 2000; Driffield, Love, and Menghinello 2010) are considered critical in absorbing, combining, and internationally dispersing new technical and market knowledge and as crucial to the success of R&D (Ambos and Reitsperger 2004; Andersson and Forsgren 2000; Andersson, Forsgren, and Holm 2001, 2002; Hakanson and Nobel 2001; Phene and Almeida 2003; Zander and Sölvell 2000). Such external and internal linkages allow the subsidiary to generate distinctive capabilities and to create a sustained competitive advantage for the whole MNE (Birkinshaw, Nobel, and Ridderstrale 2002, 2008; Manolopoulos, Papanastassiou, and Pearce 2005). Considering the MNE as a knowledge-integrating institution based on knowledge flows and capabilities from differentiated locations (Cantwell 2009), evolutionary theory also underlines the internationalization of R&D activities for knowledge sourcing and for developing new capabilities (Chung and Yeaple 2008; Shan and Song 1997). In particular, country-specific technological advantages (Kogut 1990) and attractive national innovation systems (Chen 2007) might motivate firms to localize R&D activities in a certain location.

Prior research provides ample conceptual and empirical insights for the expected interrelation between location advantages and R&D strategies. Although the majority of the earlier work emphasized a subsidiary's ability to "push" existing advantages of the MNE in adapting centrally developed products to local market needs, more recent literature on multinational R&D has made considerable progress and underscores the importance of economies of location for knowledge acquisition, learning, and competence development (see Davis and Meyer 2004; Dunning 2009; Dunning and Lundan 2009; Hegde and Hicks 2008). Because of different factor endowments, countries differ in their ability to attract international R&D (Cantwell 1989; Hakanson 1992; Patel and Pavitt 1995; Porter and Sölvell 1998). Several scholars (e.g., Ambos 2005; Cantwell 1991; Dunning 1993; Florida 1997; Kuemmerle 1999a) suggest an increasing effort by MNEs to access and develop new technologies abroad, leading firms to establish vast global networks that access technologies from various locations (Bartlett and Ghoshal 1989). Accordingly, a number of studies (e.g., Almeida, Song, and Grant 2002; Ambos, Ambos, and Schlegelmilch 2006; Papanastassiou and Pearce 1997; Shan and Song 1997; Singh 2007; Song and Shin 2008) have investigated how MNEs use FDI to "pull new resources and capabilities from centers of innovation by acquiring or learning about complementary technology" (Song and Shin 2008, p.292). Empirically, the notion of such resource-driven R&D internationalization is well reflected in the different types of R&D strategies and roles developed in literature, including Ronstadt's (1978) GTU, Hakanson and Nobel's (1993a) research unit, Dunning and Narula's (1995) strategic asset-seeking R&D, Shan and Song's (1997) technology-seeking FDI in R&D, and Kuemmerle's (1999a; 1999b) HBA FDI in R&D (see also Chapter 4.1.3). These strategies and roles are mainly characterized by the incorporation of technological and idiosyncratic factors arising from the environment of the host country and the subsidiary (see Manolopoulos et al. 2009, p.47).

Empirical findings indicate that the quality of factor endowments, such as availability of technology and access to technical talents, represents an important motivation for localization of R&D activities, particularly in triad countries (e.g., Florida 1997; Florida and Kenney 1994; Frost, Birkinshaw, and Ensign 2002; Furman, Porter, and Stern 2002; Iwasa and Odagiri 2004; Kuemmerle 1999a; Odagiri and Yasuda 1996). Granstand's (1999) survey of Japanese MNEs revealed that the factor, "creating access to foreign science and technology", was more highly rated as a driving force for the localization of R&D activities by Japanese firms than such market-oriented factors as "supporting local production" and "supporting local customers and markets". Kumar (2001) concludes that "[t]he relative success of smaller countries like Singapore and Israel in attracting R&D investments from MNEs is to be explained in their other advantages, viz., availability of trained labor and domestic technological effort, rather

than the market size" (p.167). Hegde and Hicks (2008) could recently show for U.S. MNEs that in addition to market opportunities, the science and engineering capability of a country is strongly correlated with the conduct of foreign R&D activities. For foreign subsidiaries in European countries, Davis and Meyer (2004) could confirm that a country's scientific institutions have a strong effect on the incidence and level of subsidiary R&D. Further empirical evidence on the technology-sourcing motive for the localization of R&D activities abroad comes from literature measuring technology transfer in terms of patent citations. The studies of Almeida (1996), Frost (2001), and Branstetter (2006) find that proximity to the local environment and sources of innovation matter because foreign subsidiaries cite firms that are located in geographical proximity significantly more often.

Regarding cross-border integration of foreign R&D activities, Sanna-Randaccio and Veugelers (2007) showed that efficiency in reverse intra-company technology transfer represents a critical factor for MNEs in benefiting from technology sourcing abroad. Ambos, Ambos, and Schlegelmilch (2006) found a positive relationship between host country location factors and knowledge transfer to headquarters. Singh's (2007) patent citation analysis revealed an increasing flow of knowledge from the foreign subsidiaries to the MNE headquarters, indicating that MNEs may be gaining more new knowledge from foreign subsidiaries than they are contributing to them. Ambos and Ambos (2009a) found in their analysis of foreign R&D activities in non-triad countries that all capability-augmenting units in their sample held a global market mandate characterized by a high degree of cross-border integration.

While most empirical studies on international R&D focus on factor quality-related aspects of economies of location, factor cost-related aspects have received only minimal attention. A notable exception is the study by Kumar (2001), who found that where there is an abundant local supply of scientists and engineers, the lower associated costs for labor are a significant motive for the localization of R&D activities both for U.S. MNEs and especially for Japanese ones. His findings showed that these kinds of R&D units focus not on adapting products or processes to local market requirements but on providing cheap R&D services for the worldwide corporate network.

In summary, the previous discussion results in the following hypothesis:

Hypothesis 2: Economies of location positively affect Global Innovation and Local Innovation at the cost of Implementation. The positive effect on Global Innovation is stronger than on Local Innovation.

### **Cultural Distance**

Culture comprises the values, beliefs, and assumptions of a group of people and shapes the interpretation of reality and messages (Hofstede 2001). Cultural distance can be defined as the extent to which the culture of the home country differs from that of the host country (Holtbrügge and Puck 2008). It describes factors that interfere with the flow of information to and from the host market (Johanson and Vahlne 1977) and that hamper knowledge-sharing within the MNE (Cho and Lee 2004). Cultural distance is generally thought of as an indicator of management and control costs across countries (Adler 2002; Erramilli and Rao 1993). The basic proposition is that culturally close host countries generally provide a more familiar operating environment and are more easily understood than distant ones. Cultural distance and the closely related concept of psychic distance (Dow and Karunaratna 2006) have been subject to numerous studies in IB research (see, e.g., Kirkman, Lowe, and Gibson 2006; Sivakumar and Nakata 2001). Prior research suggests that cultural distance between home and host country is likely to have a negative effect on FDI (e.g., Andersson and Forsgren 2000; Barkema, Bell, and Pennings 1996; Liu and Song 1997; Veugelers 1991), firm profitability (e.g., Gómez-Mejia and Palich 1997; Hutzschenreuter and Voll 2008), and subsidiary innovation (e.g., Nakata and Sivakumar 1996; Phene and Almeida 2008). Similarly, this studay expects that cultural distance has a negative influence on the localization of R&D activities in the host country.

The value of gaining access to specialized resources through localization of value

creation activities depends on the ability to combine these specialized resources with complimentary resources through the MNE's international network (Cantwell and Janne 1999; Malnight 1996). Cross-border integration of different types of knowledge and the resulting "cross-fertilization" (Asmussen, Pedersen, and Dhanaraj 2009, p.47) is considered to be a driver of innovation (Zander and Sölvell 2000). However, knowledge is not always codifiable in a way that allows an easy transmission and crossborder integration in the form of blueprints (Singh 2007). Tacit knowledge, as opposed to codified knowledge, is particularly difficult to codify and transfer (Brown, Dev, and Zhou 2003; Nelson and Winter 1982; Teece, Pisano, and Shuen 1997). If cultural frameworks of the host and home country do not have sufficient commonality. the transfer of knowledge and capabilities is less effective than in the case of a common cultural foundation (Griffith and Harvey 2001; Kedia and Bhagat 1988; Luo 2001b). From an MNE perspective, the ability to absorb, transfer, and exploit knowledge from a foreign subsidiary likely becomes increasingly difficult as the cultures of home and host country become more dissimilar. Hakanson and Nobel (2001) argue that "[t]he ease with which such [local] knowledge can be acquired and absorbed is related to the degree of cultural similarity/difference between the host country and the country of origin" (p.398). Essentially, a firm needs to overcome higher hurdles and faces higher coordination costs in transferring knowledge when the cultural distance is greater. This greater distance reduces the location advantage that FDI in R&D potentially provides and thus is assumed to negatively affect the localization of R&D activities abroad. Although modern communication technology could reduce or even eliminate some of the inherent challenges posed by distance, such as communication costs (Cairncross 1997), recent findings (e.g., Nachum and Zaheer 2005) remind us of what Ambos and Ambos (2009b) describe as the "persistence of distance in international business" (p.1).

The relationship between cultural distance and R&D internationalization, as described, can be grounded on different theories. The IPLC model implies that MNEs are subject to cultural barriers in host countries, preventing efficient communication and coordination among researchers, management, and lead customers in the home country. These issues increase costs, reduce profitability, and threaten the success of R&D activities abroad. Major innovation activities are thus concentrated in close proximity to headquarters, and international transfer becomes more likely only at a later stage of product and technological maturity. The theme of increased communication and coordination costs in technology transfer resulting from different cultural backgrounds is also supported by scholars like Teece (1977), Lall (1979), and Caves (1996). The learning theory of internationalization assumes psychic distance as the key factor for internationalization (Johanson and Vahlne 1977; Nordström and Vahlne 1994). According to this strand, firms prefer to localize their value creation activities in countries with a similar cultural framework. Psychically close countries are more easily understood and offer a more favorable environment than distant ones (O'Grady and Lane 1996). Cultural proximity reduces the level of uncertainty and makes it easier to learn about and from the host country (Johanson and Vahlne 1993; Kogut and Singh 1988). Capability-based perspectives stress the importance of cross-border knowledge integration to build up technological advantages as a source of competitive advantage for the MNE (Almeida 1996; Almeida and Phene 2004; Frost 2001; Shan and Song 1997). A higher degree of interaction between the different parts of the MNE network leads to a better understanding of the transferred knowledge and thus increases the potential benefit for the MNE (Gupta and Govindarajan 1991; Subramaniam and Venkatraman 2001; Szulanski 1996). Transfers of knowledge to and reception of knowledge from another country are likely to be easier when the systems of underlying conventions of each country are similar (i.e., in cases of cultural proximity) (Macharzina, Oesterle, and Brodel 2001). A lack of context similarities, such as a cultural distance, requires a greater effort to transfer the knowledge in such a way that it conforms to existing expectations and ways of communicating (Tenkasi 2000). Likewise, evolutionary theory indicates that in the case of different cultural backgrounds, the cost of communication and knowledge transfer might be especially high (Kogut and Zander 1993, 1995). Accordingly, if technical resources are located in a country with a greater cultural distance, it might not be worthwhile to source them because the costs of combining this knowledge with that of the rest of the firm would be too high (see Asmussen, Pedersen, and Dhanaraj 2009). Hence, cultural distance
between the different units in the network is likely to aggravate the costs of knowledge transfer and learning about local conditions and make the value of the specialized resources in an individual host country environment accordingly less valuable to the MNE (Ambos, Ambos, and Schlegelmilch 2006).

In contrast to general IB literature, there has been only limited empirical research on the influence of cultural distance in R&D literature (see Ambos 2005). Hakanson (1992) found that cultural distance represents an important determinant for the location of foreign R&D activities for Swedish firms. Granstrand (1999) could confirm this finding for Swedish MNEs but not for Japanese firms. Also, drawing on a sample of Swedish MNEs, the findings of Hakanson and Nobel (2001) indicate that cultural distance between the home and host countries has a negative effect on reverse technology transfers from the foreign R&D unit to the MNE network, particularly in the case of greenfield investments. The study of Muralidharan and Phatak (1999) found that the farther the culture of the host country is, relative to the culture of the United States, the lower the R&D activity of U.S. MNEs in this country. Luo (2001b) argues that although MNEs may want to be more responsive to markets where there is a greater cultural distance, the presence of barriers arising from cultural distance is likely to have a greater effect on the actual level of local responsiveness in an emerging economy setting. Accordingly, Luo's findings indicate that subsidiary's local responsiveness is negatively associated with cultural distance between the host and home countries. Investigating barriers for managing R&D in China, Gassmann and Han (2004) identified the cultural gap as a major obstacle that Western firms have to overcome. Ambos and Schlegelmilch (2004) found support for the proposition that cultural distance between headquarters and the subsidiary represents a barrier to the use of international R&D projects.

The outlined reasoning leads to the following hypothesis:

Hypothesis 3: The larger the cultural distance between the home country and the host country, the less attractive is the host country for the localization

of R&D activities. Cultural distance negatively affects Local Innovation and Global Innovation in favor of Implementation.

Table 3 summarizes the hypotheses related to research question 2a on the relationship between location-specific features and R&D configuration. The direction of the expected relationship is indicated by '+' for a positive effect and '-' for a negative effect. Two symbols ('++') indicate a relatively stronger expected effect compared to the relationship marked with a single symbol ('+').



Table 3: Summary of Hypotheses for Research Question 2a

# 4.2.2 Industry-Based Features

Addressing research question 2b, the expected relationships between industry factors (dimension B of the research framework) and R&D configuration in emerging countries (dimension C of the research framework) are discussed in this section. In the following, hypotheses on the influence of technological complexity, technological turbulence, local responsiveness, and cost are developed.

#### **Technological Complexity**

Technological complexity describes the degree of novelty and inherent sophistication in product and process technology (Kim and Lee 2003; Steensma 1996). Evidence shows that complexity varies by industry, particularly in terms of product innovation (Porter 1985; Taggart 1998b). Although early literature argued that most sophisticated innovation activities would be highly concentrated in the home country (e.g., Hymer 1976), it has become evident that R&D activities and technological know-how can become geographically dispersed in the international network of an MNE (Cantwell 2009; Ernst 2002; Rugman and Verbeke 2009). However, because of their different characteristics, the R&D strategies under investigation are expected to differ regarding their ability to handle complex technologies

Technologically complex products require large investments in R&D, and technological improvements usually require substantial R&D spending, leading to escalating fixed-cost hurdles (Chung and Yeaple 2008). Pisano, Russo, and Teece (1988), for example, observe that initial development costs in high-tech industries increase with each new generation. Hence, instead of facing such cost hurdles in each host country, MNEs might concentrate their R&D efforts at one location and bundle the demand from different countries. An adequate location might either be in the home country close to headquarters or at other locations that have favorable factor endowments. Economies of scale can thus be realized if innovation activities are integrated across borders. With low technological complexity, the benefits from spreading fixed R&D costs across multiple countries are smaller, so that subsidiaries might have a tendency to perform their own R&D activities; this approach allows them to independently develop products according to local market requirements. In the case of Implementation, the subsidiary mainly relies on the R&D competencies of other members of the MNE network. In the case of Global Innovation, the subsidiary has certain output responsibility for a product or technology within the global company network. Such a subsidiary thus might operate according to a (world or regional) competencecreating mandate (Cantwell and Mudambi 2005) for a certain product or technology.

Contrary to the other two strategies, Local Innovation does not allow for economies of scale to be achieved. Because the subsidiary conducts its own distinctive R&D for the host country only, there is no integration and consequently no volume bundling across borders.

Furthermore, a higher degree of technological complexity is generally associated with greater subsidiary-level specialization in certain products or technologies (Cantwell and Vertova 2004). Specialized competencies are necessary because a subsidiary's ability to assimilate knowledge from its environment – its so-called "absorptive capacity" – depends on its existing knowledge in a particular field of technology (Cohen and Levinthal 1990). Consequently, specialization requires cross-border integration to allow other parts of the MNE network to benefit from distinct subsidiary competencies. Or as Cantwell (2009) puts it: "the most suitable and potentially innovative combinations of activity now commonly require international connections" (p.38). Again, because these "connections" occur for Global Innovation and Implementation, technological complexity is expected to favor these two strategies at the expense of Local Innovation.

There are different theoretical foundations for the relationships between technological complexity and R&D strategies. Neo-classical trade theories assume the most sophisticated activities to be highly concentrated in the relevant home base in the form of a fairly strict international hierarchy. Although this argument might explain the Implementation strategy, it does not explain Global Innovation. The technology gap theory goes a step further and provides indirect support for the expected relationship. This perspective argues that different technological development stages and comparative technological advantages act as determinants for trade. On the MNE level, this relationship implies that the cross-border exchange of value creation arises from the specialization of individual subsidiaries according to the local factor endowments. The diamond network perspective recognizes that the MNE generates its competitive advantage by using internationally dispersed competencies to access complementary host-country knowledge. To achieve this advantage, there are two prerequisites: localization and specialization (Asmussen, Pedersen, and Dhanaraj 2009). Localization of competencies is necessary to access geographically bound knowledge because proximity is conducive to knowledge sourcing and technological spillovers between firms (Brouthers and Brouthers 1997; Porter 1990, 1998). Specialization allows subsidiaries to absorb specific knowledge from their local environment. This line of reasoning is consistent with the capability-based perspectives. This view also recognizes the existence of specialized, high-level technological capability abroad and the need for firms to absorb foreign know-how. Localization of R&D activities and subsequent integration allow the MNE to pick up technical knowledge abroad and to transfer it to the home base or other parts of the global company network.

The question of technological complexity and its effect on configuration has also been addressed by a number of empirical and conceptual studies. Empirical literature on technology, and trade in general, offers broad support for a positive relationship between the two, including increasing cross-border integration: For example, Lall (1978) and Buckley and Pearce (1979) found a significant relation between R&D intensity and intra-firm exports from the headquarters to foreign subsidiaries. Siddharthan and Kumar (1990) showed that R&D intensity represents the strongest predictor of intra-firm, cross-border trade. In addition, the studies of Cho (1990), Benvignati (1990), and Kobrin (1991) revealed a positive relationship between technological complexity and cross-border integration within U.S. MNEs, and several additional studies established a link between product-related competitive advantage, which might be seen as the result of high-intensity R&D and cross-border integration (Beamish, Craig, and McLellan 1993; Cavusgil, Bilkey, and Tesar 1979; McGuinness and Little 1981).

Literature on international R&D contains relatively little empirical work on the relationship under investigation. Fors and Zejan (1996) found technological specialization of a particular host country in the industry to be a significant factor explaining the degree of localization of R&D activities for Swedish firms. Building on the seminal work of Mansfield, Teece, and Romeo (1980), Auerswald and Branscomb (2005) showed that the role of R&D in large corporations in the U.S. critically depends on the extent of technical complexity of both current products and potential innovations. Kumar (2001) found that the scale of technological complexity has a positive effect on localization of R&D activities abroad by U.S. MNEs but not for Japanese firms. Investigating foreignowned R&D activities in Europe, Cantwell and Piscitello (2000) report a close association between technological complexity and internationally integrated MNE networks. These observations result in the following hypothesis:

# Hypothesis 4: Technological complexity positively affects Implementation and Global Innovation at the cost of Local Innovation.

#### **Technological Turbulence**

Industries are often described by their degree of instability. Following extant literature, technological turbulence is considered an exogenous factor describing the magnitude of change in the technological environment. It constitutes the dynamism and unpredictability of the future associated with product and process technologies in the industry in which a firm is embedded (Glazer and Weiss 1993; Jaworski and Kohli 1993). The stress of industry competitiveness calls for a shorter time to market and reduced innovation cycles. Thus, firms in industries with high levels of technological turbulence face a higher degree of change in technology than do firms that operate in industries with an established industry standard and low technological turbulence. Managing innovation in environments with uncertainty in technological opportunities represents a major challenge (Buganza, Dell'Era, and Verganti 2009). However, little research has focused on how technological turbulence, sometimes also referred to in the literature as industry clockspeed (Fine 1998), affects R&D configuration. To survive in a highly turbulent environment, a firm's R&D activities not only must deploy more flexible development processes but also must keep up with changing technological requirements through constant learning (Chiesa 1996a, 2001). Firms are thus likely to emphasize configuration strategies that allow for flexibility, that augment the range of available knowledge sources to monitor the latest technological developments, and that facilitate an effective application of this technology.

A direct access to foreign knowledge sources allows the firm to gain first-hand information on changes in the technical environment (Ghoshal and Westney 1991; Sheen 1992). It is therefore expected that new product development can be handled more easily by creative subsidiaries that possess own R&D competencies – what amounts to Local Innovatio. The management of independent R&D activities abroad is characterized by a considerably lower degree of complexity than that of internationally interdependent R&D (Gassmann and Zedtwitz 1999). The Local Innovation strategy enables the subsidiary to react quickly and with the greatest flexibility to changing technological and market conditions. However, because the scope of this strategy is limited to the respective host country, the subsidiary relies solely on its own technological capabilities. In contrast, the Global Innovation strategy is characterized by interdependencies with other parts of the firm network, which provide additional value from a group perspective, particularly in highly turbulent environments: Cross-border integration of geographically dispersed R&D activities enables the MNE to benefit from two "knowledge communities": from both the existing technological knowledge within the firm network and the knowledge that is embedded in different geographical locations (Frost 2001; Frost, Birkinshaw, and Ensign 2002). This duality offers advantages both on the input side and on the output side. Regarding innovation input, internationally interdependent affiliates enhance the scope of new technological sources in the group and allow the MNE to obtain a more varied flow of new product and process technologies (Hakanson and Nobel 2001), particularly if R&D work can be executed independently and simultaneously (Zedtwitz 2004). Accessing and integrating diverse knowledge bases from different international locations enhances the firm's drive toward and pace of innovative product development (Kotabe et al. 2007). Regarding the innovation output, an integrated network of foreign subsidiaries extends the firm's range of response to market signals (Papanastassiou and Pearce 1997), which allows for effective reactions to changing technological conditions.

Theoretical evidence for the relationship between technological turbulence and R&D configuration strategies is rather scarce. The diamond model recognizes that the local environment is an important source of innovation and crucial to the development of

capabilities and competitive advantage in an industry. Innovation represents a cumulative process that requires continuous refinement and improvement over time (Hargadon and Fanelli 2002). Based on this view, a highly competitive environment in the local industry might foster subsidiary innovation because it pushes the subsidiary to outdo rivals by being first on the market with new product or process technologies. Technological turbulence creates entrepreneurial opportunities for technological innovations that may challenge established norms and practices and represent a driver of industrial growth (Hall and Rosson 2006). Such pressure to innovate pushes the subsidiary to improve and grow to upgrade its competitive advantage (Davis and Meyer 2004). According to capability theories, firms in a highly dynamic environment facing a higher rate of change have to reconfigure their competencies to adapt to rapid change. According to this view, innovativeness describes the ability of a firm to seek new ideas, to accept innovation, and to support idea generation (Hanvanich, Sivakumar, and Hult 2006). These tasks might be best performed or supported by local R&D activities that enable the subsidiary to adjust quickly to rapid technological changes and to leverage the business opportunities that such changes offer. Furthermore, in cases where technological turbulence is high, idea homogeneity impairs creativity (Moorman and Miner 1997). Therefore, from an MNE perspective, localizing and integrating R&D activities in different countries abroad enables the firm to access different sources of technological capabilities, ensuring that it continuously generates new ideas and inventions regarding product and process technologies.

In addition, there exist various conceptual and empirical works that allow for the prediction of a causal relationship between technological turbulence and the configuration of R&D activities. A review of relevant literature revealed four major lines of reasoning.

First, a recent stream of studies in the management literature has argued that when facing turbulent environments, firms should deploy more flexible development processes (Buganza, Dell'Era, and Verganti 2009). Moreover, it stresses the essential role of improvisation to cope with the environmental changes (Akgün et al. 2007). Simi-

larly, research on environmental turbulence has suggested that firms adopt a less centralized, more organic structure in dynamic, uncertain conditions (Calantone, Garcia, and Dröge 2003). Iansiti (1995) found that the need to react to frequent and substantial change requires a flexible innovation approach that embraces change. Investigating foreign R&D activities in China, Zedtwitz (2004) asserts that the dynamics in some industries push foreign R&D units to speed up time-critical feedback and prototyping cycles in the product development process. This acceleration requires that critical decisions are made rapidly and independently at the subsidiary level, avoiding excessive coordination with other parts of the MNE network. Ketokivi and Ali-Yrkkö (2009) found empirical evidence that an increasing rate of technological change makes co-location between R&D and manufacturing more likely because both functions are more dependent on one another compared to stable industries and because such rates of change place a heavier burden on managing interdependencies. Accordingly, foreign subsidiaries that face high turbulence are expected to emphasize speed-to-market activities and maintain rather independent local R&D activities that allow the subsidiaries to be flexible and thus to tolerate a higher degree of risk of technological change.

Second, literature on international R&D has shown that a high degree of market proximity offers firms the opportunity to try out new products with sophisticated local lead customers (Florida and Kenney 1994; Gupta, Govindarajan, and Wang 2008). R&D activities are found to be located first in dynamic markets to access impulses for the innovation process through local presence and interaction with customers (Gerybadze and Reger 1999). Such an interaction allows the subsidiary to receive customers' input and feedback regarding their needs and potential problems at an early stage of the innovation process. Customer involvement enables the firm to make changes in the product specifications or designs earlier in the process, reducing both incremental cost and time (Thomke 1997). Close interaction with local customers speeds up the innovation process, allows for reduction in the time to market, and improves the success of new products (Brockhoff 2003). These benefits are expected to be of particular importance in environments of high technological uncertainty and confusion, where being at the technological forefront and meeting customer needs are essential to firm success.

Third, literature on technology sourcing argues that rapid technological changes reguire the MNE not only to develop new technologies in a shorter time but also to constantly monitor new technological developments in different locations. Knowledge represents a productive source for innovation (Nonaka and Takeuchi 1995). To successfully innovate and develop new products, firms need to look for external signals, recognize the value of the information, absorb it, and apply it (Cohen and Levinthal 1990). These needs hold a fortiori for environments with a high pace of technological change. Already Hakanson and Nobel (1993a; 1993b) and Dunning (1994) noted that foreign R&D activities might be caused by the motive to acquire or gain insights into technological knowledge abroad. This "monitoring technological development abroad" or "listening post" function recognized the need for firms to absorb foreign technological knowledge that could be picked up by the subsidiary and transferred back to the home base. By now, technological listening posts have received quite a lot of conceptual and empirical research attention, particularly in the context of knowledge sourcing; however, a comprehensive description of listening posts is still missing. Extant literature establishes that listening posts allow firms to monitor the latest technological developments and to exploit tacit and locally embedded technological knowledge from different locations while reducing the need for larger financial investments that are necessary for a full-fledged R&D laboratory abroad (Hegde and Hicks 2008; Le Bas and Sierra 2002; Patel and Vega 1999; Zedtwitz and Gassmann 2002). The introduction of listening posts in practice goes back to the early 1980s, when Japanese MNEs established R&D units in leading centers of excellence abroad, first in the United States and Great Britain, then later in other countries. These units had the task of sourcing technological knowledge abroad and to support the firms in their strategy as imitators and fast-followers. Gassmann and Gaso (2004) distinguish between three different types of knowledge that is processed at listening posts: technologies, applications, and trends. Technological knowledge mainly consists of sophisticated and complex tacit knowledge on a certain technology. Such knowledge might be

spread at different locations or concentrated in one specific region or cluster. Application knowledge contains information about future products and applications that are based on existing technologies (e.g., by migration or recombination). Knowledge on trends comprises both macro- and micro-trends. The former are fundamental market shaping developments that in the long run potentially have significant effects on business models and market characteristics. The latter are more specific, short-term trends reflecting what is "hot" and "in". In all three contexts, listening posts exhibit local embeddedness, as well as a high degree of interdependency with other R&D units in the MNE network.

Finally, frequent technological changes imply shorter product lifecycles and the need for firms to invest frequently in new fixed assets. Thus, firms in such volatile environments more often face an opportunity to locate value creation activities abroad. Accordingly, technological turbulence might act as an incentive to offshore more established products to free up domestic capacities for the latest technologies (DuBois, Toyne, and Oliff 1993). Because of advantageous factor costs, emerging countries represent an attractive location for the manufacturing of price-sensitive products. R&D activities might be collocated to support manufacturing operations (e.g., with process, material, or product improvements). As such, new product introductions can act as an incentive to localize R&D activities abroad.

This discussion leads to the following hypothesis:

Hypothesis 5: Technological turbulence positively affects Global Innovation and Local Innovation at the cost of Implementation. The positive effect on Global Innovation is stronger than on Local Innovation.

#### Local Responsiveness

Local responsiveness is defined here as the need for the development products to meet specific local market conditions. The need for location-specific developments or adjustments might be caused by differences in consumer tastes and preferences, by diverging local business practices, or by host government requirements (Erickson 1990; Prahalad and Doz 1987), depending on the structure and characteristics of the industry in which the subsidiary participates (Birkinshaw, Morrison, and Hulland 1995; Chang and Singh 2000; DuBois, Toyne, and Oliff 1993). The stronger the effect of these forces, the higher the need for the MNE to customize its products to local reguirements. The perceptions of the subsidiary managers abroad about the need for local responsiveness might differ from those of the parental managers in a head office (Luo 2001b). In contrast to standardized "world products", customized products require user-need-related knowledge, which is located in the host market. A foreign subsidiary is in a superior position to screen and appraise local dynamics and impediments (Birkinshaw 1996). The subsidiary can internalize the user need through its proximity to and participation in the local market (Anderson and Gatignon 1986; Kotabe et al. 2007). The need for local responsiveness reduces the potential benefits that might be gained from standardization, centralization of value creation activities, and volume bundling across borders (Bartlett and Ghoshal 1989). Thus, the need to react to specific local requirements is expected to have important implications for the configuration of R&D activities.

Both the Implementation strategy and the Global Innovation strategy are characterized by centralization of certain R&D activities in one country, integration across borders, and the aim to realize economies of scale. For Implementation, there are no or only very limited local R&D activities in the host country, which allows for only minor (if any) product adaptations on the subsidiary level. Furthermore, Implementation lacks proximity to local customers, which impedes the early involvement of market and customer application know-how that is necessary for the development of locationspecific products (Gassmann and Zedtwitz 1998). Hence, a negative relationship between Implementation and local responsiveness is expected.

When the firm can be closer to its customers (Casson, Pearce, and Singh 1992), localization of R&D activities enables the subsidiary to improve responsiveness to local needs in terms of both time and relevance (Chiesa 1996b; Dunning 1993; Gammeltoft 2006). Global Innovation does show a high degree of local R&D competencies, but the subsidiary's host country market is not the focus of this R&D strategy. Instead, the subsidiary renders its innovation activities for other units of the MNE network and thus for third markets. Again, because of the bundling of demand across different countries, this strategy is expected to be negatively affected by divergent local requirements in different host countries.

Only Local Innovation is expected to be positively related to local responsiveness. The strategy benefits from the proximity to the local customer and its focus on the host market. Moreover, this configuration implies fewer linkages with other parts of the MNE network, allowing the R&D unit to make decisions with sensitivity to the local context without much consideration of the activities or requirements of other subsidiaries (Taggart 1997).

Theoretical evidence for a causal relationship between local responsiveness and international R&D strategy can be found in different strands of theory. The trade barrier approach postulates that localization of value creation activities in a host country represents a means to circumvent trade barriers. Trade barriers might occur because of government interventions and administrative practices, such as regulations, standards, or norms. Governments in emerging countries in particular tend to protect certain important or infant industries and require foreign firms in these industries to develop, produce, or procure local materials and parts (see Luo 2001b, p.458). Nontariff barriers, such as local content requirements, oblige the MNE to adapt its products accordingly and thus motivate the localization of R&D activities in the host country. Differences in customer requirements and tastes also might be interpreted as customer-induced trade barriers because they lead to a need to develop customized products for the host country and thus are expected to be positively related to the Local Innovation strategy. According to the logic of the IPLC theory, the need for adapting products to local market requirements represents the primary motive for the localization of R&D activities abroad. Foreign R&D units are supposed to support subsidiaries in adapting existing products and processes to the specific host country conditions. The amount of adaptation that can be performed in the host country is rather limited because the assumption is that foreign R&D units possess only minor

Various conceptual and empirical evidence for the expected relationships is available. The tensions between local responsiveness and global integration have been described and analyzed by a considerable body of IB literature referring to the integration-responsiveness framework. This perspective considers international strategy as managing the tension between global integration and local responsiveness. Its roots go back to the work of Doz (1980; 1986), Bartlett (1986), and Prahalad and Doz (1987), and it has been empirically tested by various authors (e.g., Ghoshal and Nohria 1993; Harzing 2000; Johnson 1995; Leong and Tan 1993; Roth and Morrison 1990). Global integration concerns the coordination of activities across countries in an attempt to build global networks and to take maximum advantage of similarities across locations to realize synergies and thus reduce costs. Responsiveness, in this perspective, refers to subsidiary autonomy that allows the subsidiary to respond to local competitive or customer demands and tries to respond to specific needs in the host countries (see Luo 2001b, p.452). Bartlett and Ghoshal (1989) argue that each business function is subject to different degrees of cost pressure, on the one hand, and pressure for local responsiveness, on the other hand, both of which influence the configuration of the value creation. Alternative labels for responsiveness applied in the literature are "political imperatives", "local differentiation", "national responsiveness", "need for local adaptation", "globalization barriers", and "forces for local responsiveness". Bartlett and Ghoshal (1990) conclude that the "[c]urrent fascination with globalization of markets tends to overlook the fact that while the forces of globalization have certainly strengthened in many industries, need for responsiveness to national demands and local differences has not disappeared, and often has increased". In this context, Bartlett and Ghoshal assert that "local-for-local innovations are essential for responsiveness to the unique attributes of each of the different national environments in which the MNC operates" (p.220).

Empirically, the need for market proximity to ensure local responsiveness was first

investigated in the context of manufacturing. However, Schoenberger (1985) found that the need for market information continues to be critical for the configuration of value creation activities even after the product has been launched, at later stages of the product lifecycle. Based on this finding, DuBois, Toyne, and Oliff (1993) developed a conceptual framework that identifies industry characteristics influencing a firm's configuration; they reported a positive relationship between the need to respond to local customer needs and the need for the localization of value creation activities. In line with Hallen and Johanson (1985), the authors found that the need to localize value creation activities directed toward adaptation to specific market requirements holds particularly in industrial markets. This need remains because the product offered consists of a "total package of benefits", including not only the physical product but also such intangibles as technical assistance, assurance of supply, or maintenance (see Schoenberger 1985, p.496). Local R&D competencies might help a firm to offer customized products and a comprehensive portfolio of related services to customers in the host country. Moreover, a local R&D expertise might be necessary to support other functions and activities in the host country, such as technical sales, production, or after sales services.

In literature on R&D internationalization, empirical support is in the first instance provided by the diverse types of foreign R&D strategies and roles that, by definition, aim to develop products for specific local customer needs, such as inter alia the indigenous technology unit by Ronstadt (1978) and the locally integrated laboratory by Pearce and Papanastassiou (1999), Papanastassiou and Pearce (2005), and Manolopoulos, Papanastassiou, and Pearce (2007). Further empirical evidence comes from Birkinshaw, Morrison, and Hulland (1995), who report a significant link between structural forces, such as market demand standardization and economies of scale, and the centralization of development activities. This link indicates, in reverse, an expected negative effect of local responsiveness on Implementation and Global Innovation because both strategies are characterized by concentration of value creation in one location and cross-border integration. The analysis of foreign R&D activities in China by Luo (2006) finds that the adaptation of products to specific local requirements requires that autonomy be assigned to the foreign R&D unit, thus providing adequate decision-making power to respond to local needs and to develop market-specific products or technologies. This finding is consistent with earlier ones pointing out that localization stimulates business success when product differentiation and customer responsiveness are required to gain a local competitive advantage (Porter 1990) and that it helps maximize subsidiary initiative and the proactive pursuit of new business opportunities (Birkinshaw 1996). Similarly, Harzing (2000) finds that having production and R&D close to the end customer makes it easier to perform the adaptations that are required to sell the product successfully. Hegde and Hicks (2008) assert that, for foreign subsidiaries of U.S. MNEs, the location of R&D activities in a country is driven by the need to modify products for a market. Finally, the study of Manolopoulos, Papanastassiou, and Pearce (2007, p.678) reveals that the most influential motivation for R&D activities in peripheral economies is for the adaptation of product and/or process technologies, along with having R&D serve as a local support function.

In sum, this examination leads to the following hypothesis:

Hypothesis 6: Local responsiveness positively affects Local Innovation. Negative effects are expected for Implementation and Global Innovation.

## **Cost Pressure**

MNEs facing strong cost pressure in global markets try to minimize unit costs; they seek to locate value creation activities in the locations offering the most favorable cost conditions. Increasing cost pressures also might motivate firms to rationalize their innovation activities, locating part of their R&D in emerging countries to gain access to abundant trained engineers and R&D personnel at lower cost, compared to those in developed countries. Thus, it is expected that pressures for cost competitiveness favor localization of R&D activities in emerging countries. Local Innovation and Global Innovation are both characterized by a high degree of local value creation, allowing firms to benefit from favorable labor costs in the host country. While the former strat-

egy is geared toward supporting the local subsidiary in the host country to increase competitiveness, the latter provides R&D activities for other units of the MNE network. Global Innovation allows the firm to internalize international differences in labor costs (Kumar 1994), exploit economies of scale, and reduce the amount of duplicate R&D to reduce the firm's overall innovation costs (Gassmann and Zedtwitz 1999). In the case of high cost sensitivity, MNEs tend to locate their manufacturing activities in low-cost countries (Moore 1993; Nassimbeni and Sartor 2005; Summary and Summary 1995). The foreign subsidiary might then have a local R&D unit to support the factory with technological product and/or process improvements and upgrades (Odagiri and Yasuda 1996). Co-locating R&D and manufacturing activities reduces costs of international coordination, allowing the firm to achieve further cost efficiencies. Implementation is not expected to a favorable strategy in case of high cost pressure. Although the strategy allows the realization of economies of scale because of cross-border bundling of activities, the predominant part of R&D is usually performed close to headquarters (i.e., in a high-cost environment with severe labor cost disadvantages).

Theoretical evidence for a relationship between cost pressures and R&D strategies comes from IPLC theory. It assumes that cost pressure intensifies with maturity; in later life cycle stages, standardization of technologies makes price a more significant competitive factor. The theory postulates that increasing concerns for cost competitiveness force MNEs to relocate value creation activities to locations offering lower labor costs. In later life cycle stages, there is a shift in the nature of competitive requirements away from innovative capabilities and toward factors such as cost and process innovation (Nadeau and Casselman 2008). This move suggests a positive relationship between cost pressures and localization in emerging countries. The cost advantage theory and the factor proportion theorem assume that specialization and cross-border integration occur as a result of differences in factor costs, indicating that R&D competencies for specific products or technologies might be bundled in one specialized unit that provides service to other parts of the company network. High cost pressure might motivate MNEs to locate these specialized units in emerging countries to benefit from labor cost advantages.

Conceptual and particularly empirical evidence on the relationship between cost pressure and R&D configuration in emerging economies is relatively scarce. In contrast to market- and capability-related factors, cost-related aspects have received only little attention in international R&D literature. Some studies argue that labor cost advantages act as an efficiency-seeking motive for the localization of R&D abroad (Dunning and Lundan 2009; Gassmann and Zedtwitz 1998). The work of Sachwald (2008) reports an "increasing pressure on the cost of R&D" (p.369) and notes that cost efficiency has become an increasingly important motive for the internationalization of R&D activities, particularly in emerging economies. Similarly, Edler (2008) argues that a recent shift of focus has made factor costs increasingly relevant for localization decisions of R&D activities. He attributes the rising cost pressure on R&D to three trends: the increasing availability of low-cost expertise in emerging countries, the enhancement of enabling technologies, and the availability of advanced organization capabilities to cope with a global division of labor. In an empirical study of R&D internationalization in U.S. and Japanese MNEs, Kumar (2001) found that the relative costs of qualified engineers positively affects the localization of R&D, particularly for Japanese firms. Based on a survey and in-depth interviews, Liu and Liu (2004) investigated R&D internationalization of IT companies with Taiwan as the home country and China as the host country. The authors assert that the competitive environment in the industry and the increasing need for cost reductions has induced Taiwanese companies to set up manufacturing facilities in China to benefit from cost advantages there. Hence, they conclude that "[t]he success of gaining advantages in manufacturing efficiency evolves guite naturally into gaining advantages in R&D cost. Young engineers in mainland China receive lower wages compared to those in Taiwan, and this cost advantage increases the motivation of Taiwanese companies to establish R&D units in mainland China" (p.458). Regarding cross-border integration, Gassman and Zedtwitz (1999) identify a trend toward interdependent R&D units, arguing that "[p]ressure of cost reduction forces companies [...] to focus on a small number of leading research centers (re-centralization). The goal of this consolidation is to better exploit scale effects and to improve the coordination of worldwide dispersed R&D activities, simultaneously reducing the amount of duplicate R&D and intensifying crossborder technology transfer" (p.246). Because of favorable factor cost conditions compared to developed countries, R&D units in emerging economies might benefit from this trend, particularly given greater cost pressures. Based on quantitative and semiquantitative research, Zedtwitz (2004) finds that the search for increasing cost efficiency motivates MNEs in some industries to move "world product mandates" to R&D units in China. These units have responsibility for some of the firm's products and technologies, indicating interdependencies with other units and a close integration in the overall firm network.

In sum, the outlined reasoning leads to the following hypothesis:

Hypothesis 7: Cost pressure positively affects Local Innovation and Global Innovation at the cost of Implementation.

Summarizing the hypotheses related to research question 2b on the relationship between industry-specific features and R&D configuration, Table 4 summarizes the expected direction of effects. Again, two symbols ('++') indicate a relatively stronger expected positive effect compared to the relationship marked with a single symbol ('+').



Table 4: Summary of Hypotheses for Research Question 2b

# 5 Methodology and Research Design

Methodology is a system of methods and rules to facilitate the collection and analysis of data (Hart 1998). This chapter describes the applied methodological approach to empirically test the developed research framework. The first section provides some basic considerations on the method of data collection, explains the data gathering procedure, and includes an overview of the characteristics of the obtained data sample. The second section provides an overview of the approach to data analysis, the applied statistical methods, and the validation procedures.

# 5.1 Data Collection and Sample

This thesis uses a large-scale empirical research approach. A quantitative analysis may be based on either archival or survey data. This section first outlines the reasons for applying a large-scale quantitative analysis based on primary survey data. Thereafter, it describes the research object, the design and testing of the questionnaire, and the execution of the data collection before it outlines the characteristics of the of the data sample.

# 5.1.1 Methodological Approach

Depending on the objective of the study, the choice has to be made between qualitative and quantitative research methods. The primary objective of this thesis is to obtain generalizable results and to confirm a priori specified hypotheses, which will be derived from extant theories and empirical literature. For this purpose, a quantitative analysis, typically involving a large number of observations, should be applied (Polonsky and Waller 2010). Thus, the configuration of foreign R&D and its influencing factors is studied by collecting primary data based on a standardized questionnaire. The data were subsequently analyzed using SEM.

The choice between objective archival data and subjective survey data largely de-

pends on data availability. Advantages of archival data are objectivity and instant accessibility. However, such archival data pose several challenges and limitations. Available data often only cover the macroeconomic level, which does not allow analysis on the individual firm or subsidiary level. Publicly available export data on products do not reflect the real cross-border transfer of R&D results. Moreover, data quality might be an issue, particularly in the context of emerging economies. Both data accuracy and inconsistencies with regard to definitions and calculations within and across countries represent major data collection problems in emerging economies (Hoskisson et al. 2000, pp.257 et seq.).

Particularly in the research fields of international R&D, valuable contributions have been made by analyzing patent data and patent citations. Patents are thereby used as indicators of technological output and innovative capabilities (Hall, Jaffe, and Traitenberg 2000) and to capture cross-border knowledge flows (Almeida 1996; Almeida, Song, and Grant 2002; Song, Paul, and Wu 2003; Song and Shin 2008; Ziedonis 2004). Despite its merits (see, e.g., Belderbos 2001; Cantwell and Janne 1999; Le Bas and Sierra 2002), patent data analysis suffers from some inherent constraints. For example, firms cannot or do not patent all their innovations. Patenting propensity and patent strategies generally vary across industries, countries, and firms (Ambos 2005; Ernst 1995). Thus, measuring R&D configuration on the basis of patent output neglects all foreign R&D activities that do not involve patent output. Particularly in the context of emerging economies, this neglect might represent a significant issue because the nature of R&D activities and the institutional environment in these countries likely do not favor patent activities. Moreover, patent analysis often relies solely on the number of patents granted to measure R&D output, without considering that there might be acute differences in patent quality and thus in the value of the output (Ernst 2001, 2003a).

Considering foreign R&D activities of MNEs, Ambos (2005) concludes that "the degree to which secondary data sources are able to map firm level data is ultimately limited" (p.396) – which might particularly apply in an emerging economy context. Moreover, survey data are considered "the most reliable way to capture [...] constructs, owing to the tacit and industry- and firm-specific nature of location advantages" (Asmussen, Pedersen, and Dhanaraj 2009, p.48). Using survey data also allows for the inclusion of small and medium-sized enterprises (SME), family-owned enterprises, and other companies not publicly listed. These firms generally are restrictive with regard to publishing company data. Thus, the use of survey data helps to circumvent problems associated with secondary data and represents the more suitable approach for this study.

#### 5.1.2 Research Object

The definition of the research object has two parts: the definition of the unit of analysis and the choice of the survey sample. The unit of analysis represents the type of entity under investigation. The choice of the survey sample desribes the scope of the empirical investigation and includes the decision about relevant industries, as well as about the home and host countries.

During the past few decades, the management of foreign subsidiaries has emerged as a distinctive field of investigation for IB researchers (see Manolopoulos 2008). This "subsidiary view of the MNE" (Davis and Meyer 2004, p.360) accommodates that the role of individual foreign subsidiaries is much more complex than expected in earlier literature because each subsidiary can be simultaneously a recipient and a contributor of knowledge, products, and services (Asmussen, Pedersen, and Dhanaraj 2009). Having placed subsidiaries at the center of the examination, recent literature considers a subsidiary to be an organization with the potential for autonomous decisionmaking and strategy formulation (Ambos, Andersson, and Birkinshaw 2010; Birkinshaw, Toulan, and Arnold 2001; David 2005; Venaik, Midgley, and Devinney 2005). White and Poynter (1984) were among the first to analyze MNE strategies from a subsidiary perspective. Since the seminal work by Bartlett and Ghoshal (1989) on forces for global integration and local responsiveness, a growing body of IB research has been building on the idea of the MNE as a network of specialized, interdependent units (Phene and Almeida 2008). Thus, the exploration of subsidiary roles, charters, and mandates has become a central issue in the discussion of the strategy and structure of MNEs (Cantwell 2009; Nachum and Zaheer 2005; Porter 2000; Taggart 1998c). For a recent review of the literature on subsidiary roles, see Manolopoulos (2008).

The literature shows that roles of subsidiaries vary substantially even within the same MNE (Gupta and Govindarajan 1991; Jarillo and Martinez 1991). Moreover, individual subsidiary-level factors are an important determinant of the scope of foreign activities (Gupta and Govindarajan 2000; Mu, Gnyawali, and Hatfield 2007). However, Cantwell and Mudambi (2005) argue that most of the discussions in the field of international R&D focus on the MNE at a group level rather than examining strategies at the subsidiary level (see also the literature review in Chapter 2). In the same way, Davis and Meyer (2004) assert a lack of subsidiary level surveys, although "the actual investment in developing resources and capabilities is subject to initiatives made at the subsidiary level" (p.362). To enable the study of intersubsidiary variations in R&D configuration, this research thus follows the spirit of this "more recent strand of literature" (Cantwell and Mudambi 2005, p.1111) and takes the individual foreign subsidiary as the unit of analysis. This applied "subsidiary view" allows a more detailed investigation than would an aggregation at the MNE, industry, or regional level.

Because of the complex nature of the phenomenon under investigation and the relative dearth of previous empirical work on it, this study follows the argumentation of Gupta and Govindarajan (2000, p.474) and considers the level of the *individual* subsidiary; interrelationships between subsidiaries on the MNE level exceed the focus of this research project. This conscious limitation of the focus corresponds to current research practices (see, e.g., Asmussen, Pedersen, and Dhanaraj 2009, p.48). Moreover, the analysis in this study focuses on international configurations within firm boundaries (i.e., foreign R&D in majority-owned and wholly owned foreign affiliates). Internal R&D requires a longer term commitment to a localized research effort by the firm than does a research agreement. This research project follows Kuemmerle (1999a), who concludes that "(...) to understand the full dimension of the international dispersion of firm R&D, it seemed necessary to study FDI" (p.5). Because contractual R&D or research agreements are not considered, ownership of at least 51% is set as a precondition of the analysis. This restriction of the sample is also consistent with other recent studies on internationalization of R&D (e.g., Feinberg and Gupta 2004, p.830; Hegde and Hicks 2008, p.395). Moreover, the focus on internal R&D considers that, despite a slightly increasing share during the past decade, external R&D still plays only a minor role. In German companies, the share of in-house R&D accounts for about 80% of total R&D expenditure (Stifterverband 2010, p.11).

Global R&D expenditure has grown rapidly over the past decade. Yet the world's largest R&D spenders are concentrated in a few manufacturing industries: electronics, automotive, and pharmaceuticals. These industries are also the most internationalized in terms of R&D. Companies in the chemical and pharmaceutical industries locate almost 50% and 40% of their R&D, respectively, outside their home countries (UNCTAD 2005). Hence, this research project focuses on the following researchintensive manufacturing industries: automotive (SIC-code 37), mechanical engineering (SIC-codes 34 and 35), electrical engineering (SIC-codes 36 and 38), chemical, and pharmaceutical (both SIC-code 28). This choice corresponds to Audretsch and Weigand (2005), who classify these industries as knowledge-intensive (hi-K) industries. These industries show the highest R&D ratios, as well as the highest share of firms with an R&D budget and in-house R&D laboratories. Moreover, Audretsch and Weigand argue that "economic activities in these industries are specifically based on knowledge generated in natural sciences" (p.599).

Prior research reports different patterns in international R&D, depending on a company's home country (Edler, Meyer-Krahmer, and Reger 2002; Granstrand 1999; Hakanson and Nobel 1993a, 1993b; Kumar 2001; Van Ark et al. 2008). Gerybadze and Reger (1999) find that home market characteristics, such as size and concentration of critical assets, influence the internationalization strategy and global management processes. Moreover, with the limitation to MNEs from a single home country, influences from cultural differences between headquarter locations can be avoided (Ambos 2005). Germany has been chosen as the country where the headquarters of the surveyed subsidiaries are located. German companies rank third in business R&D spending (UNCTAD 2005). In 2007, R&D expenditures of German foreign affiliates accounted for nearly EUR 9.5 billion, of which almost 9 billion was allotted to the manufacturing industries (Stifterverband 2010). The five selected industries constitute more than 80% of all German FDI in manufacturing and represent the majority of German exports. Also, in terms of turnover and number of employees abroad, these industries cover the majority of foreign activities of German manufacturing MNEs (see Federal Statistical Office Germany 2009; German Central Bank 2008).

Most of the existing research on the internationalization of R&D has focused solely on R&D in triad countries: the United States, Japan, and Western Europe. Brouthers, Brouthers, and Werner (2001) and Manolopoulos, Papanastassiou, and Pearce (2007) investigate multinationals' R&D in more peripheral European economies, including Central and Eastern Europe and Greece. Very little research has been done with regard to R&D in emerging countries. Exceptions are Gassmann and Han (2004) and Zedtwitz (2004), who examine foreign R&D units in China. However, emerging countries have recently gained importance as locations of R&D. In the past ten years, the rise of foreign R&D activities was particularly strong in emerging countries (UNC-TAD 2005). Therefore, R&D activities in emerging countries are the main focus of this research project. To force heterogeneity into the sample, the host countries selected for this study include Brazil, Russia, India and China (BRIC) which account for about 40% of the world population as well as ASEAN countries. These countries were selected for this study because they are the four large emerging countries whose economies are expected to become the largest global economic group by the middle of this century (Cheng et al. 2007). Actually, China is already regarded as the most attractive prospective R&D location, and India ranks third, behind the United States (see UNCTAD 2005, pp.125 and 153). In addition to the BRIC heavyweights, the South East Asian countries are included in the sample because they belong to the

most important emerging economies (World Economic Forum 2009).

#### 5.1.3 Key Informant

A key informant has to be able to evaluate the inbound and outbound intra-firm transfers of R&D results and to assess derivers and environmental factors of the subsidiary. Choosing subsidiary respondents rather than headquarter respondents holds the advantage that subsidiary level respondents are directly engaged in the local environment and therefore are "more acquainted with its characteristics" (Asmussen, Pedersen, and Dhanaraj 2009, p.48). With regard to the evaluation of locationspecific advantages and environmental factors, Davis and Meyer (2004) argue that "the subsidiary manager, embedded in the local environment [...] may well have a clearer understanding of the strength and value of these advantages in practice" (p.362). In principle, it would be desirable to include multiple informants from each subsidiary. However, this approach was not feasible because of a considerable increase in the survey effort and complexity. Moreover, surveying multiple informants within one organizational unit poses issues of data aggregation across multiple informants (Kumar, Stern, and Anderson 1993). Therefore, one key informant per subsidiary was chosen. Scholars criticize that this approach potentially leads to overstating or understating of phenomena, depending on the key informant's personal characteristics (e.g., experience or individual knowledge), which might lead to a reduced validity of the collected data (Bagozzi, Yi, and Phillips 1991; Ernst and Teichert 1998). To counter these problems, the heads of foreign affiliates were chosen as a respondent group, assuming that these informants are most knowledgeable about the international configuration of their subsidiary. Their knowledge leads to both greater reliability and higher validity. Moreover, Ernst (2003b) found that, in particular, functional and hierarchical affiliation might contribute to informant bias. He concludes that the ideal key informant is knowledgeable but not directly involved. Under these conditions, heads of foreign affiliates are expected to be the best choice. They are not functionally biased because they are responsible for all business functions of their affiliate.

This choice also follows the suggestion formulated by Leong and Tan (1993), who argue that "respondents should be executives of sufficiently high [...] standing to possess the likely expertise and bird's eye view required to furnish an informed perspective of their organization's international management structure" (pp. 453-454).

# 5.1.4 Questionnaire Design and Pretest

The questionnaire is based on the operationalization of constructs as described in Chapter 6. To ensure the reliability of responses, most variables use closed questions that are formulated as answers (see Bourque and Fielder 1995) and are measured on a five-point Likert scale, ranging from "strongly agree" to "strongly disagree" or from "not important at all" to "extremely important". Likert scales are widely used in survey research and are the most common approach in applied social sciences (Schnell, Hill, and Esser 2005). Following the recommendation of DeVellis (2003), only positive wordings were included for closed questions to enhance user friendliness. With regard to the endogenous constructs, it was necessary to obtain percentage information. Furthermore, absolute values were queried for some of the contextual variables, such as subsidiary age or number of employees.

The development of the questionnaire followed the guidelines of Bourque and Fielder (1995, p.55), who recommend starting with easy and general questions and putting more complex questions in the middle of the questionnaire. The first page of the questionnaire provided an introduction for the respondent explaining the goal of the survey and the incentives to participate, assuring confidentiality, and including hints for completion. The subsequent pages contained questions related to internationalization motives, configuration of the value creation, company characteristics, product characteristics, and finally personal characteristics of the respondent.

The questionnaire was carefully designed considering the potential bias arising from the measurement method when both the dependent and independent variables are perceptual measures derived from the same respondent (Podsakoff et al. 2003; Podsakoff and Organ 1986). Addressing potential problems in the comprehension stage of the response process, the formulation of the questions was systematically examined to ensure a precice and consistent wording and to avoid ambiguous, vague and unfamiliar terms in the questionnaire (see Chang, Witteloostuijn, and Eden 2010; Harrison, McLaughlin, and Coalter 1996; Lindell and Whitney 2001).

To ensure consistency across the seven different countries in which the survey was conducted, the questionnaire was developed in only two language versions: German and English. This approach was considered appropriate because German and English are generally used as business languages in foreign subsidiaries of German MNEs. A translation-back translation procedure (see Brislin 1980) was applied to minimize variance attributable to language differences and to ensure cultural equivalency (Hoskisson et al. 2000; Riordan and Vandenberg 1994).

Pre-tests, or pilot tests, are considered as an integral part of questionnaire construction, generating feedback on how easy the questionnaire is to complete and which concepts are unclear or out of the respondents' range of knowledge and/or responsibility (Flynn et al. 1990) After a first review and feedback from other researchers, the questionnaire was thoroughly tested in ten on-site interviews with general managers and representatives of German subsidiaries in China. Collins and Cordon (1997) note the need to "recognize differences in terminology between sectors and thus achieve a consistent interpretation of a question or questions when interviewing executives from a particular sector" (p.704). Therefore, to ensure a high degree of representativeness, the questionnaire was tested in companies from all five target industries. The feedback of these pre-tests uncovered some imprecise wording issues that were modified accordingly.

#### 5.1.5 Data Collection Procedure

The data was collected as part of a research project on international expansion strategies with different research focuses. Considering the huge cost and the time

required for conducting such a large-scale, international survey, this procedure seems reasonable (see, e.g., Asmussen, Pedersen, and Dhanaraj 2009 for a similar approach).

Non-response represents a special challenge in international settings (see Harzing 1997). The survey followed an approach by Yip, Johansson, and Roos (1997) combining a questionnaire survey with personal interviews to get the necessary attention of senior management. This approach also is in accordance with Hoskisson et al. (2000), who recommend using face-to-face interviews instead of mail questionnaires for data collection in emerging economies to address issues related to both accessibility of respondents and reliability of responses. An attempt was made to have two interviewers present for all interviews, both of whom independently took notes, which were transcribed shortly after each interview. Because of the enormous demands of conducting more than 700 interviews with foreign affiliate heads in seven countries, several fellow researchers supported this project.

Diamantopoulos and Schlegelmilch (1996) point out that sponsorship by reputable organizations also positively affects response rates. Therefore, the German Chambers of Commerce in the target countries were contacted and asked for their sponsorship and support. Strongly interested in the research findings, which were provided in the form of presentations and publications, almost all the organizations contacted supported the research project. The following chambers and associations were involved in the research project: Camara de Comercio e Indúdtria Brasil-Alemanha, Delegation of German Industry and Commerce in Shanghai (GIC), German Industry Association in the Russian Federation, German Industry and Commerce Hanoi, German-Thai Chamber of Commerce (GTCC), Indo-German Chamber of Industry and Commerce (IGCC). These institutions provided infrastructure (workstation, phone, and Internet access) and contact information, as well as their respective logos or letterheads for a co-branding of the survey.

To motivate heads of subsidiaries to respond to the questionnaire, several measures

were taken: First, all recipients were offered incentives for their participation that included a summary report of the research project and comparison of their configuration strategy in relation to other companies in their industry and host country, as well as an invitation to the final presentation of results. Second, pre-notifications, intended to raise the awareness about the research project, were sent before mailing the questionnaire. Third, reminders were sent if recipients had not responded in a timely manner. Fourth, anonymity and confidentiality, which are regarded as key drivers of the response rate (see Diamantopoulos and Schlegelmilch 1996), were assured. The information obtained from the participating companies was considered strictly confidential. Survey results were communicated only in an aggregated way and without attribution to individual subsidiaries.

#### 5.1.6 Sample Characteristics

During the process of data collection, 566 companies were contacted with a request for participation in the research project, resulting in 313 received questionnaires. Of those, 45 questionnaires were excluded because the self-reported industry affiliation deviated from the specified industry focus, because the self-reported equity shares were below 51%, or because respondents had skipped central questions. Consequently, 268 questionnaires could be included in the analysis, yielding an effective response rate of 47.3%. This result is extremely satisfactory, considering that typical top management survey response rates range between 15% and 20% (Menon, Bharadwaj, and Howell 1996; Reinartz, Krafft, and Hoyer 2004). The high value achieved in the present study can be seen as the outcome of the chosen time- and resource-intensive data collection approach.

The industry distribution of the sample has been analyzed for representativeness using the chi-square goodness-of-fit test at a significance level of 5%. It revealed no difference in industry distribution between sample and parent population. The data on FDI provided by the German Central Bank (2008) was used as the basis for deriving the expected frequencies of the parent population. Because the data do not differentiate between the chemical and pharmaceutical industries, these two industries had to be combined for the test.

Figure 5 shows further details of the sample characteristics. Regarding host countries, the sample is not equally distributed: ASEAN and India are more strongly represented. With regard to the equity modes, nearly three quarters of the surveyed managers lead a subsidiary that is wholly owned by the German parent company.



Figure 5: Sample Distribution By Context Factors

#### 5.1.7 Data Attributes and Biases

According to Baumgartner and Homburg (1996), basic analysis of the raw data is often neglected when SEM is applied, including analysis of the distribution of variables, missing values, non-response bias, and key informant bias.

The dataset was tested for multivariate normality by the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. The null hypothesis, assuming a multivariate normal distribution of the sample, had to be rejected for all variables. This is the case for most survey data (compare Lei and Lomax 2005; Scholderer and Balderjahn 2006). However, this result has consequences for the choices among statistical tests. Classical parametric tests typically require multivariate normal distribution of the sample. As the distribution of the present sample would violate this assumption, non-parametric tests were applied. These tests do not assume any specific distribution.

Item non-response occurs when questionnaires contain missing values for individual questions. Tsikriktsis (2005) has observed that many scholars do not properly treat these incomplete datasets. Following Kline (2004), there are three procedures for handling these missing values: deletion, imputation, and modeling their distribution. With the first one, the complete dataset is deleted; with the second one, the mean score for the missing item is calculated (mean imputation) or the score is generated by comparing the response to other datasets with similar patterns (hot-deck imputation); in the third procedure, modeling, a distribution is generated for the missing values. In the current sample, there is a maximum item non-response of less than 0.5%. This level is well below the threshold value of 10% applied by Tsikriktsis (2005, p.57). The low item non-response goes back to the described data collection procedure, which allows the researcher to insist on answers during the personal interview. Furthermore, missing values on subsidiary and MNE characteristics could be removed by manually looking up these data points in publicly available sources, such as annual reports and websites, or by making ex-post follow-up phone calls. For the treatment of the remaining missing values, the mean substitution method has been applied.

The test for non-response bias, or unit nonresponse, is necessary to determine significant differences in the (potential) answers between respondents and those who did not respond (Dillman et al. 2002). To examine whether there are systematic differences between the respondents and the non-respondents, Lambert and Harrington (1990) propose a procedure that compares the responses of early and late respondents, assuming the late respondents are a proxy for the non-respondents. Although there are no specific guidelines on the ideal proportions of the subsamples, the group of first respondents and the group of late respondents should be of equal size (see, e.g., Krause and Scannell 2002). If there are no significant differences between the two groups, it can be assumed that there is no non-response bias (Hudson et al. 2004). This procedure is not applicable, however, because of the setup of this study. The respondents were initially contacted at different times and hence had different amounts of time to answer after the initial contact. Therefore, each researcher had to evaluate the "difficulty to convince" for each respondent, approximating the resistance to answer even better than the "time to answer". This procedure is applicable only with personal interviews, but not with anonymous mail surveys. The non-parametric Mann-Whitney U-test was applied to analyze the current sample. As a result, only 8.9% of the variables showed significant differences at the 10% level, indicating that early and late respondents answer differently. There is no commonly accepted threshold value in literature; however, the current value does not exceed the significant level of the applied test. Therefore, it can be assumed that no non-response bias exists in the sample.

The key informant bias may be an issue when the respondent is not providing sufficient knowledge on the subject (Ernst 2003b). A query of multiple informants per subsidiary was not practicable in this research setting. However, several measures were applied to ensure an appropriate level of knowledge by the respondents: First, as mentioned, the survey for this study addressed the heads of foreign subsidiaries to maximize the validity of the collected data. Second, each respondent was asked to indicate his or her position in the company. Respondents who indicated a position other than president/vice president, general/senior manager, or representative were eliminated from additional analysis. This process is regularly applied in empirical research (Kaufmann and Carter 2006). In the sample, 53% of the respondents indicated they were CEO or managing director, 35% president or vice president, and 10% representative. The remaining 2% indicated they were an assistant to one of the former positions. To ensure that the respondents were in fact qualified to answer the questions about the issues under investigation (see Kumar, Stern, and Anderson 1993), respondents were asked to indicate their experience with the industry, with leading a business unit, with the host country, and with strategic considerations. An average of 4.3, 4.1, 4.2, and 4.3 on a five-point Likert scale indicates substantial expert knowledge and experience in the respondents. Thus, it can be assumed that there is no key informant bias.

Since data on both the dependent and independent variables were collected from the same respondent, there might exist a common method bias. To address this issue, the study applied several remedies recommended in literature (see, e.g., Chang, Witteloostuijn, and Eden 2010; Podsakoff et al. 2003). Regarding the design and administration of the questionnaire, the respondents were assured of anonymity and condifentiality and informed that there are no correct or incorrect answers and that they should answer as honsetly as possible. Moreover, the items used in the present study are part of a large-scale questionnaire addressing aspects of internationalization beyond those used in this framework. This approach avoids that respondents combine related items to a cognitive map (Chang, Witteloostuijn, and Eden 2010) and makes it unlikely that "respondents would have been able to guess the purpose of the study and forced their answers to be consistent" (Mohr and Spekman 1994, p.147). Additionally, different scale anchors were applied for the independent variables. There were no direct question related to them; they were rather measured in an indirect way based on respondents' information on cross-border interdependencies of value creation (see Chapter 6.3). Besides these ex ante measures, an ex post Harman's singlefactor test was run to address the common method bias. The results revealed that there was no general factor apparent in the factor structure (Podsakoff and Organ 1986). Hence, the design of the questionnaire and the post hoc test suggests that

common method bias is not an issue.

# 5.2 Data Analysis

This section describes the statistical methods applied for data analysis and outlines issues related to the assessment of the measurement and structural models with the respective fit criteria.

## 5.2.1 Statistical Methods for Data Analysis

SEM was chosen as the statistical method for data analysis. SEM has developed into a standard method for the investigation of complex causal relationships in economics, business, and social sciences (Bliemel et al. 2005, p.10). Contrary to the so-called "first generation" multivariate methods, SEM enables researchers to consider a set of interrelated research questions "in a single, systematic, and comprehensive analysis by modelling the relationships among multiple independent and dependent constructs simultaneously" (Gefen, Straub, and Boudreau 2000, pp.3-4). This thesis intends to test exactly this kind of model, with multiple constructs and several exogenous and endogenous variables. Furthermore, SEM enables more rigorous tests of formalized theories than conventional methods by incorporating measurement errors. This effect is achieved by differentiating between latent variables and manifest variables (Homburg and Dobratz 1998, p.450). SEM comprises both measurement models and a structural model. The measurement model relates the latent variable to its indicators. The structural model shows the relationship between endogenous and exogenous latent variables. Being able to assess a structural model and measurement models simultaneously, SEM constitutes an advanced combination of factor analysis and multivariate regressions.

SEM offers two alternative types of measurement models: reflective and formative ones. Conventional measurement practice in business research is based on reflective
measurement; however, the use of formative indicators as an alternative measurement approach recently has been gaining attention (see Diamantopoulos 2008). In reflective measurement models, indicators are representations of the construct. A latent construct thus causes or gives rise to the observed indicators (Fornell and Bookstein 1982). Reflective indicators are thus highly correlated and redundant because they are by definition caused by the same underlying reason (i.e., the construct). In reflective measurement models, measurement errors are considered at the indicator level because indicators generally do not perfectly reflect the underlying construct. In contrast, in formative measurement models, indicators form the construct. A latent construct is thus caused by the facets covered in its indicators (Bagozzi 1994). The observable indicators give rise to the latent construct (Fornell 1982). The construct is the linear sum of the items. Formative indicators should be defined in a mutually exclusive and collectively exhaustive way and thus do not necessarily correlate. In formative measurement models, measurement error is considered at the construct level because the lack of redundancy among the indicators does not allow a distinction between the "true" variance of the indicators and the measurement error.

Figure 6 (adapted from Götz and Liehr-Gobbers 2004, p.716) illustrates the two alternative measurement models, each with three indicators:  $\eta$  represents the latent variable; x stands for the indicators; correlation between indicators is denoted by r; the strength of the relationship between the latent variable and its indicators is denoted in the case of the reflective measurement model by the loading  $\lambda$  and in the formative model by the weight  $\pi$ ; the residual values are denoted as  $\delta$  on the indicator level and  $\zeta$  on the latent variable level.



Figure 6: Reflective and Formative Measurement Models

The selection of the appropriate measurement model and the justification of the choice have been widely neglected (Fassott and Eggert 2005). Despite their "appropriateness in many cases" (Bollen 1989, p.65), formative measurement models have received relatively little attention (Fassott and Eggert 2005). More importantly, several studies (see, e.g., Podsakoff, Shen, and Podsakoff 2006, for a review of strategic management research) have shown that measurement models in empirical efforts are often misspecified because they assume a reflective structure when a formative approach should have been adopted. Diamantopoulos (2008) considers this to be "a result of researchers' (and reviewers') lack of familiarity with formative measurement models" (p.1201): Although an increasing number of methodological papers on formative measurement have appeared (e.g., Diamantopoulos and Siguaw 2006; Jarvis et al. 2003; MacKenzie, Podsakoff, and Jarvis 2005), the properties and advantages of formative measures are still not well understood. Already Cohen et al. (1990) showed in an analysis of 15 SEM models that a considerable number of constructs were

treated as reflective measurement models, although they were operationalized in a formative way. Diamantopoulos and Winkelhofer (2001) detected several empirical marketing studies with misspecified measurement models treating formative constructs in a reflective manner. Also, Jarvis et al. (2003) found in a review of leading marketing journals that almost one-third of the empirical studies suffer from misspecified measurement models, mainly because of an inappropriate treatment of formative constructs as reflective ones. Fassott and Eggert (2005) found in their analysis of German marketing journals misspecifications in more than 80% of the published studies. Similarly, Fassott (2006) showed that almost 60% of the constructs that were published in highly ranked German business research journals treated what were actually formative constructs with procedures for reflective constructs.

Yet the differentiation between the different types of measurement models is a crucial aspect. Misspecification may lead to redundancies, an elimination of essential indicators (Fassott 2006; Rossiter 2002, 2005), and distortions of parameter estimates (Albers and Hildebrandt 2006; Law and Wong 1999). Jarvis et al. (2003) conclude that a misspecification of the measurement model "severely biases structural parameter estimates and can lead to inappropriate conclusions about hypothesized relationships between constructs" (p.216). They even go one step further when stating that "a substantial proportion of the empirical results in the literature may be potentially misleading" (p.216). When analyzing the reasons for the numerous misspecifications, Fassott and Eggert (2005) argue with the standardization of evaluation criteria for reflective measurement models and the comparable lack of standards and software support to analyze formative measurement models. Similarly, Jarvis et al. (2003) find that researches are "forced into overreliance on reflective measurement model specifications by journal reviewers, who demand high internal consistency between measurement and unidimensionality as a condition for acceptance and publication" (p.213). Fassott (2006) also found that misspecification cannot in all cases be detected by commonly applied statistical fit criteria.

To determine the applicability of formative or reflective measurement models for this

study, the conceptual decision criteria established by Jarvis et al. (2003) were applied (see Table 5). The application of these test questions reveals that the predominant constructs conceptualized for this study are of a formative nature. (For details see Chapter 6 on the operationalization of the constructs).

Question	Formative	Reflective
Are the items a) defining characteristics or b) manifestations of the construct?	a)	b)
Would changes in the items cause changes in the construct?	Yes	No
Would changes in the construct cause changes in the items?	No	Yes
Do the items have the same or similar content or do they share a common theme?	Not necessarily	Yes
Would dropping one of the items alter the conceptual domain of the construct?	Possibly	No
Should a change in one of the items be associated with changes in the other items?	Not necessarily	Yes
Are the items expected to have the same antecedents and consequences?	Not necessarily	Yes

 Table 5:
 Decision Rules for Differentiating Between Formative and Reflective Constructs

There is a distinction between covariance-based and variance-based model building techniques for SEM. The label of the two approaches also is often linked to the name of the respective software package that is used for the analysis. Thus, Linear Structural Relationships/LISREL, implemented by Karl Jöreskog (1970), and Analysis of Moment Structures/AMOS implemented by James Arbuckle, are synonyms for covariance-based SEM (see Homburg and Hildebrandt 1998). The variance-based technique is also known as the Partial Least Square/PLS approach, implemented by Herman Wold (1966). Regarding the use, the former approach dominates the latter,

yet, in recent yearls, the researchers' interest in PLS has increased condsiderably (see Reinartz, Haenlein, and Henseler 2009, p.333). The two methods mainly differ with regard to their estimation methods. Hence, differences arise with regard to the research objective, applicable measurement models, sample size and distribution requirements, and availability and calculation of fit criteria (see Chin and Newsted 1999; Jöreskog and Sörbom 1982; Ringle 2004; Scholderer and Balderjahn 2005, 2006). Neither of the approaches is regarded per se as superior to the other. Rather, they have to be considered as complementary rather than competitive methods (Jöreskog and Wold 1982). The choice of the most appropriate method thus depends on the research objective and setup of the study (Reinartz, Haenlein, and Henseler 2009; Scholderer and Balderjahn 2005).

For this thesis, the variance-based PLS approach is applied. A variance-based SEM is the preferable choice over the covariance-based methods because of the following three conditions that apply for this study: The model contains numerous formative measurement models, the model contains numerous indicators, and the data do not show a multivariate normal distribution (Chin 1998; Chin and Newsted 1999; Fornell and Bookstein 1982; Hulland 1999; Tenenhaus et al. 2005). The choice of PLS in the context of this study is also in line with literature that generally stipulates the use of PLS in cases of multiple formative indicators resulting from factor indeterminancy in covariance-based methods (see Herrmann, Huber, and Kressmann 2006; Shah and Goldstein 2006). For the selection of software packages, the recommendations provided by Temme and Kreis (2005) for variance-based techniques were used. Finally, SmartPLS 2.03 (Ringle, Wende, and Will 2005) was chosen as the most appropriate software.

#### 5.2.2 Model Assessment

The extent to which an empirical investigation adequately describes reality mainly depends on the quality of the measurements (Backhaus et al. 2008). The evaluation

of the research model is a crucial task when estimating variance-based causal models (Ringle 2004). This study applies the two-step validation process for PLS models proposed by Götz and Liehr-Gobbers (2004) and Krafft, Götz, and Liehr-Gobbers (2005). In the first step, the measurement models are evaluated; in the second step the structural model is then analyzed.

# **Assessment of Measurement Models**

For the assessment of measurement models, literature generally suggests testing three criteria: objectivity, reliability, and validity (see Berekoven, Eckert, and Ellenrieder 2006; Peter and Churchill 1986). However, formative measurement models must be evaluated differently from reflective ones (Bollen and Lennox 1991; Diamantopoulos and Winkelhofer 2001) because, in contrast to reflective indicators, formative indicators are not interchangeable, do not necessarily correlate, and have no error term (Claes and David 1981; Rossiter 2002). Thus, unidimensionality, indicator reliability, internal consistency, and discriminant validity are not meaningful for reflective measurement models because indices are formed as a linear sum of measurements (Bagozzi 1994; Fassott 2006; Krafft, Götz, and Liehr-Gobbers 2005). For the evaluation of the model, this study follows the established guidelines developed by Götz, Liehr-Gobbers, and Krafft (2010), Diamantopoulos and Winkelhofer (2001), and Fassott and Eggert (2005).

*Objectivity* of the data is given if the measurement is not subject to biases arising from the setup or the researcher (Nieschlag, Dichtl, and Hörschgen 2002). In this study, objectivity was ensured in survey execution by using a standardized written questionnaire. In interpretation, the use of close questions prevents any possible personal influence and thus ensures objectivity. In data analysis, objectivity is ensured by applying objective fit criteria for the assessment of the measurement and structural models.

*Content validity* describes the degree of semantic congruence between a construct and its indicators (Homburg and Giering 1996). For formative measurement models,

content validity has to be ensured ex-ante when specifying the indicators (Bollen and Lennox 1991; Nunnally 1978; Rossiter 2002; Wacker 2004). The present study followed the procedure recommended by Fassott and Eggert (2005) to ensure content validity using a thorough definition of the theoretical construct and its indicators. This approach is in line with Peter and Churchill (1986), who conclude in a meta-analysis of fit criteria that "researchers must pay greater attention to non-empirical evidence when judging construct validity" (p.1). Furthermore, the test for formative content validity stipulated by Anderson and Gerbing (1991) was applied. This approach is similar to the Q-methodology, a research method established in psychology and related social sciences (see Carter, Kaufmann, and Michel 2007, p.643 et seq.). Based on expert judgments, two indices are calculated. The proportion of substantive agreement  $p_{sa}$  measures the unambiguousness of the indicator attribution. The coefficient of substantive validity  $c_{sv}$  measures the relevance of a construct. The indices are calculated as follows:

$$P_{sa} = \frac{n_c}{N} \qquad c_{sv} = \frac{n_c - n_0}{N}$$

where

 $n_c$  = number of "correct" attributions  $n_0$  = number of identical "wrong" classifications

N = number of surveyed experts

The value for the proportion of substantive agreement should exceed the minimum threshold value of 0.5. The coefficient of substantive validity should exceed zero. For the present study, the indices have been calculated on the basis of the judgment of twelve experts.

Instead of using indicator reliability, which for formative constructs captures the individual indicator's variance proportion explained by the underlying construct, Götz and Liehr-Gobbers (2004) and Krafft, Götz, and Liehr-Gobbers (2005) recommend testing for indicator relevance - an analysis of the contribution of each individual indicator to the construct. The weight of the formative indicator provides information about the relative importance of each of the construct's indicators (Chin 1998). Significance of the indicator weight was analyzed on a 0.1%, 1%, 5%, and 10% significance level. The standard deviation derived from a bootstrapping re-sampling procedure allows a t-test. A one-tailed analysis was conducted because the direction of the relationship between the indicator and the construct is specified. In contrast to reflective measurement models, where a low value for loadings implies a poor measurement model, low values for indicator weights in formative measurement models do not allow any inference on the guality of the measurement model (Chin 1998). The elimination of indicators with low weight may harm the substance of the construct or omit part of the construct (Bollen and Lennox 1991; Diamantopoulos and Winkelhofer 2001; Götz and Liehr-Gobbers 2004; Jarvis et al. 2003). To avoid "model trimming" for formative constructs, Hermann, Huber, and Kressmann (2006) and Helm (2005) recommend that researchers not apply specific threshold values for indicator elimination. This study followed the recommendations by Law and Wong (1999) to retain insignificant indicators in the measurement model. Thus, only indicators with reverse signs are eliminated; indicators with only marginal contribution to the construct's variance are kept to ensure the theoretical substance of the construct (Jarvis et al. 2003).

*Multicollinearity* between indicators may pose a problem for formative constructs because the measurement is based on multiple regression analysis. Substantive item intercorrelations, and thus increasing standard errors of beta coefficients, make it difficult to separate the distinctive influence of individual indicators, negatively affect the stability of weights (Diamantopoulos and Winkelhofer 2001), and lead to unreliable parameter estimates (Backhaus et al. 2008). This study applied the comprehensive four-step approach developed by Krafft et al. (2005), including several measures in order to test for multicollinearity in formative constructs. The *highest pairwise correlation* ( $r_{max}$ ) must not exceed the threshold of +/- 0.9. Otherwise, one of the corresponding items has to be eliminated based on conceptual considerations (see Diamantopoulos and Winkelhofer 2001; p.273). To test for multicollinearity between more than two indicators, linear ancillary regression is performed for each indicator, testing to what extent the variance of an indicator can be explained by the remaining indicators. The *variance inflation factor* (VIF) is defined as the reciprocal of the tolerance  $1-R^2$  (Eckey, Kosfeld, and Dreger 2004). VIF reaches a minimum of 1 when the indicators are completely independent. The threshold value is defined as 10, which should not be exceeded (Diamantopoulos and Winkelhofer 2001; Götz, Liehr-Gobbers, and Krafft 2010) Furthermore, the *maximal condition index* (CI<sub>max</sub>) is applied to test for multicollinearity, and its value should be below 30 (Krafft, Götz, and Liehr-Gobbers 2005). Finally, variance decomposition was conducted to evaluate the variance proportion of the individual regression coefficients explained by the condition indices (Belsley, Kuh, and Welsch 2004). The value of the *second highest variance decomposition proportion of a component* (VDP<sub>2nd</sub>) should not exceed 0.9.

Because construct reliability is not a valid test for formative measurement models, this study applied the alternative test for *nomological validity* of formative constructs, proposed by Reinartz, Krafft, and Hoyer (2004). Nomological validity is given when hypothesized relations behave as expected (Bagozzi and Phillips 1982; Peter and Churchill 1986) and is tested by empirically measuring the significance, strength, and direction of the relationship between constructs in the structural model (Götz and Liehr-Gobbers 2004). This test is performed in the context of the structural model analysis.

Table 6 summarizes the described test criteria.

# **Assessment of Second-Order Constructs**

To capture different aspects, constructs might be structured in a hierachical way (Homburg and Giering 1996). In this study, market opportunities and economies of location are operationalized as second-order constructs, each comprising two first-order constructs. The repeated indicator approach suggested by Wold (1982) was applied in order to model the second-order constructs in PLS. The assessment of the

measurement model is then conducted in two steps: First, the measurement models of the first-order constructs are tested. Second, the measurement models of the second-order constructs are evaluated, interpreting the first-order constructs as indicators of the second-order construct.

Fit criteria	Measure	Variable	Level	Threshold value
Convergent	Proportion of substantive agreement	p <sub>sa</sub>	Item	≥ 0.5
validity	Coefficient of substantive valdity	C <sub>sv</sub>	Item	› 0
	Weight	π	Path	n.a.
Indicator	t-value	t	Path	(≥ 1.28)
relevance	Significance of weight	α	Path	(10%, one-tailed)
	Sign	n.a.	Path	Right direction
	Highest pairwise correlation	r <sub>max</sub>	Item	-0.9 ≤ r <sub>max</sub> ≤0.9
Multi-	Variance inflation factor	VIF	Item	≤ 10
collinearity	Highest condition index	Cl <sub>max</sub>	Construct	≤ 30
	2nd highest variance- decomposition proportion per component	VDP <sub>2nd</sub>	Construct	≤ 0.9
Nomological validity	Check for nomological relationships in structural model	n.a.	Structural model	5% (10%), one-tailed

 Table 6:
 Fit Criteria for Formative Measurement Models

#### **Assessment of Structural Models**

For the evaluation of the structural model, the current study follows Krafft, Götz, and Liehr-Gobbers (2005) and tests for strength, explanatory power, and predictive validity of structural relationships.

Path coefficients in SEM give information about the *relationship strength* between exogenous and endogenous constructs. Path coefficients can be analyzed for sign, strength, and significance (Chin 1998). The significance of path coefficients is calculated by applying the bootstrap resampling procedure and subsequent one-sided t-test. Lohmöller (1989) identifies path coefficients of 0.1 as sufficient. Goerzen and Beamish (2003) emphasize that path coefficients smaller than 0.1 can confirm hypotheses, as long as the relationship is statistically significant. In the present study, a hypothesis is supported if the path coefficient shows the expected sign and is significantly different from zero. Because of a systematic underestimation of path estimation (Anderson and Gerbing 1991; Chin, Marcolin, and Newsted 2003; Dijkstra 1983), PLS estimates are regarded as "conservative", preventing insignificant relationships from appearing to be significant.

*Explanatory power* is generally measured by the coefficient of determination,  $R^2$ , indicating the goodness of fit between the model and the data with respect to the explained variance. Chin (1998) defines  $R^2$  values of larger than 0.66 as substantial, of 0.33 as average, and of below 0.19 as weak. However, there is no universally valid threshold that applies to all models and research contexts (Backhaus et al. 2008; Homburg and Baumgartner 1998). With regard to empirical marketing research in an emerging market context, Burgess and Steenkamp (2006) recently appealed for applying more liberal criteria, rather than "more or less blindly" (p.349) adapting common interpretations of threshold values used in Western contexts. In addition to the explanatory power on the endogenous construct level, the effect size  $f^2$  measures the relative change in  $R^2$  on the structural path level. Cohen (1988) defines  $f^2$  values of 0.35 as substantial, of 0.15 as moderate, and of 0.02 as weak. However, Chin, Marcolin, and Newsted (2003) relativizes this classification and states that small  $f^2$  values

do not necessarily imply an unimportant effect. Referring to Rosenthal (1991), Burgess and Steenkamp (2006) argue that even if an effect size may not seem large, it can represent a substantial effect.

Multicollinearity is assessed at the construct level, based on the correlation matrix of the latent variables. As with the test of multicollinearity for measurement models, the highest pairwise correlation rmax should not exceed the threshold value of +/-0.9.

Fit criteria	Measure	Variable	Level	Threshold value
	Path coefficients	Ŷ	Path	(≥ 0.1)
Strength of	t-value	t	Path	≥ 1.28
elationship	Significance of path coefficient	α	Path	10%, one-tailed
	Sign	n.a.	Path	Right direction
Explanatory	Coefficient of determination	R²	Endogenous construct	≥ 0.2
power	Effect size	f²	Path	(≥ 0.02)
Multi- collinearity	Highest pairwise correlation	r <sub>max</sub>	Construct	-0.9 ≤ r <sub>max</sub> ≤0.9

Table 7 summarizes the described test criteria for structural relationships.

Table 7: Fit Criteria for Structural Models

# 5.2.3 Subgroup Analysis

The analysis of moderating effects has gained increasing importance in the social sciences (see Hall and Rosenthal 1991), particularly in studies building on contingency perspective that analyze outcomes in different situational settings (McKeen, Guimaraes, and Wetherbe 1994; Weill and Olson 1989). There are two basic techniques to test for moderating effects: subgroup analysis and moderated regression analysis (Venkatraman 1989). In this study, subgroup analysis is used to investigate differences in R&D configuration in different contexts and over time. Because the applied software package does not allow for subgroup analysis, the necessary calculations were performed separately. Subgroups based on categorial variables, such as industry, host country, and time (present vs. future), were defined according to their grouping variables (Henseler and Fassott 2008). For continuous variables, the subgroups were dichotomized into two categories at the median. This approach was applied for subsidiary and MNE characteristics, such as age, number of employees, and turnover.

To test for significance of differences in average values between subgroups, nonparametric tests were applied because the Kolmogorov-Smirnov test showed that the variables do not follow a multivariate normal distribution. The Mann-Whitney U test (Mann and Whitney 1947) is a non-parametric equivalent to the independent samples t-test. In the study at hand, it is applied in dichotomous subgroup analysis and when comparing individual subsample values to total sample values. The Kruskal-Wallis one-way analysis of variance by ranks (Kruskal and Wallis 1952) allows for the assessment of differences between more than two independent samples. In this study, it is used to assess differences between subgroups with regard to R&D configuration. The Wilkoxon signed-rank test (Wilcoxon 1945) represents a non-parametric equivalent to the paired t-test. It is applied in cases where there are two related samples. In this study, it is used to examine the significance of time-related differences in subsidiary R&D configurations.

# 6 Conceptualization and Operationalization of Constructs

This chapter introduces the measurement model for the constructs of the research framework. Bagozzi and Fornell (1982) define a theoretical construct as an "abstract entity which represents the 'true,' non-observable state or nature of phenomenon" (p.24). Thus, these constructs initially have to be made tangible by manifest variables that serve as indicators for the not directly oberservable latent variable representing the construct. Conceptualization thereby refers to the development of the construct dimensions, whereas operationalization refers to the subsequent development of a measurement instrument for the construct (see Homburg and Giering 1996, p.5).

We attempted to use existing and proven scales in IB research whenever possible. Because this study aims to cover a substantial range of previously discussed aspects of the business environment and to analyze the degree to which they actually influence the configuration of subsidiary-level R&D activities, the conceptualization of location-specific features builds on the international sources of competitive advantage derived by Panhans (2009), based on an extensive review of existing literature on internalization motives. These scales are particularly appropriate for this study because of the comprehensiveness of the constructs and corresponding indicator variables. The discussion in the following subchapters focuses on the conceptualization of the constructs and the evaluation of the measurement models.

For the operationalization of the formative constructs, we follow the established threestep approach suggested by Diamantopoulos and Winkelhofer (2001, pp.271-274). In the first step, the content of the latent variable is specified. In the second step, formative indicators are selected based on theoretical considerations. This grouping should comprise all indicators that are expected to have an influence on the construct. Having specified the content and indicators of the constructs, the measurement models are evaluated based on the criteria described in Chapter 5.

The two constructs, "Market Opportunities" and "Economies of Location" represent

second-order constructs, each comprising two first-order constructs. For these second-order constructs, the same validation methods apply as for first-order constructs, with the first-order constructs serving as indicators for the second-order construct. Second-order constructs were used because they are able to cover a broad range of aspects, of different dimensions, within a single construct. Values for evaluating the content validity of the second-order constructs are gained by averaging the  $p_{sa}$ -values and  $c_{sv}$ -values from the first-order construct level. Multicollinearity is assessed using the highest pair-wise correlation  $r_{max}$ . Tests for variance inflation factor (VIF) and highest condition index ( $CI_{max}$ ) cannot be applied for second-order constructs consisting of less than three first-order constructs. Indicator relevance is assessed on the basis of the weights, significance levels, and signs of the first-order construct.

# 6.1 Dimension A: Location-Based Features

The location-based or host economy-specific features (see Enright 2009) summarized in dimension A are exogenous, independent variables and comprise market opportunities, economies of location, and cultural distance. The first two represent internationalization motives regarding the host countries' sales and factor market. Each of the motives is operationalized as a formative second-order construct. Cultural distance represents a major source of informational and communication complexity and thus an important internationalization hurdle.

# 6.1.1 Market Opportunities

Market opportunities describe the various benefits gathered from foreign sales markets. This driver is measured as a second-order construct consisting of the two complementary aspects, "demand-based market opportunities" on the one hand and "competition-based market opportunities" on the other. Demand-based opportunities are customer-related whereas competition-based opportunities are primarily supplyrelated.

		Contont	validity	Multicol	linoarity	Indicato	r rolovan	<u>```</u>	
		Content	valiaity			.6			
2nd order co	onstruct level	P <sub>sa</sub>	C <sub>sv</sub>	Cl <sub>max</sub>	VDP <sub>2nd</sub>				
		0.93	0.85	n.a.	n.a.				
Item level		p <sub>sa</sub>	C <sub>sv</sub>	r <sub>max</sub>	VIF	lF π t α		α	sign
MoC	Competition-based market opportunities	0.90	0.79	-0.58	n.a.	0.51	8.04	***	✓
MoD	Demand-based market opportunities	0.96	0.92	-0.58	n.a.	0.61	11.01	***	~

Table 8: Fit Criteria of the Second-Order Construct "Market Opportunities"

The results for the second-order construct "market opportunities" are shown in Table 8. All fit criteria satisfactorily meet the specified cutoff values. Content validity of both factors is high. Values of 0.93 for the proportion of substantive agreement  $p_{sa}$  and 0.85 for the coefficient of substantive validity  $c_{sv}$  indicate substantial consensus among the experts on the attribution of the items to the respective construct. Multlicol-linearity also does not pose an issue. The correlation coefficient of -0.58 is far below the specified threshold of +/-0.9. The negative sign stands for a negative relationship between both first-order factors, meaning that with greater demand-based market opportunities, competition intensity in the respective market increases. Indicator relevance is given for both first-order factors because both weights are significantly different from zero at the 0.1% level and have the expected sign. The higher weight for demand-based market opportunities suggests a slightly higher relevance of demand aspects compared to competitive aspects. In the following paragraphs, the two first-order measurement models are evaluated.

Competition-based market opportunities include: 1) the exploitation of low competition intensity (Anand and Kogut 1997; Buckley and Castro 2001; Porter 1980; Sullivan and Bauerschmidt 1990); 2) the exploitation of a low threat of substitutes (Porter 1980; Prahalad and Doz 1987); 3) the exploitation of core competencies against weaker local competitors (Forsgren 2002; Lall and Siddharthan 1982); 4) the protection of the host market from international competitors (Bass, McGregor, and Walters 1977; Dunning and McKaig-Berliner 2002; Kogut 1988; Sullivan and Bauerschmidt

1990; Terpstra and Chwo-Ming 1988); 5) the attack of local competitors in their home market (Buckley and Castro 2001; Hamel and Prahalad 1985); and 6) gaining first mover advantage in market penetration (Hout, Porter, and Rudden 1982; Kim and Hwang 1992; Kogut 1988).

		Content	validity	Multicol	linearity	Indicato	r relevano	e		
Construct	level	p <sub>sa</sub>	C <sub>sv</sub>	Cl <sub>max</sub>	VDP <sub>2nd</sub>	d				
		0.90	0.79	8.24	0.32					
Item level		P <sub>sa</sub>	C <sub>sv</sub>	r <sub>max</sub>	VIF	π	t	α	sign	
MoC.1	Exploiting low competition intensity	1.00	1.00	-0.24	1.16	0.35	2.35	**	~	
MoC.2	Exploiting low threat of substitutes				elimi	minated				
MoC.3	Exploiting core competencies against weaker local competitors	0.83	0.67	-0.26	1.16	0.14	1.46	t	~	
MoC.4	Defending host market from international competitors	0.75	0.50	-0.26	1.25	0.10	0.87	n.s.	~	
MoC.5	Attacking local competitors in their home market	eliminated								
MoC.6	Gaining first mover advantage in market penetration	1.00	1.00	-0.24	1.22	0.49	4.77	***	~	

Table 9: Fit Criteria of the Construct "Competition-Based Market Opportunities"

The construct was operationalized using six indicator variables, two of which had to be eliminated because of reverse signs (see Table 9). For the remaining items, content validity is high, with  $p_{sa}$  and  $c_{sv}$  values of 0.9 and 0.79, respectively. With regard to indicator relevance, defending the host market from international competitors did not significantly contribute to the overall construct. However, this item was retained because there is no general recommendation in the extant literature to eliminate insignificant indicators. Rather, the literature refers to content-based aspects (see Diamantopoulos and Winkelhofer 2001, p.273; Krafft, Götz, and Liehr-Gobbers 2005, p.78). The elimination of MoC.5 (attacking local competitors) and the low item weight of MoC.4 (defending host market) are in contrast to previous empirical literature, which reports significant relationships for the opportunities to defend a host market from international competitors and to attack foreign competitors in their home market (e.g., Flowers 1976; Graham 1978; Knickerbocker 1973). However, this literature builds on the oligopolistic parallel behavior theory and therefore mainly refers to oligopolistic industries. The fact that this study did not focus on industries with an oligopolistic type of market might explain the lack of contribution of these two items. Gaining first-mover advantage in market penetration (MoC.6) and exploiting low competition intensity (MoC.1) contribute most to competition-based market opportunities, but the exploitation of core competencies against local competitors (MoC.3) also significantly contributes to the construct. This finding is particularly interesting because, in existing literature, these aspects attracted little research attention and were mainly subject to conceptual considerations. Multicollinearity does not constitute a problem at either the item or the construct level. The values of the highest pair-wise correlation  $r_{max}$  are substantially below the cutoff values for all indicators. Also, the VIF, testing multicollinearity between more than two items, remains far below the specified threshold value of 10. At the construct level, the highest condition index and the second highest variance-decomposition proportion per component fall considerably below the cutoff values of 30 and 0.9, respectively.

In addition to competition-related aspects, demand-related aspects constitute market opportunities. Demand-based market opportunities comprise: 1) exploitation of foreign market size (Buckley and Dunning 1976; Enright 2009; Hakanson 1992; Hakanson and Nobel 1993a, 1993b; Hegde and Hicks 2008; Kuemmerle 1999a; Kumar 2000a, 2001; Le Bas and Sierra 2002); 2) exploitation of foreign market growth (Anand and Kogut 1997; Buckley and Castro 2001; Dunning 1980; Veugelers 1991); 3) exploitation of low buyer negotiation power (Porter 1980); 4) reduction of demand risk (Jarillo and Martinez 1991; Mascarenhas 1982); 5) selling of older technology in less sophisticated markets (Doz 1986; Hirsch 1967; Mansfield, Teece, and Romeo 1980; Vernon 1966); 6) following existing key customers to the host market (Buckley and Castro 2001; Erramilli and Rao 1990); 7) gaining access to sophisticated local lead customers (De Meyer 1992; Florida and Kenney 1994; Gerybadze and Reger 1999; Gupta, Govindarajan, and Wang 2008); and 8) gaining reputation in existing markets by selling to the host country (Jarillo and Martinez 1991).

		Content	validity	Multicol	linearity	Indicato	r relevano	e	
Construct	level	p <sub>sa</sub>	C <sub>sv</sub>	Cl <sub>max</sub>	VDP <sub>2nd</sub>				
		0.96	0.92	14.19	0.55				
Item level		p <sub>sa</sub>	C <sub>sv</sub>	r <sub>max</sub>	VIF	π	t	α	sign
MoD.1	Exploiting market size	1.00	1.00	-0.33	1.24	0.07	0.91	n.s.	✓
MoD.2	Exploiting high market growth	1.00	1.00	-0.33	1.17	0.51	4.15	***	✓
MoD.3	Exploiting low negotiation power of buyers	eliminated							
MoD.4	Reducing demand risk				elimi	nated			
MoD.5	Selling older technology in less sophisticated market	0.92	0.83	-0.11	1.06	0.29	2.79	**	~
MoD.6	Following existing key customers to host country	0.92	0.83	-0.27	1.23	0.26	2.25	*	~
MoD.7	Accessing sophisticated local lead customers	1.00	1.00	-0.28	1.36	0.06	0.62	n.s.	~
MoD.8	Gaining reputation in existing markets by selling to host	0.92	0.83	-0.28	1.30	0.19	2.25	*	✓

Table 10: Fit Criteria of the Construct "Demand-Based Market Opportunities"

Overall, the measurement of "market opportunities" is very satisfactory. Particularly taking into consideration that, in contrast to market-based aspects, competition-related market opportunities have thus far received considerably less attention in empirical research, the indicators of the construct show a good model fit.

#### 6.1.2 Economies of Location

Economies of location relate to advantages gained on foreign factor markets. Thus, they represent the comparative advantages of nations that are distinct from firm-specific competitive advantages. Kogut (1985a) notes that the exploitation of comparative advantages of nations, such as lower factor costs or higher factor quality, may lead to firm-specific competitive advantages. Thus, firms can benefit from a host country's economies of location by "configuring its value-chain so that each activity is located in the country which has the least cost for the factor that the activity uses most intensely" (Ghoshal 1987, p.432). This observation means that economies of

location unfold their full potential and translate into a competitive advantage if they are transferred across borders (Dunning 1998, p.60; Porter 1986a, p.37). Ghemawat (Ghemawat 2003) denotes this "exploitation of differences in the price of an asset, product, or factor of production between markets" (Kogut 1985a, p.34) as the "arbitrage function" of a firm.

Referring to Porter (1986b), economies of location are differentiated into "lower factor cost" and "higher factor quality". These two first-order constructs form the second-order construct, "economies of location" (see Table 11).

		Content	Content validity Multicollinearity In			Indicator relevance			
2nd order construct level		p <sub>sa</sub>	C <sub>sv</sub>	CI <sub>max</sub>	VDP <sub>2nd</sub>				
		0.94	0.89	n.a.	n.a.				-
Item level		p <sub>sa</sub>	C <sub>sv</sub>	r <sub>max</sub>	VIF	π	t	α	sign
EIC	Factor costs	0.92	0.83	-0.34	n.a.	0.56	7.40	***	~
EIQ	Factor quality	0.97	0.94	-0.34	n.a.	0.63	10.09	***	~

Table 11: Fit Criteria of the Second-Order Construct "Economies of Location"

Content validity of both first-order factors is high, with values for the proportion of substantive agreement and coefficient of substantive validity at the construct level of 0.94 and 0.89, respectively. Indicated by a relatively low value for the highest pairwise correlation of -0.34, multicollinearity is not an issue. The negative correlation between the factors exhibits a certain substitutive effect between factor costs and factor quality (i.e., higher factor quality goes along with increased costs). Additional tests for multicollinearity were not carried out on the second-order construct level because at least three items are necessary for the calculation. Thus, these tests are applied on first-order construct levels. Indicator relevance is high, with both factors being significantly different from zero at the 0.1% level. However, it is remarkable that the factor quality ( $\pi = 0.63$ ) is considered slightly more important than factor costs ( $\pi = 0.57$ ). In the following paragraphs, the two first-order measurement models are evaluated.

Economies of location linked to attractive factor costs include: 1) exploitation of low labor costs (Edler 2008; Kogut 1985b; Kumar 2001; Lu and Liu 2004; Papanastassiou and Pearce 1994a); 2) exploitation of low property costs (Bass, McGregor, and Walters 1977; Zhao and Zhu 2000); 3) better access to capital (Ajami and BarNiv 1984; Ajami and Ricks 1981); and 4) profit from low tax levels (Barry 2005; Cantwell and Mudambi 2000, 2005; de Mooij and Ederveen 2003; Enright 2009; Hall and Reenen 2000; Kogut 1985b).

Table 12 shows the results of the first-order construct, "factor costs", which has been operationalized by four indicators. Because of a negative weight sign, the item "lower tax level" (EIC.4) had to be eliminated. This result is in contrast to studies that propose the positive effect of tax credits as a competitive advantage and driver for R&D activities (e.g., Hall and Reenen 2000). However, extant literature is not unambiguous with regard to the effect of tax incentives on R&D configuration: Cantwell and Mudambi (2000), for instance, provided evidence for only an incremental positive effect of tax credits encouraging subsidiaries to expand their existing technological role in the corporate R&D network. Cantwell and Mudambi (2005) even found empirical evidence that such government incentives can, depending on the mandate of the foreign affiliate, even have a negative effect on the subsidiary's R&D intensity. Moreover, difficulties in measuring tax incentives might also be a reason for the result that calls for the elimination of the item. For R&D efforts, depreciation allowances might be a more important cost driver than a country's absolute tax level.

For the remaining three indicators, content validity is generally high. Two items reach maximum values. Only better access to capital (EIC.3) was regarded as belonging to market opportunities or economies of scope by some of the experts. However, the content validity indices for this item still stay well above their minimum threshold values. The item thus is retained in the measurement model. Multicollinearity does not pose an issue. The variance inflation factor is well below the threshold value, and pair-wise correlations are at acceptable levels. Labor and property costs interestingly show a negative relationship, indicating a substitution effect between these two fac-

tors. At the construct level, both indicators of multicollinearity show good results. In terms of indicator relevance, two items significantly contribute to the overall construct. With a weight of 0.62, labor costs (EIC.1) are by far the most important aspect of factor cost advantages. This result might be explained by the high labor intensity of R&D activities. The same holds for the insignificance of lower property costs (EIC.2), which are of only minor importance because this item does not significantly contribute to the construct.

		Content	validity	Multicol	linearity	/ Indicator relevance			
Construc	t level	P <sub>sa</sub>	p <sub>sa</sub> c <sub>sv</sub> Cl <sub>max</sub> VDP <sub>2nd</sub>						
		0.92	0.92 0.83 8.96 0.17						
Item leve	I	p <sub>sa</sub>	p <sub>sa</sub> C <sub>sv</sub> r <sub>max</sub> VIF π t				α	sign	
EIC.1	Labor costs	1.00	1.00	-0.47	1.29	0.62	3.46	***	~
EIC.2	Property costs	1.00	1.00	-0.47	1.50	0.22	1.28	n.s.	~
EIC.3	Access to capital	0.75	0.50	-0.40	1.20	0.28	1.38	t	✓
EIC.4	Tax level		eliminated						

Table 12: Fit Criteria of the Construct, "Factor Costs"

The construct "factor quality" in the host country includes: 1) high employee qualification (Dunning 1980; Florida 1997; Hegde and Hicks 2008; Iwasa and Odagiri 2004; Kuemmerle 1999a; Kumar 2001; Lewin, Massini, and Peeters 2009); 2) few regulations (Siddharthan and Kumar 1990); 3) host government incentives (Cantwell and Mudambi 2000; Green and Cunningham 1975; Hakanson and Nobel 1993a; Kumar 2000a; Papanastassiou and Pearce 1994a; Robson 1993; Zhou, Delios, and Yang 2002); 4) high technological know-how and innovative activities (Andersson and Forsgren 2000; Brouthers and Brouthers 1997; Cantwell 1989; Cantwell and Janne 1999; Dunning 1980, 1995; Florida 1997; Hegde and Hicks 2008; Iwasa and Odagiri 2004; Kim and Lyn 1987; Kuemmerle 1999b; Kumar 2001; Odagiri and Yasuda 1996; Papanastassiou and Pearce 1994b; Song and Shin 2008; Wesson 1993); 5) externalities from agglomeration and spillovers (Almeida and Phene 2004; Branstetter 2006; Feinberg and Gupta 2004; Kumar 2001; Love 2003; Patel and Vega 1999; Pearson, Brockhoff, and Boehmer 1993; Sanna-Randaccio and Veugelers 2007); 6) proximity to natural resources (Ajami and Ricks 1981; Kumar 1998; Root and Ahmed 1978); and 7) proximity to suppliers (Ajami and Ricks 1981; Belderbos 2001; Chen 2007; Davis and Meyer 2004; Dunning and McKaig-Berliner 2002).

		Content	validity	Multicol	linearity	Indicato	r relevano	e	
Construct	t level	p <sub>sa</sub>	C <sub>sv</sub>	CI <sub>max</sub> VDP <sub>2nd</sub>					
		0.97	0.94	7.18	0.25				
Item level		p <sub>sa</sub>	C <sub>sv</sub>	r <sub>max</sub>	VIF	π	t	α	sign
EIQ.1	Employee qualification	1.00	1.00	-0.49	1.37	0.71	5.25	***	~
EIQ.2	Fewer regulations				elim	nated			
EIQ.3	Host government incentives	0.92	0.83	-0.35	1.18	0.27	1.85	*	~
EIQ.4	Technological know-how	1.00	1.00	-0.49	1.56	0.11	0.73	n.s.	~
EIQ.5	Externalities from agglomeration (i.e., spillovers)			•	elimi	nated			
EIQ.6	Proximity to natural resources		eliminated						
EIQ.7	Proximity to suppliers		eliminated						

Table 13: Fit Criteria of the Construct "Factor Quality"

Table 13 depicts the findings for "factor quality". The construct was operationalized with seven items, four of which had to be eliminated because of negative weight signs. Fewer regulations (EIQ.2), externalities from agglomeration (EIQ.5), proximity to natural resources (EIQ.6), and proximity to suppliers (EIQ.7), as surveyed in this study, do not seem to be part of the economies of location. The focus on manufacturing industries might explain the low relevance of natural resources (see Panhans 2008 and Breitschwerdt 2008, who come to a similar conclusion). In the existing literature, there is very little empirical evidence showing the effect of fewer regulations on international configuration. Externalities from agglomeration, however, have received considerable research attention. In the context of R&D, externalities occur by accessing clusters of scientific excellence, so-called "pockets of innovation". The unexpected result of EIQ.5 indicates that these spillovers from the local environment do not (yet) play a major role in emerging countries. The reasonmight be that cutting-

edge know-how for particular trendsetting technologies is often concentrated in geographically limited centers, which are generally located in developed countries (Ambos and Ambos 2009a). The same holds for the supply base. Furthermore, the role of clusters as drivers of knowledge- or resource-seeking investment is not without controversy. A number of recent studies argue that local competitive interaction in clusters might offset the potential attraction of knowledge spillovers (Aharonson, Baum, and Feldman 2007; Alcácer 2006; Alcácer and Chung 2007; Chung and Kalnins 2001; Shaver and Flyer 2000). Clusters in local networks might suffer from the problem of adverse selection because technological leaders have more to lose from knowledge leakages than they have to gain from knowledge spillovers (Cantwell 2009). The unexpected result of EIQ.7 indicates that local suppliers in emerging countries are still not seen as an important source of innovation. Moreover, this result is consistent with recent empirical evidence finding that under conditions in which quality of supply is high, subsidiaries do not show a higher degree of R&D activities (Davis and Meyer 2004). For the remaining three items, content validity is high. Multicollinearity does not pose an issue. All indices stay far below the critical threshold value. The negative pair-wise correlations indicate a certain substitutive effect, indicating that firms are mainly driven by one of the three factors, whereas government incentives might compensate for some less favorable conditions (see also DuBois, Toyne, and Oliff 1993).

The evaluation of indicator relevance shows that EIQ.4 has no significant weight, which is not surprising in the context of emerging economies. EIQ.1 and EIQ.3 are significantly different from zero at the 0.1% and 5% level, respectively. In particular, employee qualification contributes to the quality of factor endowments of the respective host country. However, the results also show the important role of government incentives.

Overall, the measurement of the construct "economies of location" is satisfactory, representing a valid construct for further use in the structural model.

#### 6.1.3 Cultural Distance

Cultural distance is generally defined as differences in values and beliefs between home and host countries. The seminal work of Hofstede (1980) distinguishes between four dimensions of cultural differences: power distance, individualism, uncertainty avoidance, and masculinity. Power distance reflects the extent to which members of an institution or organization expect and accept differences in power distribution. Individualism focuses on the relationship between the individual and groups. It measures the level of emphasis given to encouraging individuality and uniqueness in contrast to conformity and interdependence. Uncertainty avoidance describes the way cultures cope with uncertainty and ambiguity and adapt to changes. Cultures with high uncertainty avoidance feel threatened about uncertainty and prefer instructions, rules, and regulations. Masculinity reflects the extent to which a society emphasizes distinct gender roles. In masculine cultures, men are expected to be competitive, assertive, and focused on material success whereas women are supposed to be more relationship-oriented, modest, and concerned with the quality of life. In less masculine cultures, social gender roles are more fluid and overlap. Kogut and Singh (1988) combine Hofestede's framework in one composite index. Their cultural distance score, which can be calculated for any pair of countries, has been widely applied in international research (e.g., Erramilli and Rao 1993; Harzing 1999, 2002; Hennart and Larimo 1998; Kaufmann and Carter 2006; Luo 2001a) and particularly in the field of international R&D and cross-border knowledge transfer (e.g., Ambos and Schlegelmilch 2004; Ambos, Ambos, and Schlegelmilch 2006; Hakanson and Nobel 2001; Phene and Almeida 2008).

The literature often applies the terms cultural distance and psychic distance synonymously (e.g., Evans and Mavondo 2002; Gomes and Ramaswamy 1999; Kogut and Singh 1988; Lee 1998). Some scholars, however, argue for a broader interpretation of psychic distance. In addition to cultural aspects covered, they also include national environmental differences. Dow and Karunaratna (2006), for instance, consider differences in culture, language, religion, education, political systems, and time zones. Despite advocating for a broader definition of psychic distance, Dow and Karunaratna admit that the majority of articles recently published in the Journal of International Business Studies (one of the leading journals in the field) that refer to cultural or psychic distance relied on Hofstede's cultural dimensions or Kogut and Singh's related measures. In addition, Tihanyi, Griffith, and Russell (2005) assert in their meta-analysis on different effects of cultural distance that most existing studies apply the same measure of cultural distance based on Kogut and Singh (1988). Moreover, for purposes of this study, focusing on cultural aspects in a narrower sense is also reasonable from a content perspective because aspects of the broader definitions are already directly or indirectly captured by other constructs.

Hence, this study applies Kogut and Singh's (1988) definition and measurement of cultural distances. The cultural distance score for each country was calculated based on the deviation between Germany and the respective host country for each of the dimensions. The index is calculated as:

$$CD_{j} = \sum_{l=1}^{4} \left[ \left( I_{lj} - I_{lu} \right)^{2} / V_{l} \right] / 4$$

where  $CD_j$  is the cultural differences of the j<sup>th</sup> host country from the host country (Germany),  $I_{ij}$  represents the index of the i<sup>th</sup> cultural dimension and the j<sup>th</sup> country, and V<sub>i</sub> represents the variance of the index of the i<sup>th</sup> cultural dimension. The cultural distance score ranged from 1.23 (Brazil) to 3.77 (Malaysia).

# 6.2 Dimension B: Industry-Based Features

Dimension B of the research framework comprises exogenous environmental variables influencing the configuration of R&D in emerging economies. Three of the four variables introduced in the framework are multidimensional constructs consisting of multiple indicators. The other one is a single-item construct operationalized with only one indicator. Integrating single-item constructs in the context of SEM is in line with earlier literature (see, e.g., Birkinshaw, Morrison, and Hulland 1995). For an overview please refer to Fassott and Eggert (2005). In the past, it was argued that constructs are better measured with multi-item measures than with single-item measures (see Churchill 1979). More recently, however, researchers note that constructs measured with one item can be as effective as constructs measured with a large number of items. Bergkvist and Rossiter (2007) showed that there is no difference in the predictive validity of the multiple-item and single-item measures for certain circumstances. They argue that constructs have been operationalized by multiple items when single-item measures could be used and call for more parsimonious measures. In the study at hand, cost pressure and local product adaptation are considered to be concrete. Therefore, the application of a single-item measure is appropriate (see Bergkvist and Rossiter 2007). In PLS, measurement models with one indicator are set equal to constructs with multiple indicators regardless of the type of measurement model (Henseler and Fassott 2010). As a consequence, the construct validation is not applicable for the two single-item constructs of the framework.

#### 6.2.1 Technological Complexity

In existing studies, different scales have been used for measuring technological complexity. Kogut and Zander (1993) measure complexity of technology in terms of different types of manufacturing processes. Some authors apply "technology intensity" measured as the average ratio of R&D spending to sales (e.g., Cantwell and Mudambi 2005; Osborn and Baughn 1990). Several studies rely on aggregated R&D data at an industry or company level (e.g., Kobrin 1991; Kogut and Singh 1988). Gomes-Casseres (1989) also uses R&D industry average values gained but admits that "it would have been better to use the actual characteristics of the subsidiary" (p.8). In this study, the construct "technological complexity" intends to capture the technological characteristics of products handled by the subsidiary. It has been operationalized by three indicators: TecComp.1 measures the research intensity. With growing research intensity, products and processes are more innovative and more sophisticated; TecComp.2 covers the general technical complexity of products; and TecComp.3 targets the technology advantage relative to the competitive environment.

Table 14 shows the results of the construct "technological complexity". Item Tec-Comp.3 had to be deleted because of a negative weight sign. This result implies that complexity is driven by general product characteristics rather than by the firm's technology strategy. Both remaining items show high content validity. Multicollinearity does not pose an issue because correlation stays well below the critical threshold value. Indicator relevance is given for both indicators at the 0.1% (TecComp.1) and 5% (TecComp.2) level. With  $\pi$  of 0.59, research intensity seems to be the most important driver of technology complexity.

		Content	validity	Multicol	linearity	Indicator relevance			
Construct le	vel	p <sub>sa</sub> c <sub>sv</sub> Cl <sub>max</sub> VDP <sub>2nd</sub>							
		1.00	1.00	n.a.	n.a.				
Item level		p <sub>sa</sub> C <sub>sv</sub> r <sub>max</sub> VIF π t c		α	sign				
TecComp.1	Products are research-intensive	1.00	1.00	-0.44	n.a.	0.59	4.05	***	~
TecComp.2	Products are technically complex, no simple parts	1.00	1.00	-0.44	n.a.	0.31	1.69	*	~
TecComp.3	We try to outperform our competitions by offering products with more advanced technology	eliminated							

Table 14: Fit Criteria of the Construct "Technological Complexity"

# 6.2.2 Technological Turbulence

Technological turbulence describes the degree of change associated with product and process technologies in the industry in which a firm is embedded (Glazer and Weiss 1993; Hanvanich, Sivakumar, and Hult 2006; Jaworski and Kohli 1993; Moorman and Miner 1997). A high degree of turbulence is associated with a high degree of change and unpredictability regarding the technical requirements. Because product specifications for new technologies might not be stable and standardized yet, firms might rely on feedback and input from lead customers to optimize and further develop the products according to customer needs. Moreover, competitive pressure might force firms to constantly innovate and bring new technologies faster to the market, leading to higher rates of new product introductions (also referred to as industry clockspeed (Fine 1998)) and thus to more frequent changes in product and/or process technologies.

Accordingly, technological turbulence has been operationalized by four indicators: 1) instability of technical requirements over time; 2) necessity of customer input to technological requirements; 3) technological change forced by the industry; and 4) time-to-market improvements forced by the industry. All indicators were measured on a five-point Likert scale.

		Content	validity	Multicol	linearity	Indicato	r relevano	e	
Construct le	vel	p <sub>sa</sub>	C <sub>sv</sub>	Cl <sub>max</sub>	VDP <sub>2nd</sub>				
		1.00	1.00	10.94	0.34				
Item level		p <sub>sa</sub>	C <sub>sv</sub>	r <sub>max</sub>	VIF	π	t	α	sign
TecTurb.1	Technical requirements are instable over time	1.00	1.00	-0.13	1.03	0.31	2.03	*	~
TecTurb.2	Technical requirements require customer input	1.00	1.00	-0.25	1.08	0.05	0.46	(n.s.)	~
TecTurb.3	Each year our industry forces significant technological changes		-		elimi	nated			
TecTurb.4	Each year our industry forces significant time-to-market improvements	1.00	1.00	-0.25	1.08	0.87	8.74	***	~

Table 15: Fit Criteria of the Construct "Technological Turbulence"

The results of the construct are depicted in Table 15. Contrary to expectations, Tec-Turb.3 showed a negative weight sign and thus had to be eliminated. A possible explanation might be a narrow interpretation of "technological changes". Respondents might have limited technological change to radical innovations only (see Tellis, Prabhu, and Chandy 2009). The remaining three indicators show a high content validity. Multicollinearity does not represent an issue because the indicators exhibit only minor pair-wise correlation. The negative sign indicates substitutive effects between the items, confirming the formative nature of the operationalization. In addition,  $CI_{max}$  and  $VDP_{2nd}$  are well below the threshold values. The evaluation of indicator relevance shows that TecTurb.1 and TecTurb.4 are statistically significant at the 5% and 0.1% levels, respectively. The insignificance of TecTurb.2 might lead to the conclusion that, in an emerging economy setting, customer specifications with regard to innovative technologies is rather low. Instead of customer specifications, technological innovation and change seems be mainly triggered by competition within the industry, forcing shorter product development cycles. This indication is underscored by the indicator weight of 0.87 for TecTurb.4.

# 6.2.3 Local Responsiveness

In this study, local responsiveness relates to the degree to which products need to be customized to local requirements. The present work thus considers the variable in the narrower sense of product modifications and adaptations to local requirements.

In the context of the integration-responsiveness paradigm, literature has built on "responsiveness" as one dimension to define MNEs' internationalization strategies (e.g., Bartlett and Ghoshal 1989; Johnson 1995; Leong and Tan 1993; Prahalad and Doz 1987). Regarding this dimension, different labels and conceptualizations have evolved over time. Unlike the present study, these operationalizations generally consider responsiveness in a broader sense (e.g., Taggart 1998c) and as synonymous with localization of activities (e.g., Harzing 2000). The study of Luo (2001b) models responsiveness as a focal construct and analyzes its major determinants. He operationalized the construct on the basis of three questions covering a subsidiary's responsiveness to strategic, structural, and overall environmental changes. This approach also underlies a broad perspective of the construct; moreover, it does not contain R&D-specific insights.

Considering local responsiveness in terms of local product adaptation, Kotabe and Omura (1989) applied a four-point scale to measure the level of product adaptation of

European and Japanese MNEs for the U.S. market. In the current study, local responsiveness has been conceptualized as an environmental variable that is analyzed for its effect on international R&D configuration. Focusing on the necessity of product adaptation for the local host market, it has been operationalized as a single-item construct on a five-point scale. Respondents were asked to assess the importance of adapting products to local requirements to successfully adapt to local business conditions. The Likert scale ranged from 1 (not at all important) to 5 (extremely important).

#### 6.2.4 Cost Pressure

Companies are subject to different degrees of cost pressure. This corresponds to Bartlett and Ghoshal's (1989) typology, which considers cost pressure – in addition to pressure for local responsiveness – as one dimension to define internationalization strategies. The product life cycle perspective assumes that price competition varies across time and intensifies with increasing maturity and standardization. In later stages, there is a tendency toward low-cost strategies, an approach more in line with Porter's (1980) industry structure view (see Nadeau and Casselman 2008, p.404). Porter defines cost leadership as one of the three generic competitive strategies that firms can choose to compete in the market. In this study, "cost pressure" comprises both aspects: firm external industry pressure (Cost.1) and firm internal cost pressure derived from the competitive strategy of the firm (Cost.2). To measure Cost.2, the questionnaire asked for the "price" rather than for the "cost". This formulation was chosen because pricing strategy was considered to be more tangible for the respondents to evaluate the company's positioning relative to competitors. This approach is also in line with Porter (1980), who argues that cost leadership typically goes along with aggressive pricing.

Table 16 shows the results of the measurement model. Both items display high content validity. Problems of multicollinearity do not occur because pair-wise correlation  $r_{max}$  stays well below the threshold value. The negative correlation coefficient indi-

cates a substitutive effect between the two items. With stronger industry cost pressure, the firms seem to increasingly avoid price competition and instead choose alternative competitive strategies. The evaluation of indicator relevance shows that the weights of both indicators are significantly different from zero: Cost.1 at the 0.1% level, Cost.2 at the 5% level. The indicator weights reveal that industry cost pressure is of higher relevance ( $\pi$ =0.86).

		Content	validity	Multicol	linearity	Indicator relevance			
Construct	level	p <sub>sa</sub>	C <sub>sv</sub>	Cl <sub>max</sub>	VDP <sub>2nd</sub>	2nd			
		1.00	1.00	n.a.	n.a.				
Item level		p <sub>sa</sub>	C <sub>sv</sub>	r <sub>max</sub>	VIF	<del>π</del> t α		sign	
Cost.1	Each year our industry forces significant cost improvements	1.00	1.00	-0.23	n.a.	0.86	4.55	***	~
Cost.2	We try to outperform our competitors by offering products with lower prices	1.00	1.00	-0.23	n.a.	0.32	1.71	*	~

Table 16: Fit Criteria of the Construct "Cost Pressure"

Finally, Table 17 depicts the correlation matrix of the independent variables introduced. It shows that multicollinearity is not an issue because all correlations stay well below the threshold of +/-0.9.

		Мо	EI	Cult	TecComp	TecTurb	LocRes	Cost
Market opportunities	Мо	1.00						
Economies of location	El	0.19	1.00					
Cultural distance	Cult	-0.02	-0.10	1.00				
Technological complexity	TecComp	0.00	-0.02	0.04	1.00			
Technological turbulence	TecTurb	0.06	0.10	-0.10	0.33	1.00		
Local responsiveness	LocRes	0.33	0.13	-0.02	0.04	0.14	1.00	
Cost pressure	Cost	0.04	0.23	-0.17	0.09	0.34	0.09	1.00

Table 17: Correlation Matrix of the Independent Variables

# 6.3 Dimension C: R&D Configuration

Dimension C of the research framework comprises the three international R&D configuration strategies constituting the endogenous variables of the framework.

There is a wide body of literature concerning the different subsidiary strategies and roles (e.g., Bartlett and Ghoshal 1986; Gupta and Govindarajan 1991; Jarillo and Martinez 1990; Taggart 1997; White and Poynter 1984). As outlined in the literature review, several approaches have been used to measure MNEs' international R&D configuration. Most of the existing typologies and roles are taxonomies measured at the MNE level or categorizations of foreign R&D activities based on several or a dichotomous set of factors or motives. Moreover, they often do not differentiate between the dimensions used to measure the strategy variables (endogenous action) and the motives that are expected to influence the choice of strategy (exogenous pressure), preventing an analysis of the effect of specific environmental features on R&D configuration. Therefore, previous operationalizations of international R&D strategies and roles were not appropriate for purposes of this study. To overcome the described issues, the basic scale emerging from Jarillo and Martinez (1990; 1991) was adapted for this study to measure the R&D configuration strategy. This scale allows for the calculation of the degree of localization and integration at the subsidiary level. To measure the degree of localization abroad, this study follows the definition of Kumar (2000a; 2000b) and understands localization as the share of value creation that is, from a subsidiary perspective, received neither from headquarters nor from other foreign affiliates. Following Kobrin (1991), integration is defined as intra-firm resource flow across borders. It is operationalized by analyzing the share of "imported" and "exported" R&D results of the individual subsidiaries. Conceptually, this procedure corresponds to the measurement of the knowledge inflow and outflow on the subsidiary level by Gupta and Govindarajan (1991; 1994).

Respondents were asked (1) whether their affiliate conducts R&D. If yes, they were asked to indicate (2) what share of their R&D results are used by foreign group mem-

bers (output interdependencies), and (3) what share of their affiliate's products builds upon R&D conducted by headquarters or other foreign subsidiaries (input interdependencies). The strategy mix for each subsidiary is calculated based on the share of received R&D, which is denoted as M, and the share of R&D provided for other group members, which is denoted as X.

The value of "Global Innovation" is measured by the share of exported value creation X:

The value of Implementation (IMP) is calculated based on the share of R&D results received by the foreign affiliate for local market use:

The value of "Local Innovation" represents the share of local value creation for the local market. It covers all those R&D activities that a subsidiary conducts without any cross-border integration and can be calculated as follows:

Table 18 provides an overview of the calculations of R&D configuration strategies as they were applied for this study.

Based on this operationalization, the three strategies add up to one. The derived strategy is calculated from the free combination of the three types of configuration. Thus, instead of grouping subsidiaries into distinct categories (e.g., by using median splits along the measures (e.g., Ambos, Ambos, and Schlegelmilch 2006, p.301), a strategy mix can be derived for each subsidiary. This approach allows for the analysis of current configuration strategies and developments over time, as well as an analysis of substitutive effects between the different strategies.

R&D configuration strategy		Variables	Question	
Global Innovation (GI)		Х	<ul> <li>Which share of R&amp;D results are used by other group members ?</li> <li>→ X</li> </ul>	
Implementation (IMP)		(1-X) * M	<ul> <li>Which share of your affiliate's products builds upon R&amp;D conducted by</li> </ul>	
Local Innovation (LI)		(1-X) * (1-M)	other group members? $\rightarrow M$	
		∑ = 100%		

Table 18: Calculation of R&D Configuration Strategies

In addition to providing the current import and export shares, respondents were also asked about their current plans for the future. A time horizon of five years was chosen, which is in line with existing empirical research in the field of IB (e.g., Martinez and Jarillo 1991) and with Kaplan and Norton (2007), who recommend a five-year planning horizon for resource allocation. Inquiring about imports and exports for two points in time allows us to answer the exploratory research question for the intertemporal development of R&D configurations.
### 7 Empirical Results and Discussion

The goal of this thesis is to understand the features related to the configuration of foreign R&D activities in emerging economies. This chapter provides answers to the four research questions addressed by the thesis. The first section addresses research questions 1a and 1b and analyzes: a) the R&D configuration strategies of German firms in emerging countries, and b) how these strategies vary in different settings. The second section addresses research questions 2a and 2b and analyzes the influence of location-based and industry-based features on R&D configuration according to the hypotheses derived in Chapter 4.

#### 7.1 Exploratory Results

Before carrying out an investigation of the drivers of R&D configuration, one may start with a sense of how R&D is actually configured (research question 1a) and move on to consider how the configurations differ in different host countries, in different industries, and with differences in affiliate and MNE characteristics, as well as how the strategies change over time (research question 1b). The corresponding analysis to answer these questions is done in an exploratory manner and corresponds to "fact-finding research", which tries to discover differences in data and to explain these differences (see Wacker 1998, p.372). It serves two main purposes: First, the analysis provides researchers with insights, food for thought, and impulses for further research in this field. Second, it provides managers with a richer understanding of industrial R&D activities in emerging countries.

## 7.1.1 Research Question 1a: Which R&D Configuration Strategies Do Foreign Subsidiaries in Emerging Countries Pursue?

Figure 7 depicts the average R&D configuration strategy mix held by the 268 analyzed subsidiaries in percentage points. The results clearly show that Implementation represents the most widespread strategy for German MNEs in emerging countries. With shares of 18% and 10%, respectively, the Local Innovation and Global Innovation strategies are less prevalent.



Figure 7: Average R&D Configuration Strategy Mix of Foreign Subsidiaries

This distribution of the three strategies supports the expectation that most R&D work is not localized in emerging economies; subsidiaries prefer to rely on the R&D competencies of other parts of the MNE network. Despite the observed trend of increasing investments in R&D in emerging economies in the past two decades (Boehe 2008; Gammeltoft 2006; UNCTAD 2005), major R&D activities and leading-edge innovation are still concentrated in competence centers in the triad and are rarely relocated in emerging economies; such centralization thus allows firms to benefit from economies of scale (Dalton and Serapio 1999; Kumar 2001). The bulk of subsidiary R&D in emerging countries comprises customization or minor adaptation of products or processes to local customer preferences or to local technology and factor markets. The available evidence supports that one-way technology transfer from headquarters to the foreign affiliate (Kaufmann and Roessing 2005) is still predominant; bidirectional and intense technology interaction across segments of a globally dispersed value chain, with lateral or reverse knowledge transfer, plays a minor role (10%). Instead, the output of local R&D in emerging countries is mainly targeted for local use within the subsidiary. Regarding output interdependencies, Ambos and Ambos (2009a, p.34) found evidence that the beneficiary from non-triad R&D units is usually headguarters; while the laboratories are closely linked to headquarters' operations, they

maintain far looser ties in horizontal relationships, such as to other foreign R&D units or manufacturing sites.

In addition to the average strategy mix of the subsidiaries, the consideration of "pure" strategies (see Habib and Victor 1991) allows further insights. A "pure" strategy is one in which the share of a certain strategy accounts for 100%. In the present sample, 60% of the investigated subsidiaries follow a "pure" Implementation strategy (i.e., they fully build on technologies that have been developed by other units without performing their own R&D activities). This level indicates that the majority of companies still refrain from establishing R&D units in emerging economies. Yet 40% of the subsidiaries in the sample have built up distinct R&D competencies and develop their own product and/or process technologies. Of these subsidiaries, 14% follow a pure Local Innovation strategy or Global Innovation strategy. In the former case (i.e., Local Innovation), the R&D units perform all innovation activities for the respective local subsidiary independently and without interdependencies with headquarters and other affiliates of the MNE network. This independence requires the laboratories to have a broad set of competencies covering knowledge of all relevant technology fields. In the latter case (i.e., Global Innovation), the R&D units are part of an international, interdependent innovation network and provide all their product or process technologies to other MNE group members for subsequent use. These laboratories are usually highly specialized and possess great expertise for certain products or technologies.

The results revealing that value creation of R&D units in emerging countries is mainly limited to minor support activities, such as facilitating the transfer and application of product and process technologies, confirm the findings of previous studies on R&D in "peripheral" countries. Ambos and Ambos (2009a) report in their exploratory study of foreign R&D investments that firms primarily localize their R&D activities in developed countries rather than in non-triad countries. Investigating the reasons, the authors found that the strong increase in R&D localization abroad that has been observed since the 1990s primarily results from a significant increase in capability-augmenting and knowledge-seeking R&D investments. The majority of such units are located in

innovation clusters or "pockets of knowledge", which can, in turn, be primarily found within triad countries. This argument is also reflected in the operationalization of constructs (see Chapter 4.1.2), implying that spillovers from clusters are not considered an important source of competitive advantage in emerging countries. Based on their analysis, Ambos and Ambos (2009a) conclude with regard to the localization of R&D activities that "the prospects of non-triad nations to participate in the quest for inward R&D will be relatively low" (p.33). Manolopoulos, Papanastassiou, and Pearce (2007, p.678) studied the characteristics of R&D in Greece, as an example of a middleincome and peripheral country in terms of industrial development. The results of the study also reveal that adaptation of existing products and technologies to local conditions, which corresponds to the Implementation strategy in this study, still represents the primary aim of subsidiary R&D in a peripheral country context. In contrast, studies on international R&D in developed countries report far higher levels of R&D activities related to accessing new technological knowledge and capabilities. Kuemmerle (1997) observed that about 45% of foreign R&D sites are considered to be HBA units that are intended to generate benefits from the local technological expertise. Drawing on data from the European patent office, Le Bas and Sierra (2002) estimate the share of resource- or technology-seeking R&D investments abroad at about 47% for all MNEs and at approximately 55% for German MNEs. The study of Ambos (2005) finds this mandate in only about 33% of the foreign R&D units. Ambos explains part of the difference by turning to the different measurement criteria applied in the studies: While patent studies rely on output measures, his survey measures mandates in terms of input – namely, the percentage of personnel working on HBA as opposed to HBE projects. Thus, the results of the current study indicate that, compared to subsidiary R&D in developed countries, R&D in emerging countries is characterized by a lower degree of localization, with a predominance of support and adaptation activities and a lower degree of cross-border integration regarding the output of subsidiary R&D.

#### 7.1.2 Research Question 1b: How Do These Strategies Vary Across Different Contexts and Over Time?

To get further and more detailed insights into the configuration of R&D in emerging countries, variations across different contexts and over time were investigated. This analysis goes beyond the scope of most extant studies and thus provides a further contribution in the understanding of MNE subsidiary R&D strategies. Split sample analyses were conducted for several grouping variables to identify differences for the following parameters: industry affiliation, host country affiliation, MNE characteristics, subsidiary characteristics, and temporal effects.



Figure 8: Average R&D Configuration Strategy Mix by Industry

Figure 8 depicts the average strategy mix by industry, showing differences between all industries and the deviation of individual industry values from the total sample. Significant differences between the five investigated industries can be observed for both the Implementation and the Global Innovation strategy; however, the differences do not reach a maximum level of statistical significance (p<5%). The distribution of the R&D strategies among the industries shows significant differences in the pharmaceutical and mechanical engineering sectors. Note that while this analysis solely considers descriptive differences between subsidiary R&D strategies based on industry affiliation, research question 2b addresses the influence of specific pressures within the industry on the R&D configuration. These pressures might vary in the five industry categories because each of the categories comprises various sectors that might be charaterized by different features and structures.

Considering the distribution of the configuration strategies between the industries, it turns out that the Implementation strategy accounts for nearly the same share in all industries except pharmaceuticals. With a share of 57% (p<5%), the subsidiaries in the pharmaceutical industry rely to a significantly smaller degree on Implementation, suggesting that pharmaceutical companies perform more R&D locally in emerging economies compared to the other manufacturing industries. Accordingly, this approach is also reflected in its highest share of Local Innovation and Global Innovation, revealing both a perceived need for the development of local products and a high degree of subsidiary-level innovativeness in the industry. The R&D activities of these pharmaceutical subsidiaries are, more than in the other units subsequently use; this arrangement allows the foreign R&D units to contribute to the creativity and competitiveness of the overall group.

This pattern of R&D internationalization supports previous findings. Manolopoulos, Papanastassiou, and Pearce (2007) found that foreign subsidiaries in the pharmaceutical industry in Greece have the lowest commitment to a support laboratory role compared to other industries, indicating that local R&D "was not merely related to

meeting local testing and regulatory requirements" (p.667) but instead undertook more substantial innovation activities. In an earlier study, Gerybadze and Reger (1999) already observed that pharmaceutical firms are significantly different from those in other industries because they have a higher proportion of foreign R&D. Also, Niosi (1999) concluded that firms in the pharmaceutical industry are at the "forefront of the globalization of R&D" (p.108). This pioneering role not only seems to hold for the internationalization of R&D in developed countries, as investigated by previous studies, but, as the current study indicates, also seems to hold for the more recent localization of R&D activities in emerging economies.

Mechanical engineering and the chemical sector exhibit the lowest degree of local value creation and output interdependencies with other units, with significant deviations for the mechanical engineering industry (p<5%). Some subsidiary R&D is performed to develop local products; however, most of the technology comes from other parts of the organizational network, and only a marginal part of the R&D activities is provided to other units. The low degree of Global Innovation in mechanical engineering might result from a centralization of innovation activities in the home country. Gerybadze and Reger (1999) assert that MNEs from large European countries with a predominant technology base in their home country (e.g., mechanical engineering and automotive) "still tend to concentrate a significant part of their research in the country of origin" (p.259). Germany, in particular, is known for its centers of excellence in the mechanical engineering sector (Kaufmann and Tritt 2007), with industry clusters providing a fruitful environment for innovation and the development of competitive advantages (Grünert and Fuchs 2007). Regarding the chemical sector, previous studies show mixed results. Manolopoulos, Papanastassiou, and Pearce (2007) do not explicitly differentiate between the pharmaceutical and chemical industries and likewise report a comparatively high degree of global innovation for both sectors. Also, the patent analysis of Le Bas and Sierra (2002) revealed that, for foreign R&D in European countries, HBA FDI in R&D, which in principle corresponds to the Global Innovation strategy, represents the dominant strategy in the technological fields related to the pharmaceutical and chemical industries. However, the results of the current study indicate that there are differences between these two industries. This finding is supported by the investigation of Ambos and Ambos (2009a) on R&D in peripheral countries; their study found evidence that, in particular, laboratories in the chemical industry possess only local market responsibility. Although the data of this study do not show a significant difference in relation to the total sample, the relatively high degree of Local Innovation and low degree of Global Innovation in the chemical industry provide a hint in this direction. The authors offer the following statement from a manager in a chemical company to reflect the exception in the industry: "The reason for setting up an R&D unit in the host country is due to the fact they cannot get the same ingredients in the host country as in the home country and thus have to do some research and fine-tuning and adjust their product using the resources available in the home country" (see p. 33; "Germany" replaced by "home country" and "India" replaced by "host country").

Figure 9 depicts the average R&D configuration strategy mix by host country. Note that, in contrast to the industry split, variations between the five analyzed countries reach a high level of significance for all strategies. Furthermore, variations of individual host countries from the total sample turn out to be more pronounced than for individual industries.

India and Brazil are the countries that attract the most local R&D activities. With 45% and 41%, respectively, subsidiaries located in these countries undertake a significantly higher degree of innovation activities than the average of the subsidiaries in all countries (28%). Both countries also exhibit the highest degree of Local Innovation and Global Innovation. The extensive performance of local-for-local activities (28% in India and 25% in Brazil) can be explained by the large market size of both countries, which motivates firms to develop locally the products that fit the specific host market requirements. High host market volumes and growth rates reduce the hurdles to investment in R&D because a sufficiently large local market allows subsidiaries to spread R&D costs over a higher output volume. India and Brazil not only attract market-seeking R&D investments but also, compared to other emerging countries, are

attractive offshore locations for resource-seeking R&D. The relatively high proportion of R&D activities that are performed for subsequent use by other members of the MNE network (17% in India, 16% in China) indicates that both countries offer abundant resources required for innovation activities at relatively lower costs, prompting MNEs to locate part of their R&D activities in these locations. This finding is consistent with the results, provided by Ambos and Ambos (2009a), that identify India and Brazil as preferred locations for globally integrated R&D activities; these researchers observed that "[o]nly a very few of our sampled firms located their capability augmenting activities in one of the rare knowledge clusters outside the triad. India and Brazil, both large markets, are the most popular locations" (p.33).

Interestingly, China exhibits a lower degree of local R&D activities compared to the other two market heavyweights, India and Brazil, and instead relies on technologies from other countries. There might be several reasons for this finding. While many MNEs consider India to be the "world's development center", with attractive conditions for R&D activities, China has gained the reputation as the "world's elongated workbench", providing attractive conditions for the localization of manufacturing activities (Kaufmann, Koch, and Panhans 2006). This difference might also be caused by the relative scarcity of qualified personnel and the difficulties in attracting, retaining, and motivating engineers and scientists that are able to perform sophisticated development tasks (Kaufmann et al. 2006b). Furthermore, investment barriers, such as insufficient protection of intellectual property rights and enforcement of contracts, constrain the localization of R&D activities in China (Kaufmann et al. 2006a; Weeks 2000; Yang and Jiang 2007). MNEs fear a loss of their know-how to local competitors and corresponding economic damage because of plagiarism and counterfeit products (Kaufmann and Jentzsch 2006; Luo and Park 2001). Also, the interviews conducted by Zedtwitz (2004) on R&D in China revealed that intellectual property issues are of concern particularly for nonpublic-domain innovation activities, leading to a lower degree of local value creation. The author asserts that "[i]t is important to notice that some of the surveyed R&D centers were not conducting indigenous technology R&D but rather [were] focused on technology monitoring and corporate R&D representation. While these R&D units would not qualify as full-fledged R&D labs by most interpretations, they are nevertheless part of the parent company's international R&D network and often form the nucleus of more significant future R&D investment" (p.443). However, extant research found mixed evidence of the role of intellectual property protection on the localization of R&D activities. Kumar (2001), for instance, could show that the lack of adequate patent protection does not affect the attractiveness for R&D in emerging countries in cases where the country is otherwise well-suited for R&D activity.



Figure 9: Average R&D Configuration Strategy Mix by Host Country

Russia stands out for its high share of Implementation, which is significantly more

pronounced (91%, p<1%) than in any other of the investigated countries, at the cost of Local Innovation and Global Innovation. The corresponding low degree of local value creation might be ascribed to market opportunities that have been found to represent the most important motive for activities of German companies in Russia, while location advantages only play a subordinate role. Companies largely rely on products that have been developed at corporate headquarters or other R&D labs for sales in Russia. Moreover, the country exhibits high investment barriers, particularly regarding regulations and transparency of the business environment (Kaufmann, Panhans, and Tritt 2007), presenting unfavorable conditions in particular for headquarters' commitment to localize knowledge-intensive activities, such as R&D, that are considered a source of competitive advantage (Delios and Henisz 2000; Roessing 2006).

Subsidiaries in ASEAN countries also exhibit a relatively low share of local R&D activities and rely on R&D competencies of other units from the MNE network (84%, p<1%) at a higher-than-average level. The output of the local R&D units is mainly targeted for use in their respective local subsidiary; development activities for third markets play hardly any role. This configuration can be attributed to the small size of the individual economies and market differences within the region (Kaufmann and Tritt 2007), rendering the development of individual products for each market commercially unattractive. Furthermore, in the past there have been major obstacles and delays in the integration process toward an effective domestic market (Stadtmann, Kaufmann, and Weigand 2004). MNEs investing in ASEAN still face some trade barriers in the region, impeding effective cross-border integration and the exploitation of economies of scale.

The R&D strategy mix also was analyzed for its sensitivity with regard to MNE and subsidiary characteristics. The grouping variables were dichotomized for split-sample analysis (high and low level) along the median. This procedure corresponds with common research practice (e.g., Goerzen and Beamish 2003). While the previous analyses assessed the deviation of individual group values from the total value, as well as the differences between all groups, the following context variables directly ad-

dress the two respective subsamples derived from the median split.

Figure 10 illustrates the effect of MNE-related characteristics on subsidiary R&D strategy in percentage points and the corresponding cut-off values. Turnover and the number of employees have been used to capture the size of the MNE and therefore have similar effects, although with differing strengths. It can be inferred that larger MNEs make stronger use of Global Innovation in emerging economies at the cost of the Implementation and Local Innovation strategies. Despite the negative sign for Local Innovation, one can observe a net increase in local value creation. Thus, larger firms tend to have a higher proportion of R&D activities located in emerging economies. Furthermore, these units are more closely integrated into the MNE network and develop new products for global or other emerging markets, allowing the MNEs to benefit from advantageous host country factor markets on the one hand and economies of scale on the other. Thus, larger firms tend to avoid investments to build up and maintain R&D competencies in emerging economies.



Figure 10: MNE-Related Differences in Average R&D Configuration

International experience, measured as the number of countries in which the MNE operates, is significantly negatively related to Local Innovation (-11.3%, p<1%), implying

that MNEs that are active in a larger number of countries more strongly rely on an integrated network of internationally dispersed R&D units. Rather than replicating R&D activities in each country to develop products for the local market, the companies bundle innovation activities in centers that have cross-border responsibilities. Enright (2009) expected international experience of a firm to be positively related to the localization of R&D activities but found no significant relationship. He attributes the lack of significance to the fact that R&D represents a threshold activity that may not depend directly on international experience beyond a certain level, inducing MNEs to have only limited numbers of R&D locations (see p.833). The present analysis supports this proposition.

Figure 11 depicts group differences for subsidiary characteristics. The results indicate that subsidiary-related characteristics seem to be more strongly related to R&D configuration than MNE-related characteristics. In contrast to the age of the MNE, which showed no significant effect on R&D configuration, the subsidiary age was found to be connected with increases in Local Innovation and Global Innovation at the cost of Implementation. This reveals that subsidiaries that have been established for a longer period tend to localize more R&D activities – mainly to develop specific products for the local market (+14.5%, p<0.1%) but also to provide technological capabilities for other parts of the network (+4.1%, p<1%). This increasing localization is consistent with the learning theory of internationalization, which assumes that firms internationalize with a stepwise increase in foreign value creation and resource commitment after they have gained sufficient experience in the local country. The growing importance of Global Innovation could be explained by the local R&D unit's increasing competence and performance over time. This argumentation is in line with prior research finding the performance of a laboratory site to be positively related to the age of the site (Kuemmerle 1998) and suggesting that, with increasing maturity, a subsidiary can contribute more creatively to technology generation within the MNE network, "having had time to evolve away from principally a domestic orientation and towards more closely internationally integrated relationships" (Cantwell and Mudambi 2005, p.1124).

Subsidiary size in terms of employees and turnover is also positively related to the localization of R&D activities, which is reflected in significantly increasing shares of the Local Innovation and Global Innovation strategies at the cost of Implementation. That larger subsidiaries would perform more innovation activities seems logical. Kuemmerle (1998) argues that if R&D sites are too small, there is not enough opportunity for a stimulating exchange among R&D groups and a lack of access to scientific support structures within the subsidiary, which negatively affects the performance of the unit. Accordingly, larger subsidiaries are in a superior position to develop distinct technological competencies that allow the R&D unit to contribute to the MNE's global innovation network. Nevertheless, the greater increase in local-for-local innovation, compared to output generation for other units, suggests that local market drivers prevail over supply drivers for subsidiary growth in emerging economies.



Figure 11: Subsidiary-Related Differences in Average R&D Configuration

Subsidiary importance was measured based on the number of employees, using a ratio of subsidiary employees to MNE employees. The larger this ratio, the higher the relevance of the subsidiary within the group. Consistent with the absolute measure of

subsidiary size, it turns out that relatively important subsidiaries are less dependent on technological input from the rest of the MNE and instead revert to their own R&D competencies to develop products for the local subsidiary (+ 16.1%, p<0.1%), as well as for other units of the MNE network (+ 6.6%, p<0.1%).

The share of R&D costs was measured on the basis of the product cost composition of the end products, as indicated by the survey respondents. The median share of R&D costs of the investigated firms is 6%, which corresponds approximately to the average share of internal R&D expenses on gross value added for German manufacturing industries (Stifterverband 2010). The analysis shows that a high share of R&D costs is negatively related to Local Innovation (-8.9%, p<5%), in favor of Implementation and Global Innovation. This relationship implies that research intensity encourages firms to link R&D activities across borders in a limited number of laboratories. enabling a better use of available competencies and the realization of specialization and scale effects, as well as enabling MNEs to avoid costs of duplicate development work in independent R&D units (Gassmann and Zedtwitz 1998, 1999; Reger 2004). Although the deviations do not reach statistical significance (p>0.1%), it is interesting to observe that there is a larger increase of Global Innovation (+5.0) than of Implementation (+3.8); this indicates that MNEs facing a high share of R&D costs tend to maintain interdependent R&D units in emerging economies, which allows them to take advantage of favorable labor costs compared to units in developed countries (Li and Yue 2005; Zedtwitz 2004).

The variable "equity share" was analyzed for differences between wholly owned subsidiaries and joint ventures. Wholly owned affiliates exhibit a significantly higher degree of Implementation (+15.4%, p<1%) at the cost of Local Innovation (-17.9%, p<0.1%). A positive effect is also visible on Global Innovation (+2.5%), although without reaching statistical significance. In other words, the results suggest that joint ventures act independently and are less integrated into the global MNE innovation network, in terms of technological input and output. A broad body of literature has investigated the circumstances under which MNEs choose to establish foreign joint ventures with local partners rather than wholly owned subsidiaries (e.g., Brouthers, Brouthers, and Werner 2001; Gomes-Casseres 1989; Hennart 1991; Madhok 1997; Mutinelli and Piscitello 1998; Penner-Hahn 1998; Zheng, Anand, and Mitchell 2005). These studies have generally confirmed that a lack of local market knowledge motivates parent firms to collaborate with a local partner that provides complementary resources and is familiar with the idiosyncratic ways of doing business. Knowledge on the specific local market requirements might induce subsidiaries to build up R&D capabilities, allowing them to turn specific market insights or technological capabilities into products that fit with the specific local customer preferences. Wholly owned subsidiaries are more likely if the parent firm plans to transfer advanced proprietary technologies to its foreign operations. Full ownership is preferred because of the risk of opportunism and the potential expropriation and misuse of the MNE's technical product and process know-how by the (local) joint venture partner (lsobe, Makino, and Montgomery 2000; Tackaberry 1998). These hazards are more salient in emerging countries, relative to developed countries, because they typically lack effective institutional legal frameworks, such as the protection of property rights (Spicer, McDermott, and Kogut 2000; Zhang et al. 2007; Zhao 2006). In some cases, local government might even provide tacit support for local firms to expropriate proprietary technologies of the MNEs (Delios and Henisz 2000). Accordingly, MNEs are more reluctant to provide technological know-how to local joint venture firms compared to wholly owned subsidiaries, which is reflected in a higher degree of Implementation. Moreover, the literature on international R&D management has shown that the adaptation of coordination and control processes to efficiently manage an internationally dispersed network of R&D units is extremely difficult and requires substantial investments in new organizational routines (see Belderbos 2003, p.238). Thus, cross-border integration might be easier and less costly using an internal mode of control, causing firms to try to minimize interdependencies with joint ventures; this approach is then reflected in a higher degree of Global Innovation in wholly owned subsidiaries.



Figure 12: Expected Changes in R&D Configuration by Industry

The configuration of international R&D is not static but subject to development over time (Hegde and Hicks 2008; Le Bas and Sierra 2002; Patel and Vega 1999). To identify changes in configuration, we compare the current strategy mix with the midterm plans by the subsidiary. In line with previous research by Jarillo and Martinez (1990, 1991), respondents were asked to provide information on the current resource interdependencies of their subsidiary and also on their firm's plans for the next five years, which typically represent the outcomes of the strategic planning processes.

Figure 12 depicts the planned changes in R&D strategy mix by industry. In total and over all industries, there is a significant increase in the share of Global Innovation (+3.8, p<0.1%) at the cost of Implementation (-3.6, p<0.1%), and Local Innovation shows only few changes that do not reach statistical significance. These results imply a general trend away from transferring technology from headquarters or R&D units in developed countries to subsidiaries in emerging economies and toward a more substantive localization of R&D activities in emerging economies. Emerging economy

subsidiaries thus will benefit from increasing international dispersion of R&D capabilities, and innovation processes will become increasingly globally polycentric (Sachwald 2008). In addition to their traditional adaptation and support activities, R&D units in emerging countries will gain more regional or global responsibility and develop toward centers of excellence (Forsgren, Johanson, and Sharma 2000; Frost, Birkinshaw, and Ensign 2002). They will be increasingly integrated into company innovation networks and will provide R&D competencies for other members of the MNE network. This development might also involve subsidiary specialization on the design and rollout of particular products or technologies (Archibugi and Pianta 1992; Cantwell 1992; Frost 2001).

The strongest intentions to increase the share of Global Innovation can be observed in subsidiaries of the electrical engineering industry (+4.5%, p<0.1%) and the pharmaceutical industry (+4.4, p<1%); the automotive industry exhibits the weakest dynamism (+2.9, p<10%). Interestingly, the electrical engineering and pharmaceutical industries already exhibit the highest absolute share of R&D localization (see Figure 8 and the related discussion). Thus, instead of seeing other industries catching up, these two industries will further strengthen their pioneering position regarding R&D capabilities in emerging economies. Despite their similar augmentation of Global Innovation, the two industries seem to follow somewhat different approaches: Subsidiaries in the electrical engineering sector intend to reduce the input provided by other units by 6% (p<1%), which represents the sharpest decline of all industries in favor of both Global Innovation and Local Innovation. The latter suggests an increasing effort to respond to specific local customer requirements. Subsidiaries in the pharmaceutical sector, in contrast, plan to reduce the technological input from headquarters and other units by 3% (p<10%); meanwhile, they also plan to reduce the amount of local R&D efforts targeted only toward the host country, allowing firms to realize additional economies of scale.

The increase of Global Innovation applies consistently across all analyzed industries and equally across all analyzed host countries (see Figure 13). India (+6.8%, p<0.1%)

and China (+6.4, p<1%) exhibit the highest expected increase in Global Innovation. Also, subsidiaries in Brazil and in the analyzed ASEAN countries are expected to develop more for other countries than they do today, although with considerably less dynamism (2.8%, p=0.05 and 1.9%, P<1%, respectively). Thus, subsidiaries in India remain the units with the highest share of local value creation and the highest output interdependencies with other members of the MNE network, underlining India's leading role as location of choice for offshore R&D (Neumann et al. 2006). The relatively small adjustments in the R&D configuration in Brazil might indicate a certain level of maturity there, with an appropriate strategy mix that fits environmental conditions. In contrast to all the other analyzed countries, subsidiaries in Russia were found to have no significant changes in their configuration strategies. Compared to other emerging economies, the country seems to offer less favorable conditions for the localization of R&D activities.



Figure 13: Expected Changes in R&D Configuration by Host Country

The pattern toward an increased integration of decentralized R&D units is in line with extant literature that has pointed to the emergence of global networks for innovation within MNEs in recent years (e.g., Cantwell 2009; Harzing and Noorderhaven 2006). Scholars have identified two major factors forcing MNEs to foster a more closely integrated and international innovation network: cross-border learning and consolidation. Based on case study research, Gassmann and Zedtwitz (1999) investigated trends in international R&D organizations and found that "[a]II in all, we notice a trend toward the integrated R&D network. Pressure of cost reduction forces companies with an integrated R&D network to focus on a small number of leading research centers (recentralization). The goal of this consolidation is to better exploit scale effects and to improve the coordination of worldwide dispersed R&D activities, simultaneously reducing the amount of duplicate R&D and intensifying cross-border technology transfer" (p.246). Similarly, Gerybadze and Reger (1999) arrive at the conclusion that MNEs are increasingly able to create and operate multiple centers of learning at different geographical locations and to manage cross-border learning from different sites. This finding is consistent with the evolutionary view of the firm that emphasizes the importance of the MNE's capability to learn from each transfer abroad and to accumulate knowledge on how to apply tacit knowledge across borders in different geographical locations (Belderbos 2003; Kogut and Zander 1993, 1995; Penner-Hahn 1998). Stressing the need for consolidation, Zedtwitz, Gassmann, and Boutellier (2004) found that the orchestration of globally dispersed R&D units poses several challenges related to integrating local R&D units into coherent global networks. They conclude that, after a decade of "jungle growth in R&D internationalization when companies vigorously pursued opportunistic development" (p.27), MNEs face the challenge of efficiently configuring their innovation activities to fully exploit the potential of globally dispersed R&D activities. Similarly, Reger (2004) found that the quantitative growth of international R&D units has to be accompanied by a qualitative dimension, which he sees in the restructuring of global R&D toward specialized R&D units with MNE-wide responsibility. Looking at foreign R&D in Greece, Manolopoulos, Papanastassiou, and Pearce (2007) found "clear signs of integration/interdependence of work in R&D labs with other parts of MNE networks" (p.661).

To conclude, it can be observed that literature suggests a general trend toward internationally interdependent innovation networks. The empiricism of the current study reveals that this direction also holds for subsidiaries of German MNEs in emerging economies and applies consistently across different industries and host countries. Subsidiaries in emerging economies are expected to benefit from further internationalization of innovation activities through the upgrading and extension of local R&D. What remains, despite this development, is that the adaptation of existing product and process technologies retains the strongest position in emerging economies, but with decreasing relevance; meanwhile, an increased movement toward Global Innovation presages an increased claim by subsidiaries to a position in their MNE's innovation program and drives creative synergies in emerging economies on an international scale.

#### 7.2 Confirmatory Results

This section addresses research questions 2a and 2b and empirically verifies the hypotheses developed in Chapter 4. The first subsection investigates the influence of location-based features on subsidiary R&D configuration (hypotheses H1-H3). The second subsection analyzes the influence of industry-based features on subsidiary R&D configuration (hypotheses H4-H7). The third subsection provides an overview and discussion of the entire framework. The presentation and discussion of results in these three sections is expected to add to the clarity and interpretation of the research findings.

To avoid an excessive number of hypotheses and to ensure an adequate consideration of substitutive effects between the strategies, the excepted relationships of each of the seven exogenous variables on the three R&D strategies have been combined into one hypothesis for each exogenous variable. The individual relationships are thus considered as sub-hypotheses a, b, and c. Accordingly, the following discussion explicitly considers the relationships between the exogenous variables and each individual R&D strategy and focuses on the direction, significance, and strength of the structural relationships.

### 7.2.1 Research Question 2a: How Do Location Factors Relate to the Choice of International R&D Configuration in Emerging Countries?

Hypothesis 1 assumes a positive relationship between market opportunities and both the Implementation and Local Innovation strategies and a negative relationship between market opportunities and Global Innovation. The empirical results reported in Table 19 support the expected positive effect on Implementation and the negative effect on Global Innovation at the 1% and 0.1% level, respectively. The path coefficients toward Local Innovation show a reverse sign, although without reaching statistical significance.

	Exogenous variable	Endogenous variable	Expected relationship	γ	α	Sign
		Implementation	+	0.23	**	~
H1	Market opportunities	Local Innovation	+	0.05		~
		Global Innovation	-	-0.30	***	×

Table 19:	Empirical Results for Market Opportunities and R&D Configuration
	Strategies

The strongest effect occurs between market opportunities and Global Innovation ( $\gamma$ =-0.30, p<0.1%). Consistent with the predictions, Global Innovation stands in contrast to the importance of local market opportunities because of its focus on third markets, confirming a strong substitution effect between host market importance and output-related interdependencies within the MNE network.

The identified positive relationship with the Implementation strategy (y=0.23, p<1%) supports previous findings according to which a considerable share of market-seeking R&D activities abroad is dedicated to the adaptation and customization of existing technologies to local requirements (Ambos and Ambos 2009a; Kumar 2001; Manolopoulos, Papanastassiou, and Pearce 2007). Contrary to expectations, market opportunities do not favor local-for-local innovations and thus do not increase the localization of R&D activities. Instead of developing distinct products locally for the respective host market, subsidiaries in emerging economies prefer to adapt product and process technologies that have been developed by headquarters or other units to local conditions. The aim to exploit local market potential thus does not induce the subsidiary to perform its own innovation activities on a larger scale. A possible reason for this finding might be the high costs related to the localization of independent R&D activities in the host country. Rising R&D costs cause MNEs to integrate dispersed innovation activities to avoid internationally independent R&D activities that might lead to duplicated developments (Zedtwitz, Gassmann, and Boutellier 2004). In addition, declining costs of intra-company technology transfer, which might come from technological developments in information and communication technologies or from superior knowledge management systems, foster cross-border integration of innovation activities. Another possible explanation might be the convergence of customer preferences, reducing the value of market proximity and thus local R&D (Kumar 2001). Homogenous demand across countries allows subsidiaries to build on existing technologies and to confine their activities to minor adaptations that require fewer resources rather than to the development of new, location-specific products from scratch. Finally, some emerging economies might not provide the necessary resource conditions considered necessary for the localization of high-quality R&D activities. For example, lack of qualified local engineers or absence of supporting infrastructures and local scientific cooperation partners might prevent firms from localizing major R&D activities in certain emerging countries, despite a high relevance of marketseeking motives (Narula and Dunning 2000).

The insignificant effect of market opportunities on Local Innovation is also in line with

Sanna-Randaccio and Veugelers (2007), who found a positive relationship between a subsidiary's ability to use central R&D resources and subsidiary profitability, leading the authors to conclude that "market size loses importance as a factor shaping the geographical pattern of R&D internationalization" (p.59). The identified positive relationship with the Implementation strategy also supports previous findings according to which a considerable share of R&D activities in peripheral countries is dedicated to the adaptation and customization of existing technologies to local requirements (Ambos and Ambos 2009a; Manolopoulos, Papanastassiou, and Pearce 2007).

Table 20 depicts the empirical results for the interrelation between economies of location and R&D configuration. Economies of location are presumed to exert a positive influence on Local Innovation and Global Innovation at the cost of Implementation. Moreover, the positive effect on Global Innovation is expected to be stronger than the effect on Local Innovation. It turns out that all three path coefficients show the expected signs and are statistically significant at the 0.1% level for Implementation and Global Innovation and at the 5% level for Local Innovation.

_		Exogenous variable	Endogenous variable	Expected relationship	γ	α	Sign
			Implementation	-	-0.26	***	Sign ✓ ✓
	H2	Economies of location	Local Innovation	+	-0.26 *** 0.12 *	~	
			Global Innovation	+	0.26	***	✓

Table 20: Empirical Results for Economies of Location and R&D Configuration Strategies

Consistent with expectations, economies of location exhibit a positive relationship with the localization of R&D activities in the host country, which is reflected in the

positive path coefficient on both Local Innovation and Global Innovation. Moreover, the expectation that the positive effect on Global Innovation would be stronger than the positive effect on Local Innovation was justified by the perceived opportunity to exploit factor advantages of the host country across borders. The analysis reveals a stronger path weight for the relationship between economies of location and Global Innovation (y=0.26) compared to Local Innovation (y=0.12) and thus supports the expected relationship. Interdependencies with other units allow the firm to exploit location advantages of the host country for the benefit of the whole MNE network. Location advantages can be related either to factor cost or to factor guality, which are both covered in the second-order construct economies of location (see Chapter 4.1.2). In both cases, attractive host country conditions favor the localization of R&D activities and their integration into the firm's global innovation network. Foreign R&D units in emerging economies thus not only play a role as cost-efficient, offshore service providers in the MNE network but also are expected to contribute to knowledge acquisition, learning, and competence development of the group by accessing and dispersing the geographically bound technological knowledge of the host country.

The significant positive relationship between economies of location and the Local Innovation strategy shows that advantageous factor conditions in the host country also encourages subsidiaries to perform R&D activities for local use, although the factor conditions do not provide a competitive advantage over local competitors. However, the combination of technological know-how that is "imported" from other parts of the MNE network and advantageous local factor conditions, either in terms of cost or quality, might allow the subsidiary to gain a competitive edge over local competitors. Furthermore, local R&D activities might substitute for R&D activities for the local host market that would otherwise have been performed in high-cost countries and thus might compensate for comparative cost disadvantages vis-à-vis local competitors.

As expected, the Implementation strategy is negatively affected by the existence of economies of location ( $\gamma$ =-0.26) at a highly significant level. This finding supports the anticipation that minor adaptation or customization activities are not suitable if sub-

sidiaries are to benefit from location advantages. Major innovation activities and thus the majority of value creation in R&D are conducted by other group members, which prevents the exploitation of economies of location in the subsidiary's host country. This result clearly indicates that favorable factor markets attract the localization of R&D activities in emerging countries. The finding that supply-side factors are decisive for locating R&D in emerging economies represents a contribution to the understanding of the phenomenon under investigation because extant literature shows mixed results in this regard. Manolopoulos, Papanastassiou, and Pearce (2007) concluded that supply-side factors are not seen as decisive in drawing MNE R&D into Greece, taken to be representative of a "peripheral" country with mid-level industrial development. In contrast, based on gualitative expert interviews on foreign R&D in China, Zedtwitz (2004) proposes that, in addition to market proximity, technology competence drives MNEs to localize R&D activities in China. The results of the present study support the proposition that advantageous factor conditions foster the localization of R&D activities in foreign subsidiaries in emerging countries. The difference between this finding and that of Manolopoulos, Papanastassiou, and Pearce (2007) might be explained by the different host countries under investigation. Their study investigated subsidiaries in a "peripheral" country that is located in relatively close proximity to technologically leading Western European countries. In addition to the relative geographical proximity, the investigated peripheral country (i.e., Greece) might not be considered as superior a location in terms of the quality and/or costs of R&D personnel in direct comparison with the nearby advanced countries. Thus, relative host country location advantages might not represent a major motive for foreign MNEs to locate R&D activities there. The current study, meanwhile, does not consider "peripheral" countries but instead investigates subsidiaries in the leading emerging economies in the world. These countries might have larger differences in their factor endowments in terms of cost or availability of trained personnel, compared to the MNEs' home country, allowing firms to translate advantageous factor conditions into international competitive advantages.

As indicated, economies of location cover both quality-related and cost-related as-

pects. Although the literature is pretty consistent regarding factor quality, there are mixed results regarding the effect of factor costs as motive for R&D localization abroad. On the one hand, some government surveys indicate that costs of R&D personnel are ranked among the least important motives for foreign R&D, even in the case of emerging countries (European Commission 2006; Thursby and Thursby 2006). On the other hand, recent studies argue that cost-related aspects are gaining importance as motive for the (re-)location of R&D (Edler 2008; Sachwald 2008). The results of the present study support the latter findings, with factor costs being part of economies of location and being positively related to the localization of R&D activities in emerging economies. This finding is consistent with Kumar (2001), who argues that, as long as qualified R&D personnel are available, factor costs represent an important motive for the localization of internationally interdependent R&D activities abroad.

_		Exogenous variable	Endogenous variable	Expected relationship	Ŷ	α	Sign
			Implementation	+	0.13	*	*
	H3	Cultural distance	Local Innovation	mentation         +         0.13         *           Innovation         -         -0.08         †	✓		
			Global Innovation	-	-0.12	*	~

Table 21: Empirical Results for Cultural Distance and R&D Configuration Strategies

The empirical results for the interrelation between cultural distance and R&D configuration are depicted in Table 21. Hypothesis 3 assumes a negative relationship between cultural distance and both the Local Innovation strategy and the Global Innovation strategy. A positive substitution effect is anticipated for the Implementation strategies. All three relationships exhibit the expected signs and are statistically significant, providing unanimous support for hypothesis 3. This result confirms the literature arguing that, despite all advancements in modern communication and information processing technologies, cultural differences are still challenges that influence the configuration of a firm's international value chain (Luo 2001b; Nachum and Zaheer 2005).

The negative effects on Global Innovation ( $\gamma$ =-0.12, p<5%) and Local Innovation (-0.08, p<10%) reveal that a lack of commonality between the cultural frameworks of the home and host countries hampers the localization of R&D activities in the foreign subsidiary and hence can be considered an investment hurdle in emerging economies. The stronger negative effect on Global Innovation compared to Local Innovation can be explained by the difficulties of cross-border integration arising from different cultural backgrounds between the locations. The transfer of knowledge and capabilities created at the foreign subsidiary for further use and processing within the MNE network is more difficult and costly and is subject to higher risk when cultural distance is high. For asset-seeking R&D investments, these factors reduce the value of reverse technology transfer from the host country R&D unit to headquarters, which typically represents the most important recipient of R&D output from units in emerging economies (Ambos and Ambos 2009a). For cost-efficiency–seeking R&D investments, cultural distance diminishes the potential cost advantages derived from internal, offshore R&D service providers in low-cost countries.

The positive effect on the Implementation strategy ( $\gamma$ =0.13, p<5%) supports the expectation that high cultural dissimilarities motivate firms to limit their resource commitment in the host country and to choose a configuration with a low degree of local value creation abroad. Firms thus prefer to maintain major R&D activities in locations with low cultural barriers. Host countries with a cultural framework similar to that of the home country are considered more favorable for the localization of R&D abroad than locations with a more divergent cultural setting.

Table 22 provides a summary of the hypothesized relationships and results (sign and significance level) obtained in relation to research question 2a. The expected sign of

the relationships between location-based features and subsidiary R&D configuration refers to the overview of the hypothesis presented in Table Table 3 at the end of Chapter 4.2.1. Of the nine investigated causal relationships between location features and R&D configuration strategies, eight were found to be statistically significant and exhibited the expected sign (indicated by ' $\checkmark$ '). Only the path coefficient between market opportunities and Local Innovation had a reverse sign (indicated by ' $\star$ '), yet without reaching statistical significance (indicated by '()'). Thus, the obtained results support eight of nine hypotheses, namely H1a and H1c, as well as H2a-c and H3a-c. These results can be considered highly satisfactory.



Table 22: Comparison of Model Results and Hypotheses for Research Question 2a

# 7.2.2 Research Question 2b: How Do Industry Factors Relate to the Choice of International R&D Configuration in Emerging Countries?

This subsection addresses research question 2b and discusses the empirical results on the causal relationships between industry-related features and subsidiary R&D configuration in emerging economies. Hypothesis 3 assumes that technological complexity shows a positive effect on the Implementation and Global Innovation strategies and a negative effect on the Local Innovation strategy. The empirical results depicted in Table 23 show that two of the three relationships exhibit the expected signs and are statistically significant.

	Exogenous variable	Endogenous variable	Expected relationship	γ	α	Sign
		Implementation	+	-0.02		×
H4	Technological complexity	Local Innovation	ementation + -0.02 al Innovation0.13 *	~		
		Global Innovation	+	0.18	***	~

 Table 23: Empirical Results for Technological Complexity and R&D Configuration

 Strategies

In line with expectations, product complexity negatively affects Local Innovation ( $\gamma$ =-0.13, p<5%). This result confirms that stand-alone R&D units without international ties to other parts of the MNE network are not considered adequate in dealing with sophisticated, complex technologies. Because of the focus on the host country only, Local Innovation requires firms to invest in similar and redundant R&D activities in different countries. Developing technologically complex products requires a high level of R&D capabilities and high resource commitment. A decentralized configuration without interdependencies between the units does not allow for the leveraging of resources across borders and prevents specialization and scale efficiencies.

Consistent with expectations, the relationship between technological complexity and the Global Innovation strategy was positive. The strong effect ( $\gamma$ =0.18, p<0.1%) clearly supports that technological complexity favors specialization and cross-border integration of foreign R&D activities. This result also indicates that there is no contra-

diction between technological complexity and the localization of R&D activities in emerging countries. In other words, sophistication does not represent an investment hurdle in emerging economies. On the contrary: Firms aim to leverage the technological know-how of their foreign subsidiaries for the benefit of the global MNE network. Thus, in sophisticated industrial environments dealing with complex technologies, technology sourcing seems in fact to be a motive for the localization and integration of R&D activities, not only in developed but also in emerging economies.

Interestingly, the analysis reveals that the positive effect on cross-border integration holds only for output but not for input interdependencies. Contrary to expectations, there is no positive effect on Implementation, although this strategy, similar to Global Innovation, is also characterized by interdependencies with other units of the MNE network. The analysis exhibits a negative sign for the relationship between technological complexity and Implementation, yet only with a very small and insignificant weight (-0.02, p>10%). This result is unexpected and, at first sight, also counterintuitive for two reasons: First, the common argument, already described, is that specialization and integration foster centralization of R&D. Second, and even more surprising, is that one might expect complex technological activities to be predominantly performed in R&D units in developed countries rather than in emerging economies. Both arguments would imply a positive relationship with Implementation because this strategy builds on R&D output from innovative units in developed countries. However, the results do not support a centralization effect of technological complexity in favor of developed countries; they thus support recent evidence that high-value innovation activities become increasingly geographically dispersed in the international network of an MNE (Cantwell 2009; Ernst 2002; Rugman and Verbeke 2009).

Kumar's (2001) study might present a tentative explanation for the findings. His analysis revealed different industry patterns among U.S. MNEs vs. Japanese MNEs. While U.S. firms follow what he calls a "normal sectoral pattern of innovation in that affiliates in more R&D-intensive industries also do more R&D abroad" (p.171), Japanese MNEs in relatively technology-intensive sectors retain their R&D activities at

home and move abroad only in relatively simpler technology sectors. From the results of the present study, it can be inferred that foreign subsidiaries of German MNEs facing higher degrees of technological complexity do not localize fewer R&D activities in the host country. In this regard, German firms would instead follow a pattern similar to U.S. MNEs, as opposed to Japanese MNEs. Yet this finding presents only a first hint and calls for further research and a more detailed examination of the relationship between technological complexity and localization of R&D in emerging economies. In this context, further investigations might also analyze whether "traditional" theoretical approaches, assuming emerging economies to be less suitable for performing technologically complex R&D, still reflect today's realities (see, e.g., Chng and Pangarkar 2000).

Hypothesis 5 anticipates a positive relationship between technological turbulence and both the Local Innovation strategy and the Global Innovation strategy; a negative relationship is predicted for the Implementation strategy. The empirical results are depicted in Table 24. It turns out that technological turbulence exhibits the expected direction of effect on all three R&D configuration strategies, with all path coefficients being significantly different from zero at the 0.1% and 5% levels, thus leading to a unanimous support for hypothesis 5.

	Exogenous variable	Endogenous variable	Expected relationship	γ	α	Sign
		Implementation	-	-0.24	***	~
H5	Technological turbulence	Local Innovation	+	0.12	*	~
		Global Innovation	+	0.23	α *** *	✓

 Table 24: Empirical Results for Technological Turbulence and R&D Configuration

 Strategies

The Implementation strategy, which is characterized by a low degree of local value creation, ultimately is not considered adequate to deal with fast technological changes and reduced innovation cycles (y=-0.24, p<0.1%). Instead, foreign subsidiaries facing these challenges prefer to maintain their own R&D capabilities. While Local Innovation emphasizes international independence and speed-to-market activities by endowing the subsidiary with flexibility to react quickly to technological changes, Global Innovation emphasizes international interdependencies with listening post activities by providing proximity and access to local knowledge sources for use within the MNE network. Consistent with expectations, the positive effect on Global Innovation turns out to be stronger ( $\gamma$ =0.23, p<0.1%) than the effect on Local Innovation  $(\gamma=0.12, p<5\%)$ , indicating that in a turbulent environment, an effective innovation network with interdependent R&D units for technological monitoring and sourcing abroad seems to be of even greater importance than individual subsidiary flexibility. In addition, the monitoring of technological trends appears not to be limited to triad countries but also motivates firms to localize R&D activities in emerging economies. Thus, they have an ear on the respective local market and can respond to the latest technological developments as fast as possible, allowing them to gain a competitive edge over other firms in the market.

Taken together, the results lead to two major conclusions: First, technological dynamism within the industry fosters decentralization of firms' R&D and the localization of innovation activities abroad. Put differently, local R&D competencies help foreign subsidiaries respond to the "need for speed" in new product development. Second, the results indicate that firms facing high industry innovation pressure count on the contribution of R&D units in emerging economies. This finding is in line with recent empirical work contradicting the proposition that state-of-the-art technologies are proprietary to developed countries. Körte (2007), for instance, reports a positive relationship both between technological turbulence and competition in developed countries from emerging country competitors and between technological turbulence and activities of Western MNEs in emerging countries. Against the background of the identified relevance of technology turbulence as a determinant of subsidiary R&D configuration and the lack of extant research on this relationship, the results of this study can be considered first insights that call for further, more detailed investigations, particularly with respect to theory development.

Hypothesis 6 assumes a positive relationship between local responsiveness and the Local Innovation strategy and a negative relationship for the Implementation and Global Innovation strategies. The empirical results depicted in Table 25 reveal that all path coefficients exhibit the expected sign, and two of them are statistically significant at the 1% level.

	Exogenous variable	Endogenous variable	Expected relationship	γ	α	Sign
		Implementation	-	-0.14	**	*
H6	Local responsiveness	Local Innovation	+	0.19	**	✓
		Global Innovation	-	-0.02	** **	✓

 Table 25:
 Empirical Results for Local Responsiveness and R&D Configuration

 Strategies
 Strategies

In line with expectations, Local Innovation is positively affected by local responsiveness ( $\gamma$ =0.19, p<1%). It can be inferred that firms count on geographical proximity between R&D and customers to tailor products to the specific market requirements. Proximity allows direct interaction with customers and their involvement in the product development process, and it thus facilitates the identification of specific needs and requirements. The immediate closeness to customers is a unique feature of the Local Innovation strategy.

Meanwhile, the other two strategies turn out to be negatively affected by local responsiveness. Both the Implementation strategy and the Global Innovation strategy favor standardization over customization; the central development and cross-border bundling of R&D activities and in one location offers its full potential only when homogenous products are developed for several countries. Implementation exhibits a significant negative relationship with local responsiveness (y=0.19, p<1%). Global Innovation shows the expected negative sign but fails to reach statistical significance. This insignificant interrelation might be explained by the fact that, in contrast to Implementation but in common with Local Innovation, Global Innovation requires local R&D competencies at the host country subsidiary. As mentioned, the need for location-specific products encourages local subsidiary R&D both to ensure customer proximity and to avoid communicating over long distances, which could be necessary when all R&D is centralized in the home country. The present study investigates subsidiaries in the major emerging markets of the world. MNEs might use their R&D activities in these locations not only to cover the respective host market but also to serve customers in neighboring countries that do not have their own R&D units or even have no local subsidiary. In other words, the R&D units in the major emerging markets might extend their geographical responsibility and, holding a kind of regional mandate for the customization of products, can ensure a certain proximity to customers also in the surrounding countries. This effect of "relative customer proximity" ("relative" in their relationship to a centralized R&D unit, for example in the home country) might potentially explain why there is no significant negative relationship between local responsiveness and the Global Innovation strategy.

Cost pressure is assumed to motivate firms to localize R&D activities in emerging countries. Hypothesis 7 expects a positive relationship between cost pressure and the Local Innovation and Global Innovation strategies and a negative effect on the Implementation strategy. The empirical results are depicted in Table 26. It turns out that the path coefficient toward Local Innovation reaches statistical significance with the expected sign and thus finds empirical support. The path coefficient toward Implementation exhibits the expected negative relationship but does not reach statistical significance. The effect of cost pressure on Global Innovation fails to reach statistical significance and shows a reverse sign.

	Exogenous variable	Endogenous variable	Expected relationship	γ	α	Sign
		Implementation	-	-0.07		*
H7	Cost pressure	Local Innovation	+	0.14	*	~
		Global Innovation	+	-0.04		×

Table 26: Empirical Results for Cost Pressure and R&D Configuration Strategies

Consistent with expectations, there is a positive relationship between cost pressure and the Local Innovation strategy (y=0.14, p<5%). With this configuration, foreign subsidiaries have broad innovation competencies and perform R&D for the host country locally, which entails two major advantages: First, the subsidiaries are able to benefit from local factor cost advantages compared to locations in high-cost countries, and second, they are able to act independently without facing costs related to cross-border coordination and communication. The latter aspect might also help to explain why, contrary to the expectation formulated in the hypothesis, subsidiaries do not choose Global Innovation as a means to adapt to competitive cost pressure (y=-0.04, p>10%). Global Innovation allows firms to leverage factor cost advantages within the MNE network that are offered by low-cost locations, to exploit economies of scale, and to reduce the amount of duplicate R&D work across foreign subsidiaries. However, the analysis indicates that cost pressure does not motivate firms to pursue such a factor arbitrage and volume bundling across borders. As mentioned, costs related to the transfer of knowledge and the coordination of offshore R&D activities represent one potential explanation for this unexpected finding. Another potential explanation can be derived from the life cycle perspective. The IPLC theory assumes that cost pressure and relocation of value creation toward low-cost countries both gain importance with increasing product maturity. Over an industry cycle, growing competitive pressure increases the need for innovation efficiency, which requires a tight or-
ganizational setup and a minimum of slack resources (Strebel 1987). Regarding R&D, increasing maturity thus implies that functional activities are mainly focused on process-oriented and incremental innovations to optimize established technologies rather than on product-oriented and fundamental innovations (Lee and Stone 1994). Against this background, cost pressure might motivate firms to locate R&D activities in proximity to the manufacturing sites in low-cost countries to allow for a close collaboration between the two functions and thus to achieve maximum process efficiency.

The relationship between cost pressure and Implementation turns out to be, as expected, negative, although not statistically significant (y=-0.07, p>10%). The lack of a significant result might be explained by a trade-off that characterizes this strategy: On the one hand, Implementation prevents firms from benefiting from factor cost advantages offered by low-cost countries. On the other hand, the strategy allows firms to realize efficiency gains through cross-border integration and avoidance of duplicate R&D work in several host countries. Firms facing high cost pressure have to balance these two effects carefully, which might lead to different outcomes depending on the evaluation of the different factors. Another possible explanation can again be derived from the life cycle perspective. Although manufacturing activities might be relocated in an emerging economy and attain factor cost advantages, the co-located R&D unit might not work completely independently from other units but still build on the technological competencies of other parts of the MNE network. Regarding the transition from product to process innovations related to industry maturation, Strebel (1987) argues that "[t]he improvements in the process technology do not create a discontinuous break with previous experience, but rather build incrementally on what went before" (p.118). This might lead to a certain task-sharing in R&D: While the host country unit primarily focuses on technological process optimization for manufacturing, the central R&D in the home country or another R&D competence center within the MNE network takes charge of the more fundamental innovations or the development of disruptive technologies as new sources of competitive advantage (Christensen 1997, 2001).

Altogether it can be inferred from the analysis that the mixed results of hypothesis 7

do not allow cost pressure to be considered a major motive for the internationalization of R&D activities in emerging economies. The previous discussion provides some possible ways to explain and reveals that additional research is required to investigate more deeply the influence of cost pressure on R&D in emerging economies. The results at hand suggest that in this context in particular, the interplay between subsidiary R&D, manufacturing, and central R&D in the home country represents a promising field for further insights and scientific progress.



Table 27: Comparison of Model Results and Hypotheses for Research Question 2b

Table 27 provides a summary of the hypothesized relationships and the results obtained in relation to research question 2b. Of the 12 investigated causal relationships, 8 were found to be statistically significant and exhibiting the expected sign. Two path coefficients exhibit the expected signs but are not statistically significant. The remaining two relationships – between technological complexity and Implementation, and between cost pressure and Global Innovation – turned out to have a reverse sign, and neither coefficient reached statistical significance. Thus, the obtained results support the following hypotheses: H4b and c, H5a-c, H6a and b, and H7b. This result can be considered highly satisfactory, not least against the background of the scarcity of extant empirical insights.

#### 7.2.3 Résumé of Structural Model Results

The effects of location-based and industry-based features on subsidiary R&D configuration in emerging economies have been evaluated within an integrated model according to the research framework outlined in Chapter 4.1. Summarizing the previously discussed relationships of the individual exogenous constructs with R&D configuration, Figure 10 depicts an overview of the overall structural model, including path coefficients, significance levels, and the coefficient of determination R<sup>2</sup> for each of the three dependent variables that constitute subsidiary R&D configuration.

Regarding the motives, it can be inferred from the significance and magnitude of the path coefficients that economies of location, technological turbulence, and market opportunities have a comparatively strong effect on the configuration of subsidiary R&D activities. This finding is all the more remarkable in that it provides evidence that favorable factor conditions, rather than attractive market conditions, represent a decisive motive for the localization of R&D in emerging economies. Market opportunities turn out not to foster the localization of R&D activities in these countries; instead of developing distinct products locally for the respective host market, subsidiaries in emerging economies prefer to adapt to the local conditions the product and process technologies that have been developed by other parts of the MNE network. Compared to the independent development of distinct products, such adaptations and modifications require far fewer innovation resources and capabilities in the host country. The results of the research model thus imply that the aim to exploit the market potential of emerging countries does not motivate foreign subsidiaries to conduct substantial R&D in the host country, while the possibility of benefiting from attractive location factors positively affects the localization of R&D abroad.



Figure 14: Overview of the Structural Model

Furthermore, technological turbulence turns out to be an important determinant of R&D configuration, with significant and comparatively high path coefficients toward all three R&D strategies. The positive effect on subsidiary innovation might be interpreted as an indicator that, even in emerging markets, time and speed to identify and react to the latest technological trends and developments represent important factors to compete and to sustain competitiveness in the global business environment (Stalk

Jr 1988). In contrast, cost pressure, which might have been expected to drive localization, exhibits a relatively low influence on subsidiary R&D configuration, with only one significant path coefficient. Particularly in the context of emerging economies, this lack of significance represents a rather unexpected result, indicating that the relocation of knowledge-intensive innovation activities does not primarily represent a direct answer to cost pressure. Cultural distance turns out to be a deterring factor for the localization of R&D activities abroad, with significant paths toward all three strategies. This finding indicates that, despite modern communication and knowledge-sharing technologies, hurdles and costs related to the transfer and exchange of knowledge with culturally distant countries still exist and are relevant; yet the comparatively low path coefficients suggest that cultural differences have lost some significance and are now of subordinate importance compared to the other location-based factors investigated here.

Regarding the R&D strategies, Implementation appears to be predominantly motivated by market opportunities while being discouraged mainly by technological turbulence and economies of location resulting from substitutive effects. Local Innovation is particularly driven by the need for local responsiveness, while technological complexity represents the most important factor of deterrence for this strategy. Finally, Global Innovation turns out to be mainly encouraged by economies of location and technological turbulence while being discouraged mainly by substitutive effects arising from local market opportunities in the host country. The strong effect of economies of location allows the conclusion that by following the Global Innovation strategy, MNEs seek to leverage foreign immobile resources and assets within the global innovation network, which makes subsidiaries in emerging countries a contributor to the innovative capabilities of the MNE.

# 8 Summary and Implications

The primary motivation of the present thesis was to advance the understanding of MNE subsidiary R&D by providing insights into the nature and motives of subsidiary R&D configuration in emerging countries. The work extends the existing empirical literature in that it systematically analyzed influencing factors on subsidiary R&D configuration strategies in an integrated framework and thereby provided a bridge between prior research on international R&D and foundational theories on internationalization. Innovation is considered a key source of competitive advantage, yet R&D has traditionally been one of the most centralized activities in the value chain. As global competition has intensified, global supply and specialization of science and technology resources have increased, and innovation has become more costly and risky. The R&D function has experienced rapid internationalization in the past few decades. New products and processes are no longer only developed in the home country and transferred to foreign subsidiaries to adapt them to local needs. Instead, foreign subsidiary R&D is regarded as playing a more substantial role in an integrated innovation network by taking advantage of specific resources and capabilities through relationships with the local environment and thus contributing to firms' innovation capacity. Moreover, internationalization of R&D is spreading. Although most R&D investments still go to industrialized countries, emerging countries have recently gained considerable importance and have attracted an increasing amount of R&D investments in recent years.

Our comprehensive review of the extant literature revealed that empirical work has primarily concentrated on foreign R&D in the industrialized triad countries. The nature and motives of R&D in emerging countries remains fairly uncharted territory. Moreover, the research field is very fragmented, with only scarce empirical research having been conducted on R&D at the level of the individual subsidiary within the MNE network. Extant studies investigating R&D at the subsidiary level lack a comprehensive analysis of the motivational factors driving the configuration of subsidiary R&D. Furthermore, literature on the internationalization of R&D appears as a rather independent research field, with only limited connections to other IB-related fields and foundational theories. This thesis addresses the identified research gap by providing an empirical analysis of subsidiaries' R&D configuration in emerging countries and of motives determining the choice of the configuration. Relying on subsidiary level data, the present work builds on the idea of the MNE as a network of specialized, interdependent units and contributes to the increasingly influential literature on subsidiary strategy.

A typology for international R&D strategies was developed that bridges the gap between research on the internationalization of R&D and general IB research and that allows a comprehensive but parsimonious mapping of subsidiary R&D configurations. The strategies are structured along measurable and action-oriented dimensions (localization and integration of value creation activities) and allow for the analysis of gradual differences and gradual changes in the configuration. To provide a comprehensive perspective of the motives of R&D configuration and to cope with the effects of location- and industry-related features discussed in extant literature, the research followed a pluralistic theory approach building on strands of trade, FDI, and IB theory as well as on previous conceptual and empirical literature on R&D internationalization. Overall, a set of 7 hypotheses comprising 21 relationships was developed and empirically analyzed using a variance-based SEM approach on a sample of 268 foreign subsidiaries. The survey on which this thesis is based contains responses from subsidiary managers of German MNEs in five manufacturing industries in the major emerging markets of Brazil, Russia, India, China, and Southeast Asia (ASEAN).

The thesis explores two research questions: one linked to an exploratory analysis of subsidiaries' R&D strategies and a second of a confirmatory nature and linked to the hypotheses on the effects of location-based and industry-based environmental factors on R&D configuration. The central findings, implications, and suggestions for further research derived from this study are summarized in the following sections.

#### 8.1 Central Results and Academic Contribution

#### Research question 1: a) Which R&D configuration strategies do foreign subsidiaries in emerging countries pursue?

b) How do these strategies vary across different contexts and over time?

Extant literature attested a lack of empirical insights into the nature of foreign R&D in emerging economies. To advance our understanding in this field, the present study provided a thorough investigation of the configuration of subsidiary R&D. Previous research has applied a variety of dimensions and taxonomies to characterize foreign R&D activities, however, a widely accepted standard has not yet been developed. Prior studies mostly relied on typologies that group R&D activities into distinct categories that inhibit the identification of both gradual variations between foreign R&D units and incremental developments over time. In addition, some categorizations are not disjunctive, which prevents a mutually exclusive mapping of foreign R&D activities; some apply heuristics to identify the type of strategy; and some are limited to a dichotomous set of roles. In fact, most extant typologies do not differentiate between the dimensions used to measure the strategy variables (endogenous action) and the motives that are expected to influence the choice of strategy (exogenous pressure), preventing an analysis of the effect of specific environmental features on R&D configuration. This study therefore developed a novel typology of subsidiary R&D configuration that conceptually refers to the influential contribution of Jarillo and Martinez (1990). The combination of the localization and integration dimension leads to a distinction between three archetypal subsidiary R&D strategies: Implementation, Local Innovation, and Global Innovation. A free combination of the three strategies allows the coexistence of different strategies in the same subsidiary and leads to a distinct R&D configuration for each subsidiary. This conceptualization leads to direct substitutive effects between the three R&D strategies, which was accounted for in the development of the hypotheses for the causal relationships that were addressed in research question 2.

The results of the present study reveal that subsidiaries of German manufacturing MNEs in emerging countries attach unequal levels of importance to the different R&D configuration strategies. On average across all surveyed subsidiaries, the Implementation strategy accounts for the largest share with 72%, followed by Local Innovation with 18% and Global Innovation with 10%. The distribution of the three strategies discloses a relatively low degree of local R&D value creation in emerging countries. Instead, subsidiaries prefer to rely on the R&D competencies of other parts of the MNE network. Hence, major innovation activities are still concentrated in competence centers in the triad countries. The bulk of subsidiary R&D in emerging countries comprises customization or adaptation of products or processes to local needs and conditions. The findings support that technology transfer toward emerging market subsidiaries is still predominant. As indicated by the relatively low share of Global Innovation, vertical or reverse transfer of knowledge out of emerging countries to other parts of the MNE network still plays a minor role; local R&D activities are mainly targeted for use within the host country subsidiary.

To provide further insights on context- and time-related patterns of subsidiary R&D configuration in emerging countries, variations across different contexts and over time were investigated (research question 1b). Regarding host country patterns, the present empirical study revealed that subsidiaries in India and Brazil possess the highest degree of local R&D activities of the investigated countries, registering exceptionally high shares of both Local Innovation and Global Innovation, at the cost of Implementation. This finding reflects the large market size of both countries and the availability of abundant resources required for innovation activities. Interestingly, subsidiaries in China reveal a lower degree of local R&D activities compared to the other two market heavy-weights, India and Brazil. Chinese subsidiaries exhibit a higher dependency on technologies that were developed by other units in the MNE network. This finding might be attributed to difficulties of finding, attracting, and retaining qualified personnel for innovation tasks, intellectual property and contract enforcement issues, and the predominance of manufacturing activities in in China. Russia stands out for its high share of Implementation, which is significantly more pronounced than in any

other of the investigated countries. The corresponding low degree of localized R&D might be ascribed to unfavorable factor conditions and high investment hurdles.

Industry differences in R&D configuration were found to be less salient. Subsidiaries in the pharmaceutical industry exhibited a significantly smaller degree of Implementation, suggesting that pharmaceutical companies perform more R&D locally in emerging economies compared to the other manufacturing industries. This situation is reflected in the industry's highest share of Local Innovation and Global Innovation, revealing both a perceived need for the development of local products and a high degree of subsidiary level innovativeness. The share of Global Innovation was found to be significantly lower for subsidiaries in mechanical engineering, which might be because of a predominant technology base in the home country. Subsidiaries that belong to large MNEs that have international experience are more closely integrated in the global innovation network, exhibiting more cross-border interdependencies with other R&D units. This structure allows the MNEs to benefit both from advantageous host country factor conditions and economies of scale. Older and larger subsidiaries show a significantly lower share of Implementation, primarily in favor of Local Innovation but also in favor of Global Innovation. This finding indicates that subsidiaries established less recently and subsidiaries that are more important in the MNE network in terms of employees and turnover are less dependent on technological input from the rest of the MNE. Instead, they revert to their own R&D competencies, primarily developing products for the local subsidiary and secondarily undertaking innovation activities for other units of the MNE network.

Regarding the development of subsidiary R&D configuration in emerging economies over time, the results revealed a significant expected increase of Global Innovation at the cost of Implementation, indicating a clear trend away from the traditional adaptation and support activities and toward more substantive subsidiary R&D activities, with international responsibilities and contributions to the MNEs' innovation networks.

### Research question 2: a) How do location factors relate to the choice of international R&D configuration in emerging countries? b) How do industry factors relate to the choice of international

R&D configuration in emerging countries?

The core of the present thesis was a comprehensive investigation of motivational factors driving the configuration of subsidiary R&D in emerging countries. The study aimed to shed light on the effects of determinants that were discussed separately in different contexts and related fields and to analyze their actual influence on foreign R&D in an integrated model. For this purpose, the study followed the contingency perspective, which served as an overall frame of reference for an analysis of the interplay between environmental and response variables in the context of foreign subsidiary R&D.

The research framework considered two dimensions of frequently discussed contingencies: location and industry features. Based on extant theoretical and empirical work, this study summarized host country-related features in the three major motives: market opportunities, economies of location, and cultural distance. These motives cover firms' potential benefits from structural advantages of host countries both on the sales market (output) and on the factor market (input), as well as the potential cost associated with their exploitation. For a comprehensive top-down approach, we operationalized market opportunities and economies of location as formative, multi-item, second-order constructs. Moreover, we investigated the effect of the external environment represented by the industry in which the firm competes. After an extensive review of the pertinent studies in the relevant fields, the following industry-related factors were considered in the research framework: technological complexity, technological turbulence, need for customization (local responsiveness), and cost pressure. The features were expected to be relevant for the configuration of MNEs' subsidiary R&D in emerging countries and to favor or disfavor the localization and cross-border integration of innovation activities.

The empirical results of the research framework supported the majority of the hypothesized relationships between the investigated determinants and the three R&D strategies. Of 21 investigated causal relationships, 16 were found to be statistically significant with the expected sign.

Economies of location, technological turbulence, and market opportunities tunred out to be the most prominent determinants of subsidiary R&D configuration. The results clearly indicated that the exploitation of favorable host country factor conditions represents a major motive for the localization of R&D activities in emerging countries. This finding is the more remarkable because extant literature has mainly emphasized sales market-related motives for the internationalization of R&D and has not shown unequivocal results regarding the motivational effect of host country factor conditions. Regarding the advantages of the host country factor market, factor quality emerged as somewhat more important than factor costs. Yet the results also revealed that spillovers and agglomeration effects, as well as the local supply base, which are generally considered as drivers for the localization of R&D activities, were not yet found to play a role as motive for R&D in emerging countries. This finding might still be explained by the concentration of major, cutting-edge technological know-how in geographically limited centers in developed countries. In addition, the goal of exploiting local market opportunities does not, as it turns out, induce foreign subsidiaries to conduct local-for-local R&D activities on a larger scale; the subsidiaries instead prefer to adapt product and process technologies that have been developed by other MNE units to the local conditions and host country requirements, which requires fewer local innovation resources and capabilities.

Technological turbulence was found to foster configuration strategies that allow for flexibility and that augment the range of available knowledge sources. The results supported expectations that firms facing high industry innovation pressure count on the contribution of foreign R&D units in emerging economies. Monitoring of technological developments is not limited to triad countries but also motivates firms to localize R&D in emerging economies so that they can identify the latest technological

trends and facilitate an effective application of new technologies in the host country.

Cost pressure, which was expected to be a major driver of the localization of R&D in emerging countries, had a relatively modest effect on subsidiary R&D configuration, with only one significant path coefficient. Particularly in the context of emerging economies, this result represented an interesting indication that the relocation of the knowledge-intensive innovation activities does not primarily represent a direct response to industry cost pressures.

Cultural distance proved to be a deterring factor for the localization of R&D activities abroad, showing significant paths toward all three strategies. Despite modern communication and knowledge-sharing technologies, hurdles related to the cross-border transfer and exchange of knowledge with culturally distant countries were thus found to be still existent, yet of relatively subordinate importance compared to the investigated benefits from host country sales and factor markets.

Technological complexity was found to favor specialization accompanied by crossborder integration of innovation activities. Thus, there is no contradiction between technological complexity and the localization of R&D activities in emerging countries. Instead, in sophisticated industrial environments, firms seek to leverage the technological know-how of their foreign subsidiaries for the benefit of the MNEs' global innovation networks.

Regarding the relative influence of the investigated determinants on R&D configuration, it appeared that the Implementation strategy is predominantly motivated by market opportunities while being deterred mainly by technological turbulence and economies of location because of substitutive effects. The Local Innovation strategy is especially driven by the need for local responsiveness, while technological complexity represents the most important deterring factor for this strategy. Finally, Global Innovation turned out to be primarily encouraged by economies of location and technological turbulence; its particular obstacles are the substitutive effects arising from host country market opportunities.

In terms of the two explored research questions, various contributions to literature have emerged from the present thesis. The conceptual contribution of the thesis stems from the development of an integrated framework that captures existing insights from different related fields in a systematic way, adds new ones, and thus advances our understanding of the motives of MNE subsidiary R&D in emerging countries. The theoretical contribution primarily consists of the integrative approach of the framework. The framework synthesizes determinants of R&D internationalization that have been scattered over various related research fields and investigated separately, often without or with only limited links to foundational theories. Moreover, this work has applied dimensions proposed by IB literature to define subsidiary R&D configuration strategies. The thesis thus provides a bridge between prior research on R&D internationalization and strands of trade theory, FDI theory, and IB theory. Because each theory strand contributes different exploratory factors, the collective, simultaneous consideration of these factors allows a comprehensive perspective with superior insights into and explanations for the effect of environmental features on subsidiary R&D configuration. The empirical contribution of this thesis lies in the various insights offered into both the nature and the motives of foreign R&D in emerging countries. Several putative factors discussed in extant literature were analyzed in an emerging market context. Additional factors and newly hypothesized relationships that have not been covered by previous empirical research could be established and confirmed. Nearly all empirical results were in line with the predictions derived on the basis of sound theoretical, empirical, and conceptual considerations and findings. The results thus provide a meaningful enhancement in understanding subsidiary R&D in emerging economies and a basis for further research in the field.

### 8.2 Limitations and Implications for Future Research

As does all academic research, the present work comes with limitations, which also represent fertile ground for further research into and on the internationalization of R&D. Moreover, the study's results generate some new, unanswered questions and some blank spots on the map that could profitably be addressed in future investigations.

For the current study, resource interdependencies were measured as the share of R&D provided by, and to, other MNE units (input interdependencies and output interdependencies, respectively). Analyzing in detail the origin and destination of the cross-border knowledge and capability transfer from and to foreign subsidiaries might yield further insights into the interdependencies within MNEs' global innovation networks. For this purpose, it is interesting to distinguish between vertical interdependencies between the foreign subsidiary and corporate headquarters and horizontal interdependencies with other foreign subsidiaries. Moreover, a more detailed examination of the interdependencies that allow for differentiation between different types of international responsibilities (e.g., regional or world mandates) could provide additional insights into the geographical scope of international linkages within MNEs' innovation network.

The present analysis was limited to direct cross-border interdependencies of subsidiary R&D with other parts of the MNE network. "Indirect" linkages, with local R&D know-how being embodied in exported products from a local manufacturing plant, have not been considered. Further research may take this issue into account by considering the interrelations between R&D and the configuration of the downstream functions of manufacturing and sales.

In terms of ownership, the study has focused on firm internal R&D in wholly or majority-owned subsidiaries. Future research can extend subsidiary R&D configuration by adding "externalization" as a third configurative dimension (see Jarillo and Martinez 1991). Doing so results in three additional R&D strategies representing the equivalents to Implementation, Local Innovation, and Global Innovation outside firm boundaries. Regarding the theorectical foundation, the evolutionary view, with a focus on the transfer mode of knowledge and capabilities, represents a promising approach for further analyses, considering also the effect of internalization advantages on R&D configuration.

This present work has considered R&D configuration as a free combination of three R&D strategies. Unlike prior R&D typologies, the developed strategies allowed for measurement of gradual differences between and gradual changes in the configuration. Future research could further extend the response variables of the framework by explicitly differentiating between the probability of assigning R&D responsibilities to a foreign subsidiary and the extent of subsidiary R&D. This aspect was indeed implicitly covered by the applied configuration in that the configuration allows for "pure" strategies, with the share of one of the three strategies accounting for 100%. However, an explicit consideration of incidence and intensity of subsidiary R&D in a two-stage mode, accounting for the probability and extent of local R&D, can lead to additional insights into how location-based and industry-based features affect the foreign configuration of innovation activities in emerging countries.

Furthermore, the study at hand did not consider performance effects of subsidiary R&D configuration. The contingency perspective assumes that strategies are not equally effective under all conditions. A fit between the environmental features and R&D configuration is thus expected to determine the organizational performance. Future studies in this direction can further extend the understanding of the performance of subsidiary R&D in emerging economies, which would contribute additional power and meaning to the results.

The framework could also be extended in terms of the explanatory variables. The examined environmental aspects are not exhaustive. Future studies can, for instance, explore further the effect of the host country institutional environment on foreign R&D. Peng (2008) differentiates between political, legal, social/societal, economic, and cultural institutions. The economic and some of the social aspects have been covered in this study in the context of market opportunities and economies of locations; cultural aspects have been considered as cultural distance. Further research could use an institution-based perspective and, for example, include the effects of host countries' political and legal institutions on the configuration of foreign R&D. The vibrant and fast-changing institutional environment in the leading emerging countries provides a very suitable context to investigate this issue. Relying on subsidiary-level evaluations of local institutions might allow for a deeper understanding of the interplay between governmental action and subsidiary R&D.

The market-subsidiary interface represents another exciting avenue for further investigation. Apart from the local environment in which the subsidiary operates, a recent strand of literature on subsidiary strategy has suggested that the extent to which subsidiaries maintain external network links with other companies and institutions and the extent to which they are able to learn from local environments has an influence on subsidiaries' mandate and configuration (Andersson, Björkman, and Forsgren 2005; Cantwell and Mudambi 2005; Mu, Gnyawali, and Hatfield 2007).The study assumed a rational planning of international R&D based on environmental features to explain variations in R&D configuration. The data do not contain information about historic factors of subsidiaries, such as whether they originate from greenfield investments or from mergers and acquisitions (e.g., Gassmann and Zedtwitz 1999; Zander 1999). Future research can provide deeper insights into the path dependencies of R&D configuration in emerging economies.

Relating to the contents of research, the present study showed some interesting findings and issues that might be subject to and benefit from further research. For example, technological complexity was found to be positively related to output interdependencies of emerging country subsidiaries; yet, contrary to expectations, the anaysis revealed no positive effect on input interdependencies. This result is unexpected for two reasons: First, complexity was assumed to foster specialization and crossborder integration. Second, technologically sophisticated products were expected to be developed predominantly in the industrialized triad countries rather than in emerging economies. One possible explanation might be Kumar's (2001) finding of different industry patterns depending on the MNE's home country. In this regard, the results of the present study imply that German firms follow a pattern rather like that of U.S. MNEs, instead of like that of Japanese MNEs, which tend to concentrate complex R&D activities in the home country and shift only R&D activities that are related to less sophisticated technologies abroad. Yet this approach presents only a first hint and calls for further research and a more detailed examination of the relationship between technological complexity and localization of R&D in emerging countries. In this context, it is worthwile to analyze whether "traditional" theoretical approaches, which assume emerging economies to be less suitable for performing technologically complex R&D, still reflect today's realities (see also Chng and Pangarkar 2000).

Similarly, cost pressure was found not to be a major motive for the localization of R&D activities in emerging economies. The discussion of the results, while providing some possible explanations, also revealed that additional research on the influence of cost pressure on R&D configuration is required. The results of the present study suggest that in this context the interplay between subsidiary R&D, local manufacturing, and central R&D in the home country represents a promising field for further insights and scientific progress.

## 8.3 Practical Implications

While this thesis primarily aimed to contribute to academic literature on internationalization of R&D, it also provides implications for managers and policy makers, some of which are summarized in the following paragraphs.

Managing the network of globally dispersed innovation activities represents a major

challenge but offers important leverage for the competitiveness of MNEs. This study revealed that, although the majority of R&D activities is still mainly localized in industrialized countries, MNEs in all industries also invest in R&D in the major emerging countries. There is a clear trend toward the localization of additional value creation and a closer integration of subsidiary R&D in the global MNE network. This trend, as it turns out, also holds for complex technologies whose development can no longer be considered a privilege only of the triad countries. These results not only indicate that emerging countries will play a more important role as locations for innovation activities but also underline the importance for MNEs of considering emerging countries in their strategic innovation management. Managers at corporate headquarters thus should be aware of the increasing importance of R&D activities in emerging country subsidiaries and their potential contribution to the innovation capabilities of the MNE. Highly dynamic expansion of R&D activities is expected, particularly in India and China.

Furthermore, the configuration strategies introduced in this study represent a tool that puts managers in a position to conduct a structured analysis and optimization of their firm's global R&D footprint (Kaufmann and Nursai 2006). The measurability and action orientation of the underlying strategy dimensions ensure the practical applicability of the configuration introduced in this study: Location of value creation and interdependencies with other units of the MNE network can be measured based on generally available company data and are both subject to managerial choice instead of exogenous pressures. The tool allows managers to compare the R&D configuration of different subsidiaries, as well as to track subsidiaries' progess and changes in their strategic posture. It can also be applied for external benchmarking and monitoring of competitors' R&D configuration. The average values of industries and host countries reported in this study provide reference values and might serve as a first basis for further comparative analyses.

The growing share of R&D located in emerging countries is accompanied by an advancing consolidation of MNEs' innovation network and stronger output interdependencies, which implies an increasing concentration of activities in specialized R&D units that have regional or global responsibilites for a certain product or technology. The integration of dispersed subsidiary R&D in innovation networks should receive special management attention because it allows the MNE to leverage factor advantages of different locations and foreign subsidiaries' specific innovation capabilities on a global scale. Contrary to the popular belief that localization of R&D in emerging economies is mainly triggered by factor cost-related aspects, the study revealed that factor guality-related aspects are likewise essential from a subsidiary management perspective. The pharmaceutical industry appears to have a leading role in the integration of emerging country R&D. MNEs from other industries might follow this model and thus benefit from the location advantages of emerging countries while avoiding an unnecessary duplication of R&D activities in different host countries. In some instances it might be wise to diversify development risks by assigning two or more R&D units in different host countries to work in parallel fashion on a certain technology. Nevertheless, corporate managers should be aware of the potential productivity gains arising from a consolidated global innovation network and actively manage their firm's global R&D footprint.

With increases in cross-border knowledge transfer from foreign R&D units to other parts of the MNE network, issues related to cultural differences between countries gain additional relevance. Managers are well-advised to consider ways to overcome the impediments of cultural distance and to ensure the effective and efficient communication and dispersion of technological knowlege within their global MNE network. Providing modern communication infrastructures and intelligent knowledge management systems can support information flows between geographically distant groups. Yet managers also must put forth effort to manage internal social networks across different locations (Herrlich and Kaufmann 2008). While investing in powerful networking technologies and platforms that represent valuable tools to foster the interaction between R&D personnel in different countries, managers also must recognize the value of traditional face-to-face meetings to encourage the development of sustainable personal networks among employees with different cultural backgrounds.

Finally, considering the expansion of subsidiary R&D in emerging economies in conjunction with recent findings on how to coordinate and control foreign R&D units (e.g., Ambos and Ambos 2009a; Asakawa 2001b), it appears commendable to grant subsidiary management more autonomy to enhance the subsidiaries' innovativeness and to allow them to develop distinct capabilities that they can contribute to the MNE network. This autonomy should be well balanced with central planning and optimization of the firm's global R&D footprint. Ideally, subsidiary managers should be directly involved in this process so that the MNE benefits from their deep understanding of the respective host country environment and its innovation potential and to ensure a high level of commitment.

Policy makers in emerging countries must take into account the implications that arise with respect to the nature and motives of subsidiary R&D activities. For a program to attract additional FDI in R&D and promote the country's stock of knowledge and technological development, governments are well advised to address a combination of different factors around the country's national innovation system. First, labor market conditions, regarding both quality and cost of R&D personnel, represent a key factor for the localization of R&D. By investing in the quality and capacity of technical university education, governments can address both issues simultaneously: ensuring the availability of an abundant and trained workforce on the one hand and obviating both a shortage of qualified personnel for R&D activities and, along with that, skyrocketing labor costs, on the other hand. Second, government incentives were found to motivate MNEs to create knowledge-intensive jobs in the host country; in contrast, lower taxes or fewer regulations turned out not to represent essential levers to attract foreign R&D activities. Third, potential spillovers from research clusters or learning effects from local suppliers are not yet strong enough to be considered motives for MNEs' investment in R&D. For governments it might thus be wise to foster the emergence of geographically limited centers of innovation with a highly specialized supply base in a certain technology field or industry. Fourth, the development toward international interdependent R&D units requires stronger international linkages of the local science base. Policy might be used to broaden the national scope of public research

organizations, support the creation of international research networks, and advance the international mobility and experience of its engineers and scientists. Possible measures comprise the expansion of strategic partnerships and research cooperations with foreign universities, the funding of international R&D projects for research insititutions or domestic and foreign firms, and the support of research travels abroad for scientists. Finally, the present study revealed significant differences between industries and countries regarding the share of local R&D. Governments might particularly focus their promotional activities on emphasizing their country's local strengths to expand existing and attract new R&D activities. Moreover, time-based competition and short innovation cycles were shown to be positively associated with localization of R&D activities. Boosting the innovation system in the sectors with short innovation cycles and high innovation pressure might represent a viable strategy to build up distinct location advantages that attract foreign R&D investments.

# **Bibliography**

Adler, Nancy J. (2002): International Dimensions of Organizational Behavior, Thomson South-Western, Cincinnati.

- Adler, Nicole and Hashai, Niron (2007): Knowledge Flows and the Modelling of the Multinational Enterprise, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 38, no. 4, pp. 639-657.
- Agarwal, Jamuna P. (1980): Determinants of Foreign Direct Investment: A Survey, in: Review of World Economics, vol. 116, no. 4, pp. 739-773.
- Aharoni, Yari (1966): The Foreign Direct Investment Decision Process, Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA.
- Aharonson, Barak S.; Baum, Joel A. C.; and Feldman, Maryann P. (2007): Desperately Seeking Spillovers? Increasing Returns, Industrial Organization and the Location of New Entrants in Geographic and Technological Space, in: Industrial and Corporate Change, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 89-130.
- Ajami, Riad A. and BarNiv, Ran (1984): Utilizing Economic Indicators in Explaining Foreign Direct Investment in the U.S, in: Management International Review, vol. 24, no. 4, pp. 16-26.
- Ajami, Riad A. and Ricks, David A. (1981): Motives of Non-American Firms Investing in the United States, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 25-34.
- Akgün, Ali E.; Byrne, John C.; Lynn, Gary S.; and Keskin, Halit (2007): New Product Development in Turbulent Environments: Impact of Improvisation and Unlearning on New Product Performance, in: Journal of Engineering and Technology Management, vol. 24, no. 3, pp. 203-230.
- Albers, Sönke and Hildebrandt, Lutz (2006): Methodische Probleme bei der Erfolgsfaktorenforschung: Messfehler, formative versus reflektive Indikatoren und die Wahl des Strukturgleichungsmodells, in: Zeitschrift für betriebswirtschaftliche Forschung, vol. 58, no. 1, pp. 2-33.

- Alcácer, Juan (2006): Location Choices Across the Value Chain: How Activity and Capability Influence Collocation, in: Management Science, vol. 52, no. 10, pp. 1457-1471.
- Alcácer, Juan and Chung, Wilbur (2007): Location Strategies and Knowledge Spillovers, in: Management Science, vol. 53, no. 5, pp. 760-776.
- Almeida, Paul (1996): Knowledge Sourcing by Foreign Multinationals: Patent Citation Analysis in the U.S. Semiconducter Industry, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 17, no. Winter 1996, pp. 155-165.
- Almeida, Paul and Kogut, Bruce (1999): Localization of Knowledge and the Mobility of Engineers in Regional Networks, in: Management Science, vol. 45, no. 7, pp. 905-917.
- Almeida, Paul and Phene, Anupama (2004): Subsidiaries and Knowledge Creation: The Influence of the MNC and Host Country on Innovation, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 25, no. 8/9, pp. 847-864.
- Almeida, Paul; Song, Jaeyong; and Grant, Robert, M. (2002): Are Firms Superior to Alliances and Markets? An Empirical Test of Cross-Border Knowledge Building, in: Organization Science, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 147-161.
- Ambos, Björn (2005): Foreign Direct Investment in Industrial Research and Development: A Study of German MNCs, in: Research Policy, vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 395-410.
- Ambos, Björn and Ambos, Tina C. (2009a): Location Choice, Management and Performance of International R&D Investments in Peripheral Economies, in: International Journal of Technology Management, vol. 48, no. 1, pp. 24-41.
- Ambos, Björn and Reitsperger, Wolf D. (2004): Offshore Centers of Excellence: Social Control and Success, in: Management International Review, vol. 44, no. 2, pp. 51-65.
- Ambos, Björn and Schlegelmilch, Bodo B. (2004): The Use of International R&D Teams: An Empirical Investigation of Selected Contingency Factors, in: Journal of World Business, vol. 39, no. 1, pp. 37-48.

- Ambos, Tina C. and Ambos, Björn (2009b): The Impact of Distance on Knowledge Transfer Effectiveness in Multinational Corporations, in: Journal of International Management, vol. 15, no. 1, pp. 1-14.
- Ambos, Tina C.; Ambos, Björn; and Schlegelmilch, Bodo B. (2006): Learning from Foreign Subsidiaries: An Empirical Investigation of Headquarters' Benefits from Reverse Knowledge Transfers, in: International Business Review, vol. 15, no. 3, pp. 294-312.
- Ambos, Tina C.; Andersson, Ulf; and Birkinshaw, Julian (2010): What Are the Consequences of Initiative-Taking in Multinational Subsidiaries?, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 41, no. 7, pp. 1099-1118.
- Amsden, Alice H. and Tschang, F. Ted (2003): A New Approach to Assessing the Technological Complexity of Different Categories of R&D (with Examples from Singapore), in: Research Policy, vol. 32, no. 4, pp. 553-572.
- Anand, Jaideep and Kogut, Bruce (1997): Technological Capabilities of Contries, Firm Rivalry and Foreign Direct Investment, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 445-465.
- Andersen, Otto (1993): On the Internationalization Process of Firms: A Critical Analysis, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 24, no. 2, pp. 209-232.
- Andersen, Otto (1997): Internationalization and Market Entry Mode: A Review of Theories and Conceptual Frameworks, in: Management International Review, vol. 37, no. 2, pp. 27-42.
- Anderson, Erin and Gatignon, Hubert (1986): Modes of Foreign Entry: A Transaction Cost Analysis and Propositions, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 1-26.
- Anderson, James C. and Gerbing, David W. (1991): Predicting the Performance of Measures in a Confirmatory Factor Analysis with a Pretest Assessment of Their Substantive Validities, in: Journal of Applied Psychology, vol. 76, no. 5, pp. 732-740.

- Andersson, Ulf; Björkman, Ingmar; and Forsgren, Mats (2005): Managing Subsidiary Knowledge Creation: The Effect of Control Mechanisms on Subsidiary Local Embeddedness, in: International Business Review, vol. 14, no. 5, pp. 521-538.
- Andersson, Ulf and Forsgren, Mats (2000): In Search of Centre of Excellence: Network Embeddedness and Subsidiary Roles in Multinational Corporations, in: Management International Review vol. 40, no. 4, pp. 329-350.
- Andersson, Ulf; Forsgren, Mats; and Holm, Ulf (2001): Subsidiary Embeddedness and Competence Development in MNCs A Multi-level Analysis, in: Organization Studies vol. 22, no. 6, pp. 1013-1034.
- Andersson, Ulf; Forsgren, Mats; and Holm, Ulf (2002): The Strategic Impact of External Networks: Subsidiary Performance and Competence Development in the Multinational Corporation, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 23, no. 11, pp. 979-996.
- Archibugi, Daniele and Iammarino, Simona (2002): The Globalization of Technological Innovation: Definition and Evidence, in: Review of International Political Economy, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 98-122.
- Archibugi, Daniele and Pianta, Mario (1992): Specialization and Size of Technological Activities in Industrial Countries: The Analysis of Patent Data, in: Research Policy, vol. 21, no. 1, pp. 79-93.
- Arnold, David J. and Quelch, John A. (1998): New Strategies in Emerging Markets, in: Sloan Management Review, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 7-20.
- Asakawa, Kazuhiro (2001a): Evolving Headquarters-Subsidiary Dynamics in International R&D: The Case of Japanese Multinationals, in: R&D Management, vol. 31, no. 1, pp. 1-14.
- Asakawa, Kazuhiro (2001b): Organizational Tension in International R&D Management: the Case of Japanese Firms, in: Research Policy, vol. 30, no. 5, pp. 735-757.

- Asmussen, Christian G.; Pedersen, Torben; and Dhanaraj, Charles (2009): Host-Country Environment and Subsidiary Competence: Extending the Diamond Network Model, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 42-57.
- Audretsch, David B. and Weigand, Jürgen (2005): Do Knowledge Conditions Make a Difference? Investment, Finance and Ownership in German Industries, in: Research Policy, vol. 34, no. 5, pp. 595-613.
- Auerswald, Philip E. and Branscomb, Lewis M. (2005): Reflections on Mansfield, Technological Complexity, and the 'Golden Age' of U.S. Corporate R&D, in: Journal of Technology Transfer, vol. 30, no. 1/2, pp. 139-157.
- Axinn, Catherine N. and Matthyssens, Paul (2001): Reframing Internationalization Theory: An Introduction, in: Advances in International Marketing, Emerald Group Ltd, pp. 3-11.
- Bacharach, Samuel B. (1989): Organizational Theories: Some Criteria for Evaluation, in: Academy of Management Review, vol. 14, no. 4, pp. 496-515.
- Backhaus, Klaus; Erichson, Bernd; Plinke, Wulff; and Weiber, Rolf (2008): Multivariate Analysemethoden, Springer, Berlin.
- Bagozzi, Richard P. (1994): Structural Equation Models in Marketing Research: Basic Principles, in: Bagozzi, Richard P. (Ed.), Principles of Marketing Research, Blackwell, Cambridge, MA, pp. 386-422.
- Bagozzi, Richard P. and Fornell, Claes (1982): Theoretical Concepts, Measurements, and Meaning, in: Fornell, Claes (Ed.), A Second Generation of Multivariate Analysis, Greenwood, New York.
- Bagozzi, Richard P. and Phillips, Lynn W. (1982): Representing and Testing Organizational Theories: A Holistic Construal, in: Administrative Science Quarterly, vol. 27, no. 3, pp. 459-489.
- Bagozzi, Richard P.; Yi, Youjae; and Phillips, Lynn W. (1991): Assessing Construct Validity in Organizational Research, in: Administrative Science Quarterly, vol. 36, no. 3, pp. 421-458.

- Balassa, Bela (1963): An Empirical Demonstration of Classical Comparative Cost Theory, in: The Review of Economics and Statistics, vol. 45, no. 3, pp. 231-238.
- Barkema, Harry G.; Bell, John H. J.; and Pennings, Johannes M. (1996): Foreign Entry, Cultural Barriers, and Learning, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 151-166.
- Barnard, Chester I. (1938): Functions of the Executive, Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA.
- Barney, Jay B. (1986): Strategic Factor Markets: Expectations, Luck, and Business Strategy, in: Management Science vol. 32, no. 10, pp. 1231-1242.
- Barney, Jay B. (1991): Firm Resources and Sustained Competitive Advantage, in: Journal of Management, vol. 17, no. 1, pp. 99-120.
- Barney, Jay B. (2001): Resource-Based Theories of Competitive Advantage: A Ten-Year Retrospective on the Resource-Based View, in: Journal of Management, vol. 27, no. 6, pp. 643-650.
- Barry, Frank (2005): FDI, Transfer Pricing and the Measurement of R&D Intensity, in: Research Policy, vol. 34, no. 5, pp. 673-681.
- Bartlett, Christopher A. (1979): Multinational Structural Evolution: The Changing Decision Environment in International Divisions, Doctoral dissertation, Harvard Business School, Cambridge, MA.
- Bartlett, Christopher A. (1986): Building and Managing the Transnational: The New Organzational Challenge, in: Porter, Michael E. (Ed.), Competition in Global Industries, Harvard Business School Press, Boston, pp. 367-401.
- Bartlett, Christopher A. and Ghoshal, Sumantra (1986): Tap Your Subsidiaries for Global Reach, in: Harvard Business Review, vol. 64, no. 6, pp. 87-94.
- Bartlett, Christopher A. and Ghoshal, Sumantra (1988): Organizing for Worldwide Effectiveness: The Transnational Solution, in: California Management Review, vol. 31, no. 1, pp. 54-74.

- Bartlett, Christopher A. and Ghoshal, Sumantra (1989): Managing Across Borders: The Transnational Solution, Harvard Business School Press, Boston.
- Bartlett, Christopher A. and Ghoshal, Sumantra (1990): Managing Innovation in the Transnational Corporation, in: Bartlett, Christopher A. (Ed.), Managing the Global Firm, pp. 215-255.
- Bass, Bernard M.; McGregor, Donald M.; and Walters, James L. (1977): Selecting Foreign Plant Sites: Economic, Social and Political Considerations, in: Academy of Management Journal, vol. 20, no. 4, pp. 535-551.
- Battisti, Giuliana and Pietrobelli, Carlo (2000): Intra-Industry Gaps in Technology and Investments in Technological Capabilities: Firm-Level Evidence from Chile, in: International Review of Applied Economics, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 253-269.
- Baumgartner, Hans and Homburg, Christian (1996): Applications of Structural Equation Modeling in Marketing and Consumer Research: A Review, in: International Journal of Research in Marketing, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 139-161.
- Beamish, Paul W.; Craig, Ron; and McLellan, Kerry (1993): The Performance Characteristics of Canadian versus U.K. Exporters in Small and Medium Sized Firms, in: Management International Review, vol. 33, no. 2, pp. 121-137.
- Beckmann, Christoph and Fischer, Joachim (1994): Einflussfaktoren auf die Internationalisierung von Forschung und Entwicklung in der deutschen Chemischen und Pharmazeutischen Industrie, in: Zeitschrift für betriebswirtschaftliche Forschung, pp. 630-657.
- Behrman, Jack N. and Fischer, William A. (1980a): Overseas R&D Activities of Transnational Companies, Oelgeschlager, Gunn & Hain, Cambridge, MA.
- Behrman, Jack N. and Fischer, William A. (1980b): Transnational Corporations: Market Orientations and R&D Abroad, in: Columbia Journal of World Business, vol. 15, no. 3, pp. 55-60.
- Beise, Marian and Belitz, Heike (1998): Trends in the Internationalisation of R&D the German Perspective, in: Vierteljahreshefte des DIW, no. 2, pp. 67-85.

- Belderbos, René (2001): Overseas Innovations by Japanese Firms: An Analysis of Patent and Subsidiary Data, in: Research Policy, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 313-332.
- Belderbos, René (2003): Entry Mode, Organizational Learning, and R&D in Foreign Affiliates: Evidence from Japanese Firms, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 24, no. 3, pp. 235-259.
- Belderbos, René; Lykogianni, Elissavet; and Veugelers, Reinhilde (2003): Strategic R&D Location in European Manufacturing Industiries, Working Paper, Katholike Universitet Leuven, Depatment of Mangerial Economics, Strategy and Innovation.
- Belderbos, René; Lykogianni, Elissavet; and Veugelers, Reinhilde (2004): Strategic R&D Location by Multinational Firms: Spillovers, Technology Sourcing, and Competition, CEPR.
- Bellak, Christian (2005): Adjustment Strategies of Multinational Enterprises to Changing National Competitiveness, in: International Journal of the Economics of Business, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 139-162.
- Belsley, David A.; Kuh, Edwin; and Welsch, Roy E. (2004): Regression Diagnostics: Identifying Influential Data and Sources of Collinearity Wiley, Hoboken.
- Benvignati, Anita M. (1990): Industry Determinants and 'Differences' in U.S. Intrafirm and Arms-Length Exports, in: Review of Economics and Statistics, vol. 72, no. 3, pp. 481-488.
- Berekoven, Ludwig; Eckert, Werner; and Ellenrieder, Peter (2006): Marktforschung: Methodische Grundlagen und praktische Anwendung, Gabler, Wiesbaden.
- Bergkvist, Lars and Rossiter, John R. (2007): The Predictive Validity of Multiple-Item Versus Single-Item Measures of the Same Constructs, in: Journal of Marketing Research, vol. 44, pp. 175-184.
- Birkinshaw, Julian (1996): How Multinational Subsidiary Mandates are Gained and Lost, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 27, no. 3, pp. 467-495.
- Birkinshaw, Julian and Hood, Neil (2000): Characteristics of Foreign Subsidiaries in Industry Clusters, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 31, no. 1, pp. 141-154.

- Birkinshaw, Julian; Hood, Neil; and Jonsson, Stefan (1998): Building Firm-Specific Advantages in Multinational Corporations: The Role of Subsidiary Initiative, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 19, no. 3, pp. 221-242.
- Birkinshaw, Julian M. and Morrison, Allen J. (1995): Configurations of Strategy and Structure in Subsidiaries of Multinational Corporations, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 26, no. 4, pp. 729-753.
- Birkinshaw, Julian; Morrison, Allen; and Hulland, John (1995): Structural and Competitive Determinants of a Global Integration Strategy, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 16, no. 8, pp. 637-655.
- Birkinshaw, Julian; Nobel, Robert; and Ridderstrale, Jonas (2002): Knowledge as a Contingency Variable: Do the Characteristics of Knowledge Predict Organization Structure?, in: Organization Science, vol. 13, no. 3, pp. 274-289.
- Birkinshaw, Julian; Nobel, Robert; and Ridderstrale, Jonas (2008): Knowledge as a Contingency Variable: Do the Characteristics of Knowledge Predict Organization Structure?, in: Zedtwitz, Maximilian von; Birkinshaw, Julian; and Gassmann, Oliver (Eds.), International Management of Research and Development, Elgar, Cheltenham and Northampton, pp. 528-543.
- Birkinshaw, Julian; Toulan, Omar; and Arnold, David (2001): Global Account Management in Multinational Corporations: Theory and Evidence, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 32, no. 2, pp. 231-248.
- Blau, Peter M. and Schoenherr, Richard A. (1971): The Structure of Organizations, Basic Books, New York.
- Bliemel, Friedhelm; Eggert, Andreas; Fassott, Georg; and Henseler, Jörg (2005): Handbuch PLS-Pfadmodellierung: Methoden, Anwendung, Praxisbeispiele, Stuttgart.
- Blomkvist, Katarina; Kappen, Philip; and Zander, Ivo (2010): Quo Vadis? The Entry into New Technologies in Advanced Foreign Subsidiaries of the Multinational Enterprise, in: Journal of International Business Studies, advance online publication, pp. 1-25.

- Boehe, Dirk Michael (2008): Product Develepment in Emerging Market Subsidiaries The Influence of Autonomy and Internal Markets on Subsidiary Roles, in: International Journal of Innovation and Technology Management, vol. 5, no. 1, pp. 29-53.
- Boehmer, Alexander von; Brockhoff, Klaus; and Pearson, Alan (1992): The Management of International Reserach and Development, in: Buckley, Peter J. and Brooke, Michael Z. (Eds.), International Business Studies: An Overview, Blackwell, Oxford, pp. 495-509.
- Bollen, Kenneth A. (1989): Structural Equations With Latent Variables, Wiley, New York.
- Bollen, Kenneth A. and Lennox, Richard (1991): Conventional Wisdom on Measurement: A Structural Equation Perspective, in: Psychological Bulletin, vol. 110, no. 2, pp. 305-314.
- Bourque, Linda B. and Fielder, Eve P. (1995): How to Conduct Self-Administered and Mail Surveys, Sage, Thousand Oaks, London, New Delhi.
- Boutellier, Roman; Gassmann, Oliver; and Zedtwitz, Maximilian von (2008): Managing Global Innovation – Uncovering the Secrets of Future Competitiveness, Springer, Berlin.
- Branstetter, Lee (2006): Is Foreign Direct Investment a Channel of Knowledge Spillovers? Evidence from Japan's FDI in the United States, in: Journal of International Economics, vol. 68, no. 2, pp. 325-344.
- Brislin, Richard W. (1980): Translation and Content Analysis of Oral and Written Material, in: Triandis, Harry C. and Berry, John W. (Eds.), Handbook of Cross-Cultural Psychology, Allyn and Bacon, Boston, pp. 398-444.
- Brockhoff, Klaus (1998): Internationalization of Research and Development, Springer, Berlin.
- Brockhoff, Klaus (1999): Forschung und Entwicklung: Planung und Kontrolle, Oldenbourgh, München.

- Brockhoff, Klaus (2003): Customers' Perspectives of Involvement in New Product Development, in: International Journal of Technology Management, vol. 26, no. 5, pp. 464-481.
- Brouthers, Keith D. and Brouthers, Lance Eliot (1997): Explaining National Competitive Advantage for a Small European Country: A Test of Three Competing Models, in: International Business Review, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 53-72.
- Brouthers, Keith D.; Brouthers, Lance Eliot; and Werner, Steve (2001): R&D Mode Choices in Central and Eastern Europe, in: Journal of Business Research, vol. 52, no. 1, pp. 83-91.
- Brouthers, Keith D. and Hennart, Jean-Francois (2007): Boundaries of the Firm: Insights From International Entry Mode Research, in: Journal of Management, vol. 33, no. 3, pp. 395-425.
- Brown, James R.; Dev, Chekitan S.; and Zhou, Kevin Zheng (2003): Broadening the Foreign Market Entry Mode Decision: Separating Ownership and Control, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 34, no. 5, pp. 473-488.
- Buckley, Peter J. (1981): A Critical View of Theories of the Multinational Enterprise, in: Außenwirtschaft, vol. 36, no. 1, pp. 70-87.
- Buckley, Peter J. and Casson, Marc C. (1998): Analyzing Foreign Market Entry Strategies: Extending the Internalization Approach, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 29, no. 3, pp. 539-562.
- Buckley, Peter J. and Casson, Mark C. (1976): The Future of the Multinational Enterprise, London.
- Buckley, Peter J. and Castro, Francisco Barros (2001): A Survey-based Investigation of the Determinants of FDI in Portugal, in: Taggart, James H.; Berry, Maureen; and McDermott, Michael (Eds.), Multinationals in a New Era, Palgrave, Basingstoke, pp. 226-258.
- Buckley, Peter J. and Dunning, John H. (1976): The Industrial Structure of U. S. Direct Investment in the U. K, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 5-13.

- Buckley, Peter J. and Pearce, Robert (1979): Overseas Production and Exporting by the World's Largest Enterprises: A Study in Sourcing Policy, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 9-20.
- Buganza, Tommaso; Dell'Era, Claudio; and Verganti, Roberto (2009): Exploring the Relationships Between Product Development and Environmental Turbulence: The Case of Mobile TLC Services, in: Journal of Product Innovation Management, vol. 26, no. 3, pp. 308-321.
- Burgess, Steven Michael and Steenkamp, Jan-Benedict E. M. (2006): Marketing Renaissance: How Research in Emerging Markets Advances Marketing Science and Practice, in: International Journal of Research in Marketing, vol. 23, no. 4, pp. 337-356.
- Burns, Tom and Stalker, G. (1961): The Management of Innovation, Oxford University Press, London.
- Bush, Vannevar (1945): Science The Endless Frontier: A Report to the President on a Programm for Postwar Scientific Research (Reprinted 1990), National Science Foundation, Washington D.C.
- Cairncross, Frances (1997): The Death of Distance: How the Communications Revolution Will Change Our Lives, Harvard Business School Press, Cambridge.
- Calantone, Roger; Garcia, Rosanna; and Dröge, Cornelia (2003): The Effects of Environmental Turbulence on New Product Development Strategy Planning, in: Journal of Product Innovation Management, vol. 20, no. 2, pp. 90-103.
- Cantwell, John (1989): Technological Innovation and Multinational Corporations, Basil Blackwell, Oxford.
- Cantwell, John (1991): The International Agglomeration of R&D, in: Casson, Marc C. (Ed.), Global Research Strategy and International Competitiveness, Oxford, Blackwell, pp. 104-132.
- Cantwell, John (1992): The Internationalization of Technology Activity and its Implications for Competitiveness, in: Granstrand, Ove; Hakanson, Lars; and Sjölander, Sören (Eds.), Technology Management and International Business, Wiley, Chichester, pp. 75-95.
- Cantwell, John (1995): The Globalisation of Technology: What Remains of the Product Cycle Model?, in: Cambridge Journal of Economics, vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 155-174.
- Cantwell, John (2009): Location and the Multinational Enterprise, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 35-41.
- Cantwell, John and Iammarino, Simona (2000): Multinational Corporations and the Location of Technological Innovation in the UK Regions, in: Regional Studies, vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 317-332.
- Cantwell, John and Janne, Odile (1999): Technological Globalisation and Innovative Centres: The Role of Corporate Technological Leadership and Locational Hierarchy, in: Research Policy, vol. 28, no. 2/3, pp. 119-144.
- Cantwell, John and Mudambi, Ram (2000): The Location of MNE R&D Activity: The Role of Investment Incentives, in: Management International Review vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 127-148.
- Cantwell, John and Mudambi, Ram (2005): MNE Competence-Creating Subsidiary Mandates, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 26, no. 12, pp. 1109-1128.
- Cantwell, John and Piscitello, Lucia (2000): Accumulating Technological Competence: Its Changing Impact on Corporate Diversification and Internationalization, in: Industrial and Corporate Change, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 21-51.
- Cantwell, John and Vertova, Giovanna (2004): Historical Evolution of Technological Diversification, in: Research Policy, vol. 33, no. 3, pp. 511-529.
- Carter, Craig R.; Kaufmann, Lutz; and Michel, Alex (2007): Behavioral Supply Management: A Taxonomy of Judgment and Decision-Making Biases, in: International Journal of Physical Distribution & Logistics Management, vol. 37, no. 8, pp. 631-669.
- Casson, Marc C.; Pearce, Robert; and Singh, Satwinder (1992): Global Integration Through the Decentralisation of R&D, in: Casson, Marc C. (Ed.), International Business and Global Integration: Empirical Studies, Macmillan, London.

- Casson, Mark C. and Singh, Satwinder (1993): Corporate Research and Development Strategies: The Influence of Firm, Industry and Country Factors on the Decentralisation of R&D, in: R&D Management, vol. 23, no. 2, pp. 91-107.
- Caves, Richard E. (1996): Multinational Enterprise and Economic Analysis, Cambridge, MA.
- Cavusgil, S. Tamer; Bilkey, Warren J.; and Tesar, George (1979): A Note on the Export Behaviour of Firms: Exporter Profiles, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 91-97.

Chandler, Alfred Dupont (1962): Strategy and Structure, MIT Press, Cambridge, MA.

- Chang, Sea-Jin; Witteloostuijn, Arjen van; and Eden, Lorraine (2010): From the Editors: Common Method Variance in International Business Research, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 41, no. 2, pp. 178-184.
- Chang, Sea Jin and Singh, Harbir (2000): Corporate and Industry Effects on Business Unit Competitive Position, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 21, no. 7, pp. 739-752.
- Chen, Shin-Horng (2007): The National Innovation System and Foreign R&D: The Case of Taiwan, in: R&D Management, vol. 37, no. 5, pp. 441-453.
- Cheng, Hui Fang; Gutierrez, Margarida; Mahajan, Arvind; Shachmurove, Yochanan; and Shahrokhi, Manuchehr (2007): A Future Global Economy to Be Built by BRICs, in: Global Finance Journal, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 143-156.
- Cheng, Joseph L. C. and Bolon, Douglas S. (1993): The Management of Multinational R&D: A Neglected Topic in International Business Research, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 1-18.
- Chiesa, Vittorio (1996a): Managing the Internationalization of R&D Activities, in: IEEE Transactions on Engineering Management, vol. 43, no. 1, pp. 7-23.
- Chiesa, Vittorio (1996b): Strategies for Global R&D, in: Research Technology Management, vol. 39, no. 5, pp. 19.

- Chiesa, Vittorio (2000): Global R&D Project Management and Organization: A Taxonomy, in: Journal of Product Innovation Management, vol. 17, no. 5, pp. 341-359.
- Chiesa, Vittorio (2001): R&D Strategy and Organisation: Managing Technical Change in Dynamic Contexts, Imperial College Press, London.
- Child, John (1975): Organizational Structure, Environment and Performance: The Role of Strategic Choice, in: Sociology, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 1-22.
- Chin, Wynne W. (1998): The Partial Least Squares Approach to Structual Equation Modeling, in: Marcoulides, George A. (Ed.), Modern Methods for Business Research, Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Mahwah, NJ, pp. 295-336.
- Chin, Wynne W.; Marcolin, Barbara L.; and Newsted, Peter R. (2003): A Partial Least Squares Latent Variable Modeling Approach for Measuring Interaction Effects: Results from a Monte Carlo Simulation Study and an Electronic-Mail Emotion/Adoption Study in: Information Systems Research, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 189-217.
- Chin, Wynne W. and Newsted, Peter R. (1999): Structural Equation Modeling Analysis with Small Samples Using Partial Least Squares, in: Hoyle, Rick H. (Ed.), Statistical Strategies for Small Sample Research, Sage, Thousand Oaks, London, New Delhi, pp. 307-341.
- Chng, Pheng-Lui and Pangarkar, Nitin (2000): Research on Global Strategy, in: International Journal of Management Reviews, vol. 2, no. 1, pp. 91-110.
- Cho, Kang Rae (1990): The Role of Product-specific Factors in Intra-firm Trade of U.S. Multinational Corporations in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 319-330.
- Cho, Kang Rae and Lee, Jangho (2004): Firm Characteristics and MNC's Intranetwork Knowledge Sharing, in: Management International Review, vol. 44, no. 4, pp. 435-455.
- Christensen, Clayton M. (1997): The Innovator's Dilemma: When New Technologies Cause Great Firms to Fail, Harvard Business School Press, Boston.

- Christensen, Clayton M. (2001): The Past and Future of Competitive Advantage, in: Sloan Management Review, vol. 42, no. 2, pp. 105-109.
- Chung, Wilbur and Alcácer, Juan (2002): Knowledge Seeking and Location Choice of Foreign Direct Investment in the United States, in: Management Science, vol. 48, no. 12, pp. 1534-1554.
- Chung, Wilbur and Kalnins, Arturs (2001): Agglomeration Effects and Performance: Test of the Texas Hospitality Industry, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 22, no. 10, pp. 969-997.
- Chung, Wilbur and Yeaple, Stephen (2008): International Knowledge Sourcing: Evidence from U.S. Firms Expanding Abroad, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 29, no. 11, pp. 1207-1224.
- Churchill, Gilbert A. (1979): A Paradigm for Developing Better Measures of Marketing Constructs, in: Journal of Marketing Research, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 64-73.
- Claes, Fornell and David, F. Larcker (1981): Evaluating Structural Equation Models with Unobservable Variables and Measurement Error, in: Journal of Marketing Research, vol. 18, no. 000001, pp. 39-50.
- Clark, Kim B. and Fujimoto, Takahiro (1991): Product Development Performance: Strategy, Organization, and Management in the World Auto Industry, Harvard Business School Press, Boston.
- Cohen, Jacob (1988): Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences, Lawrence Erlbaum Associates, Hillsdale, NJ.
- Cohen, Patricia; Cohen, Jacob; Teresi, Jeanne; Marchi, Margaret; and Velez, Noemi C. (1990): Problems in the Measurement Latent Variables in Structural Equations Causal Models, in: Applied Psychological Measurement, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 183-196.
- Cohen, Wesley M. and Levinthal, Daniel A. (1989): Innovation and Learning: The Two Faces of R & D, in: Economic Journal, vol. 99, no. 397, pp. 569-596.

- Cohen, Wesley M. and Levinthal, Daniel A. (1990): Absorptive Capacity: A New Perspective on Learning and Innovation, in: Administrative Science Quarterly vol. 35, no. 1, pp. 128-152.
- Cohen, Wesley M. and Levinthal, Daniel A. (1994): Fortune Favors the Prepared Firm, in: Management Science, vol. 40, no. 2, pp. 227-251.
- Collins, Robert S. and Cordon, Carlos (1997): Survey Methodoly Issues in Manaufacturing Strategy and Practice Research, in: Journal of Operations & Production Management, vol. 17, no. 7, pp. 697-706.
- Collis, David J. (1991): A Resource-Based Analysis of Global Competition: The Case of the Bearings Industry, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 12, no. 49, pp. 49-68.
- Commes, Max-Theodor and Lienert, Richard (1983): Controlling im F&E-Bereich, in: Zeitschrift für Führung und Organisation, vol. 52, no. 7, pp. 347-354.
- Coombs, Rod and Richards, Albert (1993): Strategic Control of Technology in Diversifies Companies with Decentralized R&D, in: Technology Analysis & Strategic Management, vol. 5, no. 4, pp. 385-396.
- Cooper, Harris (1998): Synthesizing Research: A Guide for Literature Reviews, Sage, Thousand Oaks, London, New Delhi.
- Cordon, Warner M. (1967): Protection and Foreign Investment, in: The Economic Record, vol. 43, pp. 209-232.
- Craig, C. Samuel and Douglas, Susan P. (1996): Developing Strategies For Global Markets: As Evolutionary Perspective, in: Columbia Journal of World Business, vol. 31, no. 1, pp. 70-81.
- Craig, C. Samuel and Susan, P. Douglas (2000): Configural Advantage in Global Markets, in: Journal of International Marketing, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 6-26.
- Creamer, Daniel (1976): Overseas Research and Development by United States Multinationals, 1966-1975.

- Criscuolo, Paola; Narula, Rajneesh; and Verspagen, Bart (2002): The Relative Importance of Home and Host Innovation Systems in the Internationalisation of MNE R&D: A Patent Citation Analysis, Working Paper, Technische Universiteit Eindhoven, Eindhoven Centre for Innovation Studies Department of Technology Management.
- Cuervo-Cazurra, Alvaro; Maloney, Mary M.; and Manrakhan, Shalini (2007): Causes of the Difficulties in Internationalization, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 38, no. 5, pp. 709-725.
- Cyert, Richard Michael and March, James G. (1963): A Behavioral Theory of the Firm, Prentice Hall, Englewood Cliffs.
- Dalton, Donald H. and Serapio, Manuel G. (1995): Globalizing Industrial Research and Development, U.S. Department of Commerce, Washington D.C.
- Dalton, Donald H. and Serapio, Manuel G. (1999): Globalizing Industrial Research and Development, U.S. Department of Commerce, Washington D.C.
- David, Fred R. (2005): Strategic Management: Concepts and Cases, Pearson Prentice Hall, New Yersey.
- Davis, Lee N. and Meyer, Klaus E. (2004): Subsidiary Research and Development, and the Local Environment, in: International Business Review, vol. 13, no. 3, pp. 359-382.
- De Meyer, A. (1992): Management of international R&D operations, in: Granstrand, Ove; Hakanson, Lars; and Sjölander, Sören (Eds.), Technology Management and International Business: Internationalization of R&D and Technology, Wiley, Chichester, pp. 163-179.
- De Meyer, Arnoud and Mizushima, Atsuo (1989): Global R&D Management, in: R&D Management, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 1-20.
- de Mooij, Ruud A. and Ederveen, Sjef (2003): Taxation and Foreign Direct Investment: A Synthesis of Empirical Research, in: International Tax and Public Finance, vol. 10, no. 6, pp. 673-693.

- Delios, Andrew and Henisz, Witold J. (2000): Japanese Firms' Investment Strategies in Emerging Economies, in: Academy of Management Journal, vol. 43, no. 3, pp. 305-323.
- DeVellis, Robert F. (2003): Scale Development: Theory and Applications, Sage, Thousand Oaks, London, New Delhi.
- Diamantopoulos, Adamantios (2008): Formative Indicators: Introduction to the Special Issue, in: Journal of Business Research, vol. 61, no. 12, pp. 1201-1202.
- Diamantopoulos, Adamantios and Schlegelmilch, Bodo B. (1996): Determinants of Industrial Mail Survey Response: A Survey-on-Surveys Analysis of Researchers' and Managers' Views, in: Journal of Marketing Management, vol. 12, no. 6, pp. 505-531.
- Diamantopoulos, Adamantios and Siguaw, Judy A. (2006): Formative Versus Reflective Indicators in Organizational Measure Development: A Comparison and Empirical Illustration, in: British Journal of Management, vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 263-282.
- Diamantopoulos, Adamantios and Winkelhofer, Heidi M. (2001): Index Construction With Formative Indicators: An Alternative to Scale Development, in: Journal of Marketing Research, vol. 38, no. 2, pp. 269-277.
- Dijkstra, Theo (1983): Some Comments on Maximum Likelyhood an Partial Least Squares Methods, in: Journal of Econometrics, vol. 22, no. 1/2, pp. 67-90.
- Dill, William R. (1958): Environment as an Influence on Managerial Autonomy, in: Administrative Science Quarterly, vol. 2, no. 4, pp. 409-443.
- Dillman, Don A.; Eltinge, John L.; Groves, Robert M.; and Little, Roderick J.A. (2002): Survey Nonresponse in Design, Data Collection, and Analysis, in: Groves, R.M. et al. (Ed.), Survey Nonresponse, New York, pp. 3-26.
- Dow, Douglas and Karunaratna, Amal (2006): Developing a Multidimensional Instrument to Measure Psychic Distance Stimuli, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 37, no. 5, pp. 578-602.

- Doz, Yves L. (1980): Strategic Management in Multinational Companies, in: Sloan Management Review, vol. 21, no. 2, pp. 27-46.
- Doz, Yves L. (1986): Strategic Management in Multinational Companies, Pergamon, Oxford.
- Doz, Yves L.; Santos, Jose; and Williamson, Peter (2003): The Metanational: The Next Step in the Evolution of the Multinational Enterprise, in: Birkinshaw, Julian et al. (Ed.), The Future of the Multinational Company, Wiley & Sons, pp. 154-168.
- Driffield, Nigel; Love, James H.; and Menghinello, Stefano (2010): The Multinational Enterprise as a Source of International Knowledge Flows: Direct Evidence From Italy, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 41, no. 2, pp. 350-359.
- DuBois, Frank L.; Toyne, Brian; and Oliff, Michael D. (1993): International Manufacturing Strategies of U.S. Multinationals: A Conceptual Framework Based on a Four-Industry Study, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 24, no. 2, pp. 307-333.
- Dunning, John H. (1977): Trade, Location of Economic Activity and the MNE: A Search for an Eclectic Approach, in: Ohlin, Bertil G. et al (Ed.), The International Allocation of Economic Activity: Proceedings of a Nobel Symposium Held at Stockholm, London, pp. 395-418.
- Dunning, John H. (1979): Explaining Changing Patterns of International Production: In Defense of the Eclectic Theory, in: Oxford Bulletin of Economics & Statistics, vol. 41, no. 4, pp. 269-295.
- Dunning, John H. (1980): Toward an Eclectic Theory of International Production: Some Empirical Tests, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 9-31.
- Dunning, John H. (1988): The Eclectical Paradigm of International Production: A Restatement and some Possible Extensions, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 1-31.
- Dunning, John H. (1993): Multinational Enterprises and the Global Economy, Addison-Wesley, New York.

- Dunning, John H. (1994): Multinational Enterprises and the Globalization of Innovatory Capacity, in: Research Policy, vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 67-88.
- Dunning, John H. (1995): Reappraising the Eclectic Paradigm in an Age of Alliance Capitalism, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 26, no. 3, pp. 461-491.
- Dunning, John H. (1997): The Economic Theory of the Firm as a Basis for a 'Core' Theory of International Production, in: Islam, Iyanatul and Shepherd, William F. (Eds.), Current Issues in International Business, Elgar, Cheltenham and Lyme, pp. 60-68.
- Dunning, John H. (1998): Location and the Multinational Enterprise: A Neglected Factor?, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 29, no. 1, pp. 45-66.
- Dunning, John H. (2000): The Eclectic Paradigm as an Envelope for Economic and Business Theories of MNE Activity, in: International Business Review, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 163-190.
- Dunning, John H. (2003): Some Antecedents of Internalization Theory, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 34, no. 2, pp. 108-115.
- Dunning, John H. (2009): Location and the Multinational Enterprise: A Neglected Factor?, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 5-19.
- Dunning, John H. and Lundan, Sarianna M. (2009): The Internationalization of Corporate R&D: A Review of the Evidence and Some Policy Implications for Home Countries, in: Review of Policy Research, vol. 26, no. 1/2, pp. 13-33.
- Dunning, John H. and McKaig-Berliner, Alison (2002): The Geographical Sources of Competitiveness: The Professional Business Services Industry, in: Transnational Corporations, vol. 11, no. 3, pp. 1-38.
- Dunning, John H. and Narula, Rajneesh (1995): The R&D Activities of Foreign Firms in the United States, in: International Studies of Management & Organization, vol. 25, no. 1/2, pp. 39-74.
- Eckey, Hans-Friedrich; Kosfeld, Reinhold; and Dreger, Christian (2004): Ökonometrie, Gabler, Wiesbaden.

- Edler, Jakob (2004): International Research Strategies of Multinational Corporations: A German Perspective, in: Technological Forecasting and Social Change, vol. 71, no. 6, pp. 599-621.
- Edler, Jakob (2008): Creative Internationalization: Widening the Perspectives on Analysis and Policy Regarding International R&D Activities, in: Journal of Technology Transfer, vol. 33, no. 4, pp. 337-352.
- Edler, Jakob; Meyer-Krahmer, Frieder; and Reger, Guido (2002): Changes in the Strategic Management of Technology: Results of a Global Benchmarking Study, in: R&D Management, vol. 32, no. 2, pp. 149-164.
- Edquist, Charles (1997): Systems of Innovation: Technologies, Institutions and Organizations, Pinter Publisher, London.
- Eisenhardt, Kathleen M. and Martin, Jeffrey A. (2000): Dynamic Capabilities: What Are They?, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 21, no. 10/11, pp. 1105-1121.
- EIU (2004): Scattering the Seeds of Innovation: The Globalization of Research and Development, Economist Intelligence Unit, London.
- Emery, Fred E. and Trist, Eric L. (1965): The Causal Texture of Organizational Environments, in: Human Relations, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 21-32.
- Enright, Michael J. (2009): The Location of Activities of Manufacturing Multinationals in the Asia-Pacific, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 40, no. 5, pp. 818-839.
- Erickson, Tamara J. (1990): Worldwide R&D Management: Concepts and Applications, in: Columbia Journal of World Business, vol. 25, no. 4, pp. 8-13.
- Ernst, Dieter (2002): Global Production Networks and the Changing Geography of Innovation Systems: Implications for Developing Countries, in: Economics of Innovation and New Technology, vol. 11, no. 6, pp. 497-523.
- Ernst, Holger (1995): Patenting Strategies in the German Mechanical Engineering Industry and Their Relationship to Company Performance, in: Technovation, vol. 15, no. 4, pp. 225-240.

- Ernst, Holger (2001): Patent Applications and Subsequent Changes of Performance: Evidence from Time-Series Cross-Section Analyses on the Firm Level, in: Research Policy, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 143-157.
- Ernst, Holger (2003a): Patent Information for Strategic Technology Management, in: World Patent Information, vol. 25, no. 3, pp. 233-242.
- Ernst, Holger (2003b): Ursachen eines Informant Bias und dessen Auswirkung auf die Validität empirischer betriebswirtschaftlicher Forschung, in: Zeitschrift für Betriebswirtschaft, vol. 73, no. 12, pp. 1249-1275.
- Ernst, Holger and Teichert, Thorsten (1998): The R&D/Marketing Interface and Single Informant Bias in NPD Research: An Illustration of a Benchmarking Case Study, in: Technovation, vol. 18, no. 12, pp. 721-739.
- Erramilli, M. Krishna and Rao, C. P. (1990): Choice of Foreign Market Entry Modes by Service Firms: Role of Market Knowledge, in: Management International Review, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 135-150.
- Erramilli, M. Krishna and Rao, C. P. (1993): Service Firms' International Entry-Mode Choice: A Modified Transaction-Cost Analysis Approach, in: Journal of Marketing, vol. 57, no. 3, pp. 19.
- Estrin, Saul; Meyer, Klaus E.; Wright, Mike; and Foliano, Francesca (2008): Export Propensity and Intensity of Subsidiaries in Emerging Economies, in: International Business Review, vol. 17, no. 5, pp. 574-586.
- European Commission (2006): Monitoring Industrial Research: Survey on Business Trends in R&D Investment, Office for Official Publications of the European Communities, Luxembourg.
- Evans, Jody and Mavondo, Felix T. (2002): Psychic Distance and Organizational Performance: An Empirical Examination of International Retailing Operations, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 33, no. 3, pp. 515-532.
- Farrell, Diana and Grant, Andrew J. (2005): China's Looming Talent Shortage, in: McKinsey Quarterly, vol. 14, no. 4, pp. 70-79.

- Fassott, Georg (2006): Operationalisierung latenter Variablen in Strukturgleichungsmodellen: Eine Standortbestimmung, in: Zeitschrift für betriebswirtschaftliche Forschung, vol. 58, no. 2, pp. 67-88.
- Fassott, Georg and Eggert, Andreas (2005): Zur Verwendung formativer und reflektiver Indikatoren in Strukturgleichungsmodellen: Bestandsaufnahme und Anwendungsempfehlungen, in: Bliemel, Friedhelm; Eggert, Andreas; Fassott, Georg; and Henseler, Jörg (Eds.), Handbuch PLS-Pfadmodellierung: Methoden, Anwendung, Praxisbeispiele, Schäffer-Poeschel, Stuttgart, pp. 31-47.

Federal Statistical Office Germany (2009): Statistical Yearbook 2009, Wiesbaden.

- Feinberg, Susan E. and Gupta, Anil K. (2004): Knowlege Spillovers and the Assignment of R&D Responsibilities to Foreign Subsidiaries, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 25, no. 8/9, pp. 823-845.
- Fine, Charles H. (1998): Clockspeed: Winning Industry Control In The Age Of Temporary Advantage, Perseus Books, Reading.
- Fine, Charles H.; Vardan, Roger; Pethick, Robert; and El-Hout, Jamal (2002): Rapid-Response Capability in Value-Chain Design, in: Sloan Management Review, vol. 43, no. 2, pp. 69-75.
- Fink, Arlene (2005): Conducting Research Literature Reviews: From the Internet to Paper, Sage, Thousand Oaks, London, New Delhi.
- Florida, Richard (1997): The Globalization of R&D: Results of a Survey of Foreign-Affiliated R&D Laboratories in the USA, in: Research Policy, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 85-103.
- Florida, Richard and Kenney, Martin (1994): The Globalization of Japanese R&D: The Economic Geography of Japanese R&D Investment in the United States, in: Economic Geography, vol. 70, no. 4, pp. 344.
- Flowers, Edward Brown (1976): Oligopolistic Reactions in European and Canadian Direct Investment in the United States, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 43-55.

- Flynn, Barbara B.; Sakakibara, Sadao; Schroeder, Roger G.; Bates, Kimberly A.; and Flynn, James E. (1990): Empirical Research Methods in Operations Management, in: Journal of Operations Management, vol. 9, no. 2, pp. 250-284.
- Fornell, Claes and Bookstein, Fred L. (1982): Two Structural Equation Models: LISREL and PLS Applied to Consumer Exit-Voice Theory, in: Journal of Marketing Research vol. 19, no. 4, pp. 440-452.
- Fors, Gunnar (1997): Utilization of R&D Results in the Home and Foreign Plants of Multinationals, in: Journal of Industrial Economics, vol. 45, no. 3, pp. 341-358.
- Fors, Gunnar and Zejan, Mario C. (1996): Overseas R&D Abroad: The Role of Adaptation and Knowledge-Seeking, Working Paper, Stockholm School of Economics, The Economics Research Institute.
- Forsgren, Mats (2002): Are Multinational Firms Good or Bad?, in: Havila, Virpi; Forsgren, Mats; and Hakanson, Hakan (Eds.), Critical Perspectives on Internationalization, Pergamon, London, pp. 29-58.
- Forsgren, Mats; Johanson, Jan; and Sharma, Deo (2000): Development of MNC Centres of Excellence, in: Holm, Ulf and Pedersen, T. (Eds.), The Emergence and Impact of MNC Centres of Excellence, Macmillian, London, pp. 45-67.
- Foss, Nicolai J. and Pedersen, Torben (2002): Transferring Knowledge in MNCs: The Role of Sources of Subsidiary Knowledge and Organizational Context, in: Journal of International Management, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 49-67.
- Franko, Lawrence G. (1989): Global Corporate Competition Who's Winning, Who's Losing, and the R&D Factor as One Reason Why, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 10, no. 5, pp. 449-474.
- Fröbel, Folker; Heinrichs, Jürgen; and Kreye, Otto (1980): The New International Division of Labour: Structural Unemployment in Industrialised Countires and Industrialisation in Developing Countries, Cambridge.
- Frost, Tony S. (1998): The Geographic Sources of Innovation in the Multinational Enterprise: U.S. Subsidiaries and Host Country Spillovers, 1980–1990, Sloan School of Management, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, Boston.

- Frost, Tony S. (2001): The Geographic Sources of Foreign Subsidiaries' Innovations, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 101-123.
- Frost, Tony S.; Birkinshaw, Julian M.; and Ensign, Prescott C. (2002): Centers of Excellence in Multinational Corporations, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 23, no. 11, pp. 997-1018.
- Furman, Jeffrey L.; Porter, Michael E.; and Stern, Scott (2002): The Determinants of National Innovative Capacity, in: Research Policy, vol. 31, no. 6, pp. 899-933.
- Gammeltoft, Peter (2006): Internationalisation of R&D: Trends, Drivers and Managerial Challenges, in: International Journal of Technology & Globalization, vol. 2, no. 1/2, pp. 3-3.
- Gao, Gerald Yong; Murray, Janet Y.; Kotabe, Masaaki; and Lu, Jiangyong (2010): A "Strategy Tripod" Perspective on Export Behaviors: Evidence from Domestic and Foreign Firms Based in an Emerging Economy, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 41, no. 3, pp. 377-396.
- Gassmann, Oliver and Gaso, Berislav (2004): Insourcing Creativity with Listening Posts in Decentralized Firms, in: Creativity & Innovation Management, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 3-14.
- Gassmann, Oliver and Han, Zheng (2004): Motivations and Barriers of Foreign R&D Activities in China, in: R&D Management, vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 423-437.
- Gassmann, Oliver and Zedtwitz, Maximilian von (1998): Organization of Industrial R&D on a Global Scale, in: R&D Management, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 147-161.
- Gassmann, Oliver and Zedtwitz, Maximilian von (1999): New Concepts and Trends in International R&D Organization, in: Research Policy, vol. 28, no. 2/3, pp. 231-250.
- Gaussens, Olivier; Lecostey, Sophie; and Shahbazi, Kiumars (2004): Internationalization of R&D and Market Structure, Working Paper, University of Caen.

- Gefen, David; Straub, Detmar W.; and Boudreau, Marie-Claude (2000): Structural Equation Modeling and Regression: Guidelines for Research Practice, in: Communications of the Association for Information Systems, vol. 4, no. 7, pp. 1-78.
- German Central Bank (2008): Foreign Direct Investment Stock Statistics Special Statistical Publication 10. Frankfurt a. M.
- Gerpott, Heike (1991): F&E und Produktion: Theoretische und empirische Analysen zu Schnittstellenproblemen im Innovationsprozeß unter besonderer Berücksichtigung personalwirtschaftlicher Aspekte, Herbert Utz, München.
- Gerybadze, Alexander and Reger, Guido (1999): Globalization of R&D: Recent Changes in the Management of Innovation in Transnational Corporations, in: Research Policy, vol. 28, no. 2/3, pp. 251-274.
- Ghemawat, Pankaj (2003): Semiglobalization and International Business Strategy, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 34, no. 2, pp. 138-152.
- Ghemawat, Pankaj (2007): Redefining Global Strategy: Crossing Borders in a World Where Differences Still Matter, Harvard Business School Press, Boston.
- Ghoshal, Sumantra (1987): Global Strategy: An Organizing Framework, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 8, no. 5, pp. 425-440.
- Ghoshal, Sumantra and Bartlett, Christopher A. (1994): Linking Organizational Context and Managerial Action: The Dimensions of Quality of Management, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 15, pp. 91-112.
- Ghoshal, Sumantra; Korine, Harry; and Szulanski, Gabriel (1994): Interunit Communication in Multinational Corporations, in: Management Science, vol. 40, no. 1, pp. 96-110.
- Ghoshal, Sumantra and Nohria, Nitin (1993): Horses for Courses: Organizational Forms for Multinational Corporations, in: Sloan Management Review, vol. 34, no. 2, pp. 23-35.
- Ghoshal, Sumantra and Westney, Eleanor D. (1991): Organizing Competitor Analysis Systems, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 17-31.

- Giddy, Ian H. (1978): The Demise of the Product Cycle Model in International Business Theory, in: Columbia Journal of World Business, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 90-97.
- Ginsberg, Ari and Venkatraman, N. (1985): Contingency Perspectives if Organizational Strategy: A Critical Review of the Empirical Research, in: Academy of Management Review, vol. 10, no. 3, pp. 421-434.
- Glazer, Rashi and Weiss, Allen M. (1993): Marketing in Turbulent Environments: Decision Processes and the Time-Sensitivity of Information, in: Journal of Marketing Research, vol. 30, no. 4, pp. 509-521.
- Goerzen, Anthony and Beamish, Paul W. (2003): Geographic Scope and Multinational Enterprise Performance, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 24, no. 13, pp. 1289-1306.
- Gomes-Casseres, Benjamin (1989): Ownership Structures of Foreign Subsidiaries: Theory and Evidence, in: Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 1-25.
- Gomes, Lenn and Ramaswamy, Kannan (1999): An Empirical Examination of the Form of the Relationship Between Multinationality and Performance, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 173-187.
- Gómez-Mejia, Luis R. and Palich, Leslie E. (1997): Cultural Diversity and the Performance of Multinational Firms, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 28, no. 2, pp. 309-335.
- Götz, Oliver and Liehr-Gobbers, Kerstin (2004): Analyse von Strukturgleichungsmodellen mit Hilfe der Partial-Least-Squares(PLS)-Methode, in: Die Betriebswirtschaft, vol. 64, no. 6, pp. 714-738.
- Götz, Oliver; Liehr-Gobbers, Kerstin; and Krafft, Manfred (2010): Evaluation of Structural Equation Models Using the Partial Least Squares (PLS) Approach, in: Vinzi, Vincenzo Esposito; Chin, Wynne W.; and Henseler, Jörg (Eds.), Handbook of Partial Least Squares: Concepts, Methods, and Applications in Marketing and Related Areas, Springer, Berlin, pp. 691-711.

- Graham, Edward M. (1978): Transatlantic Investment by Multinational Firms: A Rivalistic Phenomenon?, in: Journal of Post Keynesian Economics, vol. 1, no. 1, pp. 82.
- Granstrand, Ove (1999): Internationalization of Corporate R&D: A Study of Japanese and Swedish Corporations, in: Research Policy, vol. 28, no. 2/3, pp. 275-302.
- Granstrand, Ove; Hakanson, Lars; and Sjölander, Sören (1992): Technology Management and International Business: Internationalization of R&D and Technology, Chichester.
- Green, Robert T. and Cunningham, William H. (1975): The Determinants of U.S. Foreign Investment: An Empirical Examination, in: Management International Review, vol. 15, no. 2/3, pp. 113-120.
- Griffith, David A. and Harvey, Michael G. (2001): An Intercultural Communication Model for Use in Global Interorganizational Networks, in: Journal of International Marketing, vol. 9, no. 3, pp. 87-103.
- Grünert, Lars and Fuchs, Andreas (2007): Cluster Sourcing: Wettbewerbsvorteile durch Lokale Vernetzung am Standort Deutschland, in: Rademacher, Michael and Kaufmann, Lutz (Eds.), Unternehmensstandort Deutschland – Unsere Stärken Nutzen, European Management Publications, Frankfurt a. M., pp. 145-161.
- Grunwald, Joseph and Flamm, Kenneth (1985): The Global Factory: Foreign Assembly in International Trade, Brookings Institution, Washington D.C.
- Gupta, Anil K. and Govindarajan, Vijay (1991): Knowledge Flows and the Structure Control within Multinational Corporations, in: Academy of Management Review, vol. 16, no. 4, pp. 768-792.
- Gupta, Anil K. and Govindarajan, Vijay (1994): Organizing for Knowledge Flows within MNCs, in: International Business Review, vol. 3, no. 4, pp. 443-459.
- Gupta, Anil K. and Govindarajan, Vijay (2000): Knowledge Flows within Multinational Corporations, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 21, no. 4, pp. 473-496.

- Gupta, Anil K.; Govindarajan, Vijay; and Wang, Haiyan (2008): The Quest for Global Dominance: Transforming Global Presence Into Global Competitive Advantage, Jossey-Bass, San Francisco.
- Habib, Mohammed M. and Victor, Bart (1991): Strategy, Sstructure, and Performance of U.S. Manufacturing and Aervice MNCs: A Comparatie Analysis, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 12, no. 8, pp. 589-606.
- Hakanson, Lars (1990): International Decentralization of R&D: The Organizational Challenges, in: Bartlett, Christopher A.; Doz, Yves L.; and Hedlund, Gunnar (Eds.), Managing the Global Firm, Routledge, London, pp. 256-278.
- Hakanson, Lars (1992): Locational Determinants of Foreign R&D in Swedish Multinationals, in: Granstrand, Ove; Hakanson, Lars; and Sjölander, Sören (Eds.), Technology Management and International Business: Internationalization of R&D and Technology, Wiley, Chichester, pp. 97-115.
- Hakanson, Lars and Nobel, Robert (1993a): Determinants of Foreign R&D in Swedish Multinationals, in: Research Policy, vol. 22, pp. 397-411.
- Hakanson, Lars and Nobel, Robert (1993b): Foreign Research and Development in Swedish Multinationals, in: Research Policy, vol. 22, no. 5-6, pp. 373-396.
- Hakanson, Lars and Nobel, Robert (2000): Technology Characteristics and Reverse Technology Transfer, in: Management International Review vol. 40, no. Special Issue 1, pp. 29-48.
- Hakanson, Lars and Nobel, Robert (2001): Organizational Characteristics and Reverse Technology Transfer, in: Management International Review vol. 41, no. 4, pp. 395-420.
- Hakanson, Lars and Zander, Udo (1988): International Management of R&D: The Swedish Experience, in: R&D Management, vol. 18, no. 3, pp. 217-226.
- Hall, Bronwyn H.; Jaffe, Adam; and Trajtenberg, Manuel (2000): Market Value and Patent Citations: A First Look, National Bureau of Economic Research, Cambridge, MA.

- Hall, Bronwyn and Reenen, John Van (2000): How Effective are Fiscal Incentives for R&D? A Review of the Evidence, in: Research Policy, vol. 29, no. 4,5, pp. 449-469.
- Hall, Jeremy and Rosson, Philip (2006): The Impact of Technological Turbulence on Entrepreneurial Behavior, Social Norms and Ethics: Three Internet-based Cases, in: Journal of Business Ethics, vol. 64, no. 3, pp. 231-248.
- Hall, Judith A. and Rosenthal, Robert (1991): Testing for Moderator Variables in Meta-Analysis: Issues and Methods, in: Communication Monographs, vol. 58, no. 4, pp. 437-448.
- Hallen, Lars and Johanson, Jan (1985): Industrial Marketing Strategies and Different National Environments, in: Journal of Business Research, vol. 13, no. 6, pp. 495-509.
- Hambrick, Donald C. and Lei, David (1985): Toward an Empirical Prioritization of Contingency Variables for Business Strategy, in: Academy of Management Journal, vol. 28, no. 4, pp. 763-788.
- Hamel, Gary and Prahalad, C. K. (1985): Do You Really Have a Global Strategy?, in: Harvard Business Manager, vol. 63, no. 3, pp. 139-149.
- Han, Jin, K.; Kim, Namwoon; and Srivastava, Rajendra K. (1998): Market Orientation and Organizational Performance: Is Innovation a Missing Link?, in: Journal of Marketing, vol. 62, no. 4, pp. 30-45.
- Hanvanich, Sangphet; Sivakumar, K.; and Hult, G. Tomas M. (2006): The Relationship of Learning and Memory With Organizational Performance: The Moderating Role of Turbulence, in: Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science, vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 600-612.
- Hargadon, Andrew and Fanelli, Angelo (2002): Action and Possibility: Reconciling Dual Perspectives of Knowledge in Organizations, in: Organization Science, vol. 13, no. 3, pp. 290-302.

- Harrison, David A.; McLaughlin, Mary E.; and Coalter, Terry M. (1996): Context, Cognition, and Common Method Variance: Psychometric and Verbal Protocol Evidence, in: Organizational Behavior & Human Decision Processes, vol. 68, no. 3, pp. 246-261.
- Hart, Christoph (1998): Doing a Literature Review: Releasing the Social Science Research Imagination, Sage, London, Thousand Oaks, New Delhi.
- Harzing, Anne-Wil (1997): Response Rates in International Mail Surveys: Results of a 22-Country Study, in: International Business Review, vol. 6, no. 6, pp. 641-665.

Harzing, Anne-Wil (1999): Managing the Multinational, Elgar, Northampton.

- Harzing, Anne-Wil (2000): An Empirical Analysis and Extension of the Bartlett and Ghoshal Typology of Multinational Companies, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 31, no. 1, pp. 101-119.
- Harzing, Anne-Wil (2002): Acquisitions Versus Greenfield Investments: International Strategy and Management of Entry Modes, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 23, no. 3, pp. 211-227.
- Harzing, Anne-Wil and Noorderhaven, Niels (2006): Knowledge Flows in MNCs: An Empirical Test and Extension of Gupta and Govindarajan's Typology of Subsidiary Roles, in: International Business Review, vol. 15, no. 3, pp. 195-214.
- Haug, P.; Hood, N.; and Young, S. (1983): R&D Intensity in the Affiliates of US-Owned Electronics Companies Manufacturing in Scotland, in: Regional Studies, vol. 17, no. 6, pp. 383-392.
- Hayes, Robert and Wheelwright, Steven C. (1988): Dynamic Manufacturing: Creating the Learning Organization, Free Press, New York.
- Heckscher, Eli F. (1919): The Effect of Foreign Trade on the Distribution of Income, in: Economisk Tidskrift, vol. 21, pp. 497-512.
- Hedlund, Gunnar (1986): The Hypermodern MNC A Heterarchy?, in: Human Resource Management, vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 9-35.

- Hedlund, Gunnar (1994): A Model of Knowledge Management and the N-Form Corporation, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 15, no. Summer, pp. 73-90.
- Hedlund, Gunnard and Kverneland, Adne (1985): Are Strategies for Foreign Markets Changing? The Case of Swedish Investment in Japan, in: International Studies of Management & Organization, vol. 15, no. 2, pp. 41-59.
- Hegde, Deepak and Hicks, Diana (2008): The Maturation of Global Corporate R&D: Evidence from the Activity of U.S. Foreign Subsidiaries, in: Research Policy, vol. 37, no. 3, pp. 390-406.
- Helfat, Constance E. (1997): Know-How and Asset Complementarity and Dynamic Capability Accumulation: The Case of R&D, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 18, no. 5, pp. 339-360.
- Helm, Sabine (2005): Entwicklung eines formativen Messmodells für das Konstrukt Unternehmensreputation, in: Bliemel, Friedhelm; Eggert, Andreas; Fassott, Georg; and Henseler, Jörg (Eds.), Handbuch PLS-Pfadmodellierung: Methoden, Anwendung, Praxisbeispiele, Schäffer-Poeschel, Stuttgart, pp. 242-254.
- Hennart, Jean-Francois (1982): A Theory of Multinational Enterprise, University of Michigan Press, Ann Arbor.
- Hennart, Jean-Francois (1989): Can The 'New Forms Of Investment' Substitute For The 'Old Forms?' – A Transaction Cost Perspective, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 20, no. 2, pp. 211-234.
- Hennart, Jean-Francois (1991): The Transaction Costs Theory of Joint Ventures: An Empirical Study of Japanese Subsidiaries in the United States, in: Management Science, vol. 37, no. 4, pp. 483-497.
- Hennart, Jean-Francois (1993): Explaining the Swollen Middle: Why Most Transactions are a Mix of "Market" and "Hierarchy", in: Organization Science, vol. 4, no. 4, pp. 529-547.
- Hennart, Jean-Francois (1996): The Transaction Cost Theory of Multinational Enterprises, in: Pitelis, Christos and Sugden, Roger (Eds.), The Nature of the Transnational Firm, Routledge, London, pp. 81-116.

- Hennart, Jean-Francois and Larimo, Jorma (1998): The Impact of Culture on the Strategy of Multinational Enterprises: Does National Origin Affect Ownership Decisions?, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 29, no. 3, pp. 515-538.
- Henning-Thurau, Thorsten; Walsh, Gianfranco; and Schrader, Ulf (2003): VHB-Jourqual: Ein Ranking von betriebswirtschaftlich-relevanten Zeitschriften auf der Grundlage von Expertenurteilen, in: Zeitschrift für betriebswirtschaftliche Forschung, vol. 56, no. 9, pp. 520-545.
- Henseler, Jörg and Fassott, Georg (2008): Testing Moderating Effects in PLS Path Models: An Illustration of Available Procedures, in: Esposito Vinzi, V., et al. (Ed.), Handbook of Partial Least Squares: Concepts, Methods, and Applications in Marketing and Related Areas, Springer, Heidelberg, pp. 1-24.
- Henseler, Jörg and Fassott, Georg (2010): Testing Moderating Effects in PLS Path Models: An Illustration of Available Procedures, in: Vinzi, Vincenzo Esposito ; Chin, Wynne W.; and Henseler, Jörg (Eds.), Handbook of Partial Least Squares: Concepts, Methods, and Applications in Marketing and Related Areas, Springer, Berlin, pp. 713-735.
- Hermann, Andreas; Huber, Frank; and Kressmann, Frank (2006): Varianz- und kovarianzbasierte Strukturgleichungsmodelle: Ein Leitfaden zu deren Spezifikation, Schätzung und Beurteilung, in: Zeitschrift für betriebswirtschaftliche Forschung, vol. 58, no. 1, pp. 34-66.
- Herrlich, Stephan and Kaufmann, Lutz (2008): Interne soziale Netzwerke steuern in: io new management, vol. 77, no. 6, pp. 86-89.
- Herrmann, Andreas; Huber, Frank; and Kressmann, Frank (2006): Varianz- und kovarianzbasierte Strukturgleichungsmodelle – ein Leitfaden zu deren Spezifikation, Schätzung und Beurteilung, in: Zeitschrift für betriebswirtschaftliche Forschung, vol. 58, no. 1, pp. 34-66.
- Hewitt, Gary (1980): Research and Development Performed Abroad by U.S. Manufacturing Multinationals, in: Kyklos, vol. 33, no. 2, pp. 308-327.

Hippel, von (1988): The Sources of Innovation, Oxford University Press, New York.

- Hirsch, Seev (1967): Location of Industry and International Competitiveness, Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Hirschey, Robert C. and Caves, Richard E. (1981): Research and Transfer of Technology by Multinational Enterprises, in: Oxford Bulletin of Economics & Statistics, vol. 43, no. 2, pp. 115-130.
- Hofstede, Geert H. (1980): Culture's Consequences: International Differences in Work-Related Values, Sage, Newbury Park, London, New Delhi.
- Hofstede, Geert H. (2001): Culture's Consequences: Comparing Values, Behaviors, Institutions, and Organizations Across Nations, Sage, Thousand Oaks, London, New Delhi.
- Holtbrügge, Dirk (2005): Configuration and Co-ordination of Value Activities in German Multinational Corporations, in: European Management Journal, vol. 23, no. 5, pp. 564-575.
- Holtbrügge, Dirk and Puck, Jonas F. (2008): The Change of Foreign Investors' Ownership Modes in the PRC – Theoretical Framework and Empirical Results, in: Meckl, Reinhard; Rongping, Mu; and Fanchen, Meng (Eds.), Technology and Innovation Management: Theories, Methods and Practices from Germany and China, Oldenbourg, Munich, pp. 84-95.
- Homburg, Christian and Baumgartner, Hans (1998): Beurteilung von Kausalmodellen
  Bestandsaufnahme und Anwendungsempfehlungen, in: Hildebrandt, Lutz and Homburg, Christian (Eds.), Die Kausalanalyse, Schäffer-Poeschel, Stuttgart.
- Homburg, Christian and Dobratz, Andreas (1998): Iterative Modellselektion in der Kausalanalyse, in: Hildebrandt, Lutz and Dobratz, Andreas (Eds.), Die Kausalanalyse: Instrument der empirischen betriebswirtschaftlichen Forschung, Schäffer-Poeschel, Stuttgart, pp. 447-474.
- Homburg, Christian and Giering, Anette (1996): Konzeptualisierung und Operationalisierung komplexer Konstrukte, in: Marketing Zeitschrift für Forschung und Praxis, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 5-24.

- Homburg, Christian and Hildebrandt, Lutz (1998): Die Kausalanalyse: Bestandsaufnahme, Entwicklungsrichtungen, Problemfelder, in: Hildebrandt, Lutz and Homburg, Christian (Eds.), Die Kausalanalyse: Ein Instrument der empirischen betriebswirtschaftlichen Forschung, 15-44, Stuttgart.
- Hood, Neil and Young, Stephen (1982): US Multi-National R&D: Corporate Strategies and Policy Implications for the UK, in: Multinational Business, no. 2, pp. 10-23.
- Hoskisson, Robert E.; Eden, Lorraine; Lau, Chung Ming; and Wright, Mike (2000): Strategy in Emerging Economies, in: Academy of Management Journal, vol. 43, no. 3, pp. 249-267.
- Hout, Thomas; Porter, Michael E.; and Rudden, Eileen (1982): How Global Companies Win Out, in: Harvard Business Review, vol. 60, no. 5, pp. 98-108.
- Howells, Jeremy (1990a): The Internationalization of R&D and the Development of Global Research Networks., in: Regional Studies, vol. 24, no. 6, pp. 495-512.
- Howells, Jeremy (1990b): The Location and Organization of R&D: New Horizons, in: Research Policy, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 133-146.
- Howells, Jeremy (2008): New Directions in R&D: Current and Prospective Challenges, in: R&D Management, vol. 38, no. 3, pp. 241-252.
- Hudson, Darren; Seah, Lee-Hong; Hite, Diane; and Haab, Tim (2004): Telephone Presurveys, Self-Selection, and Non-Response Bias to Mail and Internet Surveys in Economic Research, in: Applied Economics Letters, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 237-240.
- Hufbauer, Gary C. (1966): Synthetic Materials and the Theory of International Trade, Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA.
- Hulland, John (1999): Use of Partial Least Squares (PLS) in Strategic Management Research: A Review of Four Recent Studies, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 20, no. 2, pp. 195-204.
- Hutzschenreuter, Thomas and Listner, Florian (2007): A Contingency View on Knowledge Transfer: Empirical Evidence from the Software Industry, in: Knowledge Management Research & Practice, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 136-150.

- Hutzschenreuter, Thomas and Voll, Johannes C. (2008): Performance Effects of "Added Cultural Distance" in the Path of International Expansion: the Case of German Multinational Enterprises, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 39, no. 1, pp. 53-70.
- Hymer, Stephan H. (1976): The International Operations of National Firms: A Study of Foreign Direct Investment, MIT Press, Cambridge, MA.
- Iansiti, Marco (1995): Shooting the Rapids: Managing Product Development in Turbulent Environments, in: California Management Review, vol. 38, no. 1, pp. 37-58.

IMF (2008): World Economic Outlook, International Monetary Fund.

- Isobe, Takehiko; Makino, Shige; and Montgomery, David B. (2000): Resource Commitment, Entry Timing and Market Performance of Foreign Direct Investments in Emerging Economies: The Case of Japanese International Joint Ventures in China, in: Academy of Management Journal, vol. 43, no. 3, pp. 468-484.
- Itaki, Masahiko (1991): A Critical Assessment of the Eclectic Theory of the Multinational Enterprise, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 445-460.
- Iwasa, Tomoko and Odagiri, Hiroyuki (2004): Overseas R&D, Knowledge Sourcing, and Patenting: An Empirical Study of Japanese R&D Investment in the US, in: Research Policy, vol. 33, no. 5, pp. 807-828.
- Jaffe, Adam B.; Trajtenberg, Manuel; and Henderson, Rebecca (1993): Geographic Localization of Knowledge Spillovers as Evidenced by Patent Citations, in: Quarterly Journal of Economics, vol. 108, no. 3, pp. 577-598.
- Jarillo, J. Carlos and Martinez, Jon I. (1990): Different Roles for Subsidiaries: The Case of Multinational Corporations in Spain, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 11, no. 7, pp. 501-512.

- Jarillo, J. Carlos and Martinez, Jon I. (1991): The International Expansion of Spanish Firms: Towards an Integrative Framework for International Strategy, in: Mattsson, Lars-Gunnar and Stymne, Bengt S. (Eds.), Corporate and Industry Strategies in Europe, North-Holland, Amsterdam, pp. 283-302.
- Jarvis, Cheryl Burke; Mackenzie, Scott B.; Podsakoff, Philip M.; Mick, David Glen; and Bearden, William O. (2003): A Critical Review of Construct Indicators and Measurement Model Misspecification in Marketing and Consumer Research, in: Journal of Consumer Research, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 199-218.
- Jaworski, Bernard J. and Kohli, Ajay K. (1993): Market Orientation: Antecedents and Consequences, in: Journal of Marketing, vol. 57, no. 3, pp. 53-70.
- Johanson, Jan and Vahlne, Jan-Erik (1977): The Internationalization Process of the Firm: A Model of Knowledge Development and Increasing Foreign Market Commitments, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 25-34.
- Johanson, Jan and Vahlne, Jan-Erik (1990): The Mechanism of Internationalisation, in: International Marketing Review, vol. 7, no. 4, pp. 11-24.
- Johanson, Jan and Vahlne, Jan-Erik (1993): Management of Internationalization, in: Zan, Luca; Zambon, Stefano; and Pettigrew, Andrew M. (Eds.), Perspectives on Strategic Change, Kluwer, Boston, pp. 43-71.
- Johanson, Jan and Vahlne, Jan-Erik (2003): Builling an Model of Firm Internationalisation, in: Blomstermo, Anders and Sharma, Deo (Eds.), Learning in the Internationalisation Process of Firms, Elgar, Cheltenham.
- Johnson, Harry, G. (1967): Economic Nationalism in Old and New States, University of Chicago Press, Chicago.
- Johnson, Julius H. (1995): An Empirical Analysis of the Integration-Responsiveness Framework: U.S. Construction Equipment Industry Firms in Global Competition, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 26, no. 3, pp. 621-635.

- Jöreskog, Karl .G. and Wold, Herman (1982): The ML and PLS Techniques for Modeling with Latent Variables: Historical and Comparative Aspects, in: Jöreskog, K.G. and Wold, H. (Eds.), Systems under Direct Observation: Causalitiy, Structure, Prediction, Amsterdam, pp. 263-270.
- Jöreskog, Karl G. (1970): A General Method for Analysis of Covariance Structures, in: Biometrika, vol. 57, no. 2, pp. 239-251.
- Jöreskog, Karl G. and Sörbom, Dag (1982): Recent Developments in Structural Equation Modeling, in: Journal of Marketing Research vol. 19, no. 4, pp. 404-416.
- Kaplan, Robert S. and Norton, David P. (2007): Using the Balanced Scorecard as a Strategic Management System, in: Harvard Business Review, vol. 85, no. 7/8, pp. 150-161.
- Kaufmann, Lutz (2001): Internationales Beschaffungsmanagement Gestaltung Strategischer Gesamtsysteme und Management Einzelner Transaktionen, Gabler, Wiesbaden.
- Kaufmann, Lutz and Carter, Craig R. (2006): International Supply Relationships and Non-Financial Performance – A Comparison of U.S. and German Practices, in: Journal of Operations Management, vol. 24, no. 5, pp. 653-675.
- Kaufmann, Lutz and Jentzsch, Andreas (2006): Internationalization Processes: The Case of Automotive Suppliers in China, in: Journal of International Marketing, vol. 14, no. 2, pp. 52-84.
- Kaufmann, Lutz; Koch, Matthias; and Panhans, Dirk (2006): Sieben Wege zum Erfolg in Indien, in: Harvard Business Manager, vol. 28, no. 6, pp. 22-30.
- Kaufmann, Lutz and Körte, Peter (2010): Responses of Advanced Country MNEs to Low-cost Country Imports in Their Home Markets, in: Management International Review, vol. 50, no. 2, pp. 241-262.
- Kaufmann, Lutz and Nursai, Harez (2006): Business Footprint Optimization (BFO) Internationale Wertschöpfungsflüsse steuern, in: Controlling, vol. 18, no. 12, pp. 629-635.

- Kaufmann, Lutz; Panhans, Dirk; Poovan, Boney; and Sobotka, Benedikt (2006a): Chinese Affiliates Mature: International Expansion Strategies of German Manufacturers in the PRC, in: China aktuell – Journal of Current Chinese Affairs, vol. 35, no. 3, pp. 5-45.
- Kaufmann, Lutz; Panhans, Dirk; Poovan, Boney; and Sobotka, Benedikt (2006b): Finders Keepers? – How to Find, Motivate, and Keep Good Staff, in: BusinessForum China, vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 24-25.
- Kaufmann, Lutz; Panhans, Dirk; and Tritt, Colin (2007): Internationale Wertschöpfung Gestalten, in: Hausladen, Iris (Ed.), Management am Puls der Zeit – Strategien, Konzepte und Methoden, TWC, München, pp. 603-634.
- Kaufmann, Lutz and Roessing, Sönke M. (2005): Managing Conflict of Interests Between Headquarters and their Subsidiaries Regarding Technology Transfer to Emerging Markets – A Framework, in: Journal of World Business, vol. 40, no. 3, pp. 235-253.
- Kaufmann, Lutz and Tritt, Colin (2007): Internationale Perspektive: Deutschland als Starker Standort, in: Rademacher, Michael and Kaufmann, Lutz (Eds.), Unternehmensstandort Deutschland – Unsere Stärken Nutzen, European Management Publications, Frankfurt a. M., pp. 45-91.
- Kedia, Ben L. and Bhagat, Rabi S. (1988): Cultural Constraints on Transfer of Technology Across Nations: Implications for Research in International and Comparative Management, in: Academy of Management Review, vol. 13, no. 4, pp. 559-571.
- Kenney, Martin and Florida, Richard (1994): The Organization and Geography of Japanese R&D: Results from a Survey of Japanese Electronics and Biotechnology Firms., in: Research Policy, vol. 23, no. 3, pp. 305-323.
- Ketokivi, Mikko and Ali-Yrkkö, Jyrki (2009): Unbundling R&D and Manufacturing: Postindustrial Myth or Economic Reality?, in: Review of Policy Research, vol. 26, no. 1-2, pp. 35-54.
- Khanna, Tarun and Palepu, Krishna (1997): Why Focused Strategies May Be Wrong for Emerging Markets, in: Harvard Business Review, vol. 75, no. 4, pp. 41-51.

Kieser, Alfred (1999): Organisationstheorie, Kohlhammer, Suttgart.

- Kim, Chan W. and Hwang, Peter (1992): Global Strategy and Multinationals' Entry Mode Choice, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 29-53.
- Kim, Wi Saeng and Lyn, Esmeralda O. (1987): Foreign Direct Investment Theories, Entry Barriers, and Reverse Investments in U.S. Manufacturing Industries, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 53-66.
- Kim, Youngbae and Lee, Kwanghoe (2003): Technological Collaboration in the Korean Electronic Parts Industry: Patterns and Key Success Factors, in: R&D Management, vol. 33, no. 1, pp. 59-77.
- Kindleberger, Charles P. (1969): American Business Abroad, Yale University Press, New Haven.
- Kirkman, Bradley L.; Lowe, Kevin B.; and Gibson, Cristina B. (2006): A Quarter Century of Culture's Consequences: A Review of Empirical Research Incorporating Hofstede's Cultural Values Framework, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 37, no. 3, pp. 285-320.
- Kline, Rex B. (2004): Principles and Practice of Structural Equation Modeling, Guilford Press, New York.
- Knickerbocker, Frederick T. (1973): Oligopolistic Reaction and Multinational Enterprise, Harvard University Press, Boston.
- Kobrin, Stephen J. (1991): An Empirical Analysis of the Determinants of Global Integration, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 12, pp. 17-31.
- Kogut, Bruce (1985a): Designing Global Strategies: Comparative and Competitive Value-Added Chains, in: Sloan Management Review, vol. 26, no. 4, pp. 15-28.
- Kogut, Bruce (1985b): Designing Global Strategies: Profiting from Operational Flexibility, in: Sloan Management Review, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 27-38.
- Kogut, Bruce (1988): Joint Ventures: Theoretical and Empirical Perspectives, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 9, no. 4, pp. 319-332.

- Kogut, Bruce (1990): The Permeability of Borders and the Speed of Learning Among Countries, in: Dunning, John H.; Kogut, Bruce; and Blomstrom, M. (Eds.), Globalization of Firms and the Competitiveness of Nations, Lund University Press, Lund, pp. 59-90.
- Kogut, Bruce and Singh, Harbir (1988): The Effect of National Culture on the Choice of Entry Mode, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 19, no. 3, pp. 411-432.
- Kogut, Bruce and Zander, Udo (1993): Knowledge of the Firm and the Evolutionary Theory of the Multinational Corporation, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 24, no. 4, pp. 625-645.
- Kogut, Bruce and Zander, Udo (1995): Knowledge, market failure and the multinational enterprise: A reply, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 417-426.
- Körte, Peter (2007): Strategic Responses to Low-Cost-Country Competition: Conceptual and Empirical Analysis of Manufacturing Industries in Germany and the USA, European Management Publication, Frankfurt a. M.
- Kotabe, Masaaki; Dunlap-Hinkler, Denise; Parente, Ronaldo; and Mishra, Harsh A. (2007): Determinants of Cross-National Knowledge Transfer and Its Effect on Firm Innovation, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 38, no. 2, pp. 259-282.
- Kotabe, Masaaki and Omura, Glenn S. (1989): Sourcing Strategies of European and Japanese Multinationals: A Comparison, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 20, no. 1, pp. 113-130.
- Krafft, Manfred; Götz, Oliver; and Liehr-Gobbers, Kerstin (2005): Die Validierung von Strukturgleichungsmodellen mit Hilfe des Partial-Least-Squares (PLS)-Ansatzes, in: Bliemel, Friedhelm; Eggert, Andreas; Fassott, Georg; and Henseler, Jörg (Eds.), Handbuch PLS-Pfadmodellierung: Methoden, Anwendung, Praxisbeispiele, Schäffer-Poeschel, Stuttgart, pp. 71-86.
- Krause, Daniel R. and Scannell, Thomas V. (2002): Supplier Development Practices: Productand Service-Based Industry Comparisons, in: Journal of Supply Chain Management, vol. 38, no. 2, pp. 13-20.

Krubasik, E.G. and Schrader, J. (1990): Globale Forschungs- und Entwicklungsaktivitäten, in: Welge, Martin K. (Ed.), Globales Management, Schaeffer-Poeschel, Stuttgart, pp. 19-27.

Krugman, Paul (1991): Geography and Trade, MIT Press, Cambridge, MA.

- Kruskal, William H. and Wallis, W. Allen (1952): Use of Ranks in One-Criterion Variance Analysis, in: Journal of the American Statistical Association, vol. 47, no. 260, pp. 583-621.
- Kubicek, Herbert (1975): Empirische Organisationsforschung, Poeschel, Stuttgart.
- Kuemmerle, Walter (1997): Building Effective R&D Capabilities Abroad, in: Harvard Business Review, pp. 61-70.
- Kuemmerle, Walter (1998): Optimal Scale for Reseach and Development in Foreign Environments: An Investigation into Size and Performance of Research and Development Laboratories Abroad, in: Research Policy, vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 111-126.
- Kuemmerle, Walter (1999a): The Drivers of Foreign Direct Investment into Research and Development: An Empirical Investigation, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 1-24.
- Kuemmerle, Walter (1999b): Foreign Direct Investment in Industrial Research in the Pharmaceutical and Electronics Industries, in: Research Policy, vol. 28, no. 2/3, pp. 179-193.
- Kumar, Nagesh (1994): Determinants of Export Orientation of Foreign Production by U.S. Multinations: An Inter-Country Analysis, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 25, no. 1, pp. 141-156.
- Kumar, Nagesh (1996): Intellectual Property Protection, Market Orientation and Location of Overseas R&D Activities by Multinational Enterprises, in: World Development, vol. 24, no. 4, pp. 673.

- Kumar, Nagesh (1998): Multinational Enterprises, Regional Economic Integration, and Export-Platform Production in the Host Countries: An Empirical Analysis for the US and Japanese Corporations, in: Review of World Economics, vol. 134, no. 3, pp. 450-483.
- Kumar, Nagesh (2000a): Explaining the Geography and Depth of International Production: The Case of US and Japanese, in: Review of World Economics, vol. 136, no. 3, pp. 442-477.
- Kumar, Nagesh (2000b): Globalization and the Quality of Foreign Direct Investment: A Quantitative Explanation of the Role of Multinationals in Industrialization, Export-orientation and Innovation, Routledge, London.
- Kumar, Nagesh (2001): Determinants of Location of Overseas R&D Activity of Multinational Enterprises: The Case of US and Japanese Corporations, in: Research Policy, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 159-174.
- Kumar, Nagesh; Stern, Louis W.; and Anderson, James C. (1993): Conducting Interorganizational Research Using Key Informants, in: Academy of Management Journal, vol. 36, no. 6, pp. 1633-1651.
- Kutschker, Michael and Schmid, Stefan (2008): Internationales Management, Oldenbourg.
- Lall, Sanjaya (1978): The Pattern of Intra-Firm Exports by U.S. Multinationals, in: Oxford Bulletin of Economics and Statistics, vol. 40, no. 3, pp. 209-222.
- Lall, Sanjaya (1979): The International Allocation of Research Activity by US Multinationals, in: Oxford Bulletin of Economics & Statistics, vol. 41, no. 4, pp. 313-331.
- Lall, Sanjaya and Siddharthan, Natteri S. (1982): The Monopolistic Advantages of Multinationals: Lessons from Foreign Investment in the U.S, in: Economic Journal, vol. 92, no. 367, pp. 668-683.
- Lam, Alice (2003): Organizational Learning in Multinationals: R&D Networks of Japanese and US MNEs in the UK, in: Journal of Management Studies, vol. 40, no. 3, pp. 673-703.

- Lambert, Douglas M. and Harrington, Thomas C. (1990): Measuring Nonresponse Bias in Customer Service Mail Surveys, in: Journal of Business Logistics, vol. 11, no. 2, pp. 5-25.
- Lanjouw, Jean O. and Schankerman, Mark (2004): Patent Quality and Research Productivity: Measuring Innovation with Multiple Indicators, in: Economic Journal, vol. 114, no. 495, pp. 441-465.
- Law, Kenneth S. and Wong, Chi-Sum (1999): Multidimensional Constructs in Structural Equation Analysis: An Illustration Using the Job Perception and Job Satisfaction Constructs, in: Journal of Management, vol. 25, no. 2, pp. 143-160.
- Lawrence, Paul R. and Lorsch, Jay W. (1967a): Differentiation and Integration in Complex Organizations, in: Administrative Science Quarterly, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 1-47.
- Lawrence, Paul R. and Lorsch, Jay W. (1967b): Organization and Environment: Managing Differentiation and Integration Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA.
- Le Bas, Christian and Sierra, Christophe (2002): 'Location versus Home Country Advantages' in R&D Activities: Some further Results on Multinationals' Locational Strategies, in: Research Policy, vol. 31, no. 4, pp. 589-609.
- Lee, Dong-Jin (1998): The Cultural Distance on the Relational Exchange between Exporters and Importers: The Case of Australian Exporters, in: Journal of Global Marketing, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 7-22.
- Lee, Hyun-Hoon and Stone, Joe A. (1994): Product and Process Innovation in the Product Life Cycle: Estimates for U.S. Manufacturing Industries, in: Southern Economic Journal, vol. 60, no. 3, pp. 754-763.
- Lee, Kong-Rae and Suh, Joong-Hae (1998): Technology Gap Approach to a Dynamic Change in World Machine Tool Markets: A Panel Data Analysis, in: Economics of Innovation and New Technology, vol. 7, no. 3, pp. 203-220.
- Lei, Ming and Lomax, Richard G. (2005): The Effect of Varying Degrees of Nonnormality in Structural Equation Modeling, in: Structural Equation Modeling, vol. 12, no. 1, pp. 1-40.

- Lenartowicz, Tomasz and Johnson, James, P. (2007): Staffing Managerial Positions in Emerging Markets: A Cultural Perspective, in: International Journal of Emerging Markets, vol. 2, no. 3, pp. 207-214.
- Leong, Siew Meng and Tan, Chin Tiong (1993): Managing Across Borders: An Empirical Test of the Bartlett and Ghosal (1989) Organizational Typology, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 24, no. 3, pp. 449-464.
- Leonidou, Leonidas C. and Katsikeas, Constantine S. (1996): The Export Development Process: An Integrative Review of Empirical Models, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 27, no. 3, pp. 517-551.
- Leontief, Wassily (1956): Factor Proportions and the Structure of American Trade: Further Theoretical and Empirical Analysis, in: The Review of Economics and Statistics, vol. 38, no. 4, pp. 386-407.
- Levitt, Theodore (1983): The Globalization of Markets, in: Harvard Business Review, vol. 61, no. 3, pp. 92-102.
- Lewin, Arie Y.; Massini, Silvia; and Peeters, Carine (2009): Why are Companies Offshoring Innovation? The Emerging Global Race for Talent, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 40, no. 6, pp. 901-925.
- Li, Jiatao and Yue, Deborah R. (2005): Managing Global Research and Development in China: Patterns of R&D Configuration and Evolution, in: Technology Analysis & Strategic Management, vol. 17, no. 3, pp. 317-337.
- Lindell, Michael K. and Whitney, David J. (2001): Accounting for Common Method Variance in Cross-Sectional Research Designs, in: Journal of Applied Psychology, vol. 86, no. 1, pp. 114-121.
- Lindner, Staffan Burenstam (1961): An Essay on Trade and Transformation, Wiley & Sons, Cambridge, MA.
- Liu, Xiaming and Song, Haiyan (1997): Country Characteristics and Foreign Direct Investment in China: A Panel Data Analysis, in: Review of World Economics, vol. 133, no. 2, pp. 313-329.

- Lohmöller, Jan-Bernd (1989): Latent Variable Path Modeling With Partial Least Squares, Physica, Heidelberg.
- Love, James H. (2003): Technology Sourcing versus Technology Exploitation: An Analysis of US Foreign Direct Investment Flows, in: Applied Economics, vol. 35, no. 15, pp. 1667-1678.
- Love, James H. and Lage-Hidalgo, Francisco (2000): Analysing the Determinants of US Direct Investment in Mexico, in: Applied Economics, vol. 32, no. 10, pp. 1259-1267.
- Lowe, Paul and Fernandes, Elton (1994): The Growth and Convergence of Manufacturing Productivity in Industrial and Newly Industrialising Countries in: International Journal of Production Economics, vol. 34, no. 2, pp. 139-149.
- Lu, Louis Y. Y. and Liu, John S. (2004): R&D in China: An Empirical Study of Taiwanese IT Companies, in: R&D Management, vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 453-465.
- Lundvall, Bengt-Ake (1988): Innovation as an Interactive Process: From User-Producer Interaction to the National System of Innovation, in: Dosi, G. (Ed.), Technical Change and Economis Theory, Routledge, London.
- Lundvall, Bengt-Ake (1992): National Systems of Innovation. Towards a Theory of Innovation and Interactive Learning, Pinter Publisher, London.
- Luo, Yadong (2001a): Determinants of Entry in an Emerging Economy: A Multilevel Approach, in: Journal of Management Studies, vol. 38, no. 3, pp. 443-472.
- Luo, Yadong (2001b): Determinants of Local Responsiveness: Perspectives from Foreign Subsidiaries in an Emerging Market, in: Journal of Management, vol. 27, no. 4, pp. 451-477.
- Luo, Yadong (2006): Autonomy of Foreign R&D Units in an Emerging Market: An Information Processing Perspective, in: Management International Review, vol. 46, no. 3, pp. 349-378.
- Luo, Yadong and Park, Seung Ho (2001): Strategic Alignment and Performance of Market-Seeking MNCs in China, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 141-155.

- Macharzina, Klaus; Oesterle, Michael-Jörg; and Brodel, Dietmar (2001): Learning in Multinationals, in: Antal, Ariane Berthoin; Dierkes, Meinolf; and Child, John (Eds.), Handbook of Organizational Learning and Knowledge, Oxford University Press, Oxford, pp. 631-656
- MacKenzie, Scott B.; Podsakoff, Philip M.; and Jarvis, Cheryl Burke (2005): The Problem of Measurement Model Misspecification in Behavioral and Organizational Research and Some Recommended Solutions, in: Journal of Applied Psychology, vol. 90, no. 4, pp. 710-730.
- Madhok, Anoop (1997): Cost, Value and Foreign Market Entry Mode: The Transaction and the Firm, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 39-61.
- Malhotra, Naresh K.; Ulgado, Francis M.; and Agarwal, James (2003): Internationalization and Entry Modes: A Multitheoretical Framework and Research Propositions, in: Journal of International Marketing, vol. 11, no. 4, pp. 1-31.
- Malnight, Thomas W. (1996): The Transition from Decentralized to Network-Based MNC Structures: An Evolutionary Perspective, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 27, no. 1, pp. 43-66.
- Mann, Henry B. and Whitney, Donald R. (1947): On a Test of Whether One of Two Random Variables is Stochastically Larger than the Other, in: The Annals of Mathematical Statistics, vol. 18, no. 1, pp. 50-60.
- Manolopoulos, Dimitris (2008): A Systematic Review of the Literature and Theoretical Analysis of Subsidiary Roles, in: Journal of Transnational Management, vol. 13, no. 1, pp. 23-57.
- Manolopoulos, Dimitris; Dimitratos, Pavlos; Young, Stephen; and Lioukas, Spyros (2009): Technology Sourcing and Performance of Foreign Subsidiaries in Greece: The Impact of MNE and Local Environmental Contexts, in: Management International Review, vol. 49, no. 1, pp. 43-60.
- Manolopoulos, Dimitris; Papanastassiou, Marina; and Pearce, Robert (2005): Technology Sourcing in Multinational Enterprises and the Roles of Subsidiaries: An Empirical Investigation, in: International Business Review, vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 249-267.
- Manolopoulos, Dimitris; Papanastassiou, Marina; and Pearce, Robert (2007): Knowledge-related Competitiveness and the Roles of Multinationals' R&D in a Peripheral European Economy: Survey Analysis of Greece, in: Management International Review, vol. 47, no. 5, pp. 661-682.
- Mansfield, Edwin; Teece, David J.; and Romeo, Anthony (1979): Overseas Research and Development by US-Based Firms, in: Economica, vol. 46, no. 182, pp. 187-196.
- Mansfield, Edwin; Teece, David J.; and Romeo, Anthony (1980): Overseas Research and Development by US-Based Firms, in: International Executive, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 10-12.
- Mariotti, Sergio and Piscitello, Lucia (1995): Information Costs and Location FDIs Within the Host Country: Empirical Evidence from Italy, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 26, no. 4, pp. 815-841.
- Martinez, Jon I. and Jarillo, J. Carlos (1991): Coordination Demands of International Strategies, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 429-444.
- Mascarenhas, Briance (1982): Coping with Uncertainty in International Business, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 13, no. 2, pp. 87-98.
- McGuinness, Norman W. and Little, Blair (1981): The Influence of Product Characteristics on the Export Performance of New Industrial Products, in: Journal of Marketing, vol. 45, no. 2, pp. 110-122.
- McKeen, James D.; Guimaraes, Tor; and Wetherbe, James C. (1994): The Relationship Between User Participation and User Satisfaction: An Investigation of Four Contingency Factors, in: MIS Quarterly, vol. 18, no. 4, pp. 427-451.
- Medcof, John W. (1997): A Taxonomy of Internationally Dispersed Technology Units and Its Application to Management, in: R&D Management, vol. 27, no. 4, pp. 301-318.

- Menon, Anil; Bharadwaj, Sundar G. ; and Howell, Roy (1996): The Quality and Effectiveness of Marketing Strategy: Effects of Functional and Dysfunctional Conflict in Intraorganizational Relationships, in: Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science, vol. 24, no. 4, pp. 299-313.
- Meyer, Klaus E. and Peng, Mike W. (2005): Probing Theoretically into Central and Eastern Europe: Transactions, Resources, and Institutions, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 36, no. 6, pp. 600-621.
- Mohr, Jakki and Spekman, Robert (1994): Characteristics of Partnership Success: Partnership Attributes, Communication Behavior, and Conflict Resolution Techniques, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 15, no. 2, pp. 135-152.
- Moore, Michael O. (1993): Determinants of German Manufacturing Direct Investment: 1980-1988, in: Review of World Economics, vol. 129, no. 1, pp. 120-138.
- Moorman, Christine and Miner, Anne S. (1997): The Impact of Organizational Memory on New Product Performance and Creativity, in: Journal of Marketing Research, vol. 34, no. 1, pp. 91-106.
- Morgan, Robert E. and Katsikeas, Constantine S. (1997): Theories of International Trade, Foreign Direct Investment and Firm Internationalization: A Critique, in: Management Decision, vol. 35, no. 1, pp. 68-78.

Morgan Stanley (2004): India and China: A Special Economic Analysis, Hong Kong.

- Mu, Shaohua "Carolyn"; Gnyawali, Devi R.; and Hatfield, Donald E. (2007): Foreign Subsidiaries' Learning from Local Environments: An Empricial Test, in: Management International Review, vol. 47, no. 1, pp. 79-102.
- Müller-Merbach, Heiner (1994): Die Wettbewerbsfähigkeit der Bundesrepublik Deutschland – Eine Relativierung innerhalb der Triade, in: Schiemenz, Bernd and Wurl, Hans-Jürgen (Eds.), Internationales Management, Gabler, Wiesbaden, pp. 61-93.
- Muralidharan, Raman and Phatak, Arvind (1999): International Activity of US MNCS: An Empirical Study with Implications for Host Government Policy, in: Multinational Business Review, vol. 7, no. 2, pp. 97-104.

- Mutinelli, Marco and Piscitello, Lucia (1998): The Entry Mode Choice of MNEs: An Evolutionary Approach, in: Research Policy, vol. 27, no. 5, pp. 491-506.
- Nachum, Lilach and Zaheer, Srilata (2005): The Persistence of Distance? The Impact of Technology on MNE Motivations for Foreign Investment, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 26, no. 8, pp. 747-767.
- Nadeau, John and Casselman, R. Mitch (2008): Competitive Advantage with New Product Development: Implications for Life Cycle Theory, in: Journal of Strategic Marketing, vol. 16, no. 5, pp. 401-411.
- Nakata, Cheryl and Sivakumar, K. (1996): National Culture and New Product Development: An Integrative Review, in: Journal of Marketing, vol. 60, no. 1, pp. 61-72.
- Narula, Rajneesh (2002): Innovation Systems and 'Inertia' in R&D Location: Norwegian Firms and the Role of Systemic Lock-In, in: Research Policy, vol. 31, no. 5, pp. 795-816.
- Narula, Rajneesh and Dunning, John H. (2000): Industrial Development, Globalization and Multinational Enterprises: New Realities for Developing Countries, in: Oxford Development Studies, vol. 28, no. 2, pp. 141-167.
- Narula, Rajneesh and Zanfei, Antonello (2005): Globalization of Innovation: The Role of Multinational Enterprises, in: The Oxford Handbook of Innovation, Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Nassimbeni, G. and Sartor, M. (2005): The Internationalization of Local Manufacturing Systems: Evidence From the Italian Chair District, in: Production Planning & Control, vol. 16, no. 5, pp. 470-478.
- Nelson, Richard, R. (1993): National Innovation Systems: A Comparative Study, Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Nelson, Richard R. and Winter, Sidney G. (1982): An Evolutionary Theory of Economic Change, Belknap Press, Cambridge, MA.
- Neumann, Clas; Kaufmann, Lutz; Koch, Matthias; and Paschke, Clemens (2006): Das Forschungszentrum der Welt, in: io new management, vol. 75, no. 5, pp. 39-45.

- Nieschlag, Robert; Dichtl, Erwin; and Hörschgen, Hans (2002): Marketing, Duncker & Humblot, Berlin.
- Niosi, Jorge (1997): The Globalization of Canada's R & D, in: Management International Review vol. 37, no. 4, pp. 387-404.
- Niosi, Jorge (1999): The Internationalization of Industrial R&D From Technology Transfer to the Learning Organization, in: Research Policy, vol. 28, no. 2/3, pp. 107-117.
- Nobel, Robert and Birkinshaw, Julian (1998): Innovation in Multinational Corporations: Control and Communication Patterns in International R&D, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 19, no. 5, pp. 479-496.
- Nohria, Nitin and Ghoshal, Sumantra (1997): The Differentiated Network: Organizing Multinational Corporations for Value Creation, Jossey-Bass, San Francisco.
- Nonaka, Ikujiro and Takeuchi, Hirotaka (1995): The Knowledge-Creating Company: How Japanese Companies Create the Dynamics of Innovation, Oxford Free Press, New York.
- Noorderhaven, Niels and Harzing, Anne-Wil (2009): Knowledge-Sharing and Social Interaction within MNEs, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 40, no. 5, pp. 719-741.
- Nordström, Kjell and Vahlne, Jan-Erik (1994): Is the Globe Shrinking? Psychic Distance and the Establishment of Swedish Sales Subsidiaries During the Last 100 Years, in: Landeck, Michael (Ed.), International Trade: Regional and Global Issues, St. Martin's Press, New York, pp. 41-56.

Nunnally, Jum C. (1978): Psychometric Theory, McGraw-Hill, New York.

- O'Grady, Shawna and Lane, Henry W. (1996): The Psychic Distance Paradox, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 27, no. 2, pp. 309-333.
- Odagiri, Hiroyuki and Yasuda, Hideto (1996): The Determinants of Overseas R&D by Japanese Firms: An Empirical Study at the Industry and Company Levels, in: Research Policy, vol. 25, no. 7, pp. 1059-1079.

- OECD (1991): Technology and Productivity: The Challenge for Economic Policy, OECD, Paris.
- OECD (2002): Frascati Manual 2002: Proposed Standard Practice for Surveys on Research and Experimental Development, OECD, Paris.
- OECD (2008a): The Internationalisation of Business R&D: Evidence, Impacts and Implications, OECD, Paris and Washington D.C.
- OECD (2008b): OECD Guidelines for Multinational Enterprises, OECD, Paris.
- Ohlin, Bertil G. (1933): Interregional and International Trade, Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA.
- Osborn, Richard N. and Baughn, C. Christopher (1990): Forms of Interorganizational Governance for Multinational Alliances, in: Academy of Management Journal, vol. 33, no. 3, pp. 503-519.
- Panhans, Dirk (2009): International Configuration Strategies A Conceptual Framework and Empirical Evidence at the Example of Foreign Affiliates of German Manufacturing Companies European Management Publications, Koblenz.
- Papanastassiou, Marina and Pearce, Robert (1994a): Host-Country Determinants of the Market Strategies of US Companies' Overseas Subsidiaries, in: Journal of the Economics of Business, vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 199-217.
- Papanastassiou, Marina and Pearce, Robert (1994b): The Internationalization of Research and Development by Japanese Enterprises, in: R&D Management, vol. 24, no. 2, pp. 155-165.
- Papanastassiou, Marina and Pearce, Robert (1997): Technology Sourcing and the Strategic Roles of Manufacturing Subsidiaries in the U.K.: Local Competences and Global Competitiveness, in: Management International Review vol. 37, no. 1, pp. 5-25.

- Papanastassiou, Marina and Pearce, Robert (1998): Individualism and Interdependence in the Technological Development of MNEs: The Strategic Positioning of R&D in Overseas Subsidiaries., in: Multinational Corporate Evolution and Subsidiary Development, pp. 50-75.
- Papanastassiou, Marina and Pearce, Robert (1999): Multinationals, Technology and National Competitiveness, Elgar, Cheltenham.
- Papanastassiou, Marina and Pearce, Robert (2005): Funding Sources and the Strategic Roles of Decentralised R&D in Multinationals, in: R&D Management, vol. 35, no. 1, pp. 89-100.
- Patel, Pari and Pavitt, Keith (1991): Large Firms in the Production of the World's Technology : An Important Case of "Non-Globalisation", in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 1-21.
- Patel, Pari and Pavitt, Keith (1992): Large Firms in the Production of the World's Technology: An Important Case of Non-Globalisation, in: Granstrand, Ove; Hakanson, Lars; and Sjölander, Sören (Eds.), Technology Management and International Business: Internationalization of R&D and Technology, Wiley, Chichester, pp. 53-73.
- Patel, Pari and Pavitt, Keith (1995): The Localized Creation of Global Technological Advantage, in: Molero, Jose (Ed.), Technological Innovation, Multinational Corporations and New International Competitiveness – The Case of Intermediate Countries, Harwood Academic Publishers, New York.
- Patel, Pari and Pavitt, Keith (2000): National Systems of Innovation Under Strain: The Internationalisation of Corporate R&D, in: Barrell, Ray; Mason, Geoff; and O'Mahoney, Mary (Eds.), Productivity, Innovation and Economic Performance, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, pp. 217-235.
- Patel, Pari and Vega, Modesto (1999): Patterns of Internationalisation of Corporate Technology: Location vs. Home Country Advantages, in: Research Policy, vol. 28, no. 2/3, pp. 145-155.
- Pearce, Robert (1989): The Internationalisation of Research and Development by Multinational Enterprises, Macmillan, London.

- Pearce, Robert (1991): The Globalization of R and D by TNCs, in: The CTC Reporter, no. 31, pp. 13-16.
- Pearce, Robert (1997): Global Competition and Technology Essays in the Creation and Application of Knowledge by Multinationals, Macmillan, London.
- Pearce, Robert (1999): Decentralised R&D and Strategic Competitiveness: Globalised Approaches to Generation and Use of Technology in Multinational Enterprises (MNEs), in: Research Policy, vol. 28, no. 2/3, pp. 157-178.
- Pearce, Robert (2004): National Systems of Innovation and the Internatioanl Technology Strategies of Multinationals, International Business Acadamey Conference. Athens.
- Pearce, Robert (2005): The Globalization of R&D: Key Features and the Role of TNCs, in: Development, United Nations Conference on Trade and (Ed.), Globalization of R&D and Developing Countries, New York, Geneva, pp. 29-42.
- Pearce, Robert and Papanastassiou, Marina (1999): Overseas R&D and the Strategic Evolution of MNEs: Evidence from Laboratories in the UK, in: Research Policy, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 23-41.
- Pearce, Robert and Singh, Satwinder (1992): Globalizing Research and Development, Macmillan, London.
- Pearson, Alan; Brockhoff, Klaus; and Boehmer, Alexander von (1993): Decision Parameters in Global R&D Management, in: R&D Management, vol. 23, no. 3, pp. 249-262.
- Peng, Mike W. (2000): Business Strategies in Translation Economies, Sage, Thousand Oaks, London, New Delhi.
- Peng, Mike W. (2003): Institutional Transitions and Strategic Choices, in: Academy of Management Review, vol. 28, no. 2, pp. 275-296.
- Peng, Mike, W. ; Wang, Denis, Y. L. ; and Jiang, Yi (2008): An Institution-Based View of International Business Strategy: A Focus on Emerging Economies, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 39, no. 5, pp. 920-936.

- Peng, Mike W. and Wang, Denis, Y. L. (2000): Innovation Capability and Foreign Direct Investment: Toward a Learning Option Perspective, in: Management International Review, vol. 40, no. 2000/1, pp. 79-93.
- Penner-Hahn, Joan D. (1998): Firm and Environmental Influences on the Mode and Sequence of Foreign Research and Development, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 149-168.
- Penner-Hahn, Joan and Shaver, J. Myles (2005): Does International Research and Development Increase Patent Output? An Analysis of Japanese Pharmaceutical Firms, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 26, no. 2, pp. 121-140.
- Perlitz, Manfred (1993): Why Most Strategies Fail Today: The Need for Strategy Innovations, in: European Management Journal, vol. 11, no. 1, pp. 114-121.

Perlitz, Manfred (2000): Internationales Management, Lucius & Lucius, Stuttgart.

Perlitz, Manfred (2004): Internationales Management, Lucius & Lucius, Stuttgart.

- Peter, J. Paul and Churchill, Gilbert A., Jr. (1986): Relationships Among Research Design Choices and Psychometric Properties of Rating Scales: A Meta-Analysis, in: Journal of Marketing Research, vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 1-10.
- Pfeffer, Jeffrey and Salancik, Gerald (1978): The External Control of Organizations, Harper & Row, New York.
- Phene, Anupama and Almeida, Paul (2003): How Do Firms Evolve? The Patterns of Technological Evolution of Semiconductor Subsidiaries, in: International Business Review, vol. 12, no. 3, pp. 349-367.
- Phene, Anupama and Almeida, Paul (2008): Innovation in Multinational Subsidiaries: The Role of Knowledge Assimilation and Subsidiary Capabilities, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 39, no. 5, pp. 901-919.
- Pisano, Gary P.; Russo, Michael V.; and Teece, David J. (1988): Joint Ventures and Collaborative Arrangements in the Telecommunications Equipment Industry, in: Mowery, David C. (Ed.), International Collaborative Ventures in U.S. Manufacturing, Ballinger, Cambridge, pp. 183-222.

Pitelis, Christos and Sugden, Roger (2000): The Nature of the Transnational Firm.

- Podsakoff, Nathan P.; Shen, W.; and Podsakoff, Philip M. (2006): The Role of Formative Measure Models in Strategic Management Research: Review, Critique, and Implications for Future Research, in: Ketchen, David J. and Bergh, Donald D. (Eds.), Research Methodology in Strategy and Management, Elsevier, Kidlington, Amsterdam, pp. 197-252.
- Podsakoff, Philip M.; MacKenzie, Scott B.; Lee, Jeong-Yeon; and Podsakoff, Nathan P. (2003): Common Method Biases in Behavioral Research: A Critical Review of the Literature and Recommended Remedies, in: Journal of Applied Psychology, vol. 88, no. 5, pp. 879-903.
- Podsakoff, Philip M. and Organ, Dennis W. (1986): Self-Reports in Organizational Research: Problems and Prospects, in: Journal of Management, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 531.
- Polonsky, Michael J. and Waller, David S. (2010): Designing and Managing a Research Project, Sage, London, Thousand Oaks, New Delhi.

Porter, Michael E. (1980): Competitive Strategy, Free Press, New York.

- Porter, Michael E. (1986a): Changing Patterns of International Competition, in: California Management Review, vol. 28, no. 2, pp. 9-40.
- Porter, Michael E. (1986b): Competition in Global Industries: A Conceptual Framework, in: Porter, Michael E. (Ed.), Competition in Global Industries, Harvard Business School Press, Boston, pp. 15-60.
- Porter, Michael E. (1990): The Competitive Avantage of Nations, Free Press, New York, NY.

Porter, Michael E. (1998): On Competition, Harvard Business School Press, Boston.

Porter, Michael E. (2000): Location, Competition, and Economic Development: Local Clusters in a Global Economy, in: Economic Development Quarterly, vol. 14, no. 1, pp. 15-34.

- Porter, Michael E. (1985): Technology and Competitive Advantage, in: Journal of Business Strategy vol. 5, no. 3, pp. 60-78.
- Porter, Michael E. and Sölvell, Örjan (1998): The Role of Geography in the Process of Innovation and the Sustainable Competitive Advantage, in: Chandler, Alfred Dupont; Hagström, Peter; and Sölvell, Örjan (Eds.), The Dynamic Firm, Oxford University Press, Oxford, pp. 440-457.
- Posner, Michael V. (1961): International Trade and Technical Change, in: Oxford Economic Papers, vol. 13, no. 3, pp. 323-341.
- Prahalad, C. K. and Doz, Yves L. (1981): An Approach to Strategic Control in MNCs, in: Sloan Management Review, vol. 22, no. 4, pp. 5-13.
- Prahalad, C. K. and Doz, Yves L. (1987): The Multinational Mission: Balancing Local Demands and Global Vision, Free Press, New York.
- Rayome, David and Baker, James C. (1995): Foreign Direct Investment: A Review and Analysis of the Literature, in: International Trade Journal, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 3-37.
- Reger, Guido (2004): Coordinating Globally Dispersed Research Centres of Excellence: The Case of Philips Electronics, in: Journal of International Management, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 51.
- Reger, Guido; Beise, Marian; and Belitz, Heike (1999): Innovationsstandorte multinationaler Unternehmen: Internationalisierung technologischer Kompetenzen in der Pharmazeutik, Halbleiter- und Telekommunikationstechnik, Heidelberg.
- Reid, Stanley D. (1983): Firm Internationalization, Transaction Costs and Strategic Choice, in: International Marketing Review, vol. 1, no. 2, pp. 44-56.
- Reinartz, Werner; Haenlein, Michael; and Henseler, Jörg (2009): An Empirical Comparison of the Efficacy of Covariance-Based and Variance-Based SEM, in: International Journal of Research in Marketing, vol. 26, no. 4, pp. 332-344.
- Reinartz, Werner; Krafft, Manfred; and Hoyer, Wayne D. (2004): The Customer Relationship Management Process: Its Measurement and Impact on Performance, in: Journal of Marketing Research vol. 41, no. 3, pp. 293-305.

Ricardo, David (1817): On the Principles of Political Economy and Taxation, London.

- Ringle, Christian M. (2004): Gütemaße für den Partial Least Squares-Ansatz zur Bestimmung von Kausalmodellen, Working Paper, Institut für Industriebetriebswirtschaftslehre und Organisation, Hamburg.
- Ringle, Christian M.; Wende, Sven; and Will, Alexander (2005): SmartPLS 2.0 (M3) Beta, Hamburg.
- Riordan, Christine M. and Vandenberg, Robert J. (1994): A Central Question in Cross-Cultural Research: Do Employees of Different Cultures Interpret Work-Related Measures in an Equivalent Manner?, in: Journal of Management, vol. 20, no. 3, pp. 643-671.
- Robson, Martin T. (1993): Federal Funding and the Level of Private Expenditure on Basic Research, in: Southern Economic Journal, vol. 60, no. 1, pp. 63-71.
- Roessing, Sönke M. (2006): Technology Transfer to China: Conflict of Interest within Multinational Corporations, European Management Publications, Frankfurt a. M.
- Ronstadt, Robert C. (1977): Research and Development Abroad by U.S. Multinationals, Praeger, New York.
- Ronstadt, Robert C. (1978): International R&D: The Establishment and Evolution of Research and Development Abroad by Seven U.S. Multinationals, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 9, no. 1, pp. 7-24.
- Root, Franklin R. and Ahmed, Ahmed A. (1978): The Influence of Policy Instruments on Manufacturing Direct Foreign Investment in Developing Countries, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 9, no. 3, pp. 81-93.
- Rosenthal, Robert (1991): Meta-Analytic Procedures for Social Research, Sage, Newbury Park, CA.
- Rossiter, John R. (2002): The C-OAR-SE Procedure for Scale Development in Marketing, in: International Journal of Research in Marketing, vol. 19, no. 4, pp. 305-335.

- Rossiter, John R. (2005): Reminder: A Horse is a Horse, in: International Journal of Research in Marketing, vol. 22, no. 1, pp. 23-25.
- Roth, Kendall (1992): International Configuration and Coordination Archetypes for Medium-Sized Firms in Global Industries, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 23, no. 3, pp. 533-549.
- Roth, Kendall and Morrison, Allen J. (1990): An Empirical Analysis of the Integration-Responsiveness Framework in Global Industries, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 21, no. 4, pp. 541-564.
- Rugman, Alan M. (1980): Internationalization as a General Theory of Foreign Direct Investment: A Reappraisal of the Literature, in: Review of World Economics, vol. 116, pp. 365-379.
- Rugman, Alan M. (1981a): Inside the Multinationals: The Economics of Internal Markets, New York.
- Rugman, Alan M. (1981b): A Test of Internalization Theory, in: Managerial and Decision Economics vol. 2, no. 4, pp. 211-219.
- Rugman, Alan M. (1986): New Theories of the Multinational Enterprise: An Assessment of Internationalization Theory, in: Bulletin of Economic Research, vol. 38, no. 2, pp. 102-118.
- Rugman, Alan M. and D'Cruz, Joseph R. (1993): The "Double Diamond" Model of International Competitiveness: The Canadian Experience, in: Management International Review, vol. 33, no. 2, pp. 17-39.
- Rugman, Alan M. and Verbeke, Alain (2001): Subsidiary-Specific Advantaged in Multinational Enterprises, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 237-250.
- Rugman, Alan M. and Verbeke, Alain (2009): Location, Competitiveness and the Multinational Enterprise, in: Rugman, Alan M. (Ed.), Oxford Handbook of International Business, Oxford University Press, Oxford, pp. 146-180.

- Sachwald, Frédérique (2008): Location Choices within Global Innovation Networks: The Case of Europe, in: Journal of Technology Transfer, vol. 33, no. 4, pp. 364-378.
- Safarian, A. Edward (2003): Internalization and the MNE: A Note on the Spread of Ideas, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 34, no. 2, pp. 116-124.
- Sanna-Randaccio, Francesca and Veugelers, Reinhilde (2007): Multinational Knowledge Spillovers with Decentralized R&D: A Game-Theoretic Approach, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 38, no. 1, pp. 47-63.
- Scherer, Frederic M. (1992): International High-Technology Competition, Cambridge, MA.
- Schnell, Rainer; Hill, Paul B.; and Esser, Elke (2005): Methoden der Empirischen Sozialforschung, Oldenbourg, Munich.
- Schoenberger, Erica (1985): Foreign Manufacturing Investment in the United States: Competitive Strategies and International Location, in: Economic Geography, vol. 61, no. 3, pp. 241-259.
- Scholderer, Joachim and Balderjahn, Ingo (2005): PLS versus LISREL: Ein Methodenvergleich in: Bliemel, F. (Ed.), Handbuch PLS-Pfadmodellierung: Methoden, Anwendung, Praxisbeispiele, 87-98, Stuttgart.
- Scholderer, Joachim and Balderjahn, Ingo (2006): Was unterscheidet harte und weiche Strukturgleichungsmodelle nun wirklich? Ein Erklärungsversuch zur LISREL-PLS-Frage, in: Marketing Zeitschrift für Forschung und Praxis, vol. 28, no. 1, pp. 57-70.
- Schoonhoven, Claudia Bird (1981): Problems with Contingency Theory: Testing Assumptions Hidden within the Language of Contingency 'Theory.' in: Administrative Science Quarterly, vol. 26, no. 3, pp. 349-377.
- Schreyögg, Georg (1978): Umwelt, Technologie und Organisationsstruktur: Eine Analyse des kontingenztheoretischen Ansatzes, Bern; Stuttgart.
- Schreyögg, Georg (1996): Organisation: Grundlagen moderner Organisationsgestaltung; mit Fallstudien, Wiesbaden.

- Serapio Jr, Manuel G. and Dalton, Donald H. (1999): Globalization of Industrial R&D: An Examination of Foreign Direct Investments in R&D in the United States, in: Research Policy, vol. 28, no. 2/3, pp. 303-316.
- Shah, Rachna and Goldstein, Susan M. (2006): Use of Structural Equation Modeling in Operations Management Research: Looking Back and Rorward, in: Journal of Operations Management, vol. 24, no. 2, pp. 148-169.
- Shan, Weijian and Song, Jaeyong (1997): Foreign Direct Investment and the Sourcing of Technological Advantage: Evidence from the Biotechnology Industry, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 28, no. 2, pp. 267-284.
- Shaver, J. Myles and Flyer, Frederick (2000): Agglomeration Economies, Firm Heterogeneity, and Foreign Direct Investment in the United States, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 21, no. 12, pp. 1175-1193.
- Sheen, Margaret, R. (1992): Barriers to Scientific and Technical Knowledge Acquisition in Industrial R&D, in: R&D Management, vol. 22, no. 2, pp. 135-143.
- Siddharthan, Natteri S. and Kumar, Nagesh (1990): The Determinants of Interindustry Variations in the Proportion of Intra-firm Trade: The Behaviour of U.S. Multinationals, in: Review of World Economics, vol. 126, no. 3, pp. 581-591.
- Singh, Jasjit (2007): Asymmetry of Knowledge Spillovers between MNCs and Host Country Firms, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 38, no. 5, pp. 764-786.
- Sivakumar, K. and Nakata, Cheryl (2001): The Stampede Toward Hofstede's Framework: Avoiding the Sample Design Pit in Cross-Cultural Research, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 32, no. 3, pp. 555-574.
- Smith, Adam (1776): Inquiry into the Nature and Causes of the Wealth of Nations, London.
- Song, Jaeyong; Paul, Almeida; and Wu, Geraldine (2003): Learning-by-Hiring: When is Mobility More Likely to Facilitate Interfirm Knowledge Transfer?, in: Management Science, vol. 49, no. 4, pp. 351-365.

- Song, Jaeyong and Shin, Jongtae (2008): The Paradox of Technological Capabilities: A Study of Knowledge Sourcing from Host Countries of Overseas R&D Operations, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 39, no. 2, pp. 291-303.
- Spicer, Andrew; McDermott, Gerald A.; and Kogut, Bruce (2000): Entrepreneurship and Privatization in Central Europe: The Tenuous Balance Between Destruction and Creation, in: Academy of Management Review, vol. 25, no. 3, pp. 630-649.
- Stadtmann, Georg; Kaufmann, Lutz; and Weigand, Jürgen (2004): Stand und Kritische Analyse der Regionalen Integrationsabkommen ASEAN, in: Zentes, Joachim; Morschett, Dirk; and Schramm-Klein, Hanna (Eds.), Außenhandel: Marketingstrategien und Managementkonzepte, Gabler, Wiesbaden.
- Stalk Jr, George (1988): Time The Next Source of Competitive Advantage, in: Harvard Business Review, vol. 66, no. 4, pp. 41-51.
- Steensma, H. Kevin (1996): Acquiring Technological Competencies Through Inter-Organizational Collaboration: An Organizational Learning Perspective, in: Journal of Engineering and Technology Management, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 267-286.
- Stehn, Jürgen (1992): Ausländische Direktinvestitionen in Industrieländern: Theoretische Entwicklungsansätze und empirische Evidenz, Mohr Siebeck, Tübingen.
- Stifterverband (2010): FuE-Datenreport 2010, Stifterverband Wissenschaftsstatistik, Berlin.
- Stopford, John M. and Wells, Louis T. (1972): Managing the Multinational Enterprise, New York.
- Strebel, Paul (1987): Organizing for Innovation Over an Industry Cycle, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 8, no. 2, pp. 117-124.
- Subramaniam, Mohan and Venkatraman, N. (2001): Determinatns of Transnational New Product Development Capability: Testing the Influence of Transfering and Deploying Tacit Overseas Knowledge, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 22, no. 4, pp. 359-378.

- Sullivan, Daniel and Bauerschmidt, Alan (1990): Incremental internationalization: A Test of Johanson and Vahlne's Thesis, in: Management International Review, vol. 30, no. 1, pp. 19-30.
- Sullivan, Daniel and Bauerschmidt, Alan (1991): The "Basic Concepts" of International Business Strategy: A Review and Reconsideration, in: Management International Review, vol. 31, no. 4, pp. 111-124.
- Summary, Rebecca M. and Summary, Larry J. (1995): The Political Economy of United States Foreign Direct Investment in Developing Countries: An Empirical Analysis, in: Quarterly Journal of Business and Economics, vol. 34, no. 3, pp. 80-92.
- Szulanski, Gabriel (1996): Exploring Internal Stickiness: Impediments to the Transfer of the Best Practice Within the Firm, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 17, pp. 27-43.
- Tackaberry, Paul (1998): Intellectual Property Risks in China: Their Effect on Foreign Investment and Technology Transfer, in: Journal of Asian Business, vol. 14, no. 4, pp. 1-38.
- Taggart, James H. (1997): R&D Complexity in UK Subsidiaries of Manufacturing Multinational Corporations, in: Technovation, vol. 17, no. 2, pp. 73.
- Taggart, James H. (1998a): Configuration and Coordination at Subsidiary Level: Foreign Manufacturing Affiliates in the UK, in: British Journal of Management, vol. 9, no. 4, pp. 327-339.
- Taggart, James H. (1998b): Determinants of Increasing R&D Complexity in Affiliates of Manufacturing Multinational Corporations in the UK, in: R&D Management, vol. 28, no. 2, pp. 101-110.
- Taggart, James H. (1998c): Strategy Shifts in MNC Subsidiaries, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 19, no. 7, pp. 663-681.
- Tallman, Stephen and Fladmoe-Lindquist, Karin (2002): Internationalization, Globalization, and Capability-Based Strategy, in: California Management Review, vol. 45, no. 1, pp. 116-135.

- Teece, David J. (1976): The Multinational Corporation and the Resource Costs of Technology Transfer, Ballinger, Cambridge, MA.
- Teece, David J. (1977): Technology Transfer by Multinational Firms: The Resource Cost of Transfering Technological Know-How, in: Economic Journal, vol. 87, no. 346, pp. 242-261.
- Teece, David J. (1981): The Multinational Enterprise: Market Failure and Market Power Considerations, in: Sloan Management Review, vol. 22, no. 3, pp. 3-17.
- Teece, David J. (1986): Transaction Costs Economics and Multinational Enterprise: An Assessment, in: Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization, vol. 7, no. 1, pp. 21-42.
- Teece, David J.; Pisano, Gary P.; and Shuen, Amy (1997): Dynamic Capabilities and Stratgeic Management, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 18, no. 7, pp. 509-533.
- Tellis, Gerard J.; Prabhu, Jaideep C.; and Chandy, Rajesh K. (2009): Radical Innovation Across Nations: The Preeminence of Corporate Culture, in: Journal of Marketing, vol. 73, no. 1, pp. 3-23.
- Temme, Drik and Kreis, Henning (2005): Der PLS-Ansatz zur Schätzung von Strukturgleichungsmodellen mit latenten Variablen: Ein Softwareüberblick, in: Bliemel, F. et al. (Ed.), Handbuch PLS-Pfadmodellierung: Methoden, Anwendung, Praxisbeispiele, Stuttgart, pp. 193-208.
- Tenenhaus, Michel; Vinzi, Vincenzo Esposito; Chatelin, Yves-Marie; and Lauro, Carlo (2005): PLS Path Modeling, in: Computational Statistics & Data Analysis, vol. 48, no. 1, pp. 159-205.
- Tenkasi, Ramkrishnan V. (2000): The Dynamics of Cultural Knowledge and Learning in Creating Viable Theories of Global Change and Action, in: Organization Development Journal, vol. 18, no. 2, pp. 74-90.
- Terpstra, Vern (1977): International Product Policy: The Role of Foreign R & D, in: Columbia Journal of World Business, vol. 12, no. 4, pp. 24-32.

- Terpstra, Vern and Chwo-Ming, Yu (1988): Determinants of Foreign Investment of U.S. Advertising Agencies, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 33-46.
- Thomke, Stefan H. (1997): The Role of Flexibility in the Development of New Products: An Empirical Study, in: Research Policy, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 105.
- Thompson, James D. (1967): Organizations in Action, McGraw-Hill, New York.
- Thursby, Jerry and Thursby, Marie (2006): Here or There? A Survey of Factors in Multinational R&D Location, The National Academies Press, Washington.
- Tihanyi, Laszlo; Griffith, David A.; and Russell, Craig J. (2005): The Effect of Cultural Distance on Entry Mode Choice, International Diversification, and MNE Performance: A Meta-analysis, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 36, no. 3, pp. 270-283.
- Tsai, Wenpin (2001): Knowledge Transfer in Intraorganizational Networks: Effects of Network Position and Absorptive Capacity on Business Unit Innovation and Performance, in: Academy of Management Journal, vol. 44, no. 5, pp. 996-1004.
- Tsang, Eric W. K.; Yip, Paul S. L.; and Toh, Mun Heng (2008): The Impact of R&D on Value Added for Domestic and Foreign Firms in a Newly Industrialized Economy, in: International Business Review, vol. 17, no. 4, pp. 423-441.
- Tsikriktsis, Nikos (2005): A Review of Techniques for Treating Missing Data in OM Survey Research, in: Journal of Operations Management, vol. 24, no. 1, pp. 53-62.
- Turnbull, Peter W. (1987): A Challenge to the Stages Theory of the Internationalization Process, in: Rosson, Philip J. and Reid, Stanley D. (Eds.), Managing Export Entry and Expansion, Greenwood, New York, pp. 21-40.
- UNCTAD (2005): World Investment Report 2005: Transnational Coroporations and the Internationalization of R&D, United Nations, New York, Geneva.
- UNCTAD (2006): Globalization of R&D and Developing Countries, United Nations, New York, Geneva.

- Van Ark, Bart; Dougherty, Sean M.; Inklaar, Robert; and McGuchin, Robert H. (2008): The Structure and Location of Business R&D: Recent Trends and Measurement Implications, in: International Journal of Foresight and Innovation Policy, vol. 4, no. 1/2, pp. 8-29.
- van de Ven, A. D. M. (1989): International Manufacturing: An Analysis on Factory Level of the Centre-Periohery Relations, in: Engineering Costs & Production Economics, vol. 16, no. 1, pp. 11-33.
- Venaik, Sunil; Midgley, David F.; and Devinney, Timothy M. (2005): Dual Paths to Performance: The Impact of Global Pressures on MNC Subsidiary Conduct and Performance, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 36, no. 6, pp. 655-675.
- Venkatraman, N. (1989): The Concept of Fit in Strategy Research: Toward Verbal and Statistical Correspondence, in: Academy of Management Review, vol. 14, no. 3, pp. 423-444.
- Vernon, Raymond (1966): International Investment and International Trade in the Product Cycle, in: Quarterly Journal of Economics, vol. 80, no. 2, pp. 190-207.
- Vernon, Raymond (1977): Storm over the Multinationals, Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA.
- Vernon, Raymond (1979): The Product Cycle Hypothesis in a New International Environment, in: Oxford Bulletin of Economics & Statistics, vol. 41, no. 4, pp. 255-267.
- Veugelers, Reinhilde (1991): Locational Determinants and Ranking of Host Countries: An Empirical Assessment, in: Kyklos, vol. 44, no. 3, pp. 363-382.
- Wacker, John G. (1998): A Definition of Theory: Research Guidelines for Different Theory-Building Research Methods in Operations Management, in: Journal of Operations Management, vol. 16, no. 4, pp. 361-385.
- Wacker, John G. (2004): A Theory of Formal Conceptual Definitions: Developing Theory-Building Measurement Instruments, in: Journal of Operations Management, vol. 22, no. 6, pp. 629-650.

- Weeks, Ann M. (2000): IPR Protection and Enforcement: A Guideline, in: China Business Review, vol. 27, no. 6, pp. 28-31.
- Weill, Peter and Olson, Marorethe H. (1989): An Assessment of the Contingency Theory of Management Information Systems, in: Journal of Management Information Systems, vol. 6, no. 1, pp. 59-85.
- Weisfelder, Christine J. (2001): Internationalization and the Multinational Enterprise: Development of a Research Tradition, in: Advances in International Marketing, vol. 11, pp. 13-46.
- Welge, Martin K. and Holtbrügge, Dirk (2006): Internationales Management Theorien, Funktionen, Fallstudien, Schäffer-Poeschel, Stuttgart.
- Wells Jr, Louis T. (1968): A Product Life Cycle for International Trade?, in: Journal of Marketing, vol. 32, no. 3, pp. 1-6.
- Werner, Steve (2002): Recent Developments in International Management Research: A Review of 20 Top Management Journals, in: Journal of Management, vol. 28, no. 3, pp. 277-305.
- Wernerfelt, Birger (1984): A Resource-Based View of the Firm, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 5, no. 2, pp. 171-180.
- Wesson, Thomas (1993): An Alternative Motivation for Foreign Direct Investment, Doctoral dissertation, Harvard Business School, Cambridge, MA.
- Westney, D. Eleanor (1990): Internal and External Linkages in the MNC: The Case of R&D Subsidiaries in Japan, in: Bartlett, Christopher A.; Doz, Yves L.; and Hedlund, Gunnar (Eds.), Managing the Global Firm, Tourledge, London, pp. 279-300.
- White, Roderick E. and Poynter, Thomas A. (1984): Strategies for Foreign-Owned Subsidiaries in Canada, in: Business Quarterly vol. 49, no. 2, pp. 59-69.
- Wilcoxon, Frank (1945): Individual Comparisons by Ranking Methods, in: Biometrics Bulletin, vol. 1, no. 6, pp. 80-83.

Williamson, Oliver E. (1975): Markets and Hierarchies, Free Press, New York.

- Williamson, Oliver E. (1985): The Economic Institutions of Capitalism, Free Press, New York.
- Wince-Smith, Deborah L. (2007): Emerging Economies Coming on Strong, in: Issues in Science and Technology, vol. 23, no. 1, pp. 31-36.
- Wold, Herman (1966): Nonlinear Estimation by Iterative Partial Least Squares Procedures, 411-444, New York.
- Wold, Herman (1982): Soft Modeling: The Basic Design and Some Extensions, in: Jöreskog, Karl G. and Wold, Herman (Eds.), Systems Under Indirect Observations: Causality, Structure, Prediction, Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- Wolf, Joachim (2003): Organisation, Management, Unternehmensführung: Theorien und Kritik, Wiesbaden.
- Woodward, Joan (1965): Industrial Organization: Theory and Practice, Oxford University Press, Oxford and New York.
- World Bank (2008): World Development Report 2009: Reshaping Economic Geography.
- World Economic Forum (2009): Global Competitiveness Report 2009-2010, Geneva.
- Wortmann, M. (1990): Multinationals and the Internationalization of R&D: New Developments in German Companies, in: Research Policy, vol. 19, no. 2, pp. 175-183.
- Wright, Mike; Filatotchev, Igor; Hoskisson, Robert E.; and Peng, Mike W. (2005): Strategy Research in Emerging Economies: Challenging the Conventional Wisdom, in: Journal of Management Studies, vol. 42, no. 1, pp. 1-33.
- Yang, Qin and Jiang, Crystal (2007): Location Advantages and Subsidiaries' R&D Activities in Emerging Economies: Exploring the Effect of Employee Mobility, in: Asia Pacific Journal of Management, vol. 24, no. 3, pp. 341-358.
- Yip, George S.; Johansson, Johny K.; and Roos, Johan (1997): Effects of Nationality on Global Strategy, in: Management International Review, vol. 37, no. 4, pp. 365-385.

- Zaheer, Srilata (1995): Overcoming the Liability of Foreignness, in: Academy of Management Journal, vol. 38, no. 2, pp. 341-363.
- Zaheer, Srilata and Mosakowski, Elaine (1997): The Dynamics of the Liability of Foreignness: A Global Study of Survival in Financial Services, in: Strategic Management Journal, vol. 18, no. 6, pp. 439-463.
- Zander, Ivo (1999): Whereto the Multinational? The Evolution of Technological Capabilities in the Multinational Network, in: International Business Review, vol. 8, no. 3, pp. 261-291.
- Zander, Ivo and Sölvell, Örjan (2000): Cross-Border Innovation in the Multinational Corporation, in: International Studies of Management & Organization, vol. 30, no. 2, pp. 44-67.
- Zanfei, Antonello (2000): Transnational Firms and the Changing Organisation of Innovative Activities, in: Cambridge Journal of Economics, vol. 24, no. 5, pp. 515-542.
- Zedtwitz, Maximilian von (2004): Managing Foreign R&D Laboratories in China, in: R&D Management, vol. 34, no. 4, pp. 439-452.
- Zedtwitz, Maximilian von (2005): International R&D Strategies of TNCs from Developing Countries: The Case of China, in: Development, United Nations Conference on Trade and (Ed.), Globalization of R&D and Developing Countries, New York, Geneva, pp. 117-140.
- Zedtwitz, Maximilian von and Gassmann, Oliver (2002): Market Versus Technology Drive in R&D Internationalization: Four Different Patterns of Managing Research and Development, in: Research Policy, vol. 31, no. 4, pp. 569-588.
- Zedtwitz, Maximilian von; Gassmann, Oliver; and Boutellier, Roman (2004): Organizing Global R&D: Challenges and Dilemmas, in: Journal of International Management, vol. 10, no. 1, pp. 21-40.
- Zeithaml, Valarie A.; Varandarajan, P. Rajan; and Zeithaml, Carl P. (1988): The Contingency Approach: Its Foundation and Relevance to Theory Building and Research in Marketing, in: European Journal of Marketing, vol. 22, no. 7, pp. 37-64.

- Zejan, Mario C. (1990): R & D Activities in Affiliates of Swedish Multinational Enterprises, in: Scandinavian Journal of Economics, vol. 92, no. 3, pp. 487-500.
- Zhang, Yan; Li, Haiyang; Hitt, Michael A.; and Cui, Geng (2007): R&D Intensity and International Joint Venture Performance in an Emerging Market: Moderating Effects of Market Focus and Ownership Structure, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 38, no. 6, pp. 944-960.
- Zhao, Hongxin; Luo, Yadong; and Suh, Taewon (2004): Transaction Cost Determinants and Ownership-Based Entry Mode Choice: A Meta-Analytical Review, in: Journal of International Business Studies, vol. 35, no. 6, pp. 524-544.
- Zhao, Hongxin and Zhu, Gangti (2000): Location Factors and Country-of-Origin Differences: An Empirical Analysis of FDI in China, in: Multinational Business Review, vol. 8, no. 1, pp. 60.
- Zhao, Minyuan (2006): Conducting R&D in Countries with Weak Intellectual Property Rights Protection, in: Management Science, vol. 52, no. 8, pp. 1185-1199.
- Zheng, Zhao; Anand, Jaideep; and Mitchell, Will (2005): A Dual Networks Perspective on Inter-Organizational Transfer of R&D Capabilities: International Joint Ventures in the Chinese Automotive Industry, in: Journal of Management Studies, vol. 42, no. 1, pp. 127-160.
- Zhou, Changhui; Delios, Andrew; and Yang, Jing Yu (2002): Locational Determinants of Japanese Foreign Direct Investment in China, in: Asia Pacific Journal of Management, vol. 19, no. 1, pp. 63-86.
- Ziedonis, Rosemarie H. (2004): Don't Fence Me In: Fragmented Markets for Technology and the Patent Acquisition Strategies of Firms, in: Management Science, vol. 50, no. 6, pp. 804-820.